Agent-based modelling of grassland grazing

A case study from Zeku, China

Rui Yu

Submitted in accordance with the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

The University of Leeds School of Geography

October 2018

The candidate confirms that the work submitted is his/her own, except where work which has formed part of jointly authored manuscript has been included. The contribution of the candidate and the other authors to this work has been explicitly indicated below. The candidate confirms that appropriate credit has been given within the thesis where reference has been made to the work of others.

Chapter 5 and Chapter 6 are based on work from jointly authored manuscript "Quantifying grazing patterns using a new growth function based on MODIS Leaf Area Index", which has been published in "Remote Sensing of Environment" on March 2018. The authors are Rui Yu, A.J.Evans., and N.Malleson. This paper was solely my own work and that I am the lead author. The contribution of the other named authors, A.J.Evans and N.Malleson, were purely editorial on the English language corrections and advisory on some suggestions from the reviewer's view.

This copy has been supplied on the understanding that it is copyright material and that no quotation from the thesis may be published without proper acknowledgement.

The right of Rui Yu to be identified as Author of this work has been asserted by him in accordance with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.

© 2018 The University of Leeds and Rui Yu

Acknowledgements

I would like firstly say great appreciation to my supervisors: Dr Andrew Evans and Dr Nick Malleson for their advice, guidance and continuous encouragement throughout this research. Their wide-ranging expertise and enthusiasm inspired me a lot. I would also like to thank research support group members, Dr Steve Carver, Dr Paul Waley and Dr Jon Levett, who had provided valuable suggestions for this research.

I am grateful to Prof. Deng in Centre for Chinese Agricultural Policy (CCAP), Chinese Academy of Sciences for the support of the field survey in 2016. Great thanks to Dr Qi, who joined the research trip with me for two weeks in the remote Tibet regions. Thanks to the Grassland Monitoring Station of Zeku and the Statistical Bureau of Zeku for providing me with the *in situ* grassland measurement data and livestock quantity data.

I would like to say great thank to everyone in the School of Geography at Leeds who helped me, particularly the other students and the people I have had the pleasure time to discuss different views on research. Thanks to Andy Turner, who really helps me to improve the writing with fantastic comments. Greatest thanks for Zhe Yan, it is impossible for me to finish this research without your love and encouragement. Also, special thanks to my family, you have no idea how much your love and guidance gets me through the toughest times.

This thesis was possible because of the fee scholarship from the School of Geography, University of Leeds and the maintenance funding from the Chinese Scholarship Council; I am grateful for these opportunities. At last, I want to say for myself that "the best things in life don't come easy, but those things are the ones worth the sacrifice" (from Adriana Locke).

Abstract

The livestock grazing system is one of the most important human natural coupling systems on the earth. More than one-quarter of the global land surface is managed grazing grasslands, and the intensification of animal production and grazing systems is likely to continue worldwide. Managing the grassland grazing system towards a sustainable future is, therefore, an important issue for herders, grassland managers and policymakers. This requires dynamic monitoring and assessment of the grazing system, which consists of the complexities plant growth, livestock dynamics, plantherbivore interactions and grazing management. Leaf Area Index (LAI) is commonly used as a proxy for grassland condition. However, current studies all focus on the year-round aggregated LAI change or seasonal variation rather than the specific grazing-led LAI defoliation for each pixel, which is the important indicator for quantifying grassland grazing activities.

The contribution of this research to grassland grazing management can be summarised through three main components: a new growth function under grazing considering both the growth and senescence of grass with an estimation algorithm; the employment of a LUE-VMP model to estimate Net Primary Productivity (NPP) for improved LAI validation; and a first attempt in building an agent-based model (ABMGG) integrated with patch-specific grazing information for the assessment of various grazing management strategies. It was found that although different grazing management scenarios could not significantly improve or decrease grassland productivity, rotational group grazing performed best in terms of producing a smaller number of degraded grassland patches. Although there are some drawbacks, the agent-based modelling is highly suited to the grassland grazing system that is characterized by individual interactions and contains hierarchical grazing strategies and institutional arrangements. It is also suggested that by improvement of the data quality and extension of the model, ABMGG would be able to predict and analyze the performance of different grazing management scenarios further, and would be an important tool for aiding the sustainable development of the grazing system for both herders and policymakers.

Acknow	vledgements	III
Abstra	ct	IV
Conten	ts	V
List of	Tables	IX
List of	Figures	XI
Chapte	r 1 Introduction	1
1.1	Background and research motivation	1
1.2	Problem identification	3
1.3	Aims and objectives	4
1.4	Organisation of the thesis	4
1.5	Summary	6
Chapte	r 2 Literature Review of Modelling the Complexity of Grassland	
G	razing	7
2.1	Grasslands, grazing systems and common pool resource	7
2.2	The complex nature of grassland grazing systems	11
4	2.2.1 Complex geographical systems	11
2	2.2.2 The properties of a complex system	12
4	2.2.3 The difference between a complicated system and complex system	14
2	2.2.4 The complex nature of grassland grazing systems	15
2.3	Ecological paradigms for modelling grassland grazing systems	18
	2.3.1 Equilibrium and non-equilibrium paradigms	18
	2.3.2 Critiques of equilibrium and non-equilibrium paradigms	24
2.4	Grassland grazing system models	26
	2.4.1 Introducing the different types of model	26
-	2.4.2 Empirical models	28
	2.4.3 Processed-based models	30
	2.4.4 Agent-based models	39
2.5	The role of remote sensing	46
2.6	Summary	47
Chapte	r 3 The Study Site	48
3.1	Selection of the study site	48
3.2	Geographical overview of Zeku	48
3.3	Grassland resource overview	50
3.4	Livestock grazing profile	55

Contents

	3.5	Grassl	and tenure system in Zeku	58
	3.6	Grazir	ng strategies in Zeku	50
	3.7	Institu	tional arrangements in Zeku	51
Cha	pter	4 Dev	eloping a conceptual model of ABMGG	63
2	4.1	A con	ceptual and empirical explanation of ABMGG	53
2	4.2	Agent	-based modelling of grassland grazing	58
4	4.3	Model	l specification	72
4	4.4	Comp	utational simulation	74
2	4.5	The se	ensitivity analysis of the models	34
2	4.6	Summ	1ary	38
Cha	pter	5 Ider	ntifying Grazing-led LAI changes from Remote Sensing	
	De	rived I	Datasets	39
4	5.1	Proble	em identification	39
4	5.2	Overa	Il framework) 3
4	5.3	Conve	entional growth function) 4
4	5.4	New g	growth function under grazing) 5
4	5.5	MOD	IS LAI and GlobalLand30 data processing	9 8
4	5.6	Proces	sses for grazing-led LAI changes estimation10)2
	5.	6.1	Step 1: phenophase detection)2
	5.	6.2	Step 2: Initial background LAI)6
	5.	6.3	Step 3: preliminary estimation of grazing-led LAI changes10)6
	5.	6.4	Step 4: Fitting with the new growth function	12
4	5.7	Model	lling results11	12
	5.	7.1	Result: Initial background LAI	12
	5.	7.2	Results: curve fitting with the new growth function	13
	5.	7.3	Results: estimated grazing-led LAI changes11	15
	5.	7.4	Results: grazing frequencies	16
4	5.8	Impac	t of neighbour radius on grazed LAI estimation11	18
4	5.9	Grass	growth under different defoliation severity	22
4	5.10	The u	ncertainty of the estimated grazing-led LAI changes	24
	5.	10.1	Background noise and fitting goodness analysis	25
	5.	10.2	The uncertainty of MODIS "good quality" LAI data	30
	5.	10.3	The overall uncertainty of the estimated grazing-led LAI	
			changes13	38
4	5.11	The u	ncertainty of the improved LAI14	40
4	5.12	Valida	ation of grazing-led LAI changes14	42

	5.13	Sumn	nary	145
Ch	apter	6 Gra	nssland Productivity Sub-model	147
	6.1	Veget	ation productivity models	148
	6.2	NPP r	model selection	151
	6.3	Gener	al processes of LUE-VPM model	153
	6	.3.1	Quantifying the absorbed solar radiation for photosynthesis: APAR	154
	6	.3.2	Calculation of PAR from solar shortwave radiation	155
	6	.3.3	An alternative way of calculating LUE: VPM	159
	6	.3.4	Daily maintenance respiration	161
	6.4	Impro carbo	oved and expected NPP of Zuku: new view of grazing effect on n fixation	162
	6.5	Valida	ation of the improved NPP	164
	6	.5.1	Estimate NPP based on the improved LAI with LUE-VPM	165
	6	.5.2	Modelling results vs MODIS NPP and in-situ measurements	166
	6.6	The u	ncertainty of the NPP calculation	169
	6	.6.1	Numerical simulation for exploring the relationship between LAI and NPP using LUE-VPM model within the error range of the improved LAI	170
	6	.6.2	Result at the regional scale	173
	6	.6.3	Results at the in situ grassland monitoring stations	173
	6	.6.4	The spatial distribution of the uncertainty in NPP caused by the uncertainty of the improved LAI	176
	6.7	Discu	ssion	178
Ch	apter	7 Age	ent-based modelling of grassland grazing-experimenting with	
	rea	al data	l	181
	7.1	The g	eneral process of building an ABM	181
	7.2	Descr	iption of ABMGG	183
	7.	.2.1	The LAI after grazing in ABMGG	184
	7.	.2.2	Detailed ODD+D description of ABMGG	187
	7.3	Mode	l evaluation	198
	7.	.3.1	Model verification	199
	7.	.3.2	Sensitivity analysis	204
	7.	.3.3	Model calibration with Approximate Bayesian Computing	206
	7.	.3.4	Evaluation of the calibration results	213
	7	.3.5	The uncertainty analysis of the ABMGG	219
	7.	.3.6	Validation with model output	221

7.4	Scenario analysis: the effect of different grazing strategies and institutional arrangements on grassland	223
7	4.1 Scenario definitions	223
י ד	4.2 Deculta of according analysis	
1	.4.2 Results of scenario analysis	
7	.4.3 The parametric uncertainty of the scenario analysis	231
7	.4.4 Input uncertainty of the scenario analysis	233
7.5	Discussion	235
Chapter	8 Conclusions	
8.1	Introduction	
8.2	A summary of the research findings	238
8.3	Limitations of the research	243
8.4	Recommendations for Future Work	
8.5	Concluding Remarks	
References		

List of Tables

Table 1.1: A table of chapters and what they mainly achieve
Table 2.1: The characteristics of equilibrium and non- equilibrium grassland grazing, modified from Hodgson and Illius (1996), page 283
Table 2.2: Comparison of grassland process models, modified from Feenstra(1998) and (Ehrhardt et al., 2018)31
Table 2.3: Comparison of the grassland livestock production models, modified from Feenstra (1998), page 9-17
Table 3.1: Definition of land use/cover type in GlobalLand30, fromGlobeLand30 product guide (http://www.globallandcover.com)
Table 4.1: National criteria of parameters for degradation in terms of aboveground grassland productivity
Table 4.2: AGR of total aboveground biomass under different grazing intensities, from Zhao et al. (2011a), page 205 (unit: gm ⁻² d ⁻¹)
Table 4.3: Percentage of different grass species under different grazing intensities (from Zhao Zhao et al. (2011a), page 204 (unit: %)
Table 4.4: Variables in the conceptual models and their assumed values
Table 4.5: parameters value ranges used for sensitivity analysis 85
Table 5.1: MCD15A2 quality control (QC) definition (from https://lpdaac.usgs.gov/dataset_discovery/modis/modis_products_table/ mcd15a2)
Table 5.2: Winter and summer pasture land area from field survey data,Zeku, 2012 (unit: km², the total pasture and group data are fromLivestock Husbandry Bureau of Zeku)
Table 5.3: Detected change points of mean LAI (QC=0)105
Table 5.4: The uncertainty of the improved LA during 2003-2012
Table 5.5: Livestock convert coefficients: 143
Table 5.6: Correlation matrix among raised livestock and identified grazed leaf mass 144
Table 5.7: Comparison of converted carbon mass from grazing-led LAIchanges and total carbon mass consumption of the livestock
 Table 6.1: Comparison of the broad features of the participating NPP models, modified from Cramer et al. (1999) and Ruimy et al. (1999a). Note: R, solar radiation; LAI; leaf area index; T, temperature; SW, soil water content; VPD, vapour pressure deficit; LeafN, leaf nitrogen; VegC, vegetation carbon; P, precipitation; AET, actual evapotranspiration; PET, potential evapotranspiration; S, soil inorganic sulphur; AWC, available water capacity
Table 6.2: Sunny diffuse radiation percentage, from Fu et al. (2015)

Table 6.3: Biome Property Look Up Table (BPLUT) for MODIS GPP/NPPalgorithm (from MODIS data user guide, *: the constant $Q10 = 2.0$ isapplied to fine roots and live wood, while for leaves, a temperatureacclimation Q10 value is used as described in Equation)
Table 6.4: Model parameters for NPP calculation 165
Table 6.5: Validation with in-situ measured carbon mass (unit: gCm ⁻²)167
Table 6.6: Multiple comparisons with one-way ANOVA test 168
Table 6.7: Error range of NPP simulated in 2012 caused by the uncertainty of the improved LAI
Table 7.1: The modelling process, measurement, techniques and data used for ABMGG 182
Table 7.2: Key parameters in ABMGG 188
Table 7.3: Details of the implementation of the model processes. 194
Table 7.4: Goodness-of-fit measurements of the modelling results 203
Table 7.5: The prior distribution of the parameter values in ABC calibration 208
Table 7.6: Summary statistics of the results of cross-validation for model parameters 209
Table 7.7: Number of degraded patches, mean and variance of grazing-ledLAI changes derived from remote sensing data
Table 7.8: Posterior distribution characteristics for all the parameters after ABC calibration
Table 7.9: Goodness-of-fit measurements before and after calibration
Table 7.10: Descriptive statistics of the relative error of the model
Table 7.11: Descriptive statistics of the parametric uncertainty of the simulated grassland status
Table 7.12: Goodness-of-fit measurements of the validation results
Table 7.13: Combinations of different grazing strategies and institutional arrangements 224

Figure 2.1: Colloquial and scientific meaning of complex from Sturmberg et al. (2017), page 42715
Figure 2.2: Plant-herbivore relationship from Hodgson and Illius (1996), page 286. The vegetation compositional zero isocline ($\Delta S=0$, left figure) and the herbivore zero isocline ($\Delta H=0$, right figure) in the plane of plant species composition (S) and stocking rate (H). Arrows indicate the direction of change
Figure 2.3: Structure of the FORAGE system (the arrows indicate information flow) from Zhang and Carter (2018), page 304
Figure 2.4: The relationship between the GRAZPLAN family of decision support (DS) tools and the GRAZPLAN pasture and animal models, Donnelly et al. (2002b), page 117
Figure 3.1: Geographic location of Zeku, China
Figure 3.2: Land use/cover of Zeku, 2000 & 2010
Figure 3.3: Photos of typical grass species in Zeku, China
Figure 3.4: Grassland type of Zeku, data from Yang et al. (2007)54
Figure 3.5: Average monthly rain and temperature of Zeku, 1960-2012 (data from the National Meteorological Information Center:
http://data.cma.cn/data)55
Figure 3.6: Livestock structure of Zeku, China, 2011
Figure 3.7: Household winter natural grassland area (left) and household summer natural grassland area and summer artificial grassland (right) distribution in Zeku, 2011
Figure 3.8: Relationship of institutional arrangements and grazing strategies 62
Figure 4.1 : The framework of ABMGG68
Figure 4.2: The means and standard errors of the model outputs with different numbers of repeated simulations in the sedentary model
Figure 4.3: The means and standard errors of the model outputs with different numbers of repeated simulations in the land market model76
Figure 4.4: The means and standard errors of the model outputs with different numbers of repeated simulations in the EAHEC (group grazing) model
Figure 4.5: Screenshots of three institutional arrangements in ABMGG
Figure 4.6: Dynamics of livestock and available grass forage during 2000- 2020
Figure 4.7: Average livestock and forage trend from 2000.01 to 2020.01 under sedentary seasonal grazing, pasture rental market and EAHEC arrangements
Figure 4.8: Economic performance under three institutional arrangement 83
Figure 4.9: Ecological performance under three grazing management

Figure 4.10: Results of the PCC/PRCC analysis of the sedentary model
Figure 4.11: Results of the PCC/PRCC analysis of the land market model 87
Figure 4.12: Results of the PCC/PRCC analysis of the group grazing model (EAHEC)
Figure 5.1: Concept framework for quantifying grazing-led changes in Zeku, China
Figure 5.2: LAI during a regrowth follows a bell curve as the canopy develops from low LAI (Phase I: low LAI increase rate) to maximum LAI (Phase II: high increase rate, growth dominated) and then to low LAI again (Phase 3: high LAI decrease, senescence dominated)96
Figure 5.3: Sinusoidal Tiling System and the tile of Zeku (red box), figure modified from Myneni et al. (2015), page 5
Figure 5.4: Percentage of "good quality" (QC=0) pixels for MODIS LAI in Zeku, China
Figure 5.5: An example of discontinuous time-series LAI
Figure 5.6: Average MODIS LAI for each 8-days from 2003 to 2012 (QC=0) 104
Figure 5.7: Change points detection of the mean LAI values (QC=0) in Zeku, 2003-2014
Figure 5.8: Illustration of grazed LAI estimation108
Figure 5.9: Measured (points) and simulated (lines) leaf area indices of grazing treatments (A) HS, (B) GM, (C) LL and (D) GN during 2007 and 2008. Shaded regions represent the duration of grazing and vertical arrows show the observed dates of anthesis. Measured values are means \pm one SEM ($n = 3$). Treatment abbreviations: GM, grazed Mackellar; GN, grazed Naparoo; HS, heavy short; and LL, light long. All grazing treatments were performed at 68 DSE ha ⁻¹ for 31 d, except LL which was performed at 34 DSE ha ⁻¹ for 62 d, figure from Harrison et al. (2012)
 Figure 5.10: Simulated (lines) and measured (symbols) values of leaf area index (LAI, left) and aboveground biomass (right) versus day of year for the primary growth and regrowth of timothy with an early harvest (□, —) or a late harvest (*) in 2000 (calibration) and in 2001 and 2002 (validation) in Norway. This figure is from Jing et al. (2012) and data can be found in Höglind et al. (2005)
Figure 5.11: Initial LAI of the grassland in Zeku, 2003~2012113
Figure 5.12: Examples of fitting the new growth function with MODIS "good" quality LAI data for un-grazed, continuous and rotational grazing pixels (left side figures: "gaps" did not appear at the key points; right side figures: "gaps" did exist at some key points)115
Figure 5.13: Estimated grazing-led LAI changes
Figure 5.14: Distribution of estimated grazing frequencies
Figure 5.15: Classified grazing types of Zeku from 2003 to 2012118

Figure 5.16: Distribution of estimated grazed-led LAI changes at neighbour radius 1, 2, 3 and 4
Figure 5.17: Histogram of optimal neighbourhood radius for all pixels when choosing minimum RMSE
Figure 5.18: An example of optimal neighbouring radius selection
Figure 5.19: An example of the effect of grazing severity on the observed LAI and instantaneous net growth rate of LAI, with k1= 0.16, k2=0.0003, C=-14. The bottom two are <i>Lt'</i> 124
Figure 5.20: Sensitivity of a and b on MODIS LAI background noise during the non-growth season (I, maximum difference; II, mean difference; III, standard deviation; IV, the coefficient of variance), Zeku, 2003- 2014
Figure 5.21: Background noise of MODIS LAI data during 2003~2012, Zeku, China
Figure 5.22: Fitting residuals of the new growth function against MODIS "good quality" data during 2003~2012, Zeku, China
Figure 5.23: Distribution of RMSE using new growth function
Figure 5.24: Uncertainty of the date recorded in MODIS LAI on the weight of the estimation of grazing-led LAI changes
Figure 5.25: An example of the effect of the uncertainty of date in MODIS LAI on the estimation of grazing-led LAI change
Figure 5.26: Underestimation error caused by equal days interval assumption during 2003~2012, Zeku, China
Figure 5.27: The distribution of underestimation error during 2003~2012, Zeku, China
Figure 5.28: Overestimation error caused by equal days interval assumption during 2003~2012, Zeku, China
Figure 5.29: The distribution of overestimation error during 2003~2012, Zeku, China
Figure 5.30: Overall error for the estimated grazing-led LAI changes during 2003~2012, Zeku, China
Figure 5.31: The distribution of the overall error of estimated grazing-led LAI changes during 2003~2012, Zeku, China140
Figure 5.32: The average improved LAI of the whole region with underestimation limit and overestimation limit during 2003~2012, Zeku, China
Figure 6.1: Flowcharts showing the logic behind the MOD17 Algorithm in calculating both 8-day average GPP and annual NPP, from Running (2015)
Figure 6.2: Monthly measured and modelled ratio (<i>QPRS</i>) of photosynthetically active radiation (<i>QP</i>) and global solar radiation (<i>RS</i>), figure from Li et al. (2010)

Figure 6.3: DEM of Zeku, China157
Figure 6.4: The spatial pattern of the atmospheric transmission coefficient under clear-sky conditions over the Tibetan Plateau, the labels are percentages. From Pan et al. (2013)158
Figure 6.5: Improved NPP products, 2002~2012, Zeku (unit: gCm ⁻²)163
Figure 6.6: Expected NPP of Zeku, 2003~2012 (unit: gCm ⁻²)164
Figure 6.7: Locations of validation stations in Zeku, 2012166
Figure 6.8: Decomposition of key equations for the NPP calculation in LUE- VPM
Figure 6.9: An example of non-linear but monotonic relationship (NPP monotonically increase with the increase of LAI between 0 and 6 m ² /m ²) between LAI and NPP (the equation for the red curve is NPP=3*(1-exp(-0.5*LAI))-0.01*LAI)
Figure 6.10: An example of non-linear and non-monotonic relationship (LAI between 0 and 6 m ² /m ²) between LAI and NPP (the equation for the red curve is NPP=3*(1-exp(-0.5*LAI))-0.3*LAI)
Figure 6.11: Boxplot of regional average NPP with 10 equally divided error segments within the error range of LAI in the year 2012
Figure 6.12: Boxplot of NPP with 10 equally divided error segments within the error range of LAI in the year 2012 at 15 grassland stations
Figure 6.13: Lower limit of NPP (lower error boundary of NPP) by using improved LAI, 2012, Zeku, China
Figure 6.14: Upper limit of NPP (upper error boundary of NPP) by using improved LAI, 2012, Zeku, China
Figure 6.15: The difference in NPP estimation between the upper limit and lower limit of the improved LAI
Figure 7.1: The patch-specific data source in the ABMGG183
Figure 7.2: The processes of model evaluation and scenario analysis199
Figure 7.3: Snapshot of the ABMGG
Figure 7.4: Simulated and observed grazing-led LAI changes (without the effect of the previous grazing), 2011
Figure 7.5: Simulated and observed number of degraded patches for each step of the year 2011
Figure 7.6: PCC/PRCC sensitivity analysis of ABMGG
Figure 7.7: Posterior distribution of the parameters using ABC
Figure 7.8: Joint posterior distribution between parameters: top-left part shows the Pearson's product-moment correlation test value; the bottom-right part shows their joint density counterplot
Figure 7.9: Spatial maps of the simulated and observed number of unaffected patches215

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 Background and research motivation

Grasslands are a valuable natural resource that covers about one-third of the Earth's land area (Heady, 1975; Gilmanov et al., 2010). Grasslands are referred to as savannas in Africa (O'connor and Pickett, 1992); in the regions of Eurasia, they are commonly named steppes (Bai et al., 2007); in the U.S. Midwest, grasslands are called prairies (Collins et al., 1998; Fuhlendorf and Engle, 2001b); while in South America, they are known as pampas (Altesor et al., 2006). What they all have in common is that grass is the naturally dominant vegetation. Numerous studies have reported that grasslands are of great importance for local ecosystems, including soil and water conservation (Davis, 1979), carbon sequestration (Schuman et al., 2002) and biodiversity (West, 1993). However, for centuries, in both developed and developing countries, livestock grazing has played a dominant role in removing grass biomass (Peet et al., 1999). Almost all livestock farmers, herders or pastoralists depend on grasslands and conserved products such as hay and silage and on a wide range of fodder species for their livelihoods (Suttie et al., 2005). Rapid increases in human and livestock populations have been marked that natural grasslands in many areas of the world have been extensively modified or even destroyed, particularly in arid and semi-arid environments (Milchunas et al., 1998; Watkinson and Ormerod, 2001). Humans have already profoundly affected grassland regions by grazing, mainly for short-term profit, and have ignored the long-term stability of the grassland ecosystem (Hadjigeorgiou et al., 2005). In addition, most of the grasslands are distributed in eco-sensitive areas – areas with relatively low vegetation diversity compared with forestlands, and they are, therefore, susceptible to climate change – facilitating the uneven distribution of grass forage at https://mini.eastday.com/a/n190217000041389.html?qid=03123 both spatial and temporal scales (Coupland, 1979; Dixon et al., 2014a). The spatial and temporal differences of forage availability and the complexity of interactions of grassland grazing make the management of grassland utilization challenging to secure in terms of both animal production and the renewal of natural feed resources (Jouven et al., 2010). Now more than ever, grassland grazing information is needed to monitor and precisely assess the grassland system.

It is almost impossible to have a real-time and continuous time series of *in situ* observation data on the current status of grass and grazing activities (Ali et al., 2016). Precise information on grass status and grazing activities can be obtained precisely at farm or local scale by *in situ* methods, including simple visual analysis (Rouse Jr, 1972), advanced rising plate measurement (Nakagami, 2016) and more complicated laboratory analysis (Cougnon et al., 2016; Hoffmann et al., 2016). The drawbacks of *in situ* monitoring techniques are obvious: they are time-consuming; labour-intensive; and almost impossible to apply to large scale grassland monitoring (Ling et al., 2014). On the other hand, remote sensing and modelling approaches allow for large scale monitoring and further assessment of grassland status (Rose et al., 2015). By measuring the reflectance at visible and infrared wavelengths, remote sensing can be used for identifying different grassland species and status (Todd et al., 1998; Green et al., 2016), which can be implemented on static platforms (Aubinet et al., 2012), unmanned aerial vehicles (Rango et al., 2006), and aircraft or

satellite platforms (Loris and Damiano, 2006) for local scale mapping and monitoring at varying spatial and temporal resolutions. From grassland species monitoring (Geerken et al., 2005; Xie et al., 2008) and grassland biophysical characteristic quantification (Goetz, 1997; Huete et al., 2002) to grassland change detection (Cohen and Goward, 2004; Shalaby and Tateishi, 2007), the integration of multispectral and multi-temporal (Gómez et al., 2017a) remote sensing data used in combination with simulation models has been successfully demonstrated as an economically cost-effective, statistically reliable and consistent, and operationally robust tool for monitoring (Prince, 1991b) and assessing (Nagendra et al., 2013) of the status of grassland grazing systems (Svoray et al., 2013). But remote sensing techniques often have the problem of cloud cover, which will be discussed in the literature review chapter.

However, the grassland grazing system is often a non-linear (Banegas et al., 2015), multi-state, dynamic (Woodward et al., 1995b) system evolving under the interactions between nature and humans and the interactions between those two systems within time and space (Herrero et al., 2000a; Hutchings and Gordon, 2001; Seabloom and Reichman, 2001; Donnelly et al., 2002b). To monitor and assess such a complex system, knowing aggregate information about grassland is not enough to have a synthetic, objective understanding of it, that understanding of management strategies is also necessary. In fact, different grazing strategies (Woodward et al., 1995b; Wang et al., 2016) and institutional arrangements (Dong et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2013) have been proposed by herders, grassland managers and policymakers, with the purpose of a better use of grasslands. In addition, recent advances have been devoted to identifying the paradigms of grassland management (Lovett and Ockwell, 2010), which have provided basic principles and guidance, but there are still considerable challenges imposed by historical-cultural impediments and regional natural environmental differences (Johnson et al., 1983; Seabloom and Reichman, 2001). In order to model the interactions of such a co-evolving system and assess the policy implementations of grassland protection, it is of great importance to be able to account for the interactions involving stakeholders and the interactions with the environment at an individual level, which has major implications for both improving policies and developing sustainable grassland management (Bellamy and Lowes, 1999; Boyd and Svejcar, 2009).

To understand the complexity of grassland grazing systems, concepts that take the human sub-system and ecological sub-system as a whole are widely used in the natural grassland management literature (Janssen et al., 2004; Folke et al., 2005; Ostrom, 2009). For many years, grassland management has been dominated by a philosophy that simplifies this complexity with top-down control, but that inevitably results in mismatches between model outcome and the reality: scaling mismatches, synthesis of heterogeneous information, multi-scaled system interactions, complex management systems, uncertainty in causal relationships, assessment of trade-offs (Holling and Meffe, 1996) and issues with model validation. In such a humannatural coupling system, macro-level properties of grassland often emerge from individual behaviours or decisions (Levin et al., 2013). Emergence from such individuals could also produce feedbacks that affect individual decisions by managers and subsequent higher-level policy interventions (Milchunas et al., 1988; Seabloom and Reichman, 2001). Ignoring these characteristics might obscure crucial features that we observe in reality, as the risk of abrupt or irreversible grassland ecosystem changes (Levin et al., 2013). Therefore, a clear understanding of the

different stakeholders and related institutions and their interactions with the system is needed to avoid such modelling problems.

1.2 Problem identification

This thesis will specifically look at the grassland of Zeku, China, which is located in the source area of the Yangtze, Yellow and Lancang rivers (the three largest rivers in China). This area has long been known as the "Water Tower of China" and Zeku is typical grassland grazing county for the area (Quanqin et al., 2013). For thousands of years, those three rivers have been of key importance to the river basin ecological environment of China and even south-eastern Asia. The Three Rivers Head source Region (TRHR) National Nature Reserve was legally established in May 2000 (Shao et al., 2016). The establishment of the nature reserve aimed to protect the Tibetan Plateau ecosystem, with an emphasis on alpine swamp meadow and the natural habitat of the unique wildlife in the region, and to promote sustainable economic development in the region (Wang et al., 2010a). Therefore, the protection of grasslands in this area is extremely important in terms of China's long term environmental, social and economic development. In addition, the status of the ecosystem in TRHR also has an inevitable international focus in regard to ecological stability and diversity of the river basin region (Fan et al., 2010a).

There are two key problems for understanding and modelling grassland grazing systems in Zeku. The first one is how to obtain precise information about grassland status and herders' grazing activities. Remote sensing data can only capture the status of vegetation at discrete time points, which obscures the wider process of vegetation development. Ignorance of the complete picture can lead to underestimates or otherwise incorrect assessments of rangeland productivity, especially in carrying capability estimations in grazing intensive regions (Lebert et al., 2006; Nyima, 2015). The information we have from current remote sensing derived datasets (for example, the MODIS LAI dataset) is very limited with regards to extracting the amount of grass that is eaten by livestock, which is the crucial indicator that would be used in guiding sustainable grazing pasture management. Therefore, we need to explore further within those datasets to estimate consumed forage between each satellite observation interval.

The second problem is how to build a model that considers not only the physical growth of grass, but also herders' decision-making and wider institutional arrangements. These must be considered in an integrated way because they all contribute to the overall dynamics of the grazing system (Browning et al., 2014). Only in this way can an objective assessment of the grassland system status be made. A new approach to model these complex systems and to overcome the above limitations is agent-based modelling (ABM). ABM has a good capability for representing the spatial and temporal heterogeneity of grassland forage productivity through the use of environmental agents. A herder can be described as a decisionmaking agent that can join in different institutional groups which can be used to analyse the impact of different institutional arrangements (Jun et al., 2013). The employment of ABM resource management and environmental science is a better a way than the traditional empirical or process-based models (which will be discussed in Chapter 2) in capturing the complex system characteristics of grassland grazing as it describes the interactions individually at various levels. It enables the modeller to represent the behaviour of humans more realistically, "accounting for bounded rationality, heterogeneity, interactions, evolutionary learning and out-ofequilibrium dynamics, and to combine this representation with a dynamic heterogeneous representation of the spatial environment" (Filatova et al., 2013). ABM is an ideal tool to integrate with remote sensing data to further assess different grassland management scenarios.

1.3 Aims and objectives

The overall aim of this thesis is to establish an agent-based model based on the grazing information derived from remote sensing data in Zeku with the purpose of assessing various grassland management scenarios. Herders' grazing activities have a profound influence on the grassland ecosystem. The impact can be positive (e.g. promote productivity) or negative (e.g. grassland degradation or desertification) or both, depending on grazing intensities, various grazing strategies and institutional stakeholders. This thesis will study grass growth dynamics under grazing based on remote sensing data, and most importantly, by analysing the impact of different grazing strategies and institutional arrangements on grassland status using an agent-based model. The results of this thesis will be useful to guide the livestock husbandry in Zeku.

To achieve these aims, the objectives of this thesis are to:

1, review, discuss and critique the grassland grazing literature and analyse the current theories and system complexities in the grazing system in order to identify those that should be employed in the model;

2, review, discuss and critique the modelling techniques and data availability for the grassland grazing system to highlight the necessity of the techniques used for this research and to guide the model development process;

3, develop a new method to derive information about grass growth and the effect of grazing from remote sensing data;

4, design and build an agent-based model that is able to account for the different grazing strategies and institutional arrangements and use remote sensing data as an input;

5, assess different management scenarios after making sure the model has the ability to simulate the grassland status under grazing based on current grazing strategies and institutional arrangements.

1.4 Organisation of the thesis

The thesis organisation is outlined as follows:

In Chapter 2, starting with the definitions of grasslands and grassland grazing, the complexities of the grassland grazing system will be discussed; followed by the overall paradigms for modelling such complex systems, which forms the basic theory for later modelling. Then some traditional grassland grazing models and the state-of-the-art modelling technique—the agent-based models are discussed. In addition, the role of remote sensing in modelling such a complex system is elaborated as it is the most important tool for the data collection of grassland grazing.

Chapter 3 describes the study area and the data collection undertaken. After profiling the case study area, the reasons why the study area is an ideal place for

agent-based modelling of grassland grazing are explained. This is followed by a detailed description of current grazing strategies and institutional arrangements in the case study area. Then, a list of the datasets used in this thesis along with descriptive statistics summarises the main features of the study area.

Chapter 4 presents a prototype agent-based model of a grassland grazing system. There are two themes highlighted in this chapter. The first section provides a rationale of the basic theory concluded in Chapter 2; the second describes the suitability of using agent-based modelling to simulate the effect of different grazing strategies and institutional arrangements, using a simplified process of the grass growth and interactions among agents.

To quantify the difference between normal vegetation growth in an area and the reduced growth that could be caused by grazing (as measured using the Leaf Area Index – LAI), Chapter 5 outlines the creation of a novel growth-grazing function for the grassland in the case study area. Two important measures are produced: improved LAI (a more accurate estimate of LAI from remotely sensed data) and expected LAI (the LAI that would be expected if where no grazing had taken place). In order to validate those results, the carbon mass of grazed LAI estimated from remote sensing is calculated, with the purpose of comparing it with statistical livestock consumption, which is also converted to carbon mass. In addition, the uncertainty of such estimation is discussed.

Chapter 6 further validates the result of Chapter 5 using a Light Use Efficiency (LUE) model. This is essentially a comparison of the results of new growth-grazing function and estimation algorithm with some *in situ* data. The chapter begins with a brief review of current Net Primary Production (NPP) models; followed by the detailed parameterization of Vegetation Phenology Model of LUE (LUE-VPM) to simulate the NPP based on improved LAI.

Chapter 7 describes the creation of the agent-based model and its use in the assessment of different grassland management scenarios. It begins by describing the model before outlining the processes of verification, sensitivity testing, calibration, and validation. The chapter concludes with the analysis of different grazing strategies and institutional arrangements, followed by recommendations for the future grassland management in Zeku. In addition, the error propagation and uncertainty analysis of the model is discussed in this chapter.

Finally, in Chapter 8, the aims and objectives are reviewed and conclusions are drawn. The chapter also documents some limitations of the research and provides suggestions for further development of the grassland grazing model and potential applications.

A table of chapters and what they mainly achieve (Table 1.1) summarises the aforementioned structure of this thesis, including detail about how the research objectives map to relevant chapters.

Table 1.1: A table of chapters and what they mainly achieve.

Chapter 1	An introduction to the whole Thesis
Chapter 2	Review the grassland management theories and the progress
	of current models dealing with grass grazing system.
	Review the models and remote sensing methods in grassland
	monitoring and the gaps of current research.
	Identify the complexities of grassland grazing system and

	specify which should be included in the model.
Chapter 3	Describe the case study area and justification for the selection of the study site.
	> Introduce the land tenure system, grazing strategies and
	institutional arrangements in the case study area.
	> Introduce the data collection undertaken.
Chapter 4	> Develop a prototype agent-based model describing the
•	complexities of grassland grazing system.
	Preliminary analysis of the impact of different institutions on
	the performances of grassland grazing (the response of
	grassland quality, quantity and net benefit of herder agents to
	different institutional arrangements).
Chapter 5	Develop a new growth function considering both grass
	growth and the effect of grazing using remotely sensed data.
	Results of improved, expected and grazed LAI based on this
	new growth function and the impact of search radius on the
	estimation results.
	Validation of the grazed LAI by comparing with statistical
	data with aggregated grazed grass mass.
	Explore the uncertainty of the estimation.
Chapter 6	A brief review of NPP models and specify the reason why the
	LUE-VPM is used for further validation.
	Parameterization of LUE-VPM for the grassland productivity
	calculation.
	Validation of improved remote sensing products to further
	assess the accuracy of the new growth function.
	> Uncertainty analysis of the LUE-VPM.
Chapter 7	Build and evaluate the agent-based model through
	verification, sensitivity analysis, calibration and validation.
	Assess differing grazing management scenarios.
	> Quantify the uncertainty of the agent-based model.
<i>C</i> 1	Suggestions for the future grazing management of Zeku.
Chapter 8	A synthesis of the findings of this thesis.
	Limitations of this work.
	Recommendations for future research.

1.5 Summary

The work presented in this chapter has clarified the aims and objectives of this research. By discussing the background of grassland grazing modelling, the importance of using remote sensing data and agent-based modelling for grassland monitoring and assessing was addressed. The overall aim is to provide an agent-based approach to explore the management of grassland grazing systems based on the remote sensing data, to reach the goal of analysing the performance of the grassland grazing system under different grazing strategies and institutional arrangements.

Chapter 2 Literature Review of Modelling the Complexity of Grassland Grazing

A detailed understanding of any complex system is required in order to develop a useful, representative and synoptic agent-based model of it. This chapter provides a literature review focusing on the complex nature of grassland grazing systems. It begins with a discussion of different grassland definitions and describes a variety of grassland grazing systems. It then focuses on what a complex system is and how this is different from a complicated system. The complex nature of the specific type of grassland grazing system which is the focus of this study is defined. The parts of these systems to be represented, and the general nature of the complex interactions between these parts are described. For modelling such systems, the limitations of a wide number of other approaches and the potential benefits of agent-based modelling are considered. The chapter provides: a brief overview and critique of different approaches to modelling grassland grazing systems; a typology of grassland grazing system models; and, a brief review of some models of each type focussing on both those designed to model the specific type of grassland grazing system that is the focus of this study, and/or those that are agent-based models. The important role of remote sensing in modelling the grassland grazing system being studied is highlighted. The chapter does not consider the difficulties of developing agent-based models of grassland grazing systems in general or the specific type that is the focus of this study. These difficulties are considered in a prototype model described in Chapter 4 and an agent-based model of grassland grazing discussed in Chapter 7.

2.1 Grasslands, grazing systems and common pool resource

Grassland can be thought of as land where the majority of land cover is grass. *Grasslands* can be thought of as regions where grassland dominates. Using this subtle pluralistic difference is one way to be clear that in grasslands, land cover and land use may vary, but that the region, on the whole, is characterised by the grassland.

Grasslands, sometimes also referred to as *rangelands*, cover about one-third of the world's terrestrial area (Coupland, 1979; Chen et al., 2015). There are various types of grasslands, the main typology can be based on the level of human influence, how continuous, and extensive grassland is in these regions, and whether in agricultural settings the grasses are grown to feed cattle or produce cereal. Those less influenced by and that would exist without the influence of people and are sometimes called *natural grasslands* or *wild grasslands*. Those used more by people can be referred to as *agricultural grasslands* – some are farmed more extensively by more nomadic herders that may or may not deliberately manage the lands using fire; other agricultural grasslands might be more intensively farmed by more settled farmers where the movements of animals might be partly controlled using fences and walls and where the vegetation may be cut and stored as well as foraged more exclusively by domesticated breeds of *livestock* animals. There are those vast regions where there is little land-cover other than grassland, and those regions where grassland is more patchy and where there is perhaps a greater competition perhaps more

naturally between grass, shrubs and trees, but also with different land use where land managers might decide to change grassland to other land cover types and vice versa.

One of the most authoritative institutions in the area of grassland science, the Society for Range Management (SRM) defines grassland as "land on which the indigenous vegetation (climax or natural potential) is predominantly grasses, grass-like plants, forbs, or shrubs and is managed as a natural ecosystem. If plants are introduced, they are managed similarly" (Bedell, 1998). This definition stands on an ecological perspective and is suitable for a range of situations, in either less intensively grazed regions such as Southern Europe (Zarovali et al., 2007), or intensively grazed regions such as Northern Africa (Aronson et al., 1993; Le Houerou, 2014).

There can be a huge economic value in grassland which can be realised both by harvesting forage and allowing animals to graze. A lot of grassland definitions also incorporate economic or social concepts. In the context of grassland utilization in the Mediterranean, grassland has been defined as the natural forage resource of grass communities characterized by high heterogeneity in its spatial and temporal distribution patterns (Perevolotsky and Seligman, 1998; Röder et al., 2007; Jouven et al., 2010). In social studies, grasslands have option values, that reflect the benefits from potential future use, as well as existence and bequest values, that results from the knowledge of continued existence (Lehmann and Hediger, 2004).

There are many other local legal connotations throughout different regions and disciplines (<u>Suttie et al., 2005</u>). <u>Buck et al. (2015</u>) have categorised grasslands into four types according to their biomass, mowing season, soil and slope - within the context of biodiversity conservation. In biodiversity studies, grasslands are dominated by native herbs, with a low cover of exotic species (<u>Lunt et al., 2007</u>; <u>Bryant et al., 2017</u>). <u>Dixon et al. (2014b</u>) defined grasslands as those where non-human ecological processes primarily determine species and site characteristics; while in land management research, grasslands are defined as primarily planted and maintained for agricultural reasons (pasture; hay; intensive livestock production). To be clear, the grasslands which are the focus of this thesis are regions where:

- the dominant land use/cover type is grassland;
- land cover is strongly affected by livestock grazing;
- livestock grazing is managed by herders and/or grassland managers that may implement different grazing strategies;
- herders and/or grassland managers may be grouped institutionally and react to the policy which may be implemented to help manage resources.

In many cases, grazing and how it is managed is one of the most influential activities on grasslands, and everything to do with the grassland can be thought of as being part of a *grassland grazing system* (Adler et al., 2001). There is much scientific evidence about the impact of different grazing patterns on: the movement and persistence of other organisms (Gonzalez et al., 1990; Hahn and Höfle, 2001; Qu et al., 2016); plant functional traits (Cingolani et al., 2005b); and, the redistribution of species composition (Frank et al., 2016) and nutrients (Ford et al., 2016). Especially in semi-arid terrestrial grasslands, grazing plays a critical role in the continuous and directional changes of grasslands at different time-scales and compositional gradients (Moreno García et al., 2014; Porensky et al., 2016). Those effects can be found across typical grazing grassland around the world, including Northern China (Yong-Zhong et al., 2005); Europe (Ellenberg, 1988; Rochon et al., 2004); Tibet-Qinghai Plateau (Cao et al., 2004); the adjacent mountains of the Himalaya

(Sundriyal and Joshi, 1990); the cold land of Patagonia (Cingolani et al., 2005b); and the Altiplano (Preston et al., 2003); Australia (Fensham et al., 1999); the Mediterranean region (Noy-Meir et al., 1989); Asia (Bösing et al., 2014); Sahara grassland (Nwaogu et al., 2016); the vast Sudano-Zambesian zones (Ahoudji et al., 2014); North America (Eby et al., 2014) and South Africa (Koerner and Collins, 2014).

For grasslands where grazing is overseen by herders or managers, *grazing strategies* and *institutional arrangements* are important and can be thought of as tools for managing resources. The choice of grazing strategy, e.g. *rotational grazing* or *continuous grazing*, may have variable effects on the frequency, severity, variation of grazing-led grass defoliation (Hart et al., 1993) and on the botanical composition of grassland (Taylor, 1989) depending on stocking densities, movement rate and other factors. Grasslands with intensive rotational grazing that have a higher number of subdivisions with longer resting periods have been shown to produce higher yields by preserving biomass and maximising plant growth (Savory and Parsons, 1980; Barnes et al., 2008; Teague et al., 2011; Jakoby et al., 2014). Although rotational grazing strategies have been shown to increase income and improve rangeland conditions, they also tend to have higher management costs (Beukes et al., 2002) and there are associated risks of forage shortage in winter period if livestock stocking rates are too high (Hart et al., 1993).

Macro-level policies can affect grassland grazing systems both positively and negatively. Research on the institutional arrangements aimed at reducing grassland grazing to mitigate *land degradation* in Sanjiangyuan, China (Wang et al., 2010b; Lu et al., 2015), suggests that the policy actually runs the risk of exacerbating poverty and instead contributing to land degradation – the reduction in the capability and capacity of the land to support ecosystems and agriculture (Yeh, 2009). It is also worth noting here that land market institutional arrangements can aggregate grazing land into larger units, which can lead to a more efficient allocation of grassland resources and economies of scale in livestock production (Gongbuzeren et al., 2016). The impact of different grazing strategies and institutional arrangements on the ecological, socio-economic and climatic conditions of grassland systems is complex which makes it hard to prescribe what management strategies and institutional arrangements might be best (Hart et al., 1993; Campbell et al., 2006; Thornton et al., 2009; Briske et al., 2015).

Grassland is generally considered as a Common Pool Resource (CPR) for its physical attributes of the resources. The CPR has two common characteristics: first, the resource is large in its scale that it is costly to exclude the potential resource users; second, the resource is not unlimited, and the use of the resource by one user reduces its availability to others (Ostrom et al., 1994).

In common grasslands, one possible situation is when the number of animals exceeds the capacity of the pasture, each herder is still motivated to add more animals since the herder receives all of the proceeds from the sale of animals and only a small cost of overgrazing. This is called *the tragedy of the commons*, a term and notion put forth by (Hardin, 1968), whereby the limited natural resources become exhausted by utility-maximizing individuals – an almost universally tragic situation where group benefit has been undermined by the dominance of individual rationality (Crépin et al., 2009; Baerlein et al., 2015). In addition, extensive free-riding resource users often problematically proliferate and deplete common-pool resources by not contributing to the upkeep of the resource (Ostrom, 2008).

Solutions to the tragedy of the commons have relied upon the centralized control of all common-pool resources. National legislation has been passed in many countries, and administrative responsibilities for managing natural resources have been turned over to centralized agencies (Wade, 1987). Unfortunately, the actions of these agencies in some cases has deteriorated the situation further (Walker and Janssen, 2002). One possible reason for this failure is that effective communication can be poor in systems of centralized control which led to the advocacy of more distributed more local (self-)organization (Hardin, 1968; Thwaites et al., 1998).

The tragedy of the commons assumes that the resources users are "short-term, profit-maximizing actors who have complete information and are homogeneous in terms of their assets, skills, discount rates and cultural views and anyone can enter a resource and take resource units" (Ostrom, 2008). The fact that resource users can self-organize and devise institutions to extract themselves from tragic overuse was for some time largely not recognised. Some studies have identified well-managed examples demonstrated that tragedy is not inevitable and that sustainable resource use is possible with robust, long-lasting, institutional arrangements for the governance of common-pool resources (Brady, 1993; Weinstein, 1999). Weinstein (1999) reported that large groups have more difficulty in governing common-pool resources than smaller groups, due to the communication cost among individuals, difficulty in reaching a binding and enforceable agreement or the difficulty in monitoring others conformity with rules. Non-cooperative game theory and cooperative game theory are commonly used to design strategies for managing CPRs (Ostrom et al., 1994; Huang and Smith, 2014). It can be quite efficient for relatively homogeneous groups to limit the use of their resource if there exist mechanisms for reaching binding agreements (Ostrom, 2008).

In addition, multiple-use of the grassland resource can be an important way to manage the commons. The commons can support multiple land uses going beyond the primary productive industries like agriculture and mining to support things like recreation and tourism. The extent and the type of use of land may change with demographic, technological and economic development (Edwards and Steins, 1998). To balance multiple interests, "collective action among the user groups is required to agree to rights about access to, allocation of, and control over the resource, since resource uses by the separate user groups are interdependent" (Steins and Edwards, 1999). The comparative analysis framework for multiple-use commons is helpful to direct attention to important factors which affect decisions of the institutions governing the resource and whether changes are necessary or desirable (Ostrom, 2002).

In especially the last few decades, policies and institutions have changed dramatically, and there has been extensive privatisation of CPRs in much of the world (Humphrey and Sneath, 1999; Wisner, 2012; Archambault, 2014; Ojanen et al., 2014). It has been suggested that the motivation for privatization is to create a better incentive for herders to improve the productivity of grasslands (Conte and Tilt, 2014; Fernandez-Gimenez et al., 2015; Moritz et al., 2015). Whether intentional or not, the effects of privatization is an interesting and complicated study not least because of the varying success this has been seen to have in both social, economic terms and with respect to the resources. With the privatization of grassland, the behaviours of herders and their decision-making can change as the relationship between herders and institutions change, and these changes can be dramatic (Jun et al., 2013).

The decision-making of herders can be affected by high-level institutional arrangements. Those institutional arrangements, in some place, are essential to promote group management. For example, in China's grasslands, the government encourage herders to join the grazing groups by investing their lands or livestock (Xiaoyi, 2007). How those new institutional arrangements and grassland policies affect the performance of the grassland grazing system is an important topic in grassland sustainable development, and that is the crux of this study. Agent-based modelling has proved to be an effective tool to evaluate the effect of different institutional arrangement on grassland grazing systems (Jun et al., 2013), before attention to these types of model in Section 2.4.4, the following section describes the complex nature of grassland grazing systems (as introduced), and following this there is a review of different modelling approaches.

2.2 The complex nature of grassland grazing systems

Grassland grazing systems are often being modelled as complex systems. This section will discuss the common characteristics of a complex system (Section 2.2.1) and Section 2.2.2), and what are the complexities in a grassland grazing system (Section 2.2.4). In addition, the difference between a complicated system and complex system is detailed in Section 2.2.3.

2.2.1 Complex geographical systems

A system consists of entities and relations between them (Bertalanffy, 1980). A complex system is synergistic in that the properties of the whole system cannot be explained simply by somehow summing up all the properties of the constituent entities (Mitchell, 2011). Complex geographical systems are those where the entities in the system are distributed in regions on or near the surface of Earth and interact with other entities of the same type and also entities of other types, these interactions occur within regions and across regions over time, and such interactions can give rise to higher-level emergent behaviours of the system. In a geographical context, each region is connected to other regions, and the regions themselves are entities in their own right, and these may grow or shrink and move through space over time by interacting with neighbouring regions. In a physical sense, all geographical regions effectively interact through movements in air and water and with things moving across the land. Additionally, the boundaries between regions are often gradual in nature though they might also be naturally abrupt. In more managed contexts people make boundaries to abruptly change land uses and land covers from one type to another.

The entities of any complex system may self-organise and may collectively organise with entities of the same type, and this organisation may be based on the distribution and characteristics of entities of other types in the system. Complex systems tend to have no centralized overarching controlling entities that completely determine the characteristics of all other entities in the system, though often some entities have a more significant influence than others. Typically organization evolves in complex systems - emerging as a consequence of localized interactions between entities that typically further evolve and result in further organisational change (Diana, 2012). The emergence of new types of entity and new forms of organisation which begin interacting with other entities or sub-systems is in some ways the defining nature of a complex system. Though it may seem that this might lead to ever more complex systems, this is not necessarily the case, as some organisational entities might not

perpetuate, they may just exist for a short time as part of a phase transition of the system, or they may be ephemeral, appearing every now and again when the conditions are right, and those conditions may even be somewhat regular and in a geographical sense, this is often part of a normal annual cycle of seasons or another cycle of climatic conditions (Miller and Page, 2007).

There are other definitions or expressions of complex systems that are worth considering, for example, Cotta and Schaefer (2017) defined complex systems as "...composed of many components, whose structure and interaction leads to emergent properties of the system as a whole, that is, the system exhibits properties and behaviours that are not explicit in its isolated components"; while Whitesides and Ismagilov (1999), in chemistry, defined a complex system as "one whose evolution is very sensitive to initial conditions or to small perturbations, one in which the number of independent interacting components is large, or one in which there are multiple pathways by which the system can evolve. Analytical descriptions of such systems typically require nonlinear differential equations. A second characterization is more informal; that is, the system is complicated by some subjective judgment and is not amenable to exact description, analytical or otherwise".

The next section reviews complex system definitions as summarised by (Ladyman et al., 2013).

2.2.2 The properties of a complex system

Ladyman et al. (2013) summarised the common properties associated with a complex system: non-linearity, feedback or interactions, spontaneous order, robustness and lack of central control, emergence, hierarchical organisation, numerosity. However, having those properties do not necessarily mean that a system is complex, they are the key features that differentiate complex systems from other simple systems (Zeng et al., 2017).

The components of a complex system are highly interdependent, and this interdependence creates non-linearity between the parameters of the model and the outputs. Non-linearity arises from the fact that the overall system properties are not a simple linear addition of each component' properties in isolation (Bradbury and Vehrencamp, 2014). By comparison, in a linear system the next state of the system is the linear sum of the next state of each component in the system; however, the emergent behaviour can still be observed in a linear system. For example, two metallic balls attached to springs with distinct frequencies can generate an emergence of beats, which occur when the two normal mode frequencies get close. The frequency of oscillations can be calculated by the linear average of the two normal mode frequencies modulated by half the difference in the two frequencies. The trajectories of a linear system can progress to an equilibrium when the further changes stop, spiral off into infinity or exhibit oscillation at some fixed frequency, but each trajectory is entirely predictable given the relations among entities and their initial conditions (Bradbury and Vehrencamp, 2014); notice that it is perfectly possible to think in a linear way about systems that exhibit non-linear dynamics (Ladyman et al., 2013). However, it worth noticing that exponential changes can exist in a non-linear system. For example, the rate of change of the number of individuals in a population can be predicted as a function of age with a fixed distribution and an exponential growth of time (Iannelli and Martcheva, 2003), thus, complex systems are known to be shift or flip into all new regimes within a period of time, and the nonlinear behaviour of the system results from disproportionate

response to proportional increases/decreases of an input on an output variable (<u>Sturmberg et al., 2017</u>).

Changing the values of the parameters in the non-linear systems can cause the system to be non-deterministic or stochastically chaotic. The system behaviours can be at "the edge of chaos" (Langton, 1990), in the sense that they lie in the middle ground between ordered systems and chaotic ones. This is often the result of the presence of non-linear interactions and feedback loops which often lead to self-organizing patterns (Steven, 2012). In fact, complexity is often linked with chaos which is characteristically "sensitive to the initial conditions" (Langton, 1990), and it is the central idea within chaos theory (Flake, 2001). In chaotic systems, small changes in the initial conditions may lead to dramatic differences in what is predicted yet often in the short-term (Hayles, 1991).

Feedback is an essential condition of a complex system. The entities in the system can receive feedback from the other entities, and the way the other entities interact with them at a later time depends on how they interact with the other entities at an earlier time (Ladyman et al., 2013). Yet due to the feedback loops among entities, some small change in the input value to the system can trigger a large systemic effect. However, the existence of feedbacks among entities does not necessarily mean a system is complex; it is complex if the feedback involves multiple entities and when this can give rise to higher level order/emergence (Ladyman et al., 2013).

Complex systems are not completely random but also not completely ordered, and they also tend to be somewhat hierarchical in that entities are nested inside of subsystems and are also part of larger systems or other related interdependent systems (Ladyman et al., 2013). It is sometimes reasoned that all complex systems have this multi-dimensional property and that they are composed of many entities at different levels with lots of interaction between these levels making it difficult to isolate any component or reduce the whole system to one level.

Complex systems have no top-down, centralized mechanism coordinating all the operations in the system. The entities in a complex system have a degree of autonomy, which is often formed through their capacity to adapt to the local environment based on a set of rules (Watson and Scheidt, 2005). Without centralized coordination and with a degree of autonomy, entities can synchronize their states locally, or they can cooperate with each other, which can result in the higher-level emergent patterns of the system. With autonomy and adaption, the complex system can exhibit a variety of different responses for the given changes in the system. It means that complex systems are often heterogeneous with diverse high-level emergent behaviour. Ecosystems, for example, are diverse complex systems because the entities in the systems are subject to evolutionary forces of natural selection and competition between species and their dependencies on each other for food and habitat. In grasslands, the grass itself depends on grazing (or cutting or burning) to reduce competition from larger plants, especially trees which in themselves cannot be grazed and once established can supersede grasses for so long that their seeds are no longer around to take advantage when gaps appear in a canopy.

A complex system can also involve dense interconnectivity among entities. How the entities are connected and at what scales becomes key to understanding the system (Hannigan, 2013). Spatially, for example, a system may divide into subregions where each subregion interacts with other subregions, and subregions with different characteristics or traits may interact with each other differently depending on how they are connected. For example, different subregions can be thought of connecting

spatially with adjoining regions and with each other across other regions. With such degree of connectivity, the system stops being separate parts and becomes a network of connections. The key to understanding the system is then how entities flow in this network. Space may be redefined in terms of topology created by connectivity. Understanding of the system can be gained by studying the positions of entities in a network structure and by examining the degree of connectivity in the system (Jha and Sivakumar, 2017).

Emergence arises only in systems that can be described as operating across multiple levels (<u>De Wolf and Holvoet, 2005</u>); in other words - the system has some kind of hierarchical structure. The emergent behaviour in modelling the natural world is that the systems are organized hierarchically across spatial scales from subatomic particles, atoms and molecules that are nutrients and raw materials for life (energy, hydrogen, water, oxygen, carbon etc.), to organisms that exist at the bottom of the food chain/web (bacteria, fungi, algae, grass), to ecological regions with complex food webs (herbivores, ants, predators etc.), to the ecosystem and biosphere and solar system (Mazzocchi, 2008). At each of these levels, there are certain emergent principles that do not appear in the lower level of the system (Kesić, 2016).

Complex systems have the property of numerosity, which means there are many entities rather than one or two entities in the system. Often too there is plurality or many different types of entity. Again, we should notice that numerosity (and indeed plurality) in the system does not mean a system is complex. The overall system properties can be simply the summation of the properties of the entities in the system and not lead to emergence at other levels (Ladyman et al., 2013).

To summarise, a complex system (for the purpose of this thesis) is a system that has many entities interacting with each other or with their environment in a somewhat disorderly but definable way, where the emergent behaviour of the system arises from local or individual interactions.

Because there can still be some confusion with regard to the difference between *complex* systems and *complicated* systems, the next section attempts to distinguish these before discussing the components of the complexity in the grassland grazing systems studied.

2.2.3 The difference between complicated systems and complex systems

The terms "complicated" and "complex" are often used interchangeably; however, they are fundamentally different in dealing with the entities' behaviours and the system structure. As highlighted in Section 2.2.1 and Section 2.2.2, complex systems refer to the emergence of unordered but robust behaviours presented by many locally and often non-linearly interacting components (Sun et al., 2016). Model complexity, however, can arise from complexity either in the model structure (Aldebert et al., 2016) or in the behaviours of the model (Duckworth et al., 2018).

In order to distinguish "complicated" and "complex" in modelling work, <u>Sun et al.</u> (2016) proposed the usage of "complicated model" instead of "complex model" when referring to model structure. Both models have a structure with many entities and relations between them, and the entities can be diverse and interact with each other. However, in a complicated model, the outcomes of the system are usually knowable or predictable. To understand a complicated system, the primary way is to decompose the whole system into the main structural parts, and their relations and via further decomposition subdivide these into smaller parts and relations (<u>Poli, 2013</u>).

The complex model, however, refers to the model behaviours/functions at the system level, which arises from lower-level interactions (as discussed in Section 2.2.2). The entities can also be diverse and interact with each other, but they cannot be individually decomposed or isolated in order to understand the system, and thus the system behaviour emerges through the network of the individual interactions (Poli, 2013). The same structure of the complex model can produce an infinite variety of outcomes (or system functions/emergence) (Poli, 2013). This leads to outcomes of the complex model that cannot be precisely predicted, and emergent behaviours caused by the complexity of the system abound (Sturmberg et al., 2017).

It is important to realise that although precise predictions of a complex system state are not possible (because a system may have multiple outcomes), predictions can still be useful and bounded with certainty estimates. This is especially important with regard to analysing the stability and uncertainty in predictions derived from a given state of the system modelled. One way to explore the sensitivities of the model or variations in predictions of a complex system is to analyse an ensemble of simulations where parameters are varied along with stochastic aspects provide for example by pseudo-random inputs. This will be illustrated in Chapter 7.



Figure 2.1: Colloquial and scientific meaning of complex from <u>Sturmberg et al.</u> (2017), page 427

Having summarised the properties of complex systems, distinguished complex systems from other complicated systems, and defined the grassland grazing system under study. Section 2.2.4 now focuses on the complex system nature of the grassland grazing system under study.

2.2.4 The complex nature of grassland grazing systems

Understanding the complexities of a system is the key to understanding its outcomes (Liu et al., 2007). A grassland grazing system is complex because it contains both the interactions within the ecosystem (Milchunas et al., 1988) and interactions within its social-economic system through different stakeholders (Dobó et al., 2006). The degree of complexity depends not only on the number of types of interactions but also on how this social-economic-ecological system is organized and the degree

of interrelationships within each subsystem. It is a complex system that varies both in time and in space (Boyd and Svejcar, 2009). However, biological diversity is often equated with grassland complexity (Martinez et al., 2006). Descriptions and measurements of ecosystem diversity usually have a strong species and population basis (Pavlik, 1995). Those descriptions do not adequately account for the interaction among grassland components and the local environmental characteristics of grassland. They largely underestimated or ignore the fundamental effects on grassland dynamics of the behaviour of herders and/or land managers and their institutional arrangements (Dong et al., 2009).

Complexity in the grassland grazing ecosystem arises through interactions of livestock and plants in an inherently heterogeneous land resource (Tainton et al., 1996). Complex systematic behaviour can emerge from even relatively simple rules with few interactions or entities, and additionally, "the transition from a simple to complex problem can be triggered by an increase in the scale of the problem (either spatial and/or temporal by our desire to understand simple problem at a more mechanistic level)" (Boyd and Svejcar, 2009). The interactions within the grassland grazing system may be one directional or bidirectional and either strong or weak (Power et al., 1985).

A typical example of this complexity is the 'wolf-sheep' model as implemented using the NetLogo by Wilensky (1997). The model contains three elements: grass which grows at a certain fixed rate, sheep who travel around (often randomly) grazing and breeding, and wolves who also move around hunting the sheep and breeding. The individual behaviour of the wolves and sheep is very simple, but the model leads to complex dynamics in the population of wolves and sheep. If there are too many wolves on the grassland, they could not survive due to the limited number of sheep that can be raised on the grassland and over-predation; Similarly, if the number of sheep reach a certain degree, the sheep also could not survive due to the limited grass forage that grassland can provide (Wilensky, 1997). In addition, the grazing activities of sheep on the grassland also have an effect on the available forage produced by grassland. The interconnected relationship and individual interactions among wolves, sheep and the grass lead to the emergence of the overall stable systematic behaviours: a dynamic population of wolves, sheep and grassland productivity. However, the system could also "collapse" (sheep or wolf may die out) when one of the relations or interactions among wolf, sheep and grass is extremely weak or extreme strong (for example, the regrowth time of grass is too long or too short, the reproducing rate of wolves or sheep is extremely high or low). This means that the system behaviour depends on the initial conditions of the entities in the system. However, such dependency is quite gentle, such that tiny changes in the initial conditions will not result in the huge difference in the behaviours of the system, which is different from deterministic chaos where the system behaviour is sensitive to the initial conditions and thus they are unpredictable in the long term (Šarloši et al., 2014).

The complexities of the grassland grazing system are manifested at a number of levels or scales. The scientist, manager, government and the herder, all those who are observers of the grassland grazing system, will define the scope of interaction behaviours themselves that are relevant to particular purposes (An et al., 2005; Liu et al., 2007; Briske et al., 2011). Generally, those complexities can be categorized into four types: complexity of the forage distribution (Seagle and McNaughton, 1992); complexity of the livestock population (Fynn et al., 2016); complexity of the plant-livestock interaction (Cronin et al., 2015); and the complexity associated with

management strategies (<u>Lemaire et al., 2014</u>). When modelling such a complex system, it is important to choose an appropriate scale and perspective to analyse (<u>Belsky, 1987</u>). As an integral part of the grassland grazing system, herders and institutions' actions contribute to the complexity of grassland grazing (<u>Christina</u> <u>Prell, 2009</u>).

2.2.4.1 The complexity of forage distribution

Different plant species have different digestibility for livestock, and abiotic factors (e.g. precipitation, temperature) have a dominant effect on the distribution and availability of forage (Walker, 2012). The floristic composition of vegetation (Pucheta et al., 1998), especially edible and productive species, determine the forage available for grazing due to its digestibility (Jouven et al., 2006); nutrient content (Whitehead, 2000); and accessibility (Bakker et al., 2003). Abiotic factors have an intense pressure and lead to large-scale changes to vegetation composition "from increased nitrogen deposition to altered disturbance regimes and new suites of plant species (many weedy) in regional floras" (Huenneke and Ward, 2003). In addition, researchers have found socio-economic changes can influence resource use patterns (Crecente et al., 2002), which in turn directly impact on the vegetation (Gordon et al., 2004). Factors such as changes in institutional control, levels of unemployment and local perceptions of rights have resulted in a dramatic increase in harvesting of natural resources in the world's grasslands (Twine, 2005a; Rohde et al., 2006). Increased grazing intensities have a significant impact on the vegetation, which in turn reduces local resource supply (Kantrud, 1981; Qu et al., 2016). This results in increasing reliance on resources purchased from commercial harvesters or on substitute resources (Warford, 1987). In addition, the social-economic factors such as changes in institutional control, levels of unemployment and local perceptions of rights and responsibilities since democratic elections have resulted in a dramatic increase in harvesting of vegetation and the resultant impacts on the vegetation thus form a feedback loop between society and the natural environment (Twine, 2005b).

2.2.4.2 **The** complexity of plant-livestock interactions

The livestock population is complex because it is controlled by the condition of the grassland, the growth of livestock, herders' willingness and power to gain from grassland, as well as the social-economic demands of livestock production (Seré et al., 1995; Turner and Williams, 2002). There are a number of direct effects of grazing on plants, which may subsequently affect their population dynamics (Hutchings and Gordon, 2001). In addition, other herbivores that live in the grassland are an important part of the grassland ecosystem (Farnsworth et al., 2002); in the grassland of Zeku, more than 200 species coexist (Zhou et al., 2007b), although it is common for most of the biomass in the herbivore population to be derived from three or four species (Suttle et al., 2007). However, there is a considerable degree of dietary overlap between those herbivores, with plant species preferred by one type of animal generally thought to be favoured by other species as well (Milton, 1999).

In the past, it was generally believed that positive feedback between grazed grass and grazing herbivores was the norm (<u>Srivastava and Jefferies</u>, 1996). However, livestock grazing can also have negative effects on plant growth as a consequence of defoliation, and reduced biodiversity and stability of the grass ecosystem – leading to reduced productivity (<u>McNaughton</u>, 1993). In addition, the trample effect on grassland of livestock can lead to soil compaction to the extent that inhibits grass growth (<u>Turner</u>, 1987; <u>Cluzeau et al.</u>, 1992). On the other hand, the effect of grazing on resource distribution affects animal grouping patterns, social behaviour and the mating system (Bradbury and Vehrencamp, 2014). Removal of biomass and photosynthetic tissue tends to reduce plant growth rates (McNaughton et al., 1983), can increase mortality (Dyer, 2003) and decrease fecundity (Hanley et al., 1995). So, livestock has direct effects on vegetation as a result of the selection of bite site, bite depth and the amount of trample. Those behaviours play a key role in creating spatial heterogeneity in the grassland grazing (Hutchings and Gordon, 2001), and can form hotspot grazing sites (Person et al., 2003), where the productivity of plants is relatively high with abundances of nutrients and minerals (Augustine et al., 2003). "Heterogeneity is created as a consequence of particular parts or components of the sward" (Hutchings and Gordon, 2001).

2.2.4.3 The complexity of grassland management

Grassland grazing strategies and institutional arrangements, which involve the individual complexities discussed above, are key in a complicated grazing system. This means management approaches need to protect and conserve natural resources and enable the herders to maintain their livelihoods (Quinn and Ockwell, 2010). However, most grassland management policies were developed based on the concept of increasing and sustaining livestock production by reducing rangeland heterogeneity and favouring the most productive, most palatable forage species for livestock grazing (Fuhlendorf and Engle, 2001a). Obviously, this rangeland management approach is incapable of providing an ecological framework for maintaining heterogeneity of grassland systems (Fuhlendorf and Engle, 2001a). In fact, maintaining heterogeneity is important to maintaining productivity as well as biodiversity of grasslands (Fuhlendorf et al., 2006);

The complexities mentioned above have contributed to the formation of different paradigms when modelling such a complex system—equilibrium and non-equilibrium conditions. The next section focuses on these different paradigms.

2.3 Ecological paradigms for modelling grassland grazing systems

Due to the complex nature of the grassland grazing systems and the various types of the grassland grazing systems, equilibrium and non-equilibrium paradigms are employed to understand grassland dynamics. This section, therefore, discusses these two paradigms before reviewing the specific models for grassland grazing systems. The equilibrium paradigm is discussed in Section 2.3.1.1, followed by a review of the non-equilibrium paradigm in Section 2.3.1.2. Critiques of those two paradigms are discussed in Section 2.3.2, where state and transition models are briefly introduced.

2.3.1 Equilibrium and non-equilibrium paradigms

Paradigms play a critical role in science and help to establish models of nature that can be used to identify problems and interpret results (Kuhn and Hawkins, 1963; Andersen et al., 2006). The paradigms for rangeland management and modelling are, therefore, the important ways to understand the grazing system for both grassland managers and modellers (Illius and O'connor, 1999; Fuhlendorf and Engle, 2001b). Grassland grazing systems often have esoteric problems and experience unpredictable events and issues that can have major effects. This makes it a challenge to build a model of any grassland grazing system (Haijing Gong et al.,

<u>2006</u>). For many years, scientists have been looking for general and simple models to solve specific problems. This has proven a difficult aim to realise when modelling a complex natural world that is coupled with complex human activities (<u>Liu et al.</u>, <u>2007</u>).

There are numerous optimization methodologies and technologies for managing the grassland grazing systems (Liu et al., 2007a; Alberti et al., 2011; An, 2012a; Boumans et al., 2015), but losing insight of interactions among factors and lack of the knowledge of the specified systems are critical defects which lead to results that do not match actual data (Power et al., 1985). Simulations of such systems need to consider not only vegetation processes, but also biochemical processes, as well as climate factors (Liu et al., 2007). In addition, different management practices and the interaction between grassland and livestock are also important aspects that cannot be ignored. Furthermore, even for a very simple system, we also need to consider time, space, extreme events and discontinuity, which make the problem much more complicated. In order to understand the grassland grazing system under study, some parts of the system may be adequately expressed using simple linear models, whereas others may require methods to handle nonlinear dynamics. It should also be noted that as more factors need to be considered, the data requirements also increase, which can be problematic as data are often sparse, incomplete and may contain significant amounts of noise and error.

The complex nature of grassland grazing systems has imposed the equilibrium and non-equilibrium debate on the theory of grassland modelling, which has important ramifications for identifying problems and interpreting modelling results (Agassi, 1966). Ecologists have been debating the validity of two current paradigms for the assessment of the vegetation dynamic on grasslands. The equilibrium paradigm assumes that the dynamic system will always return to its pre-disturbance state or pre-disturbance trajectory when disturbance has stopped (O'Neill, 2001), that is, the system has the ability to regulate itself or balance itself against the internal drivers (for example, overgrazing) or external disturbance (for example, climate change). It postulates that, once disturbance occurred in a system, the system either returns to tie former equilibrium or equilibrates within a new "domain of attraction", which is a new level of equilibrium (Hodgson and Illius, 1996).

The non-equilibrium theory supposes that the system has a limited capacity for such regulation (Wu and Loucks, 1995). This section will discuss in detail. In terms of modelling grassland grazing, "the equilibrium model stresses the importance of biotic feedbacks such as density-dependent regulation of livestock populations and the feedback of livestock density on vegetation composition, cover and productivity. Range management under this model centres on carrying capacity, stocking rates and range condition assessment. In contrast, non-equilibrium grassland systems are thought to be driven primarily by stochastic abiotic factors, notably variable rainfall, which results in highly variable and unpredictable primary production. Livestock populations are thought to have negligible feedback on the vegetation as their numbers rarely reach equilibrium with their fluctuating resource base" (Vetter, 2005). Researchers have devoted much time to finding a suitable paradigm for the sustainable development of grassland grazing according to a different characteristic of the grassland, and equilibrium and non-equilibrium theory play to that theme (Derry and Boone, 2010). This thesis will then discuss the detail of the equilibrium and non-equilibrium theories and their critiques.

2.3.1.1 Equilibrium paradigm

Equilibrium paradigm suggests a tight coupling of the plant-herbivore system. A system in equilibrium does not change dramatically, but it may still change seasonally, so temporal scale and resolution is important; that is, the vegetation composition might change a lot over a year, but is pretty similar at the same time of year (year to year) on a broad scale - and that this is a form of equilibrium even though things are continually changing. In fact, in the evaluation of grassland grazing systems, the equilibrium theory emphasizes the continuous and reversible vegetation dynamics (Briske et al., 2003).

The equilibrium theory has developed from the European and US perspective of the rangelands in temperate climates, where "*the developmental study of vegetation necessarily rests upon the assumption that the unit or climax formation is an organic entity*" (Clements, 1916), which is known as "range model". It assumes that the grazing intensity proportionally counteracts secondary succession, in a continuous, directional manner, to modify species composition variously (Westoby et al., 1989). The range condition is determined by the relative position of the community composition along a successional gradient. It assumes that the composition of a presumed pre-settlement climax community is the expected excellent range condition (Dyksterhuis, 1949).

Equilibrium theory assumes that the vegetation composition will progress towards a climax community under the climate and soil conditions, through the process of succession (Begon et al., 1986). The climax community is therefore considered to be the most stable plant community that could occur. The disturbance, either internal drivers like grazing intensity, or external disturbance such as drought, will result in the vegetation being "pushed back" to an earlier successional stage, and once internal or external disturbance ceases or removed, the natural processes will lead back to the climax condition (Briske et al., 2003). In equilibrium theory, overstocking and overpopulation are recognized as the primary cause of degradation of grasslands. The management regimes aim to control the stocking rate and change the land tenure to maintain the grassland in an optimal condition.

The stable state of such equilibrium grazing system can be evaluated by the carrying capacity of grassland, which is a widely applied method to management the grassland grazing system in many places around the world and especially to pastoral systems in some areas of Africa where livestock are primarily dependent on grassland grazing (Unruh, 1993; Lebert et al., 2006). Under the equilibrium theory, the secondary production (mainly livestock production) of the grassland is linearly related to the successional status of vegetation; then it is possible to calculate the number of herbivores that can be supported on the range—carrying capacity (Quinn and Ockwell, 2007). This density dependence assumption in the carrying capacity means the quantity of herbivores on the grassland is controlled by the primary production of the vegetation at some optimal sub-climax composition with the purpose to maximize the livestock production.

The carrying capacity provides a powerful planning and management tool which has formed the basis of many proposed development interventions designed to ensure the continued sustainable exploitation of these grassland ecosystems (Sandford and Overseas Development, 1983; Mulindwa, 2009). Setting the carrying capacity of grassland implies that there is an equilibrium between a certain level of sustained livestock production and the grassland forage provision of grassland (Zubrow, 1971). The carrying capacity assumes a climax vegetation production, which is
So based on this concept, the mainstream of equilibrium scientists' efforts is to identify the climax capacity of grassland or the optimal carrying capacity of grassland (Shuan et al., 2007). Applications such as the prediction of grassland degradation or the modelling of grassland livestock system collapse from livestock overgrazing are widely discussed both in academic areas and by policymakers (Derry and Boone, 2010). It is also argued that climatic variability is the single largest cause of poverty in pastoral societies due to the spatial heterogeneity of resource distribution (Ojima et al., 1993; Parton et al., 1995). However, it seems that in regions where intensive dairy or beef production is highly dependent on the availability of grassland resources, the notion of a carrying capacity is not helpful, as potential livestock production is not restricted by the amount of available land, but it's primary productivity which varies based on climatic and other factors as discussed (Svenning, 2002; Smit et al., 2008).

Under the equilibrium theory, grazing intensity has a profound impact on species, see Figure 2.2, where H stands for the stocking rate of herbivores, and S represents the change in proportional species composition. These figures demonstrate a theoretical relationship between plant species and herbivores based on long-term grazing trials. " Δ S=0 is the line where all points are stable with respect to grazing intensity" (Hodgson and Illius, 1996). However, what cannot be ignored is that although grazing is a key factor affecting plant composition, other abiotic factors including human activities (Bowles and Gintis, 2011), are usually more important than grazing (Arévalo et al., 2011).



Figure 2.2: Plant-herbivore relationship from <u>Hodgson and Illius (1996)</u>, page 286. The vegetation compositional zero isocline ($\Delta S=0$, left figure) and the herbivore zero isocline ($\Delta H=0$, right figure) in the plane of plant species composition (S) and stocking rate (H). Arrows indicate the direction of change.

As for the impact of grassland grazing on biomass productivity, <u>Zhao et al. (2011b)</u> have a detailed explanation of experiments showing that different grazing intensities have a different impact on the above-ground net primary productivity (ANPP), the "increase-maximum-decrease" productivity pattern emerges during the period of the experiment. With the increase of grazing intensity, ANPP tends to decrease, and it is

more obvious in the heavy grazing area. The plants on the grassland provide the forage for livestock grazing, and most importantly, livestock affects the growth of plants via selective foraging (<u>Stebbins, 1981a</u>) and in how they trample the ground (<u>Phelan et al., 2013</u>).

However, researchers have found that grazing activities have an over-compensatory effect on plant growth (Vickery, 1972; López-Mársico et al., 2015), but the overall effect depends on the net effect of compensation and inhibition, and it is highly affected by the specific environmental conditions and the management measures. That is, overgrazing reduces grassland productivity, but moderate, rational grazing can promote grassland productivity (McNaughton, 1979b; Luo et al., 2012).

As can be seen from the right of Figure 2.2, with the increase of the change in proportional species composition, the stocking rate presented a "rapid increase max—slow decrease" trend. This indicates that plant composition has a strong effect on the grassland carrying capability. The "zero isocline for herbivore $\Delta H=0$ means all joining points in the S-H space at which the herbivore population is constant for the given value of S" (Hodgson and Illius, 1996), page 285, where the constant is the maximum stocking rate that can be maintained on the grassland. The management approach to equilibrium systems is generally to reduce the heterogeneity and to maintain stability. "In such systems, the perception is that the more diverse the system, the more complex the management required to optimize production and maintain system stability. Management actions aimed at dampening fluctuations in the system are effective because the manager has relatively strong control over the dynamics of the system via manipulation of management inputs, such as fertilizer levels, stocking rates and burning schedules" (Hodgson and Illius, 1996).

2.3.1.2 Non-equilibrium paradigm

The equilibrium paradigm addresses the importance of vegetation competition and plant-herbivore interactions on ecosystem behaviour, which are the important negative feedback mechanism that regulates the ecosystem (Briske et al., 2003). This is a high degree of internal system organization and regulation (Chesson and Case, 1986). However, when applying the equilibrium paradigm to the sub-Saharan African, where annual plants are the important component of the plant community, it cannot depict the reality of the grassland (Vetter, 2005), and it received criticism for its ineffective over-simplification of vegetation dynamics (Westoby et al., 1989). It is argued that grassland grazing systems are non-equilibrium because the environmental variability seldom allows the system to equilibrate (Behnke et al., 1993). The vegetation composition depends on a variety of factors rather than the plant competition or the plant-herbivore interactions at the succession stages (Sullivan and Rohde, 2002).

The non-equilibrium paradigm has been proposed by grassland scientists, sociologists and socio-economists to describe the dynamics of grazing systems susceptible to climatic variability and for which animal populations periodically collapse (Behnke et al., 1993). The density-dependent plant-herbivore interactions are weak or even do not exist in the non-equilibrium, and the abiotic factor, especially rainfall, are the dominant factors driving the productivity, distribution and composition of the vegetation (Quinn and Ockwell, 2007).

Under the non-equilibrium paradigm, the patterns of highly variable climatic factors are more important in determining the productivity and the composition of

grasslands compared with livestock grazing, and they are also the important drivers of the system that vegetation and herbivores do not reach equilibrium (Quinn and Ockwell, 2007). The animal populations need most of the time recovering from the natural disasters (for example, drought or prolonged snow) and rarely reach densities at which density-dependent mechanism acts to moderate the animal populations (Fernandez-Gimenez and Allen-Diaz, 1999). This has the effect of decoupling the plant-herbivore relations that historically underpin 'equilibrium' theory in grazing systems; with non-equilibrium theory it is proposed that because of decoupled plant-herbivore interactions livestock have little impact on forage resources (Sullivan and Rohde, 2002) and so are not to blame for the degradation of grassland that, in extreme circumstances, has been claimed to lead to desertification (Dean et al., 1995).

According to the non-equilibrium theory, the grassland grazing system has no equilibrium points in plant-herbivore space (<u>Sullivan and Rohde, 2002</u>). Plant-herbivore dynamics track external (abiotic) variability rather than plant and herbivore density-dependent interactions (<u>Vetter, 2005</u>). As such, the policy advice is to support the development of pastoralist coping strategies to deal with climate variability, and that the land tenure and accessibility of the land are more important than stocking rates (<u>Briske et al., 2003</u>). It has proved that the fluctuations in primary productivity driven by low and erratic precipitation, which in turn breaks the density dependence between herbivore populations and the available forage on the grassland (<u>Ellis and Swift, 1988</u>).

The differences between the equilibrium and non-equilibrium paradigms are shown in Table 2.1. The equilibrium paradigm existed at the very beginning of the scientific inquiry, while the non-equilibrium paradigm emerged more recently when assessing the effect of external disturbance on the system (Wu and Loucks, 1995). But in essence, both paradigms were used to interpret the system behaviour in response to internal or external disturbance (Briske et al., 2003). They are in a way saying the same thing, but are using different ways to say it (Derry and Boone, 2010). In fact, neither paradigm is sufficient to interpret and evaluate the system dynamics for all grasslands (Lockwood and Lockwood, 1993; Briske et al., 2003). In areas with intensive plant competition and plant-herbivore interactions, the equilibrium paradigm has been proved more effective in interpreting the dynamics of vegetation (Walker and Wilson, 2002; Stringham et al., 2003). But models based on the equilibrium paradigm are limited by a stable equilibrium status with reversible continuous change. The non-equilibrium paradigm is more effective than the equilibrium paradigm in the places dominated by the events, which could cause non-reversible and discontinuous changes in vegetation dynamics (Walker, 1993).

	Characteristics	Equilibrium theory	Non- equilibrium theory
Philosophical viewpoints	Stability	Stable and non- resilient	Unstable, resilient
	The balance between plants and animals	Stable – negative feedback determines equilibrium position	Plant and animal populations fluctuate widely – 'non- equilibrium.'

Table 2.1: The characteristics of equilibrium and non- equilibrium grassland grazing,modified from Hodgson and Illius (1996), page 283

	Appropriate models	Succession (range condition), stable isoclines, relatively simple dynamics	State and transition, complex dynamics
Real world ecological	Environment	Uniform—rainfall high and consistent	Variable – rainfall low and erratic
differences	Floristic	Comprised of perennial plants	Comprised largely of annual plants
	Forage flow	Relatively constant and predictable	Variable and unpredictable
	Driving forces	Grazing and fire, 'management – driving' – the level of management input determines response, e.g. stocking rate, fire frequency, etc.	Moisture availability, 'event-driven' – chance and contingency of non- biological (e.g. rainfall) and biological (e.g. grazing) events determine dynamics
Management policies	Management control	Strong	Weak
	Management of complexity	 Manipulative to reduce heterogeneity 1. sedentary – camping, rotation and regulation of animal nos 2. manipulative – aim to maximize stability and uniformity 3. control selection 	Exploitation of heterogeneity 1. migratory- transhumance to exploit resource heterogeneity 2. opportunistic and flexible – aim to maximize production while reducing risk 3. allow selection

2.3.2 Critiques of equilibrium and non-equilibrium paradigms

Both the equilibrium paradigm and non-equilibrium paradigm have been widely employed in interpreting the vegetation and livestock dynamics, and they have been discussed in the last two sections. The core challenge is to identify under what circumstances the paradigms apply to better understand the grassland grazing system (Vetter, 2005).

The dichotomy between density-dependent assumptions in equilibrium paradigm and abiotically driven population dynamics assumptions in the non-equilibrium paradigm has been criticised for being a temporal and spatial overcomplication of the dynamics of grassland grazing systems. In southern Zimbabwe (Scoones, 1990) and southern Ethiopia (Desta and Coppock, 2002), during the non-drought years, density-dependent dynamics can be observed. When the quantity of the livestock reaches the carrying capacity of the grassland, the competition among livestock will increase, and therefore the reproductive rate has been decreased, and mortality rate has been increased, and this lead to an overall reduced secondary productivity (Jones and Sandland, 1974). However, during the drought years, the density-independent occurs. The rainfall has limited the forage availability, on which the population of livestock actually highly depends, while the competition for grass forage is less important in regulating the population of the livestock (Ellis and Swift, 1988). Therefore, neither equilibrium nor non-equilibrium is able to describe the dynamics of the livestock population along with the timelines in such systems.

In addition, the equilibrium paradigm is exclusively applied at the coarse scales (Pickett et al., 1992), while the non-equilibrium paradigm is often at multiple scales (Fuhlendorf and Smeins, 1996); "the quality, quantity and seasonal availability of forage differs between parts of the landscape, and that people and livestock do not utilize all areas at the same frequency and intensity. Herded animals use the landscape differently to animals kept in paddocks, resulting in different impacts on different parts of the landscape. Some areas are more resilient to transformation than others, either because livestock cannot access them for prolonged periods (e.g. annual grasslands, grazing areas far from permanent water) or because the dominant plant species are tolerant of heavy defoliation (e.g. stoloniferous grasses). Patterns and processes in such heterogeneous landscapes are scale dependent, such that inferences about large-scale behaviour cannot reliably be made on the basis of smaller-scale observations" (Vetter, 2005). The scale-dependence is an important prerequisite for the assumptions for the implications of equilibrium and nonequilibrium paradigms, but it has not been clearly defined upon those two paradigms (Walker and Wilson, 2002). "Many range ecologists are struggling to overcome the mismatch between the scales of ecological investigation and those at which ecological processes in rangelands take place. While there is now a plethora of experimental results at the plot scale, larger-scale data from heterogeneous landscapes are still scarce" (Vetter, 2005).

A critique of the current paradigms demonstrates that the criteria based on which distinguished the two is not enough to represent the dynamics of the grassland grazing system. Numerous researchers suggest that species composition may vary substantially in response to disturbances, while ecosystem variables including species richness, productivity and energy use, may remain relatively constant (Chesson and Case, 1986; Tilman and Downing, 1994; Wardle et al., 1999; Brown et al., 2001). It has even been hypothesized that species fluctuations may represent a compensatory mechanism that contributes to ecosystem stability (i.e. homeostasis from Ernest and Brown (2001)) in numerous ecosystems (Seabloom, 2007), which indicate that the emphasis on vegetation compositional dynamics alone may be an insufficient criteria to evaluate these two paradigms.

Evidence summarised by <u>Friedel (1991)</u> has shown that the vegetation responses to grazing, drought and fire are often not linear and reversible. That equilibrium and non-equilibrium are extremes along a continuum and that many systems encompass elements of both, are widely supported (<u>Ellis and Swift, 1988</u>; <u>Sullivan and Rohde</u>, 2002; <u>Oba et al., 2003</u>). There are multiple thresholds of the rangeland states, which

leads the employment of State-and-Transition models (ST models) as an alternative to the rangeland succession model (<u>Westoby et al., 1989</u>).

The ST model incorporates multiple successional pathways, multiple steady states, thresholds of change (<u>Stringham et al., 2003</u>), and it enables the modelling of both continuous and discontinuous dynamics of the vegetation (<u>Briske et al., 2003</u>). Although the ST models can be considered to as a non-equilibrium paradigm (<u>Westoby et al., 1989</u>; <u>Briske et al., 2003</u>), they also have been used to understand the grassland grazing system with succession-based equilibrium models(<u>Phelps and Bosch, 2002</u>).

The main principle of the ST model is to construct a realistic model of the dynamic system, which can be either reversible or irreversible, equilibrium or nonequilibrium (Cingolani et al., 2005a). This flexibility of the modelling framework in the ST model makes it continuously developed and clarified, and it becomes a "management language" rather than an ecological theory (Westoby et al., 1989). The vegetation dynamics can fall into either transient dynamics ("driven by disturbance or weather events, produce significant but temporary changes in vegetation composition or production that can be reversed in a few years to several decades") or state transitions ("involve persistent changes in vegetation such that recovery of the former state is dependent on unacceptably long recovery times, active restoration, extreme events, or a reversal of climatic change that occurs over several decades or never occurs") (Bestelmeyer et al., 2003). However, many ST models are developed based on a narrow set of ecological and management practices, and a limited emphasizing on livestock production (Knapp et al., 2011). In addition, it may be difficult to identify a reference state as "healthy" (Stoddard et al., 2006), and the mechanism behind the change is not clearly represented in the model (Wintle et al., 2011).

As for the grassland grazing system in this thesis, vegetation dynamics are the primary focus. A better way to understand the dynamics of grassland grazing is to put the debate between equilibrium and non-equilibrium theory aside, and take the ecological, socio-economic and institutional effect of grassland grazing into consideration, analysing it at a broader scale (different grazing strategies and larger spatial/temporal scale) (Oba et al., 2003; Richardson et al., 2005), even if it does not encompass all the processes or states argued in the equilibrium or non-equilibrium paradigms (Ellis and Swift, 1988; Briske et al., 2003).

2.4 Grassland grazing system models

In this section, specific models of grassland grazing systems will be reviewed. This includes empirical models (Section 2.4.2), process-based models (Section 2.4.3) and agent-based approaches (Section 2.4.4). The common characteristics and the pros and cons of those models will be discussed at the end of each section.

2.4.1 Introducing the different types of model

A variety of models have been developed to help understand the dynamics of the grassland grazing systems. Each specific model tends to be used to provide a summary and understanding of the observed data or some phenomenon of the system being studied. Models are useful for the interpolation, extrapolation and prediction of the real world system (Thornley, 2001). Models for grassland grazing systems can be deterministic or stochastic, dynamic or static, mechanistic or empirical, mathematical or computational, and vary based on the purpose of the

models. This section contains subsections which describe the main types of model which are introduced briefly in this first part. The characteristics and limitations of current models are summarised at the end of each subsection. Agent-based modelling approaches are summarised in Section 2.4.4.

Deterministic models tend to produce definite quantities or exact predictions for a system based on clearly defined relationships. Clements (1916)'s succession pathway is an example of such a deterministic model used to predict succession in a grassland grazing system, where "succession towards this climax is a steady process. Grazing pressure produces changes which are also progressive and are in the opposite direction to the successional tendency. Therefore, the grazing pressure can be made equal and opposite to the successional tendency, producing an equilibrium in the vegetation at a set stocking rate" (Westoby et al., 1989). Deterministic models can be used to better understand uncertainty by varying their initial conditions. Weather models, for example, are typically deterministic, but their initial conditions (temperature, pressure, etc.) can never be known precisely. Therefore, the initial conditions are varied slightly across numerous model runs, and the distribution of the results provides information about the uncertainty associated with the weather forecasts. Where all models produce quite different results from only small variations on the initial conditions, the deterministic model suggests that there is a large degree of uncertainty in the system. In addition, the parameters in the deterministic models can also cause the uncertainty of the model outputs. For example, in the Light Use Efficiency (LUE) model (details can be found in Section 6.3), the values of the parameters (for example, the maximum radiation conversion efficiency or the projected leaf area per unit mass of leaf carbon) are not the same when it is employed in a new place with different vegetation compositions. By varying the value of the parameters, we can estimate the distributions of the grassland productivity, and the uncertainty of the LUE model can be inferred. The parameter values of the LUE model are usually kept fixed (typically we use the average values of multiple measuring sites for a giving vegetation species) while the model is running. This is the common way to use the deterministic models.

On the other hand, stochastic models consist of at least one random element as part of the model to represent the relevant processes behind it. One critical problem with the stochastic models though is that they can be difficult to validate or explain the mechanism behind the model outcomes (Thornley, 2001). In a stochastic model, some of the parameters or processes can be described by a probability distribution, for example, the direction of the next movement of the livestock on a land can be simply modelled through picking up a random direction, and it can change throughout the period of the model running.

When describing a model as dynamic, what is meant is that it is designed to represent the change in the status or quantities of the system over time. There are two main types of dynamic model. One which ticks at regular intervals, where some things are modelled for example from day to day or from year to year. Whereas others can be event-based and one set of events tends to be scheduled to occur in more continuous handling of time, for example, baby animals can be scheduled to appear at around about a set time in a model. In addition, there can be a hybrid that mixes these two treatments of change over time. In such models, the time t is often being expressed as an independent variable in the ordinary differential or difference equations (in a discrete manner) mathematically, for example, the rates of changes in the shoot and root mass described in Johnson (2013a)'s grassland productivity

model. *Static models* (as opposed to dynamic models), however, do not model changes over time and therefore cannot produce time-dependent status or quantities.

An *empirical model* is usually used to explore the quantitative relationships with two or more things (which can be described as either mathematical or statistical equations), without the consideration of any scientific content but still following a particular principle (Standiford and Howitt, 1992). A *mechanistic model*, however, can additionally provide a certain degree of understanding or explanation of the phenomena being modelled (Thornley, 2001). "A mechanistic model is a structure of empirical components. Any empirical component can be modelled mechanistically at still lower levels. However, any model or scientific explanation has to stop somewhere, and a mechanistic model is therefore always incomplete" (Thornley, 2001). However, it also clear that a well-constructed mechanistic model should be flexible and transparent to modification and extension without practical limit. Section 2.4.2 will discuss more on such models.

A *mathematical model* is a description or explanation of a system state, phenomenon or processed by mathematical language and concepts; it may present with a combination of either deterministic or stochastic, dynamic or static, mechanistic or empirical, mathematical or computational models. With the increasing availability and capability of computational resource, more computing power has enabled the modelling of lower levels in systems where previously this was not possible because of the associated difficulty (Levin et al., 1997). Such low-level components and mechanism usually are difficult to be described in a mathematical manner as a whole, for example, the foraging behaviours of the herbivores (Dumont and Hill, 2004a). Those *computational models* provide a new way to explore the higher-level system behaviour that arises from entities in the lower level.

This thesis will review the models of grassland grazing systems in three categories: empirical models (Section 2.4.2), process-based models (Section 2.4.3), and individual-based or agent-based models (Section 2.4.4).

2.4.2 Empirical models

Empirical models of the grassland grazing systems are often static models which aim to explore the relationship between the driving factors and the response indicators (Van Oijen et al., 2018). Usually, data are collected that captures the state or quantity of the entities in the grassland grazing system, but the data alone cannot provide more than a description or summary of the entities. the empirical model is the most intuitive and direct way to understand such data. In many process-based models, some processes are also presented by the empirical relationships (Thornley, 2001), and they are, therefore, the important models for the grassland grazing systems.

The empirical models can be used in a linear regression fashion. For example, <u>Bai et</u> al. (2007) used a linear regression model (species richness = $a \times productivity + b$) under different grazing intensities in Xilingol Grassland in China to explore the effect of grazing on grassland productivity and species diversity. It has found that grazing decreased both primary productivity and species richness. <u>Couvreur et al.</u> (2006) identified a linear relationship between the proportion of fresh grass in the cow diet and milk fatty acid composition and also butter properties. However, these two examples only involve one driving factor to the response variable,

There are empirical models that the number of driving factors are more than one, which leads to the employment of multivariate regression models. For example, <u>Verbyla and Venables (1988)</u> used a multivariate regression model with constraints which can be written as two seemingly unrelated regressions, to examine the effect of the sex and grazing regimes on the growth of the lambs on the grassland. Further vegetation-environment relationships were revealed through a multivariate regression, which aimed to explore the effect of seasonal fire, bison grazing and climatic on the residual aboveground productivity after grazing and abundance of plant functional groups (<u>Coppedge et al., 1998</u>).

More generalised linear and additive mixed models were developed by <u>Woodcock et</u> <u>al. (2005)</u>, where the effect of grazing on the vegetation structure was quantified; the impact of different management treatments (grazing, mowing, mulching twice per year, mulching once per year, succession) on functional and floristic development was investigated using generalised linear models (GLM) (<u>Römermann et al., 2009</u>). The generalized linear mixed model (GLMM), which was an extension of GLM models, was employed by <u>Jamil et al. (2013)</u> to identify which species traits and environmental variables associated with the species distribution; and also, <u>van Klink</u> <u>et al. (2015)</u> found an overall significant positive effect of increasing grazing intensity on plant diversity by using GLMM.

A generalized additive mixed model (GAMM) allows the researcher to break the total variation into fixed effect, random effect and the residual variation (<u>Dumont</u> and <u>Hill</u>, 2004a). For example, by adding gradient direction and year as random effects, <u>Sasaki et al. (2018)</u> suggested a nonlinear relationship between the distance from the livestock camp and the cover of each vegetation functional group except forbs.

In addition, non-linear regression models are outlined by <u>Brown et al. (1976)</u>, where the effect of age on the lifetime growth of beef cattle was quantified. <u>Frank and</u> <u>Hofmann (1989)</u> found a nonlinear relationship between air temperature or growing degree-days (GDD) and growth stage scale (HGS) under different grazing intensities for western wheatgrass. Nonlinear species-interaction models have been used to explore the effect of the pairwise interactions among the species in the vegetation communities on the grassland diversity (<u>Connolly et al., 2013</u>). <u>Carmel and Kadmon</u> (1999) used a slope-aspect interaction model under different grazing intensities to explore the effects of grazing and topography on long-term vegetation changes (<u>Carmel and Kadmon, 1999</u>) for a mountainous area in the Mediterranean region of Israel. More structuralized equation model can be found in the evaluation of abiotic factors controlling species densities in both grazed and un-grazed coastal meadows, and it is actually an extended multivariate regression model (<u>Grace and Jutila, 1999</u>).

With the increasing availability of spatial data, more spatially explicit empirical models were developed. An example is <u>Amiri et al. (2014)</u>'s work which aimed to identify suitable land for livestock grazing considering the spatial heterogeneity and vulnerability of the vegetation to drought and erosion. More recently, <u>Tsutsumida et al. (2017)</u>'s work on spatial and temporal trends of livestock population change used geographically weighted principal component analysis (GWPCA). Such models have to date tended to be implemented at the landscape scale considering the spatial heterogeneity of the grassland ecosystem in different landscapes (<u>Roy and Tomar, 2000</u>).

Generally, empirical modelling is rooted on the key principle of William James's "radical empiricism", which postulates that all knowledge is rooted in connections

that are given-in-experience (James, 1976). Empirical modelling aspires to craft the correspondence between the model and its referent in a way that its derivation can be traced to connections given-in-experience. The underlying philosophy of empirical models has been described by James (1976), that "the knowing can easily be explained as a particular sort of relation towards one another into which portions of pure experience may enter. The relation itself is a part of the pure experience"; such models give an intuitive and flexible representation of the relations among things. However, as the data collected in the grassland grazing systems are usually under certain local climatic, vegetation and soil conditions, when extrapolating of empirical models to the new conditions, they may be speculative or even false interpretation of the system (Van Oijen et al., 2018); in addition, the empirical models are usually built under certain spatial and temporal scale, from laboratory via field scale to global scale, the results from different scales are sometimes contradictory (Reichstein and Beer, 2008).

2.4.3 Processed-based models

Process-based models are based on theoretical understanding of relevant ecological, biophysical or physicochemical processes, and they provide a useful framework to incorporate specific responses to novel conditions (Cuddington et al., 2013). A definitive system for classifying process-based grassland grazing models may not exist. Scholarly literature about grass models is vast and diverse. This section focusses on process-based models involving interactions or feedback between vegetation and grazing animals, or at least the effect of grazing is considered in the model (either embedded in the input data or the processes of the model).

Three types of process-based models can be distinguished according to their modelling purpose: grassland process models; grassland livestock production models; and, decision support systems. A similar classification can be found in <u>Feenstra (1998)</u>. This review does not intend to list all the models but rather, to provide an overview of current models with some pros and cons.

2.4.3.1 Grassland process models

Grassland process models focus on the process of vegetation development and interactive feedbacks between this, the environment and livestock. The dynamics of vegetation can be represented from the scale of individual plants to large scale regions. A variety of environmental conditions and geographical places have been investigated using such models. As vegetation dynamic depends on climatic conditions, models are also developed to explore the effect of climate change, grazing and management regimes on grassland ecosystems through biophysical or ecological processes of the system (Anderies et al.).

An example is the Discrete-Time Model of <u>Woodward et al. (1995b)</u>, which is a relatively simple model of pasture growth and removal. The model assumes the rate of grazing by each animal is proportional to the herbage mass of the field. The results showed that compared with grazing stocking rate and the initial conditions of the grassland, grazing management has no or little effect on grassland productivity. The main issue with this model is that it relies heavily on detailed data about the physical condition of grasslands and thus is thought likely to be unsuitable for modelling area where the physical conditions are very variable and how they vary is not well understood (Woodward et al., 1995b).

A more complicated model is the Tropical Pasture Simulator developed to simulate the grass growth in Kikuyu (<u>Herrero et al., 2000b</u>). The model considers vegetation physiological processes: light interception and photosynthesis; leaf area expansion; growth; ageing; and, senescence of plant tissues. The grassland productivity dynamics were simulated under rotational or continuous grazing with responses to nitrogen fertiliser, temperature and irradiance.

The Carbon Cycle of Grassland (CCGRASS) was developed for long-term studies of the effect of grazing on vegetation productivity - to evaluate the carbon sequestration in the soil (Dasselaar et al., 1995). In the model, the contribution of grazing to the soil carbon sequestration depends on the site-specific stocking rate, herbage intake per animal and the herbage digestibility. In addition, the CENTURY model, which is a widely used vegetation productivity model, was developed to simulate the dynamics of carbon (C), nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P), and sulphur (S) for different plant-soil systems for either grassland systems, agricultural crop systems, forest systems, or savanna systems (Parton, 1996). For the CENTURY model, the grazing effect on the vegetation was simply assumed proportional to the vegetation mass.

At the leaf scale, <u>Coughenour (1984)</u> constructed the GRASS model to examine the effect of grazing on the grass growth, water use and light interception, but the effect of leaf angle on the productivity was not considered. By including and excluding livestock grazing in the simulation, the Hurley Pasture Model (<u>Thornley and</u> <u>Cannell, 1997</u>) was used to reveal the impact of grazing on grassland. <u>Thornley and</u> <u>Cannell (1997</u>) suggested that grazing can drastically alter the magnitude and sign (positive or negative) of the response of grasslands to climate change, especially accounting for rising temperatures.

A comparison of some of grassland process models is shown in Table 2.2. The common drawbacks in these are summarised at the end of Section 2.4.3.2.

Model	Spatial	temporal	Pros/cons	Key
	resolution	resolution		reference
Tropical	1 m^2	daily	A mechanistic model representing	(Herrero et
Pasture			the growth of vegetative tropical	<u>al., 2000a)</u> .
Simulator			pastures under rotational or	
			continuous grazing with responses	
			to nitrogen fertilizer, temperature	
			and irradiance that can be used as a	
			tool to study management options	
			for the development of sustainable	
			grazing systems;	
			Too many parameter values need	
			quantified when applying to novel	
			conditions, and plant population	
			dynamics are not explicitly	
			presented in the model.	
Discrete	1 ha	daily	A simple process-based modelling	(Woodward
Time Model			that can simulate the effect of	et al., 1995b)
			different grazing management	

Table 2.2: Comparison of grassland process models, modified from Feenstra(1998) and (Ehrhardt et al., 2018)

			strategies (rotational or continuous	
			grazing) on grassland productivity;	
			Needs sufficient and precise	
			information about the system, which	
			makes it difficult to be applied to	
			the other areas, and it only focuses	
			on the productivity of the system.	
CCGRASS	site	yearly	Well suited for management and	(Dasselaar et
			climate interaction on soil and plant	al., 1995)
			dynamics;	
			Effects of grazing and mowing	
			incorporated from site-specific	
			experimental data, and it does not	
			include the effects of the other	
			herbivores in the model	
CENTURY	$1 m^2$	monthly	Well suited for studying the	(Parton
CLIVIORI	1 111	montiny	biogeochemical eveling: C N P	(1 a (0)), 1006)
			and S dynamics for the plant soil	<u>1770)</u>
			and suggested of the plant son,	
			and seasonal effects of burning and	
			grazing simulated;	
			Only simplified herbivore	
			Routing.	
GRASS	l m ²	monthly	Well-designed for the assessment of	(Coughenour,
			the impact of grazing on African	<u>1984)</u>
			grassland systems: shoot number,	
			C, and N budget, energy	
			balance, and water	
			budget;	
			Physiologically based grazing-plant	
			feedbacks at leaf level makes it	
			difficult to be applied for large-scale	
			studies.	
Hurley	site	yearly	Simulate the fluxes of C, N, and	(Thornley
Pasture			water and allows for the study of	and Cannell,
Model			soil-grass-animal interactions with	1997)
			mature, nonlactating sheep;	
			Grazing effect is associated with	
			stocking rate, and like all the other	
			models, many parameters are	
			needed.	
APSIM	site	daily	It is flexible for the users to assess	(Holzworth
		j	the management actions and	(12012)
			grazing in rotations (based on SGS	<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>
			model which is also listed in this	
			table) and is a major strength of the	
	1		model.	
	1		It does not handle phosphomys	
	1		nroperly and unloss configured	
	1		with GD A 7DI AN anise simula	
	1		with GRAZPLAIN, only a simple	
			representation of the grazing animal	
	1		is possible.	

CenW	1 ha	daily	The generic structure and	(Kirschbaum
			comprehensive inclusion of	et al., 2015)
			many key processes and system	
			feedbacks. It thus responds both	
			directly and indirectly to a wide	
			variety of changes in external	
			environmental and management	
			conditions. It is also embedded in a	
			user-friendly interface that allows a	
			wide range of changes to	
			management or environmental	
			andition to be readily	
			implemente de	
			CanW relies on the commution of a	
			Cenw relies on the assumption of a	
			norizontally uniform plant canopy	
			and includes no sopnisticated	
			phenological routines. It is thus	
			suitable for grass swards or forests	
			with uniform tree	
			cover, but not suitable for modelling	
	2		isolated plants.	
SGS	1 m^2	daily	DairyMod contains a detailed	(<u>Johnson,</u>
			simulation of photosynthesis,	<u>2013b</u>)
			growth, C partitioning in response	
			to water and N stress, designed for	
			grassland systems and includes a	
			sub-model of the animal and its	
			effects on the pasture through	
			grazing and the spatial modelling of	
			the deposition of excreta, as well as	
			capturing sward dynamics, such as	
			the competition between grasses	
			and legumes, grazing offtake rates	
			and cutting residuals;	
			The model does not simulate herd	
			dynamics, tactical buying or selling	
			of animals. The model does not	
			account for plant death <i>per se</i> .	
DavCent	$1 m^2$	dailv	It examines soil C and N dynamics	(Parton et al
5			for a wide range of C (CH4 and	1998)
			CO2) and N (N2O, NOx, NH3, and	
			N2) gas fluxes, and it is adjusted	
			based on the site-specific	
			information:	
			DayCent does not explicitly	
			simulate animals and therefore	
			cannot simulate enteric methane nor	
			can the model simulate multi-	
			species cropping or grassland	
			systems	
1	1	1	py 3101113.	1

SPACSYS	site	daily	It links plant, water and nutrient	<u>(Wu et al.,</u>
			cycling together, and the model can	<u>2007</u>)
			simulate root architecture;	-
			The model has a large number of	
			parameters and is only applicable to	
			plot and field scale.	

Note: the site means the model was implemented in a relatively small place where the experiment or observation data was collected.

2.4.3.2 Grassland livestock production models

Grassland livestock production models consist of various components for the simulation of livestock productivity. These include how the grass is converted into meat or milk or how grazing effects grass growth. Some researchers have found that there was a linear relationship between animal production and vegetation utilisation rate (Bellamy and Lowes, 1999); but, in fact, it is quite complicated to identify the relationship between grass and livestock due to their dynamic and bidirectional features. The dynamics of livestock production depends on such herbivore-plant interaction (Hutchings and Gordon, 2001). However, more experiments or grassland monitoring work needs to be done to get the right value of parameters in specific areas (for example, grazing time and frequency) (Vries and Daleboudt, 1994; Johansen et al., 2004; Augustine and Derner, 2013).

An example is the vegetation dynamics in the rangeland production and utilization model (SPUR) (Hanson et al., 1988). SPUR enables the quantification of the effect of grazing management, environmental variation, and fertilizer application on livestock production through carbon (C) and nitrogen (N) flow in the soil-plant-animal continuum (Hanson et al., 1988). A more detailed model on dairy cow grazing with mathematical description of the daily energy requirement for growth, fatting and milk yield was shown in Topp and Doyle (1996)'s model, which includes both abiotic factors (temperature, water, light, nutrients) and biotic processes (growth and senescence), as well as the energy partitioning in the cow (conversion of nutriment to milk or fat). In addition, the PaSim (Calanca et al., 2007) and the DairyMod (Johnson, 2013b) models are both process-based models, which involves C and N cycling through the shoot and root compartments, and in particular, compared with the other models, the livestock rotations between paddocks in the DairyMod enables it to simulate the effect of managemental practices.

Table 2.3 provides a summary comparison of grassland livestock production models. One of the major limitations to all of the models listed in Table 2.3 is that they are highly site-dependent models. The values of parameters and the relationships in the models are derived from local or regional observations. However, the properties of livestock and the types of livestock varies spatially, which make them sometimes difficult to be implemented in the new conditions.

Table 2.3: Comparison of the grassland livestock production models, modified from Feenstra (1998), page 9-17

Model	Spatial	Time	Pros/cons	Key reference
SPUR	1 m^2	daily	Simulate C and N dynamics	(Hanson et al.,
			for the plant-soil system, and	<u>1988</u>)
			simulates plant-herbivore	
			interactions at multi-site or	

			pastures, and it can simulate the effects that changes in temperature and precipitation regimes and CO2 may have on milk production and silage conservation; However, the vegetation composition in the model is complicated. Not suited for tropical or phosphorous limited soils.	
Topp and Doyle Model	site	daily	Simulate changes in above and below ground plant production, simulate the growth, milk production, and grazing; Unsure of model performance in tropical conditions.	(<u>Topp and</u> <u>Doyle, 1996</u>)
DairyMod	1 m ²	daily	The same as SGS in Table 2.2, they are integrated into one system. DairyMod is a sub-model which can simulate herd size, calving dates, animal weight, lactation status etc., and livestock rotations between paddocks; But the livestock dynamics have not being represented, tactical buying or selling of animals.	(<u>Johnson,</u> <u>2013b</u>)
PaSim	1 ha	daily	An animal module (sheep or cattle) in the model simulate the ingested biomass, milk production, gain of live weight, animal excreta and CH4 emissions; PaSim does not yet consider nutrients other than N. Carbon pools are distributed over the whole soil profile rather than described in the soil layer, and it does not take into account plant competition.	(<u>Calanca et</u> <u>al., 2007</u>)

Note: the site means the model was implemented in a relatively small place where the experiment or observation data was collected.

Although this chapter has not reviewed the literature on all process-based models of the grassland grazing systems, the common characteristics and drawbacks of these diverse set of models can be summarised as follows:

- The models represent the dynamics of vegetation and herbivore via either biophysical process, chemical cycling, eco-functioning or energy flows, which make them capable and available to simulate lots of diversified grassland grazing systems.
- The values of the parameters are usually site-dependent (under certainty spatial or temporal scale), which means the models may be difficult to apply in new conditions, though they may work fine in the case study areas where they have been applied.
- Climate data are commonly used as a driving force behind the growth of the vegetation, but the errors propagated from the uncertainty of such data are rarely reported.
- The evolution and co-evolution of the interactions between plants and herbivores are not well-represented.
- Plant-herbivore feedback is simulated in a "static" way (herbivores cannot move), and the stochastic nature of foraging behaviour of livestock is usually disregarded.

2.4.3.3 Decision support systems

What cannot be ignored is that grazing activities are under the guidance and involvement of humans that often try to maximise the utility of natural resources, and optimise biological utilization efficiency via grassland management (Heitschmidt and Stuth, 1991; Vallentine, 2000; Conant et al., 2001). It is possible to achieve high and stable productivity of grasslands by balancing grazing activities and grassland ecosystem protection (Pompilica and Romulus, 2014). This kind of management could especially benefit degraded grasslands, whilst helping to maintain the living standards and livelihoods of herders (Kim et al., 2006). Any reasonable grassland management strategy is constrained by various factors including meat price (Bernués et al., 2011), national policies (Li and Huntsinger, 2011), and local culture (Maurer et al., 2006).

Decision support system (DSS) models allow the user to examine the potential effects of management decisions in a given system based on a set of decision rules that have been formulated in the model (Feenstra, 1998). In the mid-1990s web-based decision support systems were developed to enable users to monitor, investigate, analyse and predict likely outcomes of the decision on grasslands. One such recently developed model is the FORAGE model, which aims at facilitating the best management practice for grazing land (Zhang and Carter, 2018). The structure of the FORAGE is shown in Figure 2.3.



Figure 2.3: Structure of the FORAGE system (the arrows indicate information flow) from Zhang and Carter (2018), page 304

The underlying theory of the FORAGE system is the GRASP model, which is a deterministic, point-based, native pasture model developed for semi-arid and tropical grasslands (Chilcott et al.). GRASP is an empirical model designed to simulate aspects of grass production and to predict soil water, pasture growth and animal intake by separating the processes of soil evaporation, pasture transpiration (McKeon et al., 1982). Thus, the defects of FORGE are similar to all the other empirical models, which have been discussed in Section 2.4.2.

Another typical DSS model is GrazPlan, which was designed to simulate the biophysical processes of grassland grazing (Donnelly et al., 2002b). GRAZPLAN is a suite of the biophysical process-based simulation tools for Australian grazing system management (Donnelly et al., 2002b). It has been developed by CSIRO Plant Industry to test the sustainability of different management strategies (for example, stocking rate and selection of pasture species) with an economic purpose (Freer et al., 1997). The DDS tools were designed to generate cost and price indices to enable estimation of production risk in financial as well as in biological terms (Moore et al., <u>1997a</u>). Daily weather information is needed as input for the model (<u>Donnelly et al.</u>, 2002a). The pasture growth part involves a process-based model considering the daily root and shoot growth of the grass, based on the light use efficiency model (LUE, which will be further reviewed in Chapter 6) (Moore et al., 1997b). It highly depends on the observed climatic, vegetational and the empirical values from the other models, which makes it impossible being implemented in the areas where for example the daily climatic data are not available. The basic relationships in the GRAZPLAN family are shown in Figure 2.4, and the more detailed description can be found in (Donnelly et al., 1997; Freer et al., 1997; Moore et al., 1997b).



Figure 2.4: The relationship between the GRAZPLAN family of decision support (DS) tools and the GRAZPLAN pasture and animal models, <u>Donnelly et al. (2002b)</u>, page 117

An example of a state-and-transition model implemented in a DSS is the Landassess spatial decision support system, which was developed in collaboration with government agencies responsible for pastoral land management in the Northern Territory, Australia. Landassess is based on a state and transition model assessing sustainable grazing management within spatially variable paddocks, and it examines the approach used to handle some of these modelling issues (Briske et al., 2005; Bashari et al., 2008). It is based on a number of alternative stable system states derived from vegetation change, soil erosion risk, animal forage preference and a suite of possible transitions associated with the change from one state to another. A transition from one state to another state is defined in terms of alternate causes that would lead to a change of vegetation state. Landassess provides a representation of the driving interactions between ecological systems and human management interventions. The deficiencies of the DSS are in part a consequence based on the State-and-Transition models, a critique of which was outlined in Section 2.3.2.

There are too many DSS relating to grassland grazing system to pay them individual attention in this review. Yet, in general, the DSS of grassland grazing systems are either based on empirical, process-based or integrated models (including agent-based models, which are outlined in Section 2.4.4). A more detailed discussion on DSS for the management of grassland grazing systems can be found in <u>Stuth and Lyons (1993)</u>.

In summary, process-based models of the grassland grazing systems are often the mathematical (and usually computer-based) representation of one or several processes characterizing vegetation dynamics, livestock dynamics, energy and/or chemical cycling. The processes can be affected by either biotic factors or abiotic factors. Each of the processes is, in essence, the description of the functioning which contributes to a higher level (bottom-up model) or lower level (top-down model) functioning, and the output of one process can be the input of the other process. The

processes in the model enable us to capture the important biological or physiochemical mechanism mechanisms driving the behaviour of the grazing system. However, as the earth itself has a variety of vegetation and herbivore types, and the heterogeneity in climatic and natural condition across different spatial and temporal scales makes the description of the processes sometimes only meaningful in unique grassland ecosystems (Vandvik and Birks, 2002). In addition, the processbased models reviewed thus far have weaknesses with regard to describing or integrating the evolution or coevolution of vegetation and herbivores on grassland (McNaughton, 1983). Although there is research on the compensatory growth of the vegetation caused by grazing (McNaughton, 1983) or coevolution of the plants and herbivores (Stebbins, 1981b), the accuracy of long-term predictions and the behaviours of the grassland grazing systems need more scientific attention especially with regard the evolution or coevolution of the plants and herbivores.

2.4.4 Agent-based models

As discussed in previous sections, numerous models have been built for the grassland grazing systems. However, "any model with a natural resource management application should ideally incorporate the human systems associated with that resource" (Deadman, 1999). For grassland grazing modelling, it has been argued that a grassland forage productivity sub-model (natural system) and a grassland livestock grazing sub-model (human system) should be combined to discover the relationships and regularities under the interactions of those components (An, 2012b; Wang et al., 2013). Efforts within the human systems of grasslands have been taken up in the fields of grassland economics (Burt, 1971; Röder et al., 2007; Ritten et al., 2010), institutional arrangement assessment, game theory analysis of grassland management and perception studies of humans (Quinn et al., 2003; Bunting et al., 2013).

In addition, as the grassland grazing system is part of the regional or global ecosystem (Thornton and Herrero, 2001), it is highly dependent on environmental factors, such as climate change (Stokes et al., 2008; Fan et al., 2010a; Graux et al., 2011; Jun et al., 2013; Ye et al., 2013; Jakoby et al., 2014), ecology (Douglas et al., 1998; Cingolani et al., 2005a; Soder et al., 2007; Arévalo et al., 2011) and the physical properties of the land (Aronson et al., 1993; Dean et al., 1995; Phelan et al., 2013). Grassland grazing systems have socio-economic or ecosystem service values (Lamarque et al., 2011). Therefore, the models of grassland grazing systems are often presented as integration with climate models, socio-economic models or management models (Ellis et al., 1987; Smith and Foran, 1990; Parsons et al., 2001). These are important research area, but they are beyond the focus of this thesis, and instead, this thesis concerns one particular type of the integrated models of the grassland grazing system—Agent-based Models (ABM), which is an effective tool for exploring grassland grazing complexities (Bell, 2011).

Similar to the complex system, there is also no precise definition of ABM and definitions vary across disciplines, but it commonly an ABM consists of three key components (Macal, 2010):

- a set of agents with attributes and behaviours;
- relationships or connections among agents and rules or ways they interact;
- agents can additionally interact with their environment;

By explicitly considering the components of a system consisting of individual agents, ABM can be used to understand how system properties emerge from interactions among lower-level entities (Grimm, 1999). In this particular way, an ABM of a grassland grazing system is fundamentally different from an empirical or process-based model of the same system. ABMs have the potential to more realistically model by considering the decision-making or interactions among individuals, which may be difficult or impossible to do with other models.

It is a bottom-up tool that has been employed both in theoretical (Lilibeth et al., 2014) and empirical studies (Juliette et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2013) in grassland grazing. The quantitative computational features of ABM make it easier to describe the heterogeneity, learning and adaptation, evolution and interactions of various agents (Gimblett, 2002). "A community of agents acts independently of any controlling intelligence, they are goal-driven and try to fulfil specific objectives, they are aware of and can respond to changes in their environment, they can move within that environment, and they can be designed to learn and adapt their state and behaviour in response to stimuli from other agents and their environment" (McLane et al., 2011).

The decision-making process of agents can be described in a flexible and contextdependent way with the specification of interdependencies and feedbacks/interactions between the agents and their environment (Groeneveld et al., 2017a). Currently, the decision-making in the ABM is based on either ad hoc assumptions or established theories. The later has been credited as more transparent and comprehensible for communication or reuse of the model when compared with the former (Groeneveld et al., 2017a). The agent's decision-making can be made based on the economic theories such as expected utility theory, rational decisionmaking theory, bounded rationally theory and stochastic medications of expected utility theory, or on psychological human decision-making theories such as planned behaviour theory (Groeneveld et al., 2017a). A further detailed investigation of the agent's decision-making theories can be found in Groeneveld et al. (2017a) and Balke and Gilbert (2014), and the employment of the decision-making theories when building the ABM is still insufficient across disciplines (Gimblett, 2002), therefore, it is suggested that a structured, guided framework (such as MoHuB framework, see Schlüter et al. (2017)) should be developed on the choose of theories and factors in the ABM, and the participatory evaluation or the empirical research could deep our understating of human decision-making (Groeneveld et al., 2017a).

2.4.4.1 Previous modelling of complexity: limitations and future research directions

The use of ABM in grassland grazing modelling is still in its very early stage, although ABM has been widely used in the field of land use/cover change modelling. Examples include the Land Use Dynamic Simulator (LUDAS) (Le et al., 2010), FEARLUS-ELMM (Polhill et al., 2007), and AgriPoliS (Happe et al., 2006). They were not strongly related to grassland grazing, but they used ABM for simulating grassland changes (spatial distribution pattern of the grassland), and for exploring how environmental and socioeconomic factors affect the decision-making of grassland owners, for example, whether the pastoralists should change the grassland to cropland for agriculture use (Le et al., 2010). A more recent review of the ABM in land use/cover models can be found in (Parker et al., 2003; Groeneveld et al., 2017b) and (Groeneveld et al., 2017b). But none have considered plant-

herbivore interactions and the process of the vegetation development, which limited their use in understanding the vegetation dynamics of the grassland grazing system. In a similar research area—wildlife ecology and management—specific models were developed to simulate the behaviours of animals. The animal, landscape and man simulation system (ALMaSS) was used to assess the effect of changing landscape structure or management on key animal species (Topping et al., 2003). ABM has even been employed in wildlife ecology and management by exploring the selectivity of their habitat, and how they respond to environmental changes (McLane et al., 2011). A summary of these studies can be found in McLane et al. (2011). Such models have not included the effect of social system and human's decision-making, as well as the policy effect on the behaviours of animal, which make them difficult to be used directly in evaluating the management practices of the grassland grazing systems.

Agent-based models consider the grassland, the pastoralists and a policy maker as a complex adaptive system (Abel, 1998). In order to better understand such Coupled Human and Natural Systems (CHANS), agent-based modelling for the CHANS should make use of both empirical knowledge and decision-making theories (An, 2012b), which indicates that the social theories that can explain agent actions and interactions can be used for modelling CHANS (Jun et al., 2013). Actually, the agent-based models of grassland grazing can be linked with ecological and socioeconomic submodels. While the ecological sub-system is commonly a simplified version of the more comprehensive model and the relations in the model are usually empirically based (Gross et al., 2006a). As such, an example would be a socioeconomic sub-system which typically affects the decision-making of the 'regulator' or the behaviour of pastoralists. The regulator comprises the policy and institutional environment within which pastoralists make management decisions. The decisionmaking of the regulator or the pastoralists should be ideally based on theory (although ad hoc assumptions are widely used in the ABMs) (Abel, 1998), with consideration of cultural anthropology, economics, organisational and management practice, and political-economic background. Potential decision rules for pastoralists should ideally be developed in discussion with experts on grassland management and simplified for the model (Levin et al., 2013).

There are agent-based models focused on the population dynamics of herders, pastoralists and nomads in the grassland grazing system. An example work can be seen from Kuznar and Sedlmeyer (2005); (Rogers, 2013), whose work aimed at exploring the interactions among pastoral nomads and peasants by trading or raiding for goods according to different wealth condition. Grazing is just a simple overall decrease in productivity in the model. The fixed grassland productivity assumption and the lack of plant-herbivore interaction make it unable to simulate the vegetation and livestock dynamics under different management practices. The Common Resources Management Agent-based System CORMAS was employed by Saqalli et al. (2010) to explore the evolution of the village population under different family originations. The CORMAS model consists of a biophysical environment linked with the social and economic status of the human agents, and it considers the relationships and dependencies between villagers (who are the livestock and landowner) and their differentiated accesses to economic activities (agriculture, livestock keeping, seasonal migration, dry-season gardening). It has found that the larger group proportion and specializations led to an increase in the village populations' robustness. In the model of Hailegiorgis et al. (2010), the effect of climate change on the population dynamics of the herders was analysed, and the

authors found that cooperation and conflict were at the minimum due to the significant reduction of the population of herders when drought happened; but after the population recovered to some extent, cooperation and conflict increased dramatically. <u>Kennedy et al. (2010)</u> have developed an agent-based model for exploring the competition of the grass and water pole utilization, which caused the emergence of the conflicts. It was found that greater environmental scarcity leads to faster domination by a single ethnic group. However, the oversimplified ways of handling the conflicts when using resources, and the *ad hoc* assumptions about herders' knowledge of resource availability make the simulation results vary dramatically. Therefore, the uncertainty of the model should be quantified (<u>Kennedy et al., 2010</u>).

For the simulation of the mobility of the pastoralists, an example is the HouseholdsWorld model (Rogers, 2013), which used lineage and clan as the basis for the household. It aimed to simulate the herder's population and mobility under clan leadership, collective or local social network. It has found that the regions with dense populations and by expanding the scope of landscape knowledge could improve micro-mobility to mitigate social restrictions effectively, and therefore the herder' population expanded but became poorer. In the less densely inhabited regions, more knowledge of the landscape expanded the mid-range of the wealth distribution without expanding the number of poor herders. Milner-Gulland et al. (2006) have used an agent-based model to explore the impact of agents' decisionmaking on flock dynamics under climatic and economic change, which included both household decision-making and vegetation-herbivore interactions. Agents optimise their investments in an uncertain environment by allocating their wealth between livestock and capital. It found that winter forage availability is the key determinant of overall livestock number, and if there was enough winter forage, larger herds were predicted to settle away from the village. Okayasu et al. (2010) further used this model to explore the spatial distribution of the wealthy herders and poor herders. The authors found that agents they can co-exist in the area because even in the dry year when the home pasture could not provide enough forage for the whole animal population, the wealth herders (who own more livestock) could move to the remote pasture to reduce the grazing pressure on the home pasture because they can afford the moving costs. Although the poor herders may not move to the remote pasture due to the high moving costs, they could better access the home pasture as the grazing pressure had been reduced. However, this model cannot be used in the region where the movement of herders is determined by the other noneconomic factors, for example, privatised lands where other herders do not have access to; secondly, the effect of the water availability and other social factors, for example, market, education and medical services, on the decision-making of herders also have not been considered in the model (Okayasu et al., 2010). In addition, the plant-herbivore interactions and the policy and institutional arrangements are not considered in the model.

There are also agent-based models focusing on livestock dynamics in the grassland grazing system. An example is <u>Milner-Gulland et al. (2006)</u>'s work, which was discussed in the previous paragraph. <u>Dressler et al. (2018)</u> examined the effect of household' behaviours on the resilience of the pastoral system considering the feedback between pastures, livestock and household livelihood. The results showed that short-term profit-oriented behaviours of the herders led to long-term pasture degradation and livestock loss. A satisficing behaviour constrained the herd size, but it diversified income source of herders, and therefore, led to improved pasture

conditions and higher total livestock numbers. An example of the other works can be found in <u>Aktipis et al. (2011)</u>, who even used ABM to explain how the gift-giving relationship under exchange scenario improves the herd longevity.

With regards to the employment of ABM to the study of grassland grazing systems, ABMs have improved the popularity of plant-herbivore interactions and the behaviours that determine herbivore foraging (Dumont and Hill, 2004b). The Simulation of Ecological Compatibility of Regional Development model (SERD) was an example of a household involved and spatially explicit model that integrated with socio-ecological stock-flow (Gaube et al., 2009). But the temporal resolution was 1 year, which means the short-term effect of plant-herbivore interactions was ignored in the model. A more detailed ABM of plant-herbivore interactions has been constructed to simulate movements of cattle grazing corn residues (Liu et al., 2016). That model involved the employment of a GPS tracking system, with which the real-time behaviour of herbivores was identified, but grassland management strategies and institutional arrangements were not considered.

There are models that concern both the decision-making of the pastoralists and regulators, based on the biological process of vegetation and herbivore, as well as the policy and institutional regimes with real-world observation data. Janssen et al. (2000) built an adaptive agent model, which includes competition between grass and shrub, and heterogeneity in the vegetation growth rate. The decision-making of the pastoralist was based on the economic status of the pastoralists and the ecological status of the grassland. The different policies changed the opportunity cost according to the threshold of percentage of properties (an indicator for grassland status). However, the real-time learning of pastoralists and novel management strategies and combinations were not considered in the model. In addition, using a fixed climatic (a 5-year moving average of the historical rain data) driving data means the model was only suitable in a stable climatic environment. In addition, the thresholds of the percentage of properties are *ad hoc* assumptions, which limit the use of this model to the other regions. Similar research was carried out by Gross et al. (2006b), where a conceptual framework of an adaptive ABM has been built that tried to link the climatic condition, biophysical processes, and institutional arrangements. The decision-making and learning of the individual are considered by updating the usage of fixed rules when there was sufficient environmental or economic perturbation to the system. However, the fixed stocking rate assumption and assumed values of the parameters in both the biophysical and pastoral sub-models make the results susceptible to the uncertainty caused by such setting. Jun et al. (2013) analysed the social-ecological performance of different institutional arrangement experiments with the employment of agent-based modelling, and revealed cooperation mechanisms under climate change adaptation (Jun et al., 2013), but the absence of real productivity and livestock grazing data in the model make the results less convincing.

A model of particular relevance is that of <u>Sakamoto (2016)</u> who developed an agentbased model based on remote sensing data. In this model, the moving behaviours of the pastoralists were driven by the availability of the local resource represented by the vegetation index and the movement cost. The spatiotemporal patterns of the land use intensity caused by the movement of the pastoralists were reproduced. However, there are numerous *ad hoc* assumptions about the behaviours of the pastoralists (for example, grazing range, frequency and carrying capacity), which make it less credible when applied to a place where the conditions violate such assumptions. Also, the results of the model have not been validated, and the effect of different - 44 -

grazing strategies and institutional arrangements have not been considered. <u>Troost</u> and Berger (2014) analysed the uncertainty of the ABM at the farm-level; the importance of interactions among agents was highlighted in this fully connected agent-based model. Their work addressed the uncertainty in model structure, as well as gaps and fuzziness caused by data uncertainty and *ad hoc* model assumptions, but such uncertainties can be reduced by cautious calibration and comprehensive uncertainty analysis. This is an important research area in modelling the grassland grazing system and will be further illustrated and discussed in Chapter 7.

To conclude, it appears from the literature that common character of the agent-based approach and their defects in modelling of grassland grazing are:

- the biophysical parts (vegetation dynamics) in the ABM of grassland grazing systems are commonly empirical-based, which makes the development of the vegetation highly dependent on the historically observed data, and they have all the defects that the empirical model shares;
- ABMs of grassland grazing systems usually involve large numbers of input datasets, parameter values and the *ad hoc* or theory-based assumptions, and they are sometimes derived from the data with uncertainty, but there are few examples of research that addresses such uncertainty. This is partly due to the difficulty with collecting data or carrying out the experiment; it is also important to balance modelling complexity with uncertainty (Holling, 2001);
- the plant-herbivore interactions in the models are simply assumed to be a negative effect on the plant productivity—direct loss of the equivalent consumed by the herbivore. Neither the evolution or coevolution of the plant and the livestock are considered, nor the compensation/suppression effect of the livestock on the plant growth is considered;
- the models mainly focus on the vegetation productivity or the quantity of the livestock, the broader scale of the vegetation dynamics (for example, composition, diversity or resilience) as well as the livestock (for example, meat and milk quality);
- institutional arrangements and grazing strategies are recognized as the important policies in managing grassland resources, more in-depth, multi-scale, multi-level analysis of different managemental consequences should be carried out;
- the aggregated overall regional/farm/site scale dynamic of the vegetation or the livestock can be well-presented in the model output, but the spatial distribution patterns are rarely to be seen from the existing researches, especially the model with real-world data;

2.4.4.2 Modelling the grassland grazing system in Zeku

For the Agent-Based Modelling of Grassland Grazing (ABMGG) presented in this thesis, the interactions between herders and different institutions have the nature of individual-based features, which can be affected by the different decision-making practices of individual resource users. Classical models of natural resource use centre more on the economic inputs and outputs at the system level (Burt, 1971), but it has long been realised that human activities are the most powerful factor affecting those interactions and decision-making, and it can be a disaster for the ecosystem when the plundering of natural resources occurs (Vitousek et al., 1997; Wackernagel and Rees, 1998). So, the dynamic patterns of grazing which are controlled by individual decision-making activities need to be modelled to find the optimal

strategy to maximise the output of natural resources and maintain a sustainable ecosystem.

Modelling the behaviour of an individual is complicated work because of their various characteristics and decision-making processes. For example, households may expand their livestock scale, increase capital or invest in other businesses after selling their livestock. Individual behaviour could also be affected by the degree of information one has, the availability of forage can lead to distinctive moving behaviour, while individual responses to external cues can lead to aggregative behaviour at the larger scale (Juliette et al., 2011). The interventions of administrations aimed at improving sustainability, efficiency or equity of use of resources affect individuals differently, depending on factors such as their assets, aspirations or location (Milner-Gulland et al., 2006). In addition, the ownership of land in China is in the hands of the state (government). The government plays an important role in allocating the grassland resources to herders. In addition, the government is also the policymaker who has the final decision-making right over how to use the land, through subsidies or penalties. It is an indispensable part of the grassland grazing model. So the framework of agent-based modelling of a grassland grazing system should consider the strategy of the government, which should balance between the socio-economic demand, ecological demand and the interest of all stockholders. Hence in order to understand the impact of policy interventions on both individuals and the overall system it is useful to take an individual-based approach albeit with the government acting on the individuals.

Herders in the Three-River Headwaters Region of China depend heavily on the annual production of natural forage, or herbage, from grasslands (Foggin, 2008). But to best utilize this forage they must understand the seasonal productivity of the annual grassland ecosystem (Menke, 1985). Four factors: precipitation; temperature; soil characteristics; and residue largely control forage productivity and seasonal species composition. These factors also change the timing and characteristics of the four distinct growth phases: winter hibernation, break of the quiescent season, rapid spring growth, and peak forage production. Many of these patterns can be used to guide management decisions. As the seasons progress, the patterns become set and the outcome more predictable in reality (Menke, 1985).

However, existing grazing ABM models have a key assumption which is that longterm land degradation does not occur in the model system. This means that grazing in a particular season does not affect the next season's forage availability (Milner-Gulland et al., 2006). But, in fact, this is an inaccurate assumption for the Three-River Headwaters Region of China, where overgrazing contributed a lot to grassland degradation (Liu et al., 2008a). This has a great impact on the sustainable development of the regional ecological environment and grassland husbandry, and seriously threatens the ecological protection of associated areas. Some research has also indicated that overgrazing is the most prominent factor in the region's grassland degradation (Zhang et al., 2014a).

We can control the livestock quantity to some degree to reduce the pressure on grassland, but it is difficult to estimate the potential livestock-carrying capacity of grassland in different regions and different seasons in such a sensitive and fragile area, because of the complicated co-evolutionary relationship between grass and livestock, which can be seen through the lens of plant-herbivore interactions (Knapp et al., 2012). Traditionally, herbivory was considered detrimental to grassland, and much research has the assumption that herbivory has a purely negative impact on

plant growth because it suppresses the growth of plants (<u>Crawley, 1983; Baldwin, 1990</u>). However, both theoretical and empirical studies in grasslands suggest that individual plants, as well as net primary productivity (NPP) at the ecosystem scale, may respond in a neutral or even a positive manner to grazing (<u>Douglas et al., 1998</u>). This is an interesting and important topic in grazing agent-based systems, and methods to estimate the grass yield accurately would be of great value to the scientific management of grassland and the decision-making associated with animal husbandry.

2.5 The role of remote sensing

To overcome limitations in the spatial-temporally explicit data on grassland status, researchers urgently need a tool with the capability of real-time observation of grassland status. Remote sensing is an important tool for monitoring and assessing such a complex system consisting of grass, livestock and human management. Remote sensing is the science of obtaining and interpreting information from a distance, using sensors that are not in physical contact with the object being observed (Lillesand et al., 2014). It is widely used in the field of earth surface observation by visible and non-visible radiation, where radiation interacts with surface materials and the atmosphere (Liaghat and Balasundram, 2010) to enable sensing. However, due to its perceived inability to quantify rangeland vegetation regardless of season or condition, it was not applied for the management of grassland at an early stage in the science (Hunt Jr et al., 2003).

Remote sensing has been useful in detecting green vegetation, but senescent or cured vegetation was missed (Marsett et al., 2006), which was one of the most important sources for winter feeding (Hudson and Watkins, 1986) and an important component in intercepting rainfall to reduce soil erosion (Li et al., 2008) and as well as a source of fine fuels for grassfires (Kidnie et al., 2015). With the availability of a wide variety of sensors and platforms, remote sensing has gradually become an important tool for grassland management (Asner et al., 1998; Hunt Jr et al., 2003; Numata et al., 2007). The combination of *in situ* experiments and remote sensing observations especially enable near real-time monitoring of grassland status under grazing and detecting human pressure on the grassland system (Pickup et al., 1994; Kawamura et al., 2005).

Remote sensing provides temporal and spatial patterns of grassland change and has been used to estimate the biophysical characteristics of grasslands (Numata et al., 2007). Canopy biophysical parameters can be inferred from vegetation structural and biochemical properties and the quantity and quality of incoming radiation observed by remote sensing (Adam et al., 2010), which are the key parameters for predicting both the radiative and chemical balance of grassland systems (Asner et al., 1998). The applications of remote sensing based on this vary from grassland classification (Langley et al., 2001), and productivity change (Prince, 1991b) to biophysical variables such as such as LAI (Asner et al., 2003), biomass (Tucker et al., 1985b), photosynthetically active biomass (Tucker, 1979), green herbage ratio (Loris and Damiano, 2006), soil moisture (Vinnikov et al., 1999) and energy flux components (Kustas and Norman, 1996).

Another important use of remote sensing on grasslands is grazing activity monitoring. Kawamura et al. (2005) has proved that the normalized difference vegetation index (NDVI) obtained by the moderate resolution imaging spectroradiometer (MODIS) to estimate grazing spatial distribution and grazing intensities was an effective tool (<u>Kawamura et al., 2005</u>); Feng and Zhao (2011) further confirmed that livestock grazing could be monitored at broad scales by remote sensing (<u>Feng and Zhao, 2011</u>).

However, the grassland status and grazing information are all accompanied by errors and/or uncertainties. Remote sensing usually uses discrete snapshots representing the status of the earth surface; but in some cases, the standard discrete information could provide an unrealistic representation (Foody, 1999). Another uncertainty is the mismatch between the group samplings of training data (Illyés et al., 2007), which are used to derive the relation between remote sensing observation and grassland properties (Darvishzadeh et al., 2008). In addition, remote sensing derived datasets are frequently contaminated by clouds or sensor error (Congalton, 1991). Therefore, the reprocessing of remote sensing data is needed before using it, and this will further be discussed in Chapter 5.

2.6 Summary

In this chapter, the features of grassland grazing systems have been reviewed. The review revealed four aspects of the complexities of grassland grazing systems which caused the debate within the scientific modelling communities about the differences between equilibrium and non-equilibrium theories. Current models dealing with the complexities were reviewed in three categories: empirical, process-based and integrated models. The characteristics and drawbacks were discussed. Consideration of the complexity of grass and livestock dynamics, plant-herbivore interactions, different grazing strategies and institutional arrangements were introduced. Agent-based modelling is introduced in Section 2.4.4, and its attempted use in modelling the grassland grazing system under study is justified. In addition, the role of remote sensing in monitoring and assessing the grassland grazing system for such an agent-based model is highlighted.

Chapter 3 The Study Site

This chapter provides an overview of the study area and explains why the study site has been selected. The natural condition and livestock grazing system in Zeku will be elucidated to give a clear understanding of the system. It also describes the new trend of grazing management and the new grassland tenure system in Zeku, based on which the land market and group grazing play an important role in the grazing system of Zeku; in addition, three basic grazing strategies will be explained.

3.1 Selection of the study site

In this thesis, Zeku County was selected as the case study area for the Agent-based Modelling of Grassland Grazing (ABMGG) system; it is an ideal place to do research about the impact of livestock grazing on grasslands under different grazing strategies and institutional arrangements. Zeku is relatively far away from the Hoh Xil Natural Reserve region, where other large herbivores may have the dominant influence on grassland forage dynamics rather than livestock (Zheng et al., 2000). Although there exist other large herbivores and small mammalian herbivores in Zeku, and some even heavily threaten the soil quality and local ecosystem (Shengde and Haining, 1993), this thesis does not consider the effect of other herbivores due to the fact that the livestock grazing has a dominant role in the grassland forage consumption (Suonancairang, 2006; Zhou et al., 2007a).

The second main reason for selecting Zeku is the relatively exclusive land use in Zeku, that almost all the land in Zeku is covered by grass (<u>Suonancairang, 2006</u>). Zeku County is located in the southeast of Qinghai Province. The total land area is about 6600 km², of which grassland area accounts for 95%, including 6200 km² exploitative grassland (95% of the total grassland area) (<u>Zhou et al., 2007a</u>). Most importantly, there is no agricultural cropland in Zeku, making the abstract modelling simpler by ignoring the effect of agricultural activities (<u>Zhou, 2015</u>).

In addition, in early 2003, all the grasslands in Zeke were privatised via household contracts (Ma et al., 2003). That means individual users of grassland have the "final say" right in terms of grassland use, they can make decisions about which grazing strategies should be undertaken for livestock grazing, and whether they join the grazing group in the village; agent-based modelling fits extremely well with the individual and institutional decision-making of grassland grazing in Zeku.

3.2 Geographical overview of Zeku

The geographical location of Zeku is shown in Figure 3.1; it is one of the seventeen counties in the Qinghai Three River Head Source Conservation area (TRHR). The three rivers: Yellow River, Changjiang River and Lan-Changjiang River, are of great ecological significance to the Qinghai-Tibet Plateau with elevation varying from 3450 m to 6621 m; the area is known as "China's water tower" (Liu et al., 2008b). The main vegetation types are alpine meadow, alpine steppe, and marsh, with some temperate steppe and alpine desert (Dong et al., 2002). The TRHR is located in the world's highest altitude region with the most diversified biodiversity; it has China's largest wetlands at a high elevation area (Wang et al., 2010b). The

TRHR region suffers from global climate change as well as increasing human activities: overgrazing; poaching of plants and wildlife; gold mining, etc. (Huakun, 2005), which have endangered the ecosystem stability of the region (Jin et al., 2008; Zhou et al., 2009). The growing concern of national ecosystem security and sustainable economic growth prompted China to launch the Ecological Protection and Restoration Program (EPRP) in the TRHR region in 2005 (Wang et al., 2010b). The overall aim of EPRP is to conserve and rehabilitate the ecological functions of the region through ecological migration, grazing bans, wetland protection, and degraded grassland restoration (Yin and Yin, 2010). A total of 7,500 million yuan (at present, 1 pound = 8.7 yuan) was budgeted for the EPRP in "12th Five-year Plan" and this amount doubled in the "13th Five-Year Plan" (Wang et al., 2010b), which shows the great importance and determination associated with protecting this area.

The elevation of Zeku is above 3500 meters for the vast majority of the land, of which the highest elevation is 4971 meters, and the lowest is 2800 meters. The average annual temperature is -3 °C to 2.8 °C, with no absolute frost-free period. The herbage growth period usually lasts about 150 days (Zhou et al., 2007a). Annual average rainfall ranges from 437.2 mm to 511.9 mm, and is mainly concentrated from May to September; usually, the amount of rainfall in the southeast is more than that of the northwest (Suonancairang, 2006). Annual solar radiation is about 580-650 KJ/cm², and annual sunshine hours is about 2500-2600h, with 4.1 m/s annual average wind speed, and there are 44 days windy days on average, of which the maximal windy days can reach 98 in extreme years (Du et al., 2010). Due to the special natural geographical environment, extreme weather such as serious prolonged snow, hail, drought, and sandstorms happens frequently, traditionally, "a minor catastrophe happens within three years, a moderate catastrophe happens within five years, and a great catastrophe happens within 10 years" (Zhou, 2015), prolonged snow and drought happens almost every year in some areas, which seriously affects the stability of grassland livestock husbandry in Zeku. This is an important factor that could affect the decision-making of herders. This thesis will show this effect by a prototype model in Chapter 4.



Figure 3.1: Geographic location of Zeku, China

3.3 Grassland resource overview

The data used for describing the land use/cover status is the Global Land 30 meters product (GlobalLand30), which is mainly derived from 30-meter multispectral images, including Landsat TM and ETM+ multispectral images and multispectral images from the Chinese Environmental Disaster Alleviation Satellite (HJ-1). Landsat TM and ETM+ images are free to the public and can be downloaded from USGS (<u>http://landsat.usgs.gov/</u>) at Level 1T; while the HJ-1 images are from the China Centre for Resource Satellite Data and Application (<u>http://www.cresda.com</u>). The overall accuracy is 83.51% (Jun et al., 2014; Wulder and Coops, 2014; Yu et al., 2014). The definition of different land use/cover type is shown in Table 3.1:

Table 3.1: Definition of land use/cover type in GlobalLand30, from GlobeLand30 product guide (http://www.globallandcover.com)

Code	Туре	Content
10	Cultivated land	Lands used for agriculture, horticulture and gardens, including paddy fields, irrigated and dry farmland, vegetation and fruit gardens, etc.

20	Forest	Lands covered with trees, with vegetation cover over 30%, including deciduous and coniferous forest, and sparse woodland with cover 10-30%, etc.
30	Grassland	Lands covered by natural grass with cover over 10%, etc.
40	Shrubland	Lands covered with shrubs with cover over 30%, including deciduous and evergreen shrubs, and desert steppe with cover over 10%, etc.
50	Wetland	Lands covered with wetland plants and water bodies, including inland marsh, lake marsh, river floodplain wetland, forest/shrub wetland, peat bogs, mangrove and salt marsh, etc.
60	Water bodies	Water bodies in the land area, including river, lake, reservoir, fish pond, etc.
70	Tundra	Lands covered by lichen, moss, hardy perennial herb and shrubs in the polar regions, including shrub tundra, herbaceous tundra, wet tundra and barren tundra, etc.
80	Artificial Surfaces	Lands modified by human activities, including all kinds of habitation, industrial and mining area, transportation facilities, and interior urban green zones and water bodies, etc.
90	Bareland	Lands with vegetation cover lower than 10%, including desert, sandy fields, Gobi, bare rocks, saline and alkaline lands, etc.
100	Permanent snow and ice	Lands covered by permanent snow, glacier and icecap.

Grassland is the dominant land use/cover type in Zeku (Figure 3.2), and covers about 95% of the total land area; the second land use/cover type is wetland, which accounts for about 3% of the total land area; cultivated land only occupies about 1.5% of the total land area; forest, shrubland, water bound, artificial land, bare land and permanent snow and ice land are all less than 1% of the total land area. By comparing of the land use/cover change between 2000 and 2010, it has found that the land use/cover is quite stable in the area, with just some tiny changes during those 10 years. Grassland area in 2010 has decreased by about 0.6% compared with that of the year 2000. Wetland has increased by about 0.7% during this period while the region of permanent snow and ice has increased by about 0.1%; the other land use/cover types, the effect of structural change of grasslands in Zeku can be ignored in the ABMGG.



Figure 3.2: Land use/cover of Zeku, 2000 & 2010

The vegetation type of Zeku belongs to alpine meadow family, which dominated by *Kobresia* species (Zhou et al., 2006). Some palatable grass species can be found in this alpine meadow family such as *Kobresia pygmaea*, *Kobresia capillifolia*, *Kobresia schoenoides* (Figure 3.3). *Kobresia* is the local dominant species at Zeku, with a high degree of coverage ranging from 80% to 95%; in addition, it has a great resistance to grazing activities and is one of the most palatable grass species for livestock grazing in Tibet area (Zhao et al., 2011b). They are the most common and the most efficient species at photosynthesis in a cool and wet climate, and they have high protein content, high crude fat content, high nitrogen-free-extract and high calorific value, but relative low content of coarse fibre (Xue et al., 2005; Zhan-hong)

et al., 2007). Alpine meadow lands are therefore excellent grazing destinations within the Tibet area (Wen et al., 2004).



Figure 3.3: Photos of typical grass species in Zeku, China

The spatial distribution of the grass species is diverse across 17 main species (Figure 3.4). Given the dry and cold weather, the vegetation species on the grassland in Zeku have evolved to the natural conditions, and different grasslands have developed their own structures and compositions to adapt to the local environment (Wang et al., 2008). By calculating the area of each main species in Zeku, results show the grassland is dominated by three main species, of which *Kobresia pygmaea* is the largest species covering 53.8% of the total area in Zeku; while the second widely distributed grass species is Kobresia capillifolia, accounts for 19.57% of the total land area; however, the percentage of another grass family, *Carex*, is just 10%; the rest of the species are all less than 5% of the total land area. These plants enrich the soil via their living (dominant portion) and dead root biomass (Kaiser et al., 2008) and have been used by pastoralists for about 8800 years (Miehe et al., 2009). Alpine meadows in Zeku have the highest levels of edible grass forage in the Qinghai-Tibet area, which supports a reasonable density of grazing livestock (Zhou, 2001). These different grass species dominated patches have different physical properties in terms of solar radiation attenuation, root-shoot ratio and digestibility, which will affect the accuracy of the grassland productivity estimation in Chapter 6 and increase the uncertainty in the validation process of grazing-led LAI defoliation





Figure 3.4: Grassland type of Zeku, data from Yang et al. (2007)

Precipitation and temperature are the two main causes of seasonal difference across grassland resources (Del Grosso et al., 2008; Shen et al., 2011). From the climate monitoring data from 1960 to 2012 (Figure 3.5), it can be seen that precipitation has a strong fluctuation in yearly variance from May to September, with the monthly average precipitation variance reaching as high as 100 mm, varying from 50 mm to 125 mm; those months have the highest monthly average precipitation during the year as well, with the lowest precipitation of 25 mm and highest precipitation of about 200 mm. The other months see a smaller mean and variance of monthly average precipitation.

In contrast, the monthly average of maximum temperatures or monthly average of minimum temperatures, do not have an increased variance within the months from May to September, but they do have the highest average temperature with regard to both maximum and minimum temperature. The maximum temperature reaches as high as 15 °C with a tiny fluctuation in July and August; and only in July and August, the average minimum temperature is above 0 °C. Both the temperature and precipitation data from the observations for 52 years (1960~2012) shows an increase gradually from January to July when they reach their yearly maximum, and then decrease to their yearly minimum in December (Figure 3.5). In alpine meadow ecosystems on the Qinghai-Tibetan Plateau, the vegetation growing season is shortened mainly by low temperature, although abundant solar radiation and

precipitation during the growing season are likely to favour plant growth during the short growing season (<u>Kato et al., 2004</u>).



Figure 3.5: Average monthly rain and temperature of Zeku, 1960-2012 (data from the National Meteorological Information Center: http://data.cma.cn/data)

3.4 Livestock grazing profile

Zeku governs two towns (called "zhen" in China) and five rural townships (called "xiang" in China), along with one state-owned farm. These include in their zones some 64 administrative villages. At the end of the year 2011, the total population was 70664, and the livestock husbandry population was 59611. Livestock stock number was about 0.856 million (0.112 million yaks, 0.665 million sheep and 0.017 million horses). The net income per capita was about £300 (Zhou et al., 2007a).

The livestock husbandry of Zeku is basically the same as in the past situation, heavily relying on natural grass forage feeding (Zhou et al., 2007a). The economic development is not stable due to the seasonal difference of grass forage (see Chapter 5 and Chapter 6 for detail), livestock and precipitation. According to statistics in 2006, each sheep unit occupies 0.009 km² of available pasture area theoretically, and artificially improved grassland areas account for only 0.45% of available pasture area (Ma et al., 2003; Zhou, 2015). The livestock capacity is 1.13 million sheep units, but in actuality, the land has been carrying 1.56 million sheep units, of which 0.43 million sheep units are overloaded (Shao and Fan, 2012). At the same time, due to the large percentage of grassland in this area and the uneven distribution of water resources (Figure 3.5), serious water shortages have occurred in some areas,

especially in the central and western regions where these are a big issue for stable development; water is often at more than 1 km's distance for both people and livestock.

Household livestock structure

Household data in this study is mainly from the field survey in 2012 provided by the Centre for Chinese Agricultural Policy (<u>Huang et al., 2016</u>). This field survey was supported by the National Key Programme for Developing Basic Science (2012CB95570001) project "Impact of Climate Change on Key Parameters of Socio-economic System in Typical Regions", which was led by the Centre for Chinese Agricultural Policy, Chinese Academy of Science. The current author was part of the survey team. The investigation method we used was stratified random sampling. Three counties were chosen in the Golog Tibetan Autonomous Prefecture, Huangnan Tibetan Autonomous Prefecture and Hainan Tibetan Autonomous Prefecture respectively, according to three criteria:

Criteria 1, average grassland area: Zeku; Tongde; and Maqin are the smallest, medium and largest average grassland size per capita areas in all the 10 counties under those three autonomous prefecture administrations;

Criteria 2, population: the total population of Tongde and Maqin are the biggest in their own autonomous prefecture regions. Zeku and the Xingmei have almost the same population. Hence, either one of them could be representative;

Criteria 3, total GDP: Zeku and Maqin have the biggest GDP in their own autonomous prefecture regions. Although the population of Tongde is a little smaller than that of Zeku, the difference is not significant;

According to the three criteria above, the weighted average score of each county was calculated and, considering the climate, altitude and the accessibility for vehicles, Tongde, Zeku and Maqin were chosen as the field survey counties.

Sample size: the sampling size of each county was determined by its total population size, the ratio of the total population of the three countries is 1.6:1.2:1, hence the sampling size was 2:1:1. Then, we randomly chose the towns and villages within each county. Finally, the sampling size of Zeku was 52, Tongde was 54, and Maqin was 101.

From all 52 field survey records, the main big livestock were yak, sheep and horse (Figure 3.6, panel 1), and the horse was used only for transportation purposes; it is an important vehicle for herdsman riding for grazing. This is why there are basically no horses sold during the year (Figure 3.6, panel 3). Although other wild large herbivores exist in Zeku, due to the small population of them, this thesis only considers yak, horse, goat and sheep as grassland foragers.


Figure 3.6: Livestock structure of Zeku, China, 2011.

A sample size of 52 households suggests average access to 100-300 mu (0.067 km^2 - 0.200 km^2) of winter pasture, while that of summer pasture is 100-500 mu (0.067 km^2 - 0.333 km^2). This means that in the modelling process, where our cell size is 0.21 km^2 (the size of remote sensing data used in this thesis), a large proportion of herdsmen will share the same land patch. There are two ways of handling this problem: one is dividing the land parcel to the herdsman agents according to their proportion, and another is merging the sharing herdsman agents to one. The second way is adopted later in this thesis.



Figure 3.7: Household winter natural grassland area (left) and household summer natural grassland area and summer artificial grassland (right) distribution in Zeku, 2011

3.5 Grassland tenure system in Zeku

In order to explore a sustainable way of grassland grazing and to avoid falling into the dilemmas of the "Tragedy of the Commons" (Hardin, 1968), scientists and policy-makers have rolled across the privatisation of the grassland in some regions, and this has become the policy arrangement interfacing with grassland degradation in Zeku. However, grassland degradation is a controversial question in academic communities. The perspective that climate change and overgrazing are the key drivers of grassland degradation is contentious (Liu and Diamond, 2005; Harris, 2010). The land tenure system adopted in Zeku has not fundamentally change the "common" use property of the grassland, where under the "Tragedy of the Commons" situation the resource users cannot be excluded and the one uses of the limited resource means reduced availability of the resource to the others, everyone's maximum use of the resource will lead to the exhausted resource, and thus "Tragedy of the Commons" may be an important factor contributed to grassland degradation (Wu, 2011; Aryal et al., 2013; Cao et al., 2013; Li et al., 2013). For the Agent-based Modelling of Grassland Grazing (ABMGG) in this thesis, this new land tenure system implies that herder agents have the right to make decisions about how to use their grassland (except change the land use type, e.g. change the patch from grassland to cultivated land which is not allowed by the government). They can lease the land from the other herders or invest their lands to local cooperative institutions.

Grassland conservation projects: a new trend emerges

To counteract ecosystem deterioration in the TRHR, the Chinese government implemented the "Ecological Protection and Restoration" project in 2005, allocating 7.5 billion Chinese yuan (about £0.7 billion) to carry out ecological restoration and degradation control in the TRHR (Wang et al., 2010a), and the second round funding is 16 billion Chinese yuan (about £1.7 billion) (Commission, 2014; Shao et al., 2016). This is the largest project for nature reserve protection and reconstruction in China, and includes ecological emigration, ecological compensation and returning grazing to grassland etc. It aims to benefit the local environment, but how it affects the interest of stakeholders such as herders and local institutions, whose decisionmaking behaviour can directly change the status of the grass (Huang et al., 2016), is a complicated question. For example, herders would give up grazing if subsidies are reasonable, and tend to reduce the grazing livestock amounts if penalties are high. Nevertheless, in general, their aims are to maximise herd sizes, and more livestock means more foraging on the grassland, and if the grassland cannot supply that number of livestock, the resilience of the grassland ecosystem can be endangered (Shao et al., 2016).

A new trend in the TRHR is for the local government to encourage the herders to take part in ecological animal husbandry economic cooperatives (grazing groups), which are based on the current condition of the local environment at a village level (Zheng, 2012). They focus on improving husbandry productivity for more economic gain and protecting the local ecological environment at the same time (Cao et al., 2011). What is more, the development of the local grazing groups can effectively liberate the labour force and curb overgrazing by more advanced management (Li, 2011; Conte and Tilt, 2014). Models of grassland forage dynamics under their various grazing strategies and institutional arrangements are fundamental to understanding the grassland ecosystem status, that is, whether grassland is overgrazed or overcompensated. What is more, identification of grazing "hot spots",

where heavy grazing happens, is crucial to protecting the grassland with precautionary measures.

From state control to privatization

For a long time, there has been no clear and comprehensive grassland use right system in the TRHR. Up to the early 1950s, the people's communes were some sort of institutional structure having land use rights. However, communes were dismantled by the government and the land resources became collectively owned (Hongbo, 2005). The grassland was disregarded by the reformist policy-makers and became seriously degraded consequently. In 1985, the proclamation of the Grassland Law had expressed an official attempt to devolve grassland use rights and liability from the state and collectives to the individual, through grassland was still owned by either the state or the collective. Households just have the land use right but do not own the land. They are allowed to lease the grassland use right for 30 years at a time by contract (Yundannima, 2012). The boundaries between collectives would be assessed or reassessed every 30 years, and the pastures appraised in terms of stocking rates. Finally, a system of incentives and penalties was implemented to ensure that the producers abided by the carrying capacities of the grassland assigned to them. Thus, the efforts of government departments and research institutes were to assess the grassland carrying capacities quickly and accurately and to enforce them (Yan et al., 2005).

The grassland tenure system embedded in the Grassland Law was based on the assumption of the tragedy of the commons (Hardin, 2011), and held that subsidies and penalties could provide an adequate incentive for households to manage their livestock with concern for the grassland ecosystem and towards sustainable grassland development (Harris, 2010). After the Grassland Law, there were reiterated Land Administration Laws in 1986, 1998, and 2004, the amended Grassland Law of 2002, the Rural Land Contract Law of 2002, and the Property Law of 2007 that reinforced this concept (Yundannima, 2012). "Traditionally, what was termed 'grazing along with water and grass' typified local animal husbandry production systems. Pastures for each of the four seasons were distinct, with frequent movement among them. However, with the implementation of grazing tenure laws, the scope and space of available grassland were reduced. In addition, with barrier fences separating each household's allotment, herders lost the ability to transit seasonally" (Cao et al., 2011). The characteristics of the current grassland tenure system are:

- households have the "final say" of how to use their contracted land, but the rights to land are still collectively held (<u>Manderscheid, 2001</u>);
- a rotational grazing strategy is widely suggested and adopted;
- cooperative grazing groups have been strongly supported by the local government both institutionally and financially in recent years.

However, the ambiguity of state-owned and collective-owned definitions in those laws and the inconsistency of basic unit grassland use rights allocation in terms of whether pasture should be used individually or collectively creates unsolved problems for grassland management, and is one of the main reasons for many grassland inequalities and even conflicts (Ho, 2005; Cao et al., 2013; Ma et al., 2015). Some researchers even doubt this new grassland tenure system and have proved that traditional Tibetan nomadic grazing systems were often well managed and had elaborate regulations of seasonal transhumance (Goldstein et al., 2003; Bauer, 2005; Bauer and Nyima, 2011). In addition, they recommend that while

institutional arrangements should not stop, if possible they should aim to restore the traditional nomadic style grazing (<u>Banks et al., 2003; Swift, 2012</u>).

3.6 Grazing strategies in Zeku

There are three basic grazing strategies in Zeku: rotational; continuous; and ungrazed (reserved land for winter fodder or other purposes). Due to the fact that all the land patches are contracted to individual households, and there is no precise data about individual strategies that have been taken, precise analysis of the impact of different grazing strategies and institutional arrangements on the grassland status directly is currently impossible and needs prioritization. However, those grazing strategies and institutional arrangements exist in Zeku and play an important role in the grassland grazing system. A thorough understanding of management is necessary to reveal the hierarchal structure of plant-herbivore interactions.

The rotational grazing strategy is adopted for all the group grazing land (from both our survey in 2016 and literature later cited). "Under rotational grazing, only one portion of pasture is grazed at a time while the remainder of the pasture "rests". Pastures are subdivided into smaller areas (referred to as paddocks) and livestock are moved from one paddock to another. Resting grazed paddocks allows forage plants to renew energy reserves, rebuild vigour, deepen their root system, and give long-term maximum production" (Undersander et al., 2002). For example, the land patches in one grazing group may be divided into three, the livestock, therefore, can forage on the first sub-group in May and then move to the second sub-group in June and finally the third sub-group in July. The number of sub-groups and grazing duration in each sub-group are decided by individual herder's or groups' management skills experience. The rotational grazing strategy on large heterogeneous grassland has proved to provide adequate lengths of time between successive defoliations, and deterioration of heavily grazed grassland thus could be reduced; it is important to the sustainable management of grassland and grassland restoration (Teague and Dowhower, 2003). In addition, rotational grazing could increase the soil organic carbon and nitrogen, ground-litter accumulation and reduce potential soil contamination, while reducing the Nitrate and extractable P concentrations due to the increased grass growth compared with continuous grazing (Pavlů et al., 2003; Sanjari et al., 2008). A relatively bigger number of subdivisions could lead to a longer rest period for grassland, and this is a recommended grazing management strategy for the recovery of the soil after each grazing in both physical and chemical dimensions (Sanjari et al., 2008).

With continuous grazing, on the contrary, livestock grazes on the land continuously throughout the season (Brummer and Moore, 2000), and there is no "rest" time for grass growth. Continuous grazing would contribute to the loss of ground cover, soil organic carbon and nitrogen and other soil biological properties (Hiernaux et al., 1999). Both above-ground productivity and below-ground productivity are higher for short duration pastures than for continuous grazing pasture (Michael et al., 1991). Although the consumption of individual livestock is relatively similar under both extensive and intensive management, the livestock production per area unit is significantly decreased under extensive continuous grazing (Pavlů et al., 2006). It could change the composition and structure of grassland vegetation (Pavlů et al., 2003). Lower quality of grass forage has been confirmed on continuous grazing lands (Sharrow, 1983). It has been proved that by excluding livestock grazing from continuous grazing lands, the status of the grassland can improve recovery with litter

accumulation, and the development of annual and perennial grasses (<u>Yong-Zhong et</u> <u>al., 2005</u>). This concept has also been widely used in Zeku's grasslands with fencing assisting degraded grassland restoration (<u>Qing-shan, 2009</u>).

3.7 Institutional arrangements in Zeku

There are two institutional arrangements in Zeku: group grazing and the land market. Group grazing is a higher level policy that affects the herders' grazing strategies. Group grazing is an important institutional arrangement in Zeku. It has been proved to be beneficial to the optimisation of resource utilization and improvement of herders' livelihoods (Tian et al., 2009) due to economies of scale : grazing leads to more professional management, grazing techniques, and stronger response to natural hazards; and it has been successful in implemented optimization of livestock structure, production and the livelihood of herders (Han-qing, 2011). In addition, a well-managed group grazing strategy in this area is a potential mechanism for developing sustainable livestock husbandry and social stability (Sheng, 2012): the rotational grazing strategy was implemented by all the grazing groups, and the group rotational grazing works by groups pooling land which is then subdivided to provide rotational pastures. Then main characteristics can be summarised as (Huang and Li, 2017):

- herders can become a shareholder of the grazing group by investing their grasslands and/or livestock;
- livestock are fed by group according to their species, sex, raising purpose and etc.;
- grasslands are divided into sub-groups which have a clear grazing order, grazing frequency and grazing duration;
- herders work in a specialized way according to their experience, professional knowledge and qualification;
- the profit of herders is allocated according to the amount of their investment (grasslands and/or livestock).

The grassland market is based on the rationale that market-based land redistribution can increase the forage availability for grazing and thus achieve better grassland resources use efficiency, and support more livestock production and improve herders' income by making use of capital-led redistribution and re-aggregation of land and economies of scale in the grazing system (Zhang et al., 2007). The grassland market means individual households have the legal right to transfer the use-rights of their grasslands to a third party for animal husbandry by renting or subcontracting (Ma, 2003). One herder rents or leases land from another herder at the beginning of the year, and then they can manage some of their livestock on that rented land. This, in essence, is a kind of smaller scale group grazing, but in line with market demand. The land market makes up for the loss of livestock mobility and the spatial connectivity needed to deal with the heterogeneity of grassland resources (Yeh, 2011). The relationship of these two institutional arrangements and three grazing strategies is shown in Figure 3.8. Almost no herders will lease land for the purpose of just leaving it there for conservation purposes. Therefore the land market arrangement has no effect on the un-grazed strategy. The sedentary grazing is a fixed site grazing strategy, and the herders would not move to the other places.



But in this thesis, sedentary grazing means the livestock will continue to graze on one pixel or land patch. So the sedentary here indicates continuous grazing.

Figure 3.8: Relationship of institutional arrangements and grazing strategies

Chapter 4 Developing a conceptual model of ABMGG

The Agent-based Modelling of Grassland Grazing (ABMGG) aims to provide a dynamic grassland simulator under different grazing strategies or institutional arrangements. Chapter 2 outlined the theories (equilibrium and non-equilibrium) and paradigms for modelling the grassland grazing system. Chapter 3 has a detailed profile of the grazing system in Zeku. In this chapter, a conceptual model will be discussed by incorporating current grassland grazing modelling theories with the local grassland management in Zeku. The conceptual model is critical to verify the key processes of the model and to test the modelling theories. This chapter will discuss the conceptual models of grassland grazing using Netlogo5.1 (Wilensky and Rand, 2015) focusing on forage-livestock dynamics, individual-level interactions and grassland management of the grazing system in Zeku. This chapter will compare the different grazing strategies and institutional arrangements, under which the socio-economic and ecological performance of grassland grazing system will be different.

4.1 A conceptual and empirical explanation of ABMGG

A conceptual model is a simplified abstraction of a real system (Heath et al., 2009). It relies upon the knowledge of known theories of the real system and is based on the assumptions of the parameters describing the abstracted system (Simon, 2012). "The conceptual model forms the foundation of an ABM; an invalid conceptual model indicates the model may not be an appropriate representation of reality. For a model to be completely valid, it must be validated both conceptually and operationally" (Heath et al., 2009). A high-quality conceptual design for an agentbased model is critical to the early detection and correction of system development errors (Wand and Weber, 2002; Onggo and Karpat, 2011), and, where there is participatory development, to represent the actions of stakeholders with an adequate detail in the system (Pastor and Molina, 2007; Parker and Filatova, 2008). This conceptual design can then be transferred to a software product which is functionally equivalent to the conceptual specification, and has the ability to model changes of the entity behaviours and the dynamic and the temporal relationships among them (Chen et al., 1999; Pastor and Molina, 2007). The conceptual model of ABMGG is thus important and essential for the successful modelling of the grassland grazing system at an early stage.

The key for the conceptual ABMGG model is how to describe the behaviours of herders and the impact of different institutional arrangements on the grassland dynamics (e.g. livestock population and grassland forage availability), and the performance of grassland grazing (e.g. net income of herders and number of patches degraded). The conceptual model of ABMGG must be able to integrate with equilibrium and/or non-equilibrium theory; and most importantly, the natural growth of grass and the effect of different grazing strategies and institutional arrangements on the grassland system must be appropriately considered. In addition, the complexity of the interactions between grass and livestock should be included in the model. The conceptual model should also consider the availability of the data needed for the parameters, which is the main limitation on the later transition from the conceptual to the real model development. The outputs should include the

grassland status and forage production after grazing as well as the economic status of herders. This chapter will explain the conceptual framework of ABMGG and the socio-ecological theory behind them. As said before, ABMs should have an *acceptable* representation of herders, livestock, grass growth, grazing strategies and institutional arrangements. Importantly, defining what makes a model 'acceptable' is extremely difficult, so this chapter will also discuss the means by which acceptability is determined.

Prolonged snow is an event that is considered to happen randomly in Zeku, affecting the grass growth in the early spring (Zhang, 2010). Un-predictable extreme climatic events like prolonged snow will break the equilibrium status of the forage and livestock population, and result in a new equilibrium status for the system. The next step for the conceptual model in this thesis is to convert these theories into an executable computer program.

An abstract landscape with equally divided pasture patches is designed in the conceptual model (because the data on grassland patches is all derived from remote sensing datasets with a spatial resolution of $463 \times 463m^2$, it is easier to have equally divided pasture patches in the conceptual model). In the conceptual model, each land patch has a randomly assigned initial amount of available forage and a random growth rate for each month, representing the heterogeneity of the natural grassland productivity. Pastures and livestock are owned privately by herder agents, all of the livestock are measured by sheep units, currently, and a matured yak can be transferred in to 4.5 sheep units (Su et al., 2003). For each time step of the model, the available grass forage is a summation of newly increased grass forage and the remaining forage in the end of the last step. The livestock on the patches will eat a certain amount of grass forage, thus the forage after grazing is the available forage minus the grazed material.

In assessing the results, it is assumed that if the aboveground grassland productivity left after the first year grazing is less than 50% of its initial assigned above-ground grassland productivity, the patch will be counted as a degraded grassland patch. The model will check the overgrazing status for each step during the simulation runs. This measure is chosen as a temporary estimate; the definition of three different biomass reduction metric related to grassland degradation from the Chinese National Criteria are shown in Table 4.1 (Su et al., 2003). A degraded grassland patch has lower grass productivity after grazing, and this decreased grass productivity is used to represent the damage to plants by overgrazing. This simplified metric (Table 4.1) of grassland degradation provides an alternative perspective on the grassland status to productivity.

items		Degree of degradation					
		Ungraded	Light Degraded	Medium Degraded	Severely Degraded		
Aboveground	Total decrease ratio (%)	0-10	11-20	21-50	>50		
productivity	Edible decrease ratio (%)	0-10	11-20	21-50	>50		
	Inedible and toxic increase ratio (%)	0-10	11-20	21-50	>50		

 Table 4.1: National criteria of parameters for degradation in terms of aboveground grassland productivity

The grass growth rate for each patch in the model is a random value between 0 and 5 from October to May, and a random value between 0 and 60 from June to September. This is used to represent the seasonal variation of grassland forage. These simply randomized growth rates are used to represent the complexity of grass growth under grazing. The consecutive comparison experiment of grass growth under different grazing intensities in the Three River Head Source area (TRHR) is a typical example that shows this complexity. The Absolute Growth Rate (AGR) and Relative Growth Rate (RGR) are used in the experiments to describe the net biomass accumulation per unit time (Zhao et al., 2011a):

$$AGR = \frac{W_1 - W_1}{t_2 - t_1} And RGR = \frac{\ln W_2 - \ln W_1}{t_2 - t_1}$$

Eq. 4-1

, where W_1 and W_2 are the biomass at time t_1 and t_2 respectively.

Table 4.2 (Zhao et al., 2011a) shows the AGR of total above-ground biomass under different grazing intensities during the growing season (June, July, August & September), from which we can see the diverse impact of different grazing intensities on the first year and the second year's growth of grass. For summer pastures, the above-ground biomass reached a maximum value in July under slight grazing and with a control group (grazing free) for both the first year and the second year; while under medium and heavy grazing, the maximum above-ground biomass appeared at August for the first year. However, for winter pastures, no matter under what kinds of grazing intensities, the maximum above-ground biomass were all in August for the first year and in July for the second year. Although there are some changes in AGR under different grazing intensities in the grassland grazing system in Zeku, the results here provide an example of the complexity of different grazing intensity patches within the grazing system and have demonstrated the importance of incorporating grazing in the grass growth model (this will be further discussed in Chapter 5).

Pasture type	month	Contro group	ontrol Slight Mediu roup grazing grazin		Medium grazing	m Heavy g grazing		g	
		1 st year	2 ^{ed} year	1 st year	2 ^{ed} year	1 st year	2 ^{ed} year	1 st year	2 ^{ed} year
Summer	June	0.98	1.11	0.83	0.94	0.69	0.71	0.48	0.62
	July	3.58	6.90	3.01	4.31	1.97	3.58	1.48	3.58
	August	1.88	4.08	2.05	2.53	2.23	3.36	2.73	1.39
	September	-0.79	-0.52	-0.75	-0.31	-0.52	-0.35	-0.97	-0.71
Winter	June	0.82	1.85	0.73	1.60	0.67	1.47	0.70	1.02
	July	0.89	3.97	0.76	4.51	0.71	4.96	0.68	2.61
	August	2.2	1.8	2.75	1.57	2.32	1.80	2.31	1.21
	September	-0.11	-0.93	-0.12	-4.08	-0.23	-0.44	-0.17	-0.68

Table 4.2: AGR of total aboveground biomass under different grazing intensities, from Zhao et al. (2011a), page 205 (unit: gm⁻²d⁻¹)

Table 4.3 shows the percentage of different grass species under different grazing intensities. With an increase in grazing intensities, the percentage of edible species (Cyperaceae and Poaceae) were decreased substantially in both summer and winter pastures, while the percentage of poisonous species were increased (Zhao et al., 2011a). Assuming the productivity doesn't change overall, the interannual percentage of palatable grass species have decreased on heavy and medium grazed lands, and they have increased in the control group and slightly grazed lands. This can be explained by the increased percentage of palatable grass species, which has a negative effect on poisonous species. In summer pasture lands of medium and heavy grazed areas, although the stimulation of grass regrowth caused by grazing-led defoliation can compensate for the loss of grass biomass, the suppression effect of those palatable species on unpalatable or poisonous species will be weaker, which in return will improve the productivity of unpalatable or poisonous species (1998). In addition, livestock grazing would increase the amount of sunlight transmission to the lower layers of the grass (Yonghong and Shiping, 1999). This is why Table 4.3 shows increased productivity of Cyperaceae species compared with that of the control group. The example here illustrates the complexity of livestock-herbivore interactions, which will be included in the ABMGG. But, in order to make the conceptual model as simple as possible at this stage, the model set the growth rate of available forage for grazing at a random value for different seasons to account for all the considerable variance associated with all the above effect.

	Grass type	Heavy grazing		Medium grazing		Slight grazing		Control group	
		1 st year	2 ^{ed} year						
S	Cyperaceae	28.14	25.45	35.28	35.20	40.55	37.47	27.33	25.96
u m	Poaceae	14.07	9.16	25.81	25.82	29.44	33.44	40.14	47.69
m	Edible species	37.07	41.38	24.32	24.73	21.69	20.07	16.67	11.97
e r	poisonous species	20.79	24.01	14.59	15.45	11.33	9.02	9.86	5.38
-	% palatable species	42.21	34.60	61.09	62.02	66.98	70.91	67.48	73.66
	interannual change of % palatable grass	-7.61		-0.07		3.93		5.88	
w	Cyperaceae	31.03	25.91	35.98	28.38	38.32	29.88	41.09	32.80
ı n	Poaceae	29.49	29.78	25.64	33.37	27.22	37.90	27.50	1.25
t e r	Edible species	25.66	28.46	24.96	25.47	22.40	20.94	20.42	16.87
	poisonous species	13.81	15.86	13.42	13.78	12.06	11.28	11.0	9.08
	% palatable species	60.52	55.68	61.62	61.75	65.55	67.78	68.59	74.05

Table 4.3: Percentage of different grass species under different grazingintensities (from Zhao Zhao et al. (2011a), page 204 (unit: %)

interannual	-4.84	0.13	2.23	5.46
change of %				
palatable grass				

Prolonged snow is an external driver that causes a rapid decrease in grassland productivity and the loss of livestock. For the moment, prolonged snow hits pastures in the agent world randomly, and each parcel has the same probability to be hit. The grass productivity of the parcel hit by prolonged snow and its neighbourhood parcels (i.e., within a radius) are influenced by the snow. The impact of snow on grass productivity was simplified by setting a certain degree of loss of assets and a sharp decrease in grassland productivity. When prolonged snow happens, the herder agents tend to overuse their pastures if they cannot find available parcels for migrations and/or do not have enough money to buy fodder. In the real world, the restoration of livestock populations after climate hazards is from both natural reproduction and purchasing livestock from markets. In the real world, the price of buying lambs fluctuates when hazards happen (Wang et al., 2013), but this model will assume constant costs.

Herder agents are assigned a random number of sheep and assets initially. Each herder occupies one land patch, and all land patches have their own herder agent. Herder agents raise livestock on their pastures; the model does not consider the breeding process of livestock and nor does it consider herd deaths, save under snowbased disasters. At the end of each year, herder agents have the possibility of selling their sheep to gain benefits (assets), and at the beginning of each year, herder agents will buy a certain number of lambs with a certain probability. We assume that the number of sheep owned by each agent is stable during the other times of the year. The influence of market incentives on the livestock management behaviours of herders is not included in the model to keep the model simple.

The framework of AMBGG is shown in Figure 4.1. There are two main sub-models. The human system is designed to simulate the decision making of herders including selling, buying of livestock and joining groups. The natural system accounts for the natural growth of grass. The interactions of the model include livestock grazing and grass response to grazing, which will be further affected by macro-level grazing strategies and institutional arrangements. There are also two types of outputs: socio-economic results and the ecological results of the grazing system. At the base, the land tenure system is the core for forming the grazing strategies and institutional arrangements in Zeku.



Figure 4.1 : The framework of ABMGG

4.2 Agent-based modelling of grassland grazing

As has been mentioned in Chapter 3, rotational grazing is a common grazing strategy for the herders in Zeku due to the unique climate conditions with long-lasting winters and short summers. Zeku is located in the subnival belt in China; summer is the most productive season of the whole year, and the short summer grazing period contributes a lot to winter grazing period is from October to May (the following year), this is mainly on stored fodder; while the summer grazing period just lasts from June to September. In addition, different behaviours of the herders will lead to different ecological and economic performance for the grassland grazing (e.g. net income of herder and grassland quality). The prototype model in this chapter will be used to explore three different management: sedentary grazing (ungrazed), land market and group grazing (see Chapter 3 for details). Institutional management strategies have their own socio-economic mechanism that affects the performance of grassland grazing.

Grassland productivity

Grazing-led loss of grass productivity could affect the overall grassland productivity (McCarthy et al., 2016b). It has been proved that grazing could affect the grass biomass accumulation, nutritive value and utilization (Stobbs, 1975; Pontes et al., 2007; Ganche et al., 2013; Tuñon, 2013). Researchers have further confirmed it is the main reason for the grassland productivity change of grazing systems (Mott, 1960; Baudracco et al., 2010; McGregor et al., 2014; Pulido et al., 2016) except climate change. Although a moderate grazing severity could lead to the improvement of grassland utilization (Baudracco et al., 2010), the impact of grazing severity on grassland productivity has been extensively studied but inconsistently reported (Rawnsley et al., 2014), which were similar to the results in Table 4.2 and Table 4.3, and the evaluation of such effects are often complicated due to the various grazing decisions and natural conditions (Clark et al., 2016). One of the most simple

68

and effective indicators of grassland change under grazing is the quantity of grass forage, and this has been widely used in grassland grazing studies (<u>McNaughton</u>, <u>1979a</u>; <u>Lezama et al.</u>, <u>2014</u>; <u>Chang et al.</u>, <u>2015</u>; <u>Sabatier et al.</u>, <u>2015</u>; <u>Zhang et al.</u>, <u>2015</u>; <u>McCarthy et al.</u>, <u>2016a</u>). In this prototype model, the total available forage under grazing throughout the year can be calculated by the subtraction of grazed forage eaten by livestock from the total newly grown available forage, which can be express as:

$$TNGAF = \sum_{1}^{n} \sum_{1}^{12} (GGR_{mi} \cdot LPA_i - LG_{mi})$$

Eq. 4-2

TNGAF is the total newly grown available forage of all the patches during the year, GGR_{mi} is the grass growth rate in month m of land patch i, LPA_i is the total area of land patch i. LG_i is the grazed amount of forage by livestock at land patch i during month m; n is the total number of patches.

Grassland degradation

Another important indicator for quantifying the effect of grazing is the degradation status. In fact, over the last few decades, the degraded grasslands caused by overgrazing account for the largest proportion of land degradation among all major biomes (Salvati and Carlucci, 2015; Kwon et al., 2016a). Grazing-led degradation poses a big threat to sustaining and/or increasing global livestock productivity, which serves multiple purposes including economic, social and ecological functions (Salvati and Carlucci, 2015; Kwon et al., 2016b). On the other hand, livestock also plays a critical role in maintaining soil nutrients in grassland, as livestock manure accounts for more than half of the total nitrogen phosphorus for grass growth (Sheldrick et al., 2003; Bouwman et al., 2013). Given the importance of livestock and grazing severity on grassland degradation, it is necessary to report the grassland degradation status to identify cost-effective strategies of sustainable grazing. In Zeku, although the judgement of grassland degradation has many factors to consider, this prototype model just keeps it simple with the one definition of grassland degradation according to the productivity change (Su et al., 2003), which can be expressed as:

 $\text{TND} = \begin{cases} C_{i>50} & \text{serverely degraded} \\ C_{21 \leq i \leq 50} & \text{medium degraded} \\ C_{11 \leq i \leq 20} & \text{light degraded} \end{cases}$

Eq. 4-3

, where i is the percentage of decreased available forage productivity to the forage productivity of the base year and C is the number of degraded land patches at this level.

In Section 3.6 of Chapter 3, different grazing strategies and institutional arrangements have been discussed. How do those management scenarios affect the herders' economic status and grassland status? There are three different management scenarios designed in the prototype model: sedentary grazing (un-grazed, it is called continuous grazing as well in the literature), pasture rental market and Ecological Animal Husbandry and Economic Co-operative Grazing (EAHECG, which is a group grazing management scenario in essence but has a different name). The model

will report both the economic status of the herders and the degradation status of the land patches under these three management scenarios:

Sedentary grazing

The monthly (month "m") net benefit of each agent (agent "i") under the sedentary grazing can be calculated by:

$$NBAS_{im} = AI_{im} + PPU_m WGoL_{im} - LFC_{im} - TMC_{im}$$

Eq. 4-4

and the monthly (month "m") total benefit of the agent (agent "i") can be calculated by:

$$NBAS_m = \sum_{1}^{n} NBAS_{im} = \sum_{1}^{n} AI_{im} + PPU_m \sum_{1}^{n} WGoL_{im} - \sum_{1}^{n} LFC_{im} - \sum_{1}^{n} TMC_{im}$$

Eq. 4-5

, where $NBAS_{im}$ is the net benefit of agent i at month m, and $\sum_{1}^{n} NBAS_{im}$ is the net benefit of all the agents, and the total number of agent is n. AI_{im} is the asset investment benefit of agent i at month m, PPU_m is the price per sheep unit at month m, $WGoL_{im}$ is the weight gain of livestock of agent i at month m, LFC_{im} is the cost of buying lambs or calves and fodder of agent i in month m. TMC_{im} is the transhumance cost of agent i at month m.

Where the monthly available forage for each land patch can be calculated by:

$$AFS_{mi} = AFS_{(m-1)i} \cdot (1 + GR_{im}) - \text{NoL}_{im} \cdot CoL_{im} - LoSD_{im}$$

Eq. 4-6

and the monthly total available forage can be calculated by:

 $AFS_m = \sum_{1}^{n} AFS_{(m-1)i} \cdot (1 + GR_{im}) - CoL_{im} \cdot \sum_{1}^{n} \text{NoL}_{im} - \sum_{1}^{n} LoSD_{im}$

Eq. 4-7

, where AFS_{mi} stands for the available forage of land patch i at month m, $AFS_{(m-1)i}$ is the available forage of land patch i at month m-1(last month), GR_{im} is the increase rate of forage of land patch i at month m; $\sum_{1}^{n} AFS_{(m-1)i} \cdot (1 + GR_{im})$ is the total available forage at month m before livestock grazing. CoL_{im} is the consumption of forage by livestock (per sheep unit) within land patch i at month m, NOL_{im} is the number of livestock of agent i at month m, and $\sum_{1}^{n} NOL_{im}$ is the total amount of livestock on the grassland land for month m; $LOSD_m$ is the amount of forage loss if prolonged snow hits the land patch i at month m. In the conceptual model, the growth rate of the grass is represented by a random amount forage increase (absolute value with unit kg) rather than a growth rate for simplification.

Pasture rental market

The monthly (for example, month "m") net income of the agent (agent "i") is:

$$NBAR_{im} = NBAS_{im} + LPTO_{im} - LPFO_{im} - TC_{im}$$

Eq. 4-8

and the monthly total net income of agents can be calculated by:

$$NBAR_m = \sum_{1}^{n} NBAR_{im} = \sum_{1}^{n} NBAS_{im} + \sum_{1}^{n} LPTO_{im} - \sum_{1}^{n} LPFO_{im} - \sum_{1}^{n} TC_{im}$$
Eq. 4-9

, where $NBAR_{im}$ is the net income of agent i at month m, and $\sum_{1}^{n} NBAR_{im}$ is the total net income for all the agent at month n, and the number of the agents is n; $LPTO_{im}$ is the net income of leasing pasture to others of agent i at month m, and $\sum_{1}^{n} LPTO_{im}$ is the total net income of leasing pasture to others for all the agents; $LPFO_{im}$ is the cost of leasing pasture from others of agent i at month m, TC_{im} is the cost of transportation for migration of agent i at month m, and $\sum_{1}^{n} TC_{im}$ is the total cost of leasing pasture from others for all the agents;

The monthly available forage of land patches is:

$$AFR_{mi} = AFR_{(m-1)i} \cdot (1 + GR_{im}) - \text{NoL}_{im}(1 \pm \varphi) \cdot CoL_{im} - LoSD_{im}$$

Eq. 4-10

and the monthly total available forage can be calculated by:

 $AFR_m = \sum_{1}^{n} AFR_{(m-1)i} \cdot (1 + GR_{im}) - CoL_{im} \cdot \sum_{1}^{n} (1 \pm \varphi) \operatorname{NoL}_{im} - \sum_{1}^{n} LoSD_{im}$

, where AFR_{mi} stands for the available forage of land patch i at month m, $AFR_{(m-1)i}$ is the available forage of land patch i at month m-1 (last month), and $\sum_{1}^{n} AFR_{(m-1)i} \cdot (1 + GR_{im})$ is the total available forage of all the lands before grazing;, φ is the percentage of livestock migrated to the newly leased land patch (for leaseholders it would be a "-", while for landlords it would be "+"; $\sum_{1}^{n} (1 \pm \varphi) \operatorname{NoL}_{im}$ is the total livestock moved in/out the original lands in the whole region.

EAHECG (or group grazing)

The EAHECG organisation is an economic group that aims at improving the development of livestock husbandry. It is an effective organization dealing with employment and overgrazing in Zeku and was strongly encouraged by the local government. In ABMGG, we set 3 EAHECG groups initially, each of them has 7 herders.

The monthly (month "m") net income of agent (agent "i") can be calculated by:

 $NBAC_{im} = AI_{im} + PPU_m.WGoL_{im} \cdot \alpha_i + PPU_m.WGoL_{im} \cdot (1 - \alpha_i) \cdot (1 + \pi) - LFC_{im} - TC_{im}(1 - \mu) - SPC_i$

Eq. 4-12

The total monthly income of agents:

$$NBAC_m = \sum_{1}^{n} NBAC_{im} = \sum_{1}^{n} AI_{im} + PPU_m \cdot \sum_{1}^{n} \alpha_i \cdot WGoL_{im} + (1 + \pi) \sum_{1}^{n} WGoL_{im} \cdot (1 - \alpha_i) - \sum_{1}^{n} LFC_{im} - (1 - \mu) \sum_{1}^{n} TC_{im} - \sum_{1}^{n} SPC_i$$

, where $NBAC_{im}$ is the net income of agent i at month m, $NBAC_m$ is the total net income of all agents at month m, and $\sum_{1}^{n} NBAC_{im}$ is the total the net income of all the agents; $(1 - \alpha_i)$ is the proportion of livestock invested in the ecological animal husbandry economic co-operative, π is the increased proportion of cooperation benefit. μ is the decreased cost proportion of the transhumance cost with the increase in the number of co-operators, SPC_i is the cost of sharing the pasture of agent i, and $\sum_{i=1}^{n} SPC_i$ is the total cost of sharing the pasture of all the agents.

The monthly available forage for each land patch is:

$$AFE_{mi} = AFE_{(m-1)i} \cdot (1 + GR_{im}) - (\alpha_i \cdot \text{NoL}_{im} + \frac{(1 - \alpha_i)}{LSPG_i} \cdot \text{NoL}_{im}$$
$$\cdot \text{LPPG}_i) \cdot CoL_{im} - LoSD_{im}$$
and $\sum_{i=1}^{N} \text{LPPG}_i = 1, \sum_{i=1}^{N} LSPG_i = 1$

Eq. 4-13

The total monthly available forage is:

$$AFE_{m} = \sum_{1}^{n} AFE_{mi} = \sum_{1}^{n} AFR_{(m-1)i} \cdot (1 + GR_{im}) - CoL_{im} \cdot \left(\sum_{1}^{n} \text{NoL}_{im} \cdot (\alpha_{i} + \frac{\text{LPPG}_{i}}{\text{LSPG}_{i}} \cdot (1 - \alpha_{i}))\right) - \sum_{1}^{n} \text{LoSD}_{im}$$

Eq. 4-14

, where $\sum_{1}^{n} AFE_{mi}$ is the total monthly available forage for all the agents at month m; α_i is the percentage of livestock of agent i invested in the co-operative, $LSPG_i$ is the livestock proportion of agent i invested in the co-operative, $LPPG_i$ is the percentage of land area of agent i invested in the group, and $\left(\sum_{1}^{n} NoL_{im} \cdot (\alpha_i + \frac{LPPG_i}{LSPG_i} \cdot (1 - \alpha_i))\right)$ means the total livestock consumption of the forage of all the group grazing herders; the rest are the same as they have been explained earlier.

4.3 Model specification

All the values of parameters are assumed in the conceptual model of ABMGG (Figure 4.8). There are three types of parameters: land patch related parameters, livestock and herder agent related parameters and grazing strategy parameters. Land patch related parameters describe the initial productivity of grass forage and the grass growth of different seasons. Livestock and herder agent related parameters account for the grazing activities on grassland: the quantity of livestock owned by the herders and the quantity of grass forage consumed by livestock. Other parameters are related to the grazing strategies and institutional arrangements: market cost for leasing/renting, the cost for joining/leaving the grazing groups and the number of grazing groups. At present, little information is known about patch specific grassland productivity and livestock grazing (Chapter 5 develops a method to extract this information from remote sensing data). Here, all the values are assumed, and they are shown in Table 4.4.

Туре	Parameters	Value	source
Land	Pasture size per land patch	1 km^2	Assumed
paten	Percentage of edible grass	100%	Assumed
	Grassland productivity	Random (next rows)	Assumed
	Summer growth rate	Random 60 (kg)	Assumed

Table 4.4: Variables in the conceptual models and their assumed values

	Winter growth rate	Random 5 (kg)	Assumed
livestock	Consumption rate of grass per sheep unit	0.5kg per sheep weight	Assumed
	Weight gain from grazing per sheep unit	0.1kg per sheep weight	Assumed
herder	Number of Land patches owned	1	Assumed
	Asset	random	Assumed
	Number of sheep bought at the beginning of the year	19	Assumed
	percentage of sheep sold at the end of the year	90%	Assumed
	Probability of buying lambs or calves	50%	Assumed
	Probability of selling sheep or yaks	50%	Assumed
	Transhumance cost	200	Assumed
market	Price of leasing land patch	0	Assumed
	Transportation cost per patch- unit	0	Assumed
Snow disaster	Percentage of productivity loss from snow disaster	90%	Assumed
	Probability prolonged snow occurs	0.1%	Assumed
Co- operative	Registeration cost for co- operative	0	Assumed
Group	Numbers of co-operatives	7	Assumed
	Exit cost of leaving a cooperation group	0	Assumed
	The proportion of livestock invested in co-operative within the group	100%	Assumed
	The proportion of land invested in co-operative within the group	100%	Assumed

Three models are developed representing the sedentary, land market and group grazing practice respectively. The values of the parameters for all three models are the same as those listed in Table 4.4. When degradation happens (less than 50% of the initial randomly assigned forage, and see Eq. 4-3), the herders are assumed to sell half of their livestock in the sedentary grazing model. Herders can rent land in

good condition for livestock grazing from other herders when degradation happens in the land market model. In the group grazing model, some of the herders are formed the grazing groups at the beginning of the year, and the herders in the same grazing group share the land resource. Only when the available forage in the group is less than 50% of the initially assigned available forage, then the herders in the group will sell half of their livestock. At the start of the year, herders are assumed to buy a fixed number of livestock (for example lamb or calf) for next year's grazing, and sell 90% of their livestock at the end of the year. Since the transhumance cost is assumed to be a fixed number, and it only affects the net benefit of the herders in June and November, it was excluded in calculating the monthly net benefit for all three models. In addition, the income from the investment is not considered in these three conceptual models.

4.4 Computational simulation

The overall purpose of the computational simulations is to understand the economic (net income of herders) and ecological (numbers of degraded land patches) performance of the grassland grazing system under the three institutional arrangements. For each patch, different grazing strategies or institutional arrangements could have a diverse effect on the growth of grass and the dynamics of livestock, but when considering all the grassland patches as a whole, do these managements have the same effect? The results of a computational simulation would be helpful in understanding whether those management strategies are the cost-effective ones, or how can they be more effective in the future with the aim of realizing sustainable grassland management.

Through 500 repeated simulations with the same parameter values, the stable outputs of the models can be obtained. However, the results presented in this section would, of course, vary when the values of the parameters are different from the assumed values. However, there is limited data on the uncertainty of the assumed parameter values in the conceptual models; therefore, this section aims to provide an example of assessing the grazing strategy and institutional arrangement by using ABM. A further sensitivity analysis in Section 4.5 will explore the effects of parameter value changes on the model outputs. The reason for choosing 500 repetitions is that it is large enough to produce a stable mean value of the properties of the model outputs. We can see that, with the increase of the number of repeated simulations, the mean values and the standard errors are close to a certain fixed range; especially when the number of the repeated simulations exceeds about 400 for all the conceptual models (see Figure 4.2, Figure 4.3 and Figure 4.4).



Figure 4.2: The means and standard errors of the model outputs with different numbers of repeated simulations in the sedentary model



Figure 4.3: The means and standard errors of the model outputs with different numbers of repeated simulations in the land market model



Figure 4.4: The means and standard errors of the model outputs with different numbers of repeated simulations in the EAHEC (group grazing) model

The models were run for 20 simulated years from January 2000 to 2020. Figure 4.5 shows the screenshots of ABMGG in 2020. The green land patches in all snapshots mean good conditions of the grassland, i.e. degradation do not happen; brown ones stand for the land patches that are degraded, and the vellow ones represent the patches that are hit by prolonged snow. The arrows in the screenshot of pasture rental market model show that the herders' lease land from their neighbours, and they change dynamically according to the status of the land patches. When one land patch is degraded, ABMGG will change its background colour to brown, and the herder agent will lease land from its neighbour. However, when the condition of a land patch is good (green colour), the herder agent will end up the leasing relationship and take the livestock back to his/her own land to save money. The lines in the screenshot of the EAHEC model show the initially established co-operatives, which will be kept the same until the end of the simulations; that is, there are no other herders joining/leaving the group during model runs. The models check land patch status at every time step to identify the degraded land patches. A severely degraded patch is defined as that the available forage is less than 50% of its initially

assigned value. All the parameters values are the same in those three grazing management scenarios. The mean values of the model outputs with their standard variance as shown in Figure 4.6, Figure 4.7, Figure 4.8 and Figure 4.9.



Figure 4.5: Screenshots of three institutional arrangements in ABMGG

Population and forage dynamic

In order to keep the conceptual model simple, livestock here actually stands for the livestock *weight*livestock* number for each land patch. As we can see from Figure 4.6, the overall dynamics of livestock and forage is the same under these three managements. Notice there are some extremely large numbers of the livestock in the first few years; this is because the initial model setting is not "appropriate". This does not matter much for evaluating the modelling results. Due to the natural growth of forage and the decision making of herder agents, overgrazing (the patches with a lot of livestock but limited available forage) will trigger the selling behaviour of herders. These large values, therefore, represent large numbers of livestock that exist only for a very short period in the first year.

In the three prototype models, herders will buy some yaks and sheep in January (step 1, 13, 25...). After reaching a stable forage-livestock pattern, we can see the maximum overall weight of livestock appear in February (step 14, 26, 38...) due to the buying behaviour of herders. The selling behaviour is assumed to occur at the end of the year, hence the minimum overall weight of livestock present in the next month (January). From Figure 4.6, there is a local maximum livestock weight in July and local minimum weight of livestock in November for each year. This is because the summer growing season has a greater forage growth rate, and there is plenty of available forage for livestock grazing. During the non-summer growth seasons, the growth rate is smaller, and the prototype model will check the degradation status of

land patches; therefore the herder agents have to either sell some of their livestock or rent land from others.

The seasonal dynamics of available forage are well represented. We can see a greater available forage from June to September (step 6, 7, 8, 9, 17, 18, 19, 20...) compared with the other months. The maximum total available forage appears in September (step 9, 21, 33...), and minimum total available forage occurs in June (step 6, 18, 30...). From Figure 4.6, an obvious difference in available forage of the three models can be seen: the EAHEC has the largest available forage, followed by the sedentary grazing, while the pasture rental market has the smallest available forage. This is mainly because on EAHEC grazing land patches, the average number of livestock is much larger than that of the other two. The pasture rental market and EAHEC grazing management can actually 'reduce' the heterogeneity of the grass forage distribution; thus a higher productivity land can raise more livestock. The pasture rental market and EAHEC grazing can optimize the livestock number on the land by increasing accessibility of the grass forage (compared with sedentary grazing). This prototype results match well with the field based analysis (Hart et al., 1993; Pavlů et al., 2003), which means the conceptual design of the prototype model is reliable and consistent with current studies.

livestock dynamics





Figure 4.6: Dynamics of livestock and available grass forage during 2000-2020

The emergent pattern of the grassland grazing system is that the livestock population and the available forage "twist" together (Figure 4.7). When there is an increased overall weight of the livestock, the available forage will decrease due to the increase in livestock consumption. The forage increases fast from June to September, but it decreases gradually after September. This is expected to represent the seasonal dynamics of grass growth. Therefore, different grazing management strategies lead to similar emergent patterns with regards to the dynamics of the livestock and forage.





Figure 4.7: Average livestock and forage trend from 2000.01 to 2020.01 under sedentary seasonal grazing, pasture rental market and EAHEC arrangements

Another important aspect of evaluating the grazing system is economic performance. Although Zeku is located in the national reservation area, the herders have lived in the same natural-grazing lifestyle for thousands of years, and it is impossible to exclude grazing for both cultural and economic reasons, and thus grazing still exists in this national reservation area. Livestock grazing is almost the only way of gaining income for the majority of herders in Zeku (Zhou et al., 2007a). The evaluation of the natural contribution to herders' income is important for both academic research and policy-making (Campos et al., 2016). The value of the private amenities associated with grassland grazing, such as the enjoyment of the grazing lifestyle (Kemp and Michalk, 2007; Oviedo et al., 2012), are not considered in this thesis. In fact, the herders in Zeku are low-income groups compared with the people in the northeast of China; livestock provides food and almost the only source of income supporting herders' livelihoods for the vast majority (Zhou et al., 2007a).

Different grazing strategies and institutional arrangements will affect the herders' economic benefits from grassland grazing (Li et al., 2015b). Research has found that a continuous grazing strategy leads to a decrease of the herders' net income and this, in turn, could affect grassland grazing management practices (Rittenhouse and Roath, 2002; Michalk et al., 2003). It is difficult to identify the impact of different grazing intensities on livestock production and herders' economic benefits through laboratory experiments (McCollum III et al., 1999), but it is possible to evaluate the herders' income when using agent-based modelling by exploring with different grazing management strategies (Jun et al., 2013). When the stocking rate is high in continuous grazing grassland, the weight gains of grazing livestock decrease (Ackerman et al., 2001; Miguel et al., 2003), and this could further affect the economic benefit (Whitson et al., 1982). Empirical analyses have shown that the net income per cow was higher for dairy farms that employed moderate very intense grazing than for dairy farms that employed extensive grazing in Pennsylvania and New York (Hanson et al., 1998). For the effective and sustainable development of the grazing grasslands, the economic measures need to be considered under those different grazing strategies and institutional arrangements to improve grassland condition while increasing herders' incomes (Pannell et al., 2006).

Net income

The results of net income of the three models are shown in Figure 4.9. They are calculated by the average of individual herder agents' net income for each step. The maximum net income appears in December, and the minimum net income stands in January for each year. This is because herder agents will sell their livestock at the end of the year, and buy baby lambs and yak at the beginning of the year. In addition, the models assume that transhumance happens in June when livestock travels to the summer pasture lands and November when livestock get back to the winter pasture lands. The transhumance happens at the cost of losing net income. From Figure 4.8, the average net income increases slower from June to September compared with the other months. Due to the higher grass forage growth rate from June to September, the livestock have enough feeding forage, and there is less weight of livestock being sold during those months; the available forage is less (see Figure 4.7) in the other months, and therefore the livestock is more likely to be sold, as the land patches will be more likely to be degraded. The sedentary grazing performs better compared with the EAHEC and pasture rental market with regard to the average net income of herder agents. The EAHEC produces the least income, indicating that EAHEC is not economically effective compared with sedentary grazing and the pasture rental market.



average net benefit of the herders

Figure 4.8: Economic performance under three institutional arrangement

Sedentary continuous grazing is widely recognized as a key factor in grassland degradation caused by overgrazing (Teague and Dowhower, 2003). The main reason is that, on continuous grazing lands, the selective behaviour of livestock would contribute to the higher stocking rate on patches with palatable species (Teague and Dowhower, 2003; von Müller et al., 2017); while rotational grazing, to some extent, would force the livestock to move to the other patches strategically. Various forms of rotational grazing have been proposed as alternative grazing strategies that are likely to avoid degradation (Norton and Bartle, 2014). The theory behind this is that rotational grazing lands can provide some rest time between grazing events (Teague and Dowhower, 2003), which allows palatable species to recover from the defoliation and compete effectively with less palatable species. However, researchers have found that continuous moderate grazing management promoted biomass production as well (Oñatibia and Aguiar, 2016). Therefore, the grazing intensity also plays an important role in grazing-led grassland degradation as *"intensive grazing has been proved unsustainable because maximization of livestock* revenue incurs high supplemental feed costs, marginalizes net household income, and promotes larger flock sizes to create a positive feedback loop driving grassland degradation" (Briske et al., 2015). It is, therefore, of great significance to report the degradation status under different grazing strategies and institutional arrangements.

Degraded patches

Figure 4.9 shows the numbers of degraded patches, which are simply defined as the patches where available forage decreased by 50% to their initially assigned values. A sharp decrease in the number of degraded patches can be seen from June to September each year due to the fast growth of the grass. Another local sharp decrease in the number of degraded patches is at December when the livestock are sold. On the whole, we can see that the EAHEC performs best in terms of the number of degraded patches, of which the mean and variance is much smaller than

the other two. Under the EAHEC management, herder agents can choose an alternative land patch to graze rather than continuously graze on their own land patch when prolonged snow happens. Herder agents in the land rental market model can rent land from other herders when there are not enough forage on their own lands, this may lead to the degradation on both lands. Thus the highest number of degraded patches can be seen in the sedentary model from Figure 4.9. Therefore, the most stable strategy is group grazing (EAHEC), which produces a smaller number of degraded patches and smaller standard deviation of them (blue area).



degraded patches

Figure 4.9: Ecological performance under three grazing management

4.5 The sensitivity analysis of the models

The results presented in Section 4.4 are all based on the assumed values of the parameters, and changes in these values may lead to different model outcomes. Therefore, a sensitivity analysis is necessary to understand the conceptual models further. The aim of the sensitivity analysis is to explore the response of the model to the parameter value changes. One direct way is numerical simulation with different parameter value sets, and if there are too many parameters (for example, hundreds of parameters), the common way is to identify the most influential parameters and only explore the sensitivity of these parameters.

In this section, six parameters in the sedentary and land market mode, and eight parameters in the group grazing model (EAHEC) are analysed by using partial (rank) correlation coefficient (PCC/PRCC), which is used to measure the relationship and the strength of the relationship between parameters and outcomes of the model (Saltelli et al., 1993; Manache and Melching, 2008). PCC can be used for measuring linear relationships, and PRCC is used for the measurement of non-linear but monotonic associations.

For each model, four aspects of the model outputs are evaluated: net benefit of the herders, livestock dynamic, forage dynamics and the number of degraded patches, which are all measured by their average value during 2000~2020. There are multiple years (2000~2020), multiple steps (46 steps for each year) and multiple dimensions (four aspects) of model outputs with single parameter value set for each model. This thesis uses the mean value of each dimension of the model outputs during the 20 years, with 2000 parameter value sets created by Latin Hypercube Sampling (LHS) method (Stein, 1987). LHS is a stratified sampling method without replacement, which partitions each parameter distribution (see Table 4.5 for the value ranges of the parameters, which are also assumed values to cover the majority of all possible situations) into certain intervals of equal probability, and selects one parameter value from each interval. The interval sizes are determined by the probability density distribution of the parameters. For each parameter value set, the models are repeated 5 times to extract the mean value of the model outputs (four aspects).

parameters	Lower limit	Upper limit	Unit
numLambToBuy	0	1000	kg
snowProbility	1	10	%
lambPrice	1	1000	Yuan
sellPrice	1	1000	Yuan
forage_consumption_per_weight	0.01	1	kg
weight_gain_factor	0.01	1	-
numberCooperative	1	6	-
numberParticipant	3	10	-

Table 4.5: parameters value ranges used for sensitivity analysis

The results of the PCC/PRCC analysis for the sedentary, land market and the group grazing (EAHEC) models are shown in Figure 4.10, Figure 4.11 and Figure 4.12 respectively. Each figure shows the relationship between parameters and the four dimensions of the model outputs. There are strong negative relationships between the amount of livestock (parameter "a", see Figure 4.10) bought at the beginning of the year, price (parameter "c"), the forage consumption per livestock weight (parameter "e") and the average net benefit (model output) of the herders for all the models. This is reasonable as the cost would be higher with the increase in the price or the quantity of the livestock (lamb or calf). The forage consumption per livestock weight (parameter "c") plays as a consumption coefficient role in the models. With a higher value of the forage consumption per livestock weight, the less livestock can be raised on the land, which in turn leads to the lower net benefit to the herders. The weight gain of livestock from grazing (parameter "f") is contrary to the forage consumption per livestock weight (parameter "c") as a higher livestock weight gain from grazing means that more livestock (measured by weight) can be raised on the land, and this further leads to greater average net benefit for the herders.

For the livestock dynamics, there is a monotonically negative effect of the forage consumption per weight (parameter "e") on the overall livestock dynamic (measured by weight), while a positive effect of forage consumption per weight (parameter "f")

on the livestock weight. The other parameters, however, show no obvious influence on the overall livestock weight, as they are more of economic value for the herders.

The amount of livestock bought at the beginning of the year (parameter "a") has a weak positive effect on the overall available forage on the lands in sedentary and group grazing (EAHEC) model, but it has a strong negative effect on the overall available forage in land market model. One reason would be that more livestock means more consumption of forage and therefore less available forage can be observed in the land market model. Such evidence can be seen from the effect of weight gain from grazing (parameter "f"), which has a strong negative effect on the overall available forage for all the models. However, when overgrazing happens, the herders must sell half of their livestock, and the reduced livestock could result in an increase in the availability of the grass forage. In addition, the overall livestock weight on the sedentary and group grazing model is smaller than that of the land market model, so the effect of selling behaviours is more obvious on the sedentary and group grazing model.

It is interesting to see that the weight gain from grazing (parameter "f") has a positive effect on the number of degraded patches for the three models; and the forage consumption per livestock weight (parameter "e") has a weak or no effect on the number of degraded patches for the three models. This is because the overall livestock quantity depends on the increase rate of the livestock, which is determined by the weight gain from grazing (parameter "f"); the higher increase rate of the quantity of the livestock means the greater the demand for grass forage and, therefore, the higher the chance of the patches being degraded. The forage consumption per livestock weight (parameter "e") affects the quantity of livestock on the grassland due to the limited forage, but it cannot improve or decrease the overall rate of forage consumption. When the consumption of the forage is the same, the lower value of the forage consumption per livestock weight does not change.



Figure 4.10: Results of the PCC/PRCC analysis of the sedentary model



Figure 4.11: Results of the PCC/PRCC analysis of the land market model



Figure 4.12: Results of the PCC/PRCC analysis of the group grazing model (EAHEC)

4.6 Summary

This chapter introduced the conceptual design associated with building prototype models under different grazing strategies and institutional arrangements. Three main grazing management scenarios were modelled to understand their impact on the economic and ecological performance of the grassland grazing system. Results showed that EAHEC has the largest available forage, followed by sedentary grazing, while the pasture rental market has the smallest available forage. Essentially, the livestock population and the available forage presented a dynamic pattern: when one was rising, the other was falling. This prototype model is helpful to understand the dynamics of the grassland grazing system, which is essential in realizing the aim of dynamic grassland management under different grazing strategies and institutional arrangements. However, notice again that all the parameter values are assumed in those conceptual models, the work of the next chapter in this thesis is then to extract spatio-temporal explicit information on grass status and grazing activities.

Chapter 5 Identifying Grazing-led LAI changes from Remote Sensing Derived Datasets

In Chapter 4, a prototype has been developed to model the dynamics of the grassland grazing system in Zeku. However, all the parameter values are assumed or abstract values. The results of the prototype model can only be used as a reference test of the basic modelling theories or as a way of assessing the feasibility of agent-based modelling of grassland gazing. The values of the grazing system in Zeku would surely be different from the prototype models, meaning the next challenge is how to collect the patch-specific data needed for the successful modelling of the grassland system in Zeku. As discussed in Chapter 2, remote sensing derived datasets provide high spatiotemporal information for the land, which can be further explored to extract grazing information for the grassland specifically. This chapter will discuss in detail how to extract grazing information based on Moderate Resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer (MODIS) datasets. The results of this chapter will be further used in Chapter 6 for validation and in Chapter 7 for the parameterization of Agent-Based Model of Grassland Grazing (ABMGG).

5.1 **Problem identification**

Remote sensing derived datasets are extensively employed in the field of grassland monitoring (Potter et al., 1993; Field et al., 1995; Piñeiro et al., 2006; Gao et al., 2013). In this research area, Leaf Area Index (LAI) is the commonly used measure to quantify the vegetation status of grassland (Fang et al., 2012). LAI is generally defined as the total one-sided green leaf area per unit ground area for flat broadleaf plants (Monteith and Reifsnyder, 1974) or one-half the total green leaf area per unit ground area for needles of conifers (Chen and Black, 1992) in describing radiation interception of plants. It gives an estimation of the green leaf area of the vegetation. The LAI is a key parameter for assessing the carbon and energy in the biosphere (Verger et al., 2015; Swain et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2016), photosynthesis (Verrelst et al., 2016; Wei et al., 2016) and biomass production (Prieto-Blanco et al., 2009). It plays an important role in measurement and monitoring of land surface characteristics to assist policymakers in making decisions concerning the management of our environment (Cohen and Justice, 1999; Tian et al., 2002).

The *in-situ* measured LAI of plant canopies be obtained either directly by green leaf collection or indirectly from the physical properties of green leaves; a detailed discussion on these measurements was presented in Jonckheere et al. (2004). Large-scale *in-situ* measurement of LAI is almost impossible due to the disadvantage of being extremely time-consuming and/or labour-intensive (Jonckheere et al., 2004). Remote sensing of vegetation spectral information acquired from moderate resolution optical sensors provides an alternative way of observing canopy LAI, and extended the LAI observation process from the regional to global scale (Buermann et al., 2001; Tian et al., 2004). Datasets such as CYCLOPES (Baret et al., 2007) and GLOBCARBON (Deng et al., 2006) from Satellites Pour l'Observation de la Terre or Earth-observing Satellites (SPOT/VEGETATION) since 1998; Moderate

Resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer LAI (MODIS LAI) from TERRA-AQUA sensors since 2000 (Yang et al., 2006) report the global vegetation LAI.

Among all the global LAI products derived from remote sensing, the MODIS LAI dataset is one of the most widely used (Hill et al., 2006; Fang et al., 2008). Compared with the value of other vegetation indices which vary with soil conditions (Fang et al., 2015), local viewing and illumination conditions (Los et al., 2005; Galvão et al., 2013; Croft et al., 2014) and canopy structure (Croft et al., 2014), MODIS LAI reduces these effects by taking the canopy and scene geometry specifications into account when estimating (Jensen et al., 2011). Therefore, MODIS LAI changes, especially time-series MODIS LAI changes, are suitable and consistent for the detection of vegetation status changes. It is widely used and extensively validated around the world (De Kauwe et al., 2011). It expands our capability to estimate and monitor the biophysical characteristics of vegetation across a relatively large area with high geolocation accuracy (Gitelson et al., 2007). By comparing the LAI of two different catchments in South Africa, Palmer and Bennett (2013) use MODIS LAI to identify the grassland degradation of communal grasslands; Bobée et al. (2012a) reported the seasonal dynamics of grasslands by the employment of time series MODIS LAI observations. Mayr and Samimi (2015) further validated the consistency of MODIS LAI by comparing the spatial patterns of field-measured LAI, LAI derived from High-Resolution RapidEye Imagery and MODIS LAI.

MODIS LAI retrieval techniques are mainly based on the spectral and angular sampling of the radiation field reflected by vegetation canopies. The LAI values of MODIS data depend on biome-specific properties; it was derived based on a globalscale 3D radiative transfer model (Knyazikhin et al., 1998a). It provides the best fit LAI to measured data by considering background effects (soil reflection), and biome-specific spectral and angular information for vegetation (Knyazikhin et al., 1998b). This approach minimises the number of unknowns when solving the inverse problem of retrieving LAI from the atmospherically corrected and bidirectional reflectance distribution function (BRDF) corrected MODIS spectrum 1-7 (Myneni et al., 2015). The main Look-Up-Table (LUT) uses the spectral information of the red (648 nm) and near-infrared (NIR, 858 nm) bands, and a backup algorithm uses the empirical relationship between Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) and canopy LAI (Myneni et al., 2015). Together they generate the LAI averaged over all acceptable solutions. If no solution exists, a backup routine using biomespecific conversion algorithms for the vegetation index is applied for LAI. A detailed description of MODIS LAI modelling can be seen in Fensholt et al. (2004); Knyazikhin et al. (1998a); and Myneni et al. (2015).

However, the remote sensing derived datasets are affected by noise caused by aerosols and bidirectional reflectance distribution factors (<u>Sakamoto et al., 2005</u>). The MODIS estimation algorithm may fail, and an empirical LAI would generally be used to fill pixels where this is the case. For example; radiation is strongly affected by clouds, meaning the MODIS LAI needs to be reprocessed before use. Thus, noise reduction is necessary before phenophase can be detected correctly.

Yet due to the presence of cloudiness and seasonal snow, instrument problems and other issues, there are lots of gaps and noise in the data which make the "good quality" data discontinuous and inconsistent in space and time-series, and limits the potential for identifying the amount of LAI grazed by livestock. Numerous researchers have looked at noise reduction methodologies, such as polynomial transformation and median filters (van Dijk et al., 1987; Popescu et al., 2003), locally adapted moving windows (Jönsson and Eklundh, 2004), Temporal Window Operations (PARK et al., 1999), logistic curve fitting (Zhang et al., 2003a; Bradley et al., 2007) and The Best Index Slope Extraction (Viovy et al., 1992). These improved LAI are widely used for a broad view of pixel-specific vegetation dynamics at both regional level (Bobée et al., 2012b; Jin et al., 2017) and global level (Zhang et al., 2017).

However, when looking into the vegetation dynamics for each time period in grazing monitoring, the improved LAI dataset has the disadvantage that it demolishes the original grazing information through spatiotemporal averaging (Hansen et al., 2003; Fang et al., 2008; Xiao et al., 2011; Yuan et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2017). In the context of grassland, especially in intense grazing areas (Gignoux et al., 2001), the grazing-led LAI changes caused by livestock grazing could have a significant effect on the quantity and quality of grass productivity (Matches, 1992). None of these noise reduction techniques can be applied in grazing information extraction related processing at Zeku, or, indeed, any other area where grazing is important in calculating carbon cycling. Remote sensing data can only capture the time period status of vegetation, rather than the whole process of vegetation development; nevertheless, improvements can be made. Ignorance of the grazing activities that may cause LAI change can lead to underestimates or otherwise incorrect assessments of grassland Net Primary Productivity (NPP), especially in NPP based carrying capability calculations in grazing intensive regions (Lebert et al., 2006; Nyima, 2015).

In addition, grazing is considered to be the most influential factor for grass biomass dynamics (Numata et al., 2007). By using tracking data recorded by GPS, remote sensing has been employed to quantify grazing intensities by Kawamura et al. (2005), and this work suggested a poor negative correlation ($R^2 = 0.217$, P < 0.01) between remote sensing estimated plant biomass as conducted currently and grazing intensities (Kawamura et al., 2005). This represents an important unknown in grazing information, yet it is clear from grazing studies that all year round grazing is detrimental to vegetation and has led to pasture degradation compared with a winter grazing only pasture (Kayhko and Pellikka, 1994).

Grazing may directly lead to the change from green land to bare land, and a grazingled LAI change could be observed in the grass growth season (Miller-Goodman et al., 1999; Tsalyuk et al., 2015). The LAI value of land patches will generally be underestimated due to the LAI consumption by herbivores (in this thesis, mainly livestock), especially in grazing intense areas (Gignoux et al., 2001). The ignorance of the effect of herbivore removers of vegetation is acceptable on a global scale of vegetation carbon assimilation or fixation, especially in forest areas, where herbivores contribute little to the plant LAI fluctuation. Nevertheless, in the context of rangeland, especially in intensive grazing areas, the grazing-led LAI changes could have a significant effect on the quantity and quality of grassland productivity.

In fact, some researchers have even argued that grazing coupled with climate change are the main factors contributing to regional grassland degradation and even desertification (<u>Dean et al., 1995; Harris, 2010</u>). It may directly lead to the change from green land to bare land, and under those circumstances, it is expected that a rapid decrease of LAI would be observed even in the grass growing season. Considering the problem, it is of great importance to identify the spatial distribution and quantity of grazing-led LAI changes on grassland. The basic concept associated

with extracting grazing information from remote sensing is similar to that of other land observations or monitoring, that is, *"identify and measure easily observed (via remote sensing) features that are related to more complex features or phenomena that a range scientist or manager wishes to identify, measure, and judge the significance of "* (Tueller, 1989).

The aim of this chapter is therefore to estimate the grazing-led LAI changes by the employment of MODIS LAI datasets. However, the information we have from MODIS LAI datasets is very limited with regards to extracting the exactly grazing-led LAI changes directly, which is the crucial indicator that would be used in guiding sustainable grazing pasture management; therefore, we need to explore further within those datasets to estimate grazing-led LAI changes at each satellite observation interval. There are two main difficulties directly or indirectly related to the MODIS LAI datasets:

- MODIS LAI datasets are inevitably affected by clouds or other modelling error (Myneni et al., 2015). When we only use "good quality" data, the other pixels (non-good quality) make the dataset discontinuous. We need to pre-emptively decide how to fill these "non-good quality" pixels reasonably and consistently in a manner that is best for estimating grazing-led LAI changes on grassland.
- How to estimate the grazing-led LAI changes during the grass growing season based on the LAI after grazing observed by MODIS. This depends on how we calculate expected LAI before grazing. For a specified pixel, both the effect of current grazing and previous grazing should be considered simultaneously.

To solve these two problems, we need to develop a new integrated growth grazing function that can describe seasonal growth cycles of the grass LAI under grazing. By fitting the new growth-grazing function to reliable data, the gaps of the MODIS LAI data will be filled in a reasonable fashion. The MODIS LAI datasets will be used for the estimation of grazing-led LAI defoliation by using the new growth function in Section 5.4.

The rest of this chapter deals with time-series MODIS LAI changes during the summer growth period of the grass, which is the green grass period as the LAI is based on the greenness of the plants (Kang et al., 2003). The GlobalLand30 (Yu et al., 2014) data is used to extract grassland information. Due to the relatively tiny changes of land use/cover in Zeku from 2000 to 2010 (see Chapter 3), we assume the land use/cover has not changed during the estimation period (2003~2012). The estimation algorithm discussed in Section 5.6.3 is used to calculate grazing-led LAI changes for every 8 days. Then this estimation will be used to fit the new growth function (Section 5.4), based on which the improved (including grazing) and expected LAI (assuming no grazing) is to be estimated. Finally, rotational grazing, continuous grazing and un-grazed pixels will be distinguished according to the grazing frequency of estimated results. Since there is no direct data to validate the estimation of grazing-led LAI changes, we use two indirect ways to validate it (one is discussed in this chapter, the other will be discussed in next chapter).
5.2 Overall framework

Estimation of grazing-led LAI changes is mainly based on the MODIS LAI datasets of grasslands for Zeku. The framework of grazed LAI estimation during the summer growing season is shown in Figure 5.1.

After extracting the grassland LAI for Zeku based on MODIS LAI and GlobalLand30 land use/cover datasets from 2003 to 2012, the "good quality" LAI data (unaffected, for example, by cloud) were retained by setting the LAI value of "non-good quality" pixels to "NA". The retained "good quality" LAI data are not continuous over the 46 observations taken during the year (see below) due to the "NA" settings. This chapter focuses on the grass growth period for the estimation of grazing-led LAI changes. The value of LAI basically stays the same during the winter period (remote sensing can reflect little grass information in winter, due to the grassland burning in Zeku, the LAI value mainly reflects a constant soil information value) for grassland in Zeku. The first work is then to detect the phenophase of the grassland in Zeku. A change detection technique was employed to estimate the starting date and end date of the grass growing season. The initial background LAI (mainly soil information) can be calculated after phenophase detection.

A new grass growth function is developed to describe the growth of grass under grazing. In order to fit this new growth function, the initial background LAI, current LAI (MODIS "good quality" LAI) and the expected LAI (LAI before grazing with the effect of the previous grazing) need to be determined. An estimation algorithm is then developed to extract the value of expected LAI for each pixel, which considering both current grazing and the effect of the previous grazing. Finally, by curve fitting, an improved LAI and expected LAI would be produced. The grazing-led LAI changes are then the difference between expected LAI and improved LAI. The rest of this chapter will outline the fitting of the new growth function. But first, we will introduce the conventional growth function and the new growth function:



Figure 5.1: Concept framework for quantifying grazing-led changes in Zeku, China

5.3 Conventional growth function

Growth functions are widely used in biological science. Most commonly, the simple exponential growth function and the logistic growth function are the two widely used empirical models in plant growth (Thornley and Johnson, 1990). With empirical statistical fitting, they can reflect the smooth growth of plants easily; but like the other empirical models, conventional growth functions have a common drawback: they can only deal with a theoretical smooth growth of plants. When the plant growth is affected by external events (grazing or mowing), the statistical fitting of such data will lead to relatively high modelling errors. Therefore, it is difficult to deal with situations where current plant growth is affected by grazing or mowing that took place some time ago. Researchers have reported that these factors could produce a totally different growth rate (Grant et al., 1983; Thornley and Johnson, 1990). Figure 5.2 shows three growth phases of a perennial plant. The conventional growth functions work well with Phase I and Phase II, which follows a logistic or exponential growth curve. The basic forms of conventional growth functions can be summarised as the following equations:

$$\frac{dW}{dt} = \mu W \qquad \rightarrow W = W_0 e^{ut}$$

Eq. 5-1

or
$$dW/dt = \mu W \left(1 - W/W_{max} \right) \rightarrow W = \frac{W_0 W_{max}}{W_0} + (W_{max} - W_0)e^{-ut}$$

Eq. 5-2

where W is the current plant LAI and t is the current time, W_0 is the initial value of W, W_{max} is the final value of W.

However, in many cases, especially when dealing with LAI data derived from remote sensing, the above functions cannot explain the growth behaviour at Phase III, where defoliation or senescence dominates the plant development process. This is because, in general, in the above growth equations, the growth rate only depends on the current vegetation status; it could never be negative to represent when senescence or defoliation is dominating the plant development. This is the key reason for the consequent difficulties when interpreting the modelling results. This is a well-known issue; for example Parsons, Schwinning and Carrère (2001) highlight that "using a logistic growth curve that is empirically based on data from infrequent severe defoliation can ironically lead to the interpretation that greatest yields would be achieved using continuous lenient grazing". In addition, the statistical fitting process will diminish the effect of grazing or mowing, and lead to unreasonable explanations for the growth of plants in some circumstances.

Considering the fact that grass development is highly related to defoliation in the near past, Schwinning and Parsons have therefore modified the logistic growth function (Eq. 5-2) by introducing a patch state factor after the last defoliation (Schwinning and Parsons, 1999), which is an important step forward in integrating grazing-led defoliation into the model. This modified grass growth function can be expressed by the following equation:

$$\frac{dW}{dt} = \mu W (1 - \frac{W'}{W_{max}}) \left(1 - \frac{W}{W_{max}} \right)$$

Eq. 5-3

with W' standing for the initial condition for regrowth after the last defoliation (the regrowth factor). When $W' \rightarrow 0$, this equation is just the same as a conventional logistic function. Under other conditions, the growth rate can be affected by the regrowth factor W' as well. The difficulty that appears when using this equation is how to collect W' data, as it is assumed as a "pre-known" constant value for each time interval. There is still no perfect solution for W' determination yet; lab experiments are generally unrealistic, while remote sensing methods are unable to derive this regrowth factor after defoliation as they can only capture the final status of grass under grazing.

5.4 New growth function under grazing

One way to estimate the grazing-led LAI change is to estimate the full growth curve and compare it with the recorded one. For years, researchers have been devoted to finding a simple function that describes the basic characteristic of plants' growth. For perennial grasses, which are the dominant species in the Zeku, Qinghai-Tibet area, the LAI dynamics during the year can be described by a curve with three growth stages (Figure 5.2). This can be observed both in field measurement (Hoffmann et al., 2005) and by remote sensing (Garrigues et al., 2008; Xiao et al., 2011). In this chapter, a new empirical growth function will be discussed that models the dynamics of LAI. It considers both the growth and defoliation of a plant, as well as the effect of grazing. The estimation process starts by identifying the grazing-led LAI changes caused by livestock during the grass growing season for each 8-day period; the parameters of this new growth function for each pixel being fitted by the employment of the MODIS LAI dataset.



Figure 5.2: LAI during a regrowth follows a bell curve as the canopy develops from low LAI (Phase I: low LAI increase rate) to maximum LAI (Phase II: high increase rate, growth dominated) and then to low LAI again (Phase 3: high LAI decrease, senescence dominated).

The defects of a conventional growth function when describing the live grass mass accumulation can be summarised as:

- senescence factor is totally ignored;
- the lack of parameters representing the grazing effect on growth.

A feasible way to deal with those problems is to add senescence defoliation (leaf changes colour from green to yellow) and grazing-led defoliation coefficient to the exponential growth function according to the nature of plant development. In this way, the whole processes of plant development can be described appropriately in one function. The ordinary exponential growth function is detailed in <u>Thornley and</u> <u>Johnson (1990)</u>. When considering livestock grazing, the new function can be expressed as:

$$\frac{d(L_t + G_t + GB_t)}{dt} = k_1(L_t + G_t + GB_t) - k_2(L_t + G_t + GB_t)t$$

Eq. 5-4

Where L_t is the current LAI that can be observed; G_t is the grazing-led LAI loss; GB_t is the previous grazing effect on current LAI. $k_1(L_t + G_t + GB_t)$ represents the current total growth rate, which is proportional to the current LAI, this is widely examined in ecological related studies (Johnson and Thornley, 1983; Thornley and Johnson, 1990); while $k_2(L_t + G_t + GB_t)t$ represents the total senescence rate, and is proportional to the current LAI. Notice that it takes the time as a weight; f(t) = t, and is calculated in a time-dependent manner; the total senescence rate is linear to time t, this is according to the observations from Borrás et al. (2003) and Leopold et al. (1959); although this relationship may be linear or non-linear across plant species, this chapter uses linear for simplicity. There is an improvement that can be made to the function, which is that, given the quantity of growth is the effect of growth and senescence combined, that growth is proportional to its current LAI (L_t) ; equally, senescence rate can be related to both current LAI (L_t) and time *t*; it can be written as:

$$\frac{d(L_t + G_{t+GB_t})}{(L_t + G_t + GB_t)} = (k_1 - k_2 t)dt$$

To integrate this equation, it is written as:

$$\int_{L_0}^{L_t} \frac{d(L_t + G_{t+} + GB_t)}{(L_t + G_t + GB_t)} = \int_0^t (k_1 - k_2 t) dt$$

Eq. 5-6

Eq. 5-7

Eq. 5-5

where $L(t = 0) = L_0$ is the initial LAI. This equation now can be solved to have:

$$ln\frac{(L_t+G_t+GB_t)}{(L_0+G_0+GB_0)} = k_1t - k_2t^2$$

in fact, at the start, $G_0 = GB_0 = 0$, and therefore we have:

$$\frac{L_t + G_t + GB_t}{L_0 + G_0 + GB_0} = \frac{L_t + G_t + GB_t}{L_0} = \frac{L_t + G_t + GB_t}{L_t} * \frac{L_t}{L_0} = \frac{1}{P} * \frac{L_t}{L_0} = \frac{L_t}{PL_0}$$

Eq. 5-8

where P is defined as the percentage of LAI or live mass which has been observed (remaining LAI after grazing):

$$\boldsymbol{P}_t = \frac{L_t}{L_t + G_t + GB_t}$$

Eq. 5-9

Substituting Eq. 1.8 into the integrated growth equation Eq. 1.7, we can get:

$$L_t = L_0 P e^{k_1 t - k_2 t^2}$$

Eq. 5-10

this is the basic form of the new growth model. When using it, an initial LAI value is set in L_t - it is more convenient to have an initial background value (L_m , or background value) in the function when fitting the observed data; in fact $L_t = L_{observed} - L_m$, thus, it becomes:

$$L_{observed} = L_m + L_0 P_t e^{k_1 t - k_2 t^2}$$

We additionally define

Eq. 5-11

$$PB_{t} = \frac{GB_{t}}{L_{t}+G_{t}+GB_{t}}$$
Eq. 5-12
$$PG_{t} = \frac{G_{t}}{L_{t}+G_{t}+GB_{t}}$$
Eq. 5-13

where PG_t is the percentage of current grazing-led LAI change, PB_t is the effect of previous grazing on LAI change. Then we can have the following relation between PB_t , PG_t and P_t :

$$P_t = 1 - PB_t - PG_t$$

Eq. 5-14

Substituting this into Eq. 5-11, we have the final equation:

$$L_{observed} = L_m + L_0(1 - PB_t - PG_t)e^{k_1t - k_2t^2}$$

Eq. 5-15

and usually, $L_m = L_0 = \min\{L_t\}$.

Notice that at the start point, when t=0, the value of the exponential part would be 1, and the observed LAI $L_{observed}$ would be double the initial background value, which is not true in real-world situations. Therefore, when using this function to fit against the observed data, a mitigate constant variable C, needs to be added to the exponent part of the function to adjust growth and senescence of grass:

$$L_{observed} = L_m + L_0(1 - PB_t - PG_t)e^{k_1t - k_2t^2 + C}$$

Eq. 5-16

where C is an empirical parameter to be estimated, and the value of C can be estimated through the non-linear fitting of this equation against the "good quality" MODIS LAI data. In general, this new growth-grazing function can improve the accuracy of the regression coefficient if we intend to find a curve across the sample points that match as reasonably as possible. This new growth-grazing function is not enough alone; it needs to be accompanied by a grazing-led LAI change estimation algorithm (step 1~4 in Section 5.6), which will be discussed in Section 5.6.3, where PB_t and P_t will be calculated.

The next sections outline the components of a curve fitting procedure with regard to this new growth function; this procedure following the framework in Figure 5.1.

5.5 MODIS LAI and GlobalLand30 data processing

The LAI datasets here were gathered from the MODIS collection 6 LAI (MOD15A2H006). Similar to the other remote sensing derived products, LAI is affected by off-nadir viewing, sun angle, background material reflectance and atmospheric aerosols; in addition, LAI has an asymptotic or saturation response to high levels of plant densities (Tucker et al., 1985a). To solve this problem, there is a

quality control (QC) value stored as 8 bits of data (Figure 5.3) for each pixel (here about 463×463 m²) in MODIS LAI data. The unit of the LAI is m²/m², and the scale factor is 0.1 (meaning the real value is 10 times than that of the MODIS LAI data recorded). The MODIS LAI products use the Sinusoidal grid tiling system (Figure 5.3). Tiles are 10 degrees by 10 degrees at the equator. The origin of this tile coordinate system is (0, 0) (horizontal tile number and vertical tile number) in the upper left corner and proceeds right (horizontal) and downward (vertical). The tile of the case study area is (26, 5).



Figure 5.3: Sinusoidal Tiling System and the tile of Zeku (red box), figure modified from <u>Myneni et al. (2015)</u>, page 5

Table 5.1: MCD15A2 quality control (QC) definition (from

https://lpdaac.usgs.gov/dataset_discovery/modis/modis_products_table/mcd15a2)

Bit	Parameter	Bit	FparLai_QC	
0	MODLAND_QC	0	Good quality (main algorithm with or without saturation)	
	bits	1	Other Quality (backup algorithm or fill values)	
1	Sensor	0	Terra	
		1	Aqua	
2	DeadDetector	0	Detectors apparently fine for up to 50% of channels 1,2	
		1	Dead detectors caused >50% adjacent detector retrieval	
3–4	CloudState	00	0 Significant clouds NOT present (clear)	
(inh Agg bits clou	(inherited from Aggregate_QC bits {0,1}	01	1 Significant clouds WERE present	
		10	2 Mixed cloud present on the pixel	
	cloud state)	11	3 Cloud state not defined, assumed clear	
5–7	SCF_QC (five level confidence score)	000	0, Main (RT) method used, best result possible (no	
		001	1, Main (RT) method used with saturation. Good, very usable	
		010	2, Main (RT) method failed due to bad geometry, the empirical algorithm used	

	011	3, Main (RT) method failed due to problems other than geometry, empirical algorithm used
	100	4, Pixel not produced at all, value couldn't be retrieved (possible reasons: bad L1B data, unusable MODAGAGG

In this chapter, only the data with QC=0 are used in order to avoid introducing any further uncertainties or errors to the model. In the MODIS LAI dataset, we have LAI observations every 8-day period which in total is 46 observations each year; these are the "best" pixel available from all the acquisitions of the Terra sensor from within the 8- day period. The average percentage of the number of "good quality" (QC=0) pixels to the total number of grassland pixels is shown in Figure 5.4; the average ratio is 81.52% for Zeku during 2003~2012. The time range of the dataset is from 2003 to 2012. Figure 5.5 shows a single pixel example of a QC=0 LAI time series at one pixel in Zeku, where we can see the obvious discontinuity when only QC=0 is used. Different colours represent different years. We can see the maximum values of LAI for these years are different, and the "gaps" caused by "non-good quality" settings occur at various dates of the year. The first problem of grazing information extraction when using MODIS LAI data is how to fill in these "gaps" reasonably and accurately. But before doing so, a basic understanding of the profile of the grazing in Zeku is needed.



Figure 5.4: Percentage of "good quality" (QC=0) pixels for MODIS LAI in Zeku, China



Figure 5.5: An example of discontinuous time-series LAI

Since there is no exact spatial boundary data of the distribution of winter and summer pasture lands, a field survey was conducted by the Centre for Chinese Agricultural Policy, Chinese Academy of Science in 2012 (Table 5.2), see Chapter 3, with the purpose of understanding the impact of climate change on herdsman' daily life and the local environment in The Three Rivers Head Source Region in China. As noted in Chapter 3 in Zeku, there were 52 field survey records, the main big livestock was yak, sheep and horse (Figure 3.6 panel 1), with the horse only used for transportation purposes. Horses are an important vehicle for herdsman riding for grazing, and thus, there are no horses sold during the year (Figure 3.6 panel 3). Although there are other large wild herbivores existing in Zeku, due to their small population size, this thesis only considers yak, sheep, horses and cows as grassland foragers.

After 2003, all the land patches were contracted to the herders (as discussed in Chapter 3), so we can assume nomadic grazing does not exist in Zeku County. The basic land patch statistics from the field survey data are shown in Table 5.2. The average summer pasture area is about 0.22 km², which means the average area of land patches in Zeku is a little bit greater than the MOD15A2H006 pixel cell area (0.21 km²), but if the herders join the ecological economic cooperation grazing group (group grazing), the total area of the group is much bigger than a pixel cell area. This group grazing area then becomes rotational grazing pasture land during the grass growth seasons.

	households	total area	Mean area	percentage
Winter pasture	51	9.33	0.18	44.84%
Summer pasture	53	11.48	0.22	55.16%
Total pasture	13504	5409.77	0.40	
cooperative pasture	5147	1501.80	0.29	

 Table 5.2: Winter and summer pasture land area from field survey data, Zeku, 2012¹

 (unit: km², the total pasture and group data are from Livestock Husbandry Bureau of Zeku)

Other important information is the land use/cover status. It is important that if there are severe land use/cover changes during the estimation years in Zeku, the land use/cover status should be updated accordingly with the estimation of the year's changes. The land cover data is from the 30 meters Global Land Cover dataset (GlobalLand30). The overall classification accuracy reaches 83.51% (Kapaa= 0.78). Specifically, the accuracy for grassland is 76.88%. The coordinate system is WGS84 (UTM Projection) (Chen et al., 2015). As it is organized in tiles, four of the tiles are downloaded to cover the extent of Zeku County (tile numbers are: N47_30_2010LC030, N47_35_2010LC030, N48_30_2010LC030 and N48_35_2010LC030). After mosaicing, re-projection and extraction, the data is resampled to about 463m spatial resolution by the majority percentage principle (same as the MOD15A2H006 LAI dataset). It is assumed that the land cover type has not been severely changed during the modelling period (see the land use/cover change analysis in Chapter 3).

5.6 Processes for grazing-led LAI changes estimation

The estimation of grazing-led LAI changes consists of four steps: phenophase detection, calculation of initial background LAI, preliminary estimation of grazing-led LAI changes and the fitting with the new growth function. This section will elaborat on each step by detail.

5.6.1 Step 1: phenophase detection

The first element of the analysis is identifying the grass growth period. To do this, we utilise change point detection, applied to the 8-day MODIS LAI data time series. The change point detection is to identify the location of change (single or multiple) in the statistical properties of a sequence of observations that change in the series data. In fact, identifying the phenological stages of plants can facilitate the estimation of plant growth under various regional climates (Sakamoto et al., 2005;

¹ In order to understand the impact of climate change on herder's daily life and the local environment, the Centre for Chinese Agricultural Policy, Chinese Academy of Science had managed the investigation in Three Rivers Head Source Region in China, supported by the National Key Programme for Developing Basic Science (2012CB95570001), "the impact of climate change on key parameters of socioeconomic system in typical regions",

气候变化对典型区社会经济系统影响的关键参数研究

Motohka et al., 2010). Advanced or delayed heating will result in obvious changes in plant productivity (Sakamoto et al., 2005). Based on the time series analysis of the vegetation index data, a trend has been found of earlier greening in the northern latitudes between 45° N and 70° N since 1981 (Myneni et al., 1997a). With climate data, the results of phenological stage detection based on MODIS LAI data can be improved (Kang et al., 2003).

Notice that there are 29423 valid pixels in Zeku on the 463m MODIS LAI map. Instead of identifying the change points for each of those pixels, the change points based on the mean values of those pixels are identified using change point detection technique. The results, therefore, contain the mean start dates and end dates of grass growth for the whole region. Changepoint detection methods are widely used to identify the location of the change in the statistical properties of a sequence of observations that change in time series data. The cost-penalty function is a commonly used method (<u>Killick and Eckley, 2014</u>) in identifying the change points. The change point approach is to minimize the value of Eq. 5-17:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m+1} (Cy_{(\tau_{i-1}+1)};\tau_i) + \beta f(m)$$

Eq. 5-17

where C is a cost function for a segment, the log-likelihood is a commonly used cost function (Horváth, 1993); τ_i is the ith change point and the total number of change points is m; $y_{(\tau_{i-1}+1)}$: τ_i represent the ith segment, the $\beta f(m)$ is a penalty to guard against over fitting. This chapter uses the PELT method, which assumes the penalty is linear to the number of change points, that is, $\beta f(m) = \beta m$ (Jackson et al., 2005; Killick et al., 2012), as a choice of penalty function with the Modified Bayes Information Criterion (Zhang and Siegmund, 2007). For this research, we need to identify the change point where the mean value of the ith segment has a maximum likelihood statistic which minimizes the value of the cost-penalty function. The change detection software used here is the R "changepoint" package developed by Killick and Eckley (2014).

At least two change points wound be expected according to Phase I in Figure 5.2: the beginning and end date for grass growth which makes the mean value of LAI of the segments divided by them have a maximum likelihood statistics.

The following figures (Figure 5.6) show the mean LAI distribution from 2003 to 2014, from which the most conservative change points were chosen as the start and end dates of the growth season. There is a basic symmetrical trend for each year. On the left side, all the figures basically fit logistic growth in which growth processes dominate, but after they reach the peak value, there is an obvious decrease of LAI for each year, which could be explained by senescence and/or defoliation processes. They are quite similar to Figure 5.2, but due to the effect of grazing, lots of fluctuations are present on the curves.



Figure 5.6: Average MODIS LAI for each 8-days from 2003 to 2012 (QC=0)

Figure 5.7 shows the results of change point detection, where the values of two neighbouring pixel-mean segments are significantly different from each other, and the most obvious phenomenon is that all the change points for each year are basically symmetric around the winter period. The change points are where the mean value of the two neighbours are changed such that the maximum likelihood statistics minimize the cost-penalty function. The most obvious phenomenon is that all the change points for each year start and end appear at the change from a stable to a rapid increase (for the beginning) and at the sharp deceleration to a stable level (for the end), indicating the start of the fast-growing period and the end of the rapid senescence period respectively. These points appear at a relatively fixed time and the LAI value during the year, we can see they can basically connect one line parallel to the x-axis. We can also see the peak growth point, where the maximum value of LAI is observed. There are other change points detected among the peak point and the first and last change point for each year; these are either represent the most fast growing season or the fast senescence season; but due to the effect of grazing, these points are not fixed at both time and LAI value. Considering this and based on the conservative principle, the minimum date of the first change point is chosen as the start day of the fast-growing season, and the maximum value of last change point is the start day of the senescence dominated period for the whole set of datasets.



Figure 5.7: Change points detection of the mean LAI values (QC=0) in Zeku, 2003-2014

All the change points are also shown in Table 5.3. The start and end dates of the grass growth period are used to extract the modal value of MODIS LAI (taken from those points with QC=0) during the non-growth season (date 1-14 and date 37-46); which is taken as the initial value of LAI (or background LAI). The initial background LAI will be used to fitting our new growth function (see below).

Tabl	e 5.	3:1	Detected	change	points	of mean	LAI ((QC=0)
------	------	-----	----------	--------	--------	---------	-------	--------

year	Change points (Julian Day)	Observation in the year
2003	137 169 185 209 217 241 265 281	18 22 24 27 28 31 34 36
2004	129 153 177 225 257 281	17 20 23 29 33 36
2005	129 153 185 201 249 265 289	17 20 24 26 32 34 37
2006	113 145 177 217 257 281	15 19 23 28 33 36
2007	129 145 169 193 225 257 273	17 19 22 25 29 33 35
2008	121 153 169 233 257 281	16 20 22 30 33 36
2009	113 145 161 185 225 241 273	15 19 21 24 29 31 35
2010	129 153 169 225 257 289	17 20 22 29 33 37
2011	145 161 177 217 257 289	19 21 23 28 33 37
2012	129 161 201 249 273	17 21 26 32 35
2013	137 153 169 193 225 249 281	18 20 22 25 29 32 36

2014	129 153 185 209 241 273	17 20 24 27 31 35	
final choice	Start date{113}, end date{289}	Start date{15}, end date{37}	

5.6.2 Step 2: Initial background LAI

After identifying the phenophase by using the change point detection technique, the first element of curve fitting, which is the initial background LAI, can be calculated using the LAI data during winter periods. The initial background values of LAI during the non-growth seasons are taken as constant in spite of the fluctuations (caused by the noise or error within the MODIS LAI data). Since the data used are the "good" quality LAI data (see Section 5.5), and all the unreliable or uncertain data are left as "gaps" in the time series LAI datasets; the initial background values of LAI should be observed during the non-growth seasons, and the majority of them should be the same (no greenness information can be detected by remote sensing during this period).

For global scale research, a series of calculation algorithms are generally integrated into the initial background LAI calculation schema (<u>Yuan et al., 2011</u>), which consists of a conditional multi-year average, TIMESAT SG filter, local per class mean, per class mean and multi-year per class mean. In addition, improved ecosystem curve fitting (VCF-ECF) has been proved a useful method when producing continuous field products (<u>Hansen et al., 2003</u>). A detailed comparison of these techniques can be found in Hird and McDermid (2009).

In fact, MODIS LAI product provides green vegetation green LAI (<u>Myneni et al.</u>, 2002), the LAI in winter for perennial grass is more informative of the background environment (such as soil type), rather than the grass status. In the LAI studies, one assumption is to keep LAI the same during winter. For example, it may be assumed that there is not much change in LAI beyond the growing season and consequently LAI during this period can be set to be constant (<u>Liu et al.</u>, 2002). Therefore, producing an LAI winter image for the non-growth season is a very common way to reprocess the LAI data (<u>Simic et al.</u>, 2004). We can, therefore, take the mode of the LAI values during the non-growth season as the initial background LAI value, which is the starting LAI value (or background LAI value) for the year's growth.

In addition, although we can use the mean value of LAI during the non-growth periods, individual plant phenology varies according to the different latitude or different land cover types (Zhang et al., 2003b); the results of grass phenophase in Section 5.5 is the average date of the start and end dates of all the pixels, which means it may be late for some pixels while too early for other pixels, the initial background value of LAI can vary spatially. If the initial background LAI is taken as the mean value of the LAI during the non-growth period detected in Section 5.5, the results would be inaccurate for many pixels. Therefore, in this thesis, the modal value of MODIS "good" quality LAI is used as the initial background LAI.

The next step is to calculate the grazing-led LAI changes for each pixel preliminarily. The values of this calculation will be used to fit with the new growth function (PB_t and PG_t in Eq. 5-16). When comparing the LAI growth curve of rotational grazing, continuous grazing and no-grazing (where grass is preserved for winter use), the LAI curve should be exactly the same as the full growth curve in no-grazing pixels (Figure 5.2); while pixels of rotational grazing pixels should present a fluctuated profile (Figure 5.19). Despite expectations, during the fast growth period, the LAI value may be smaller than its previous value due to the grazing LAI defoliation. Utilising such features we can estimate the grazed LAI and the effect of previous grazing.

For each pixel, here we define

- full growth LAI as the theoretical LAI curve if there is no grazing (without the effect of previous grazing and current grazing);
- expected LAI as the LAI before grazing (with the effect of previous grazing but without the effect of current grazing); and
- observed LAI as the LAI after grazing (with the effect of current grazing and previous grazing, it is the LAI to be improved). The observed LAI is a time-series point data (46 points during the year).

When there is an adverse observed LAI value, we can calculate the expected LAI by the new growth function and compare it to that of observed LAI recorded. The field measurement of grazing treatment suggests that when grazing stops, grassland LAI can regrow to pre-grazing levels (<u>Harrison et al., 2012</u>; <u>Jerrentrup et al., 2015</u>). Taking this model, it is assumed that local maxima in the growth curves represent expected seasonal growth.

In addition, MODIS LAI was estimated associated with the day when the highest fraction of Photosynthetically Active Radiation (fPAR) was observed during every 8-day period, and those days have not been recorded in the MODIS LAI datasets. This thesis assumes an equal day's interval (8-days) starting on the last day. The uncertainty of the estimation of the grazing-led changes caused by such assumption will be further analysed in Section 5.10.2.

An illustration of how the grazing-led LAI change is calculated is shown in the following figure (Figure 5.8) and elucidated below:



Figure 5.8: Illustration of grazed LAI estimation

For example, the red point in the figure represents the current estimation point i, yellow points are the left neighbouring points with neighbourhood radius 3 (For MODIS, the unit is an 8-day period), while the green points are the right neighbours. The grazed LAI is then the difference between expected LAI and observed LAI (arrowed red segments), the effect of the previous grazing on current growth is calculated by the difference of full growth LAI and expected LAI (arrowed blue segments). The algorithm can be summarised as:

- for each time slice point i (means ith observation recorded by MODIS LAI, i=1, 2...46), the time-series LAI points data is divided into its left neighbour points set (from point i-r to point i-1; r is the radii, ranging from 1 to 46, it is defined as the radii to search the neighbouring points for current estimation point) and right neighbour points set (from point i+1 to point i+r) by a predefined neighbourhood radius r. In this chapter, the radius is allowed to range from 1 to 21. The estimation algorithm will choose the radius which minimizes the root mean squared error (RMSE) for each pixel (see below).
- Search for the point with maximum LAI in the left neighbouring points set and right neighbouring points set separately (the left maximum LAI point P_m = max(P_{i-r}, ..., P_{i-1}) and the right maximum LAI point P_n = max(P_{i+1}, ..., P_{i+r})).
- Calculated the full LAI for point i, utilising the time difference as a weight,

✓ if
$$P_m < P_n$$
, the full LAI is: $LAI_{full} = P_m + \frac{i-m}{n-m} * (P_n - P_m)$
✓ if $P_m > P_n$, the full LAI is: $LAI_{full} = P_n + \frac{n-i}{n-m} * (P_m - P_n)$
✓ if $P_m = P_n$, the full LAI is: $LAI_{full} = P_m = P_n$

- Calculate the difference between full LAI and observed LAI. If this difference is bigger than zero, calculate the observed percentage of LAI by: $P_i = \frac{LAI_{P_i}}{LAI_{P_i} + difference};$ if not, this percentage will be set to 100%.
- If the previously observed percentage of LAI P_{i-1} is smaller than 100% (means it has been grazed previously), change the left neighbour to point i-1, do step 3 and we can get PB_i (PB_t in Eq. 5-15); If not, set $PB_i = 0$.
- The estimation error can be evaluated by the sigma value of the nonlinear fitting of *Eq. 5-15*, which indicates the average fitting residual.

 PB_i and $(P_i - PB_i)$ will be used as the input values for PB_t and PG_t in Eq 5-16 respectively, and the values of parameters (k₁, k₂ and C in Eq 5-16) can be estimated through non-linear fitting with Eq 5-16. One problem needs to be further clarified before we can use this estimation algorithm, that is, whether 8-days' time interval is a proper time to observe the effect of livestock grazing. The field measured LAI of grazing treatments in years 2007 and 2008 (Harrison et al., 2012) strongly showed that grass regrowth took 1~2 month depending on the duration and severity of livestock grazing recently (Figure 5.9). Sensitivity analysis of the regrowth duration of Guinea grass has found 55d was the best regrowth duration for the recovery of dry matter yield (Santos et al., 2014). As for the time of grazing (early or late

grazing), the reserve-dependent growth function (Jing et al., 2012) was integrated into the CATIMO grass model (Bonesmo and Bélanger, 2002), which showed that regrowth happened on both early and late defoliation by cutting (cutting has the same effect as grazing, both are removers of leaves), and it took 1~3 months for the regrowth of grass to its previous state during the grass growing season (Figure 5.10). All of these field measurements and simulations showed that grazing would cause a direct and sharp LAI decrease. This is the basis for the remote sensing monitoring of livestock grazing on grassland. As long as the satellite observing time interval is frequent enough; ie. a shorter period than the regrowth time, the change of grazingled LAI defoliation can be extracted from the time series LAI data.



Figure 5.9: Measured (points) and simulated (lines) leaf area indices of grazing treatments (A) HS, (B) GM, (C) LL and (D) GN during 2007 and 2008. Shaded regions represent the duration of grazing and vertical arrows show the observed dates of anthesis. Measured values are means \pm one SEM (n = 3). Treatment abbreviations: GM, grazed Mackellar; GN, grazed Naparoo; HS, heavy short; and LL, light long. All grazing treatments were performed at 68 DSE ha⁻¹ for 31 d, except LL which was performed at 34 DSE ha⁻¹ for 62 d, figure from Harrison et al. (2012)





Figure 5.10: Simulated (lines) and measured (symbols) values of leaf area index (LAI, left) and aboveground biomass (right) versus day of year for the primary growth and regrowth of timothy with an early harvest (□, —) or a late harvest (^K, ••••) in 2000 (calibration) and in 2001 and 2002 (validation) in Norway. This figure is from <u>Jing et al. (2012)</u> and data can be found in <u>Höglind et al. (2005)</u>.

5.6.4 Step 4: Fitting with the new growth function

Having preliminarily estimated the grazing-led LAI changes and full growth for each point on the per-pixel LAI curve, and knowing the initial background LAI, the analysis can proceed to fit the growth curve to the observed growth points, filling in the "non-good quality" pixels (improved LAI). The improved LAI can be calculated by the new growth equation directly; while the expected LAI is calculated by setting $PG_t=0$ (percentage of current grazing). The expected LAI is calculated by making sure the percentage of winter pasture area (44.8%) is same as the percentage of the pixels estimated where no grazing happens; we use the percentage of pixels with the smallest estimated grazing-led LAI changes for the match up and set the preliminary estimation of grazing-led LAI changes to 0 ($P_t = 1$, PB_i = estimated PB_i and $PG_t = 0$). Note PB_t should stay the same as has been calculated in step five, as the whole estimation algorithm depends on the previous status of vegetation, and if there is no grazing at the current time period it does not mean the previous time period has no grazing as well. The grazing-led LAI change (without the effect of the previous grazing) can then be calculated by taking the difference between expected LAI and improved LAI.

5.7 Modelling results

Having outlined the algorithm in theory in previous sections, the specific results associated with the components are now presented.

5.7.1 Result: Initial background LAI

In order to achieve fitting with the new growth function (Eq. 5-16) discussed in Section 5.4, the first thing is to determine the initial background LAI value, that is, the value of L_m . This is the point from which the grass starts to grow, it is therefore the minimum LAI value for each pixel during the year as explained earlier. The published minimum value for LAI of grasslands are in a range from 0.3 to 2.0, for example, in Majella National Park, Italy, the measured minimum LAI of the grassland is 0.39 m²/m² (Darvishzadeh et al., 2008), while have reported a minimum LAI between 1 m²/m² and 2 m²/m² for four grass species in Mead, Nebraska, United States (Mitchell et al., 1998).

The result of the initial background LAI values of Zeku is shown in **Figure 5.11.** The majority of the pixels have a value of $0.2 \text{ m}^2/\text{m}^2$, which accounts for 82% of the total pixels. In the South and Eastern part of Zeku, a lot of the pixels have the value of $0.3 \text{ m}^2/\text{m}^2$, but they occupy just 12% the total pixels. In the northeast of Zeku, there are some pixels that have the initial LAI of 0.1 m2/m2, but these are only 5% of the total pixels. The pixels beyond these three values are less than 1% of the total pixels. The results here will be further used in the statistical fitting of the new growth function (**Eq. 5-16**) for each pixel.



Figure 5.11: Initial LAI of the grassland in Zeku, 2003~2012

5.7.2 Results: curve fitting with the new growth function

Using the estimation algorithm discussed in Section 5.6.3 and the results of the initial value of LAI in Section 5.6.2, the new growth function can be fitted for each pixel (see Figure 5.2 for example). Missing data during key parts of the growing season strongly influence the results of curve fitting based on MODIS Vegetation Index data (Zhang et al., 2006), but this problem can be well resolved by fitting the new growth function. From the right side of the figures (marked as "dense" data figures: A, C and E) in Figure 5.12, there are lots of "missing" points compare with their left counterparts (marked as "sparse" data figures: B, D and F). We can see that those "missing" points were reasonably filled with improved LAI (yellow curves).

The assumption is that there is no grazing in the periods of no data that is not at least in part captured by points either side of the missing data, where this is the case the algorithm will underestimate grazing.

The improved LAI data, where the "gaps" were filled, and the value of LAI is replaced by the new growth function based on MODIS LAI "good" quality data, can be derived directly (green curves in Figure 5.12). Similarly, the expected LAI data, which represents the LAI values of the pixels if no grazing happens, can be calculated (red curves in Figure 5.12). We can see the new growth function fits well with the "good" quality data points. In addition, Un-grazed, continuous and rotational grazing pixels can be classified according to the estimated grazing frequencies, as will be discussed later.







5.7.3 Results: estimated grazing-led LAI changes

As discussed in Section 5.6.3, the grazing-led LAI changes for each pixel are the difference between the expected LAI (under no grazing but with previous effects) and the improved LAI (LAI after grazing, which can be observed by remote sensing).

Our field survey in 2012 showed that the percentage of un-grazed grassland is 44.8% in Zeku (Huang et al., 2016; Huang et al., 2017). This thesis uses this percentage to filter out small LAI fluctuations, which cause overestimates of grazed LAI due to the effect of modelling error and background noise within the MODIS LAI data (Li et al., 2014), that is, the percentage is used to truncate out the un-grazed areas even where there is low fluctuation (which might be low-level grazing or error). The uncertainty of this estimation is explored in Section 5.10.

The estimated grazed LAI are shown in Figure 5.13, ranging from $0 \text{ m}^2/\text{m}^2$ to 15.34 m^2/m^2 , with the annual average grazing-led LAI change from 7.2 m^2/m^2 to 9.08 m^2/m^2 during 2003~2012. Note that there is a consistent spatial pattern whereby the southeast part of the region has higher grazed LAI than that of its counterparts; this is similar to the pattern found by other researchers (Fan et al., 2010b).

Given an estimate of the grazing-led LAI changes, these figures can be converted to equivalent leaf mass and aggregated to a summated total for each year. This will be shown in the validation section.



Figure 5.13: Estimated grazing-led LAI changes

5.7.4 Results: grazing frequencies

Based on the grazing-led LAI changes discussed above, the grazing frequencies (revisit times) can be easily calculated by counting the number of nonzero grazing-led LAI changes for each pixel, that is, the number of points where the calculated value of PG_t is bigger than 0 during the year (46 points of 8-day periods). Figure 5.14 shows the results of estimated grazing frequencies, after filtering with the above threshold for the whole region. Rotational grazing should have the highest grazing frequency as the livestock will move in or move out more times and thus, more frequent grazing-led LAI changes should be detected. While for un-grazed pixels, the difference between the improved LAI and expected LAI would be zero

and therefore the grazing frequency is 0 (see panel A and B in Figure 5.12). The estimated grazing frequencies for continuous grazing pixels would be 1 because after livestock moved into the pixels, they will continuously graze, they will not move to the other pixels and therefore, just one sharp decrease can be observed in LAI curve.

Based on the grazing frequencies counted for each pixel, the grazing type can be further inferred: if no grazing happens (with 0 grazing frequency), the pixels will be classified into un-grazed pixels; if the grazing frequencies are 1, the pixels will be regarded as continuous grazing pixels; while the rest of the pixels are rotational grazing pixels with grazing frequencies greater than 1, which means the livestock was moved in and out at least twice during the growth period. The spatial distribution of these three grazing types is shown in Figure 5.15. These maps will be further used in Chapter 7 as the grazing type data for each year. The validation of these results will be discussed in later sections both in this chapter and the following chapter.



Figure 5.14: Distribution of estimated grazing frequencies



Figure 5.15: Classified grazing types of Zeku from 2003 to 2012.

5.8 Impact of neighbour radius on grazed LAI estimation

The neighbourhood radius used in estimating the grazed amounts could potentially have a significant effect on the grazed LAI estimation. There is a contradiction when choosing an appropriate neighbourhood radius. A smaller neighbourhood radius is expected to be more precise, but may equally underestimate grazed LAI. A greater neighbour radius value would also potentially increase the error of the searching algorithm, especial near inflexion points of the LAI growth curve. This section, therefore, looks at this sensitivity. In the algorithm, each pixel has its own radius calculated using its data. However, as a sensitivity test, we will here look at the effect of fixing a radius for all pixels. Setting the neighbour radius at values of 1, 2, 3 and 4 neighbouring points separately, the distributions of the aggregated grazingled LAI changes are shown in Figure 5.16. It is clear that there are differences in the distributions between search radius 1 and search radius 2, and, likewise, 2 and 3. But values are almost the same between searching radius 3 and 4. Making a 'natural breaks' assumption, therefore, the best search radius value is 3 in this sensitivity analysis, indicating the actual calculated optimal search radius for all the pixels should be distributed at least around 3. More directly, by plotting out the histogram of optimal neighbourhood radius for all the pixels (Figure 5.17), which shows the optimal radius that minimizes the average fitting residual between "good quality" remote sensing data and their fitted values using Eq. 5-15; these results are consistent with the sensitivity test reported, of which the distribution is centred at radius 3.



Figure 5.16: Distribution of estimated grazed-led LAI changes at neighbour radius 1, 2, 3 and 4



Figure 5.17: Histogram of optimal neighbourhood radius for all pixels when choosing minimum RMSE

As is introduced in Section 5.6.3, the estimation algorithm will choose the radius for each pixel which minimizes the RMSE for that pixel. In fact, one way to evaluate the strength of fit is to assess how far off the model is for the real data. The magnitude of a typical residual can give us a sense of generally how close our estimates are.

However, recall that some of the residuals are positive, while others are negative. In fact, it is guaranteed by the least squares fitting procedure that the mean of the residuals is zero. Thus, it makes more sense to compute the square root of the mean squared residual, or root mean squared error (RMSE). R (the software used here) calls this quantity the residual standard error. Notice that in linear regressions, the sums of the total squared errors has a specific manner: $SS_{regression explained} + SS_{residual}$ error= $SS_{total error}$, indicating the relationship between variables is linear; and therefore an R-squared value is commonly reported when using linear fittings; it is used to report the ratio of the total variance can be explained by the linear regression models; however, in non-linear fittings, such an opportunity does not exist, that is $SS_{regression explained} + SS_{residual error}$ does not equal SS_{total} , and the value of R-squared is no longer between 0 and 100% (Schoolfield et al., 1981; Fox, 2002).

To make the non-linear estimates unbiased, many classical statistical models have a scale parameter, typically the standard deviation of a zero-mean normal (or

Gaussian) random variable which is denoted as σ (sigma) is used to extract the estimated parameter from a fitted model (Fox, 2002). In R, the sum of the squared residuals is divided by the degrees of freedom; RMSE then becomes,

$$\text{RMSE} = \sqrt[2]{1/(n-p)} \sum_{i} e_i^2$$

Eq. 5-18

where (n-p) stands for the degree of freedom, n is the total number of observations, p accounts for the number of parameters to be estimated, and e_i is the ith weighted residual, which is calculated based on the difference between observed LAI (MODIS "good quality" LAI) and fitted LAI (improved LAI). A smaller RMSE value means a smaller overall non-linear regression error and thus the fitting result is better. The first step in the estimation algorithm (see Section 5.6.3) therefore uses RMSE to choose the optimal search radius for each pixel; in R, it is also called the square root of the estimated variance of the random error.

Figure 5.18 shows an example of how the optimal neighbourhood radius is selected in the estimation algorithm for one pixel. The RMSE values are calculated with the neighbourhood radius ranging from 1 to 9. With increasing neighbourhood radius from 1 to 7, the RMSE values are decreased significantly from 4.96 to 1.94. However, the RMSE value has increased to 1.97 when the neighbouring radius is 8, and it increased to 1.95 when setting the neighbouring radius to 9. Therefore, the optimal neighbouring radius is 7 as it has the smallest RMSE value. For each pixel, the optimal neighbourhood radius was calculated on a yearly basis (46 observations for each year). The overall distribution of the RMSE values will be analysed in the next section.



Figure 5.18: An example of optimal neighbouring radius selection

5.9 Grass growth under different defoliation severity

The indicator used in this thesis is LAI, which will be used to extract grazing information based on the equations in Section 5.4 shortly. This section is an example of a theoretical analysis of the growth function under two typical grazing strategies:

continuous grazing and rotational grazing. Note that LAI is based on the greenness of vegetation, so it mainly provides the grazing information during the grass growth season (both the growth dominated period and the senescence dominated period), beyond which remote sensing cannot reflect the change of perennial grass. Some grass is harvested for winter stocks, but the amount is very small, and the local herders tend to keep one spare grassland area un-grazed for winter, according to a field survey in 2012 (Huang et al., 2016). In addition, no matter how much grass has been consumed by livestock during winter, the grass should be able to recover next year as long as the soil condition and grassroots have not been severely affected by livestock browsing or trampling (Hoffmann et al., 2016), though grazing does have an effect on the next year's growth as discussed in Chapter 2. This is an important area that should be considered in growth functions, but it is beyond the scope of this thesis, involving, as it would, agricultural tests. In this thesis, this does not influence results greatly, given that the growth function will be estimated empirically for each year separately. It is not a multi-year growth-grazing integration function.

Globally, livestock grazing can be divided into two types with regard to the land tenure system. In some places, grasslands are a free-access natural resource for herders: everyone in the village or tribe could have their livestock grazing on the grasslands. The second is limited-access grasslands, which have either been contracted to the herders or are private, only the owner having the right to raise livestock on the grasslands. As is discussed in the "Case Study Area" chapter (Chapter 3), the grasslands in Zeku have been contracted to herders, meaning that the use of the land is spatially constrained.

Rotational grazing, continuous grazing and un-grazed land are the three grazing patterns found in limited-access grasslands. The grass on the un-grazed lands will be used as livestock's winter forage; no grazing activities occur on these lands during pasture summer growth period. Livestock would graze on rotational grazing or continuous grazing lands, the difference being that there is a "rest period" of grass for rotational grazing: livestock moves to neighbouring land patches then back to grazed land again.

For the agent-based modelling of rangeland grazing, it important to assess the effect of defoliation severity on the observed LAI or net instantaneous growth rate when making a rational decision. As such, we need to understand grazing-led defoliation. This assessment is based on the LAI development function (see Eq. 5-15). Here, the abstract results generated by Eq. 5-15 under three different grazing defoliation severities are shown in Figure 5.19.

The results show that different grazing regimes are likely to have a negative effect on observed LAI, a bigger percentage of grazed LAI means there will be a smaller observed LAI. The same is true for the instantaneous growth rate of LAI. Compared with a continuous grazing strategy, an intermitted grazing strategy will be preferred because the observed LAI would at least for this model regrow to the same amount as an un-grazed one after a recovery period. However, these results are based on the assumption that livestock will consume the same percentage for every 8-day period around the year. Another assumption is that the parameters k1 and k2 stay the same in spite of grazing, which may be not true in reality – plants may grow at different rates under grazing due to the over/under compensation of grazing both in the long term (McNaughton, 1983) and short-term (Gignoux et al., 2001) grass development. In fact, a fitted growth function can only reflect growth parameters under the current grazing method and intensity. The local maximum of LAI could be present as a result of either overcompensation of grazing or under compensation of grazing on the grass. Remote sensing can only capture the status of grass under grazing, but cannot distinguish what kind of effect is (over or under compensation) on grass growth, which is highly depended on grazing intensities (<u>Hickman and Hartnett</u>, 2002). The figures here are an illustration of how grazing severity would affect the observed LAI and its instantaneous growth rate if these parameters remain unchanged. This is why we cannot use this function to predict LAI under grazing. It is a year-round grass growth under grazing function rather than a predictive plantlivestock interaction function.



Figure 5.19: An example of the effect of grazing severity on the observed LAI and instantaneous net growth rate of LAI, with k1= 0.16, k2=0.0003, C=-14. The bottom two are L_t'

5.10 The uncertainty of the estimated grazing-led LAI changes

In Section 5.7.3, the results of grazing-led LAI changes were shown in Figure 5.14; however, the uncertainty of the estimated grazing-led LAI changes and the uncertainty of the improved LAI have not been quantified. This is important to

quantify the accuracy of the estimated results. In this section, this thesis uses the summation of the three components of the uncertainty of the estimated grazing-led LAI changes to quantify the behaviour of the method in extreme cases; as a measurement of the uncertainty of the estimation, this allows a lower and upper bound on the actual implied errors of the final LAI to be derived.

5.10.1 Background noise and fitting goodness analysis

Both background noise and modelling error could contribute to the uncertainty of grazing-led LAI defoliation estimations. They can further affect the identification of different grazing types. The rest of this chapter will mainly analyse the background noise and the goodness of fit, which could affect the grazing-led LAI estimation.

5.10.1.1 Sensitive analysis of background noise:

Background noise is the stochastic fluctuation of the LAI value, best seen during the non-growth season. During that season it is a measurement of the difference between the observed LAI value ($LAI_{observed}$) and expected LAI value (LAI_{mode}). Due to the effect of measurement error of the satellite sensors and modelling error of the MODIS data (Tian et al., 2002), sometimes MODIS LAI values will deviate from their "true" value slightly. Nevertheless, the overwhelming majority of MODIS LAI values should be constant during the non-growth season. From Section 5.5, change detection results show the non-growth season is from observation numbers 1 to 14 and from 38 to 46^2 . For each possible non-growth season period, from 1 to a (a<= 14) and from b (b>= 38) to 46, the maximum background noise for each pixel is defined as:

$Background \ noise_{max} = \max(abs(LAI_{observed} - LAI_{mode}))$

where LAI_{mode} is the mode of observed LAI value from 2003 to 2014 during the non-growth season which is defined by a and b (start and end of the season). Notice here, modal value is used rather than mean value, for the modal value accounts for more than half of all the values.

The effect of the background noise will obviously be dependent on the value of a and b, between which the background noise is assessed; varying this is, therefore, a key sensitivity test. The maximum difference, mean difference, standard deviation and coefficient of variation are potential statistics we might use to evaluate the sensitivity of the background noise to the choices of a and b in defining the non-growth season; these are shown in Figure 5.20.

 $^{^2}$ There are 46 observations every year, 1th observation means the first day of the year, the 2^{ed} means the 9th day of the year and so on.



Figure 5.20: Sensitivity of a and b on MODIS LAI background noise during the nongrowth season (I, maximum difference; II, mean difference; III, standard deviation; IV, the coefficient of variance), Zeku, 2003-2014.

As we can see from the figures, the maximum difference, mean difference, standard deviation and coefficient of variance tend to be fixed when the maximum of a is equal to 6 or less and the minimum of b equals 41 or bigger, that is, the background error estimation time period where the error is lowest is from 1 to 6 and from 41 to 46. The mean value of the background noise is $0.1128 \text{ m}^2/\text{m}^2$ with the standard variance of $0.3545 \text{ m}^2/\text{m}^2$. For each pixel, the background error estimation time period means the most stable and reliable representation for the winter non-growth period, and that sensitive test is to make sure the chosen time period is stable and reliable for all the pixels; in this way, the background noise can be calculated less affected by the individual phenological difference and the other mixed vegetation.

The results of the background noise are shown in Figure 5.21, where the maximum background noise is about $0.6 \text{ m}^2/\text{m}^2$, which is relatively small compared with the results of grazing-led LAI changes (see Figure 5.13).



Figure 5.21: Background noise of MODIS LAI data during 2003~2012, Zeku, China

5.10.1.2 Goodness of fit

The estimation algorithm does cause an error when estimating the expected LAI. The statistics of the differences (absolute and squared) between measured and predicted values at sampled points are often used as an indicator of the performance of an inexact method (Li and Heap, 2011). As has been discussed in Section 5.7, RMSE is used to select the optimal neighbouring radius; here the RMSE is used to evaluate the estimation results, or more precisely, the model performance of our new growth function. RMSE has been used as a standard statistical measurement for model performance evaluations in both social and physical research (Babin and Boles, 1998; Landau et al., 2000; An et al., 2005). Another measurement, the mean absolute error (MAE) is also widely used in model evaluations. To simplify, if there are n samples of model errors e_i (e_i , i = 1, 2...n). The RMSE and the MAE can be calculated as:

$$\text{RMSE} = \sqrt{\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} e_i^2}$$

$$MAE = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} |e_i|$$

Eq. 5-20

Eq. 5-19

While they have both been used to assess model performance for many years, there is no consensus on which is the most appropriate. MAE gives the same weight to each modelling error e_i , while the RMSE penalizes variance as it gives errors with larger absolute values more weight than errors with smaller absolute values (by the squared operation on e_i). A comparison between MAE and RMSE has shown that RMSE is an inappropriate and misleading measure of average modelling error (Willmott et al., 2009), and therefore the MAE would be a better measure of average error and is unambiguous for the dimensioned evaluations and inter-comparisons of average modelling performance (Willmott and Matsuura, 2005). However, when the error distribution is expected to be Gaussian and, there are enough samples, the RMSE has an advantage over the MAE in illustrating the error distribution (Chai and Draxler, 2014). Figure 5.23 shows the distribution of the RMSE when fitting with the new growth function for each pixel, representing the difference between the fitted LAI and the observed LAI (MODIS "good quality" LAI). The average RMSE for each year ranges from 0.089 m^2/m^2 to 0.11 m^2/m^2 with the standard deviation ranging from 0.030 m²/m² to 0.036 m²/m². One sample T-tests show there are no significant differences in both the annual mean and standard deviation of RMSEs, indicating the fittings are stable across the years.


Figure 5.22: Fitting residuals of the new growth function against MODIS "good quality" data during 2003~2012, Zeku, China



Figure 5.23: Distribution of RMSE using new growth function

5.10.2 The uncertainty of MODIS "good quality" LAI data

For each pixel, MODIS LAI was estimated associated with the day when the highest fraction of Photosynthetically Active Radiation (fPAR) value was observed during every 8-day period, and the fPAR was estimated based on daily surface reflectance data (Knyazikhin et al., 1999). Unfortunately, this date has not been recorded in the MODIS LAI dataset. In Section 5.6.3, we have used time difference as weight and assumed that the observing date of LAI is exactly the same as MODIS LAI recorded date (Julian day 1, 9...361). This assumption would affect the weight in calculating grazing-led LAI changes.

5.10.2.1 The uncertainty of date in MODIS LAI on the weight of time

This thesis, therefore, set up an uncertainty simulator, with the purpose of assessing the effect of the uncertainty of date in MODIS LAI on the weight of time. Taking assumed weight ($\frac{i-m}{n-m}$ in Section 5.6.3) for example, we assume r, i, m, n can be any day during the 8-day period in reality, the values of them are then randomised value between 0 and 1 (within 1 unit of 8-day period), we use 10000 iterations to recalculate the possible actual weight (possible MODIS weight), the mean and variance are plotted with regards to the different neighbourhood radius (Figure 5.24). Result shows on the average, the uncertainty of date in MODIS LAI has limited effect on the assumed weight. The variation of the weight in both assumed date and simulated random date has the same range, and are mainly caused by the position of left or right neighbourhood point (in 8-day period unit) within the optimal neighbourhood radius. The most obvious difference of the weight between the assumed date used in this chapter and the simulated random date during the 8-day period in Figure 5.24 is when optimal neighbourhood radius equals 1, the weight based on assumed date is a fixed at 0.5, while the weight of random simulated date ranges from about 0.3 to 0.7 (although the average value is also 0.5). This is because the left and right neighbourhood point is fixed when optimal neighbourhood radius equals to 1 for the assumed date we used in the estimation algorithm, while the randomly simulated date can be any day within the 8-day period. However, considering that the average optimal neighbourhood radius is 3 (Figure 5.17), and more than 99.5% of the optimal neighbourhood radius is bigger than 1, this effect has limited effect on the estimation of grazing-led LAI changes.



Figure 5.24: Uncertainty of the date recorded in MODIS LAI on the weight of the estimation of grazing-led LAI changes

5.10.2.2 The uncertainty of date in MODIS LAI on grazing-led LAI estimation

To further quantify the effect of uncertainty of date in MODIS LAI on grazing-led LAI estimation, an extreme situation analysis is carried out. The purpose of this extreme situation analysis is to explore the possible dates when extreme overestimating and underestimating of the grazing-led LAI changes might occur. An example of this extreme analysis theory is shown in Figure 5.25, where we have the following observations when the LAI value of a left neighbouring point is bigger

than that of the right neighbouring point ($P_m > P_n$, see Panel A and Panel B in Figure 5.25):

- ✓ The preliminary estimation of grazing-led LAI change P_i would be smaller when the date of the left and right neighbouring point being closer to the first day in 8-days period;
- ✓ The grazing-led LAI change would be greater when the actual date of the estimation point (the point at date i) being closer to the first day in 8-days period.

Similarly, when $P_m > P_n$, see Panel C and Panel D in Figure 5.25, the following phenomenon is obvious:

- ✓ The preliminary estimation of grazing-led LAI change P_i would be greater when the date of the left and right neighbouring point being closer to the first day in 8-days period;
- ✓ The grazing-led LAI change would be smaller when the actual date of the estimation point (the point at date i) being closer to the first day in 8-days period.



• Left neighbouring point at Julian day m, the LAI is P_m

- Estimation point at Julian day i, the LAI is P_i
- Right neighbouring point at Julian day n, the LAI is P_n
- Possible date (m') of left neighbouring within the 8-days period with $P'_m = P_m$
- Possible date (n') of right neighbouring within the 8-days period with $P'_n = P_n$

Figure 5.25: An example of the effect of the uncertainty of date in MODIS LAI on the estimation of grazing-led LAI change

Actually, for each estimation point, there are two extreme situations that the maximum and minimum grazing-led LAI changes can be estimated: the maximum grazing-led LAI changes can be calculated through:

- ✓ setting the date of right and left neighbouring point to the last day of the 8days period (see Panel A and B in Figure 5.25) and, letting the date of the estimation point to be the first day of the 8-days period (if the LAI value of the left neighbouring point is bigger than that of left neighbouring point);
- ✓ setting the date of the right and left neighbouring point to the first day of the 8-days period (see panel C and D in Figure 5.25) and, letting the date of the

133

estimation point to be the last day of the 8-days period (if the LAI value of the left neighbouring point is smaller than that of left neighbouring point).

In the above two extreme situations, the maximum possible grazing-led LAI changes can be calculated. If this is the case in the real world, the grazing-led LAI changes estimated by equal days interval assumption (day 1, 9, 17...) were underestimated. In a similar way, the grazing-led LAI changes estimated by equal days interval assumption were overestimated when the minimum possible grazing-led LAI changes are the real case, which can be calculated by the following settings:

- ✓ setting the date of the right and left neighbouring point to the first day of the 8-days period and, letting the date of the estimation point to be the last day of the 8-days period (if the LAI value of the left neighbouring point is bigger than that of the left neighbouring point);
- ✓ setting the date of the right and left neighbouring point to the last day of the 8-days period and, letting the date of the estimation point to be the first day of the 8-days period (if the LAI value of the left neighbouring point is smaller than that of the left neighbouring point).

The underestimation error and overestimation error for each year at the pixel level, therefore, can be calculated by:

 $Error_{underestimation} = Extreme_{maximum} - Model_{asummed}$

Eq. 5-21

 $Error_{overestimation} = Model_{assumed} - Extreme_{minimum}$

Eq. 5-22

where $Model_{asummed}$ is the grazing-led LAI changes calculated by the equal days interval assumption during the year; $Extreme_{maximum}$ and $Extreme_{minimum}$ are the maximum possible grazing-led LAI changes and minimum possible grazing-led LAI changes estimated by the extreme situation analysis.

The spatial pattern of underestimation error and overestimation error are shown in Figure 5.26 and Figure 5.28. The maximum underestimation error reaches as high as about 9 m²/m², and the minimum overestimation error is about -8 m²/m². The maximum estimated grazing-led LAI change by equal days interval assumption is about 15 m^2/m^2 in Figure 5.11. However, when looking into the distribution of the underestimation error and overestimation error (see Figure 5.27 and Figure 5.29), the majority of the pixels have a relatively small absolute error. Further statistical analysis shows that $78.81\% \sim 91.55\%$ of the pixels with a possible underestimation error smaller than 1 m²/m² from 2003 to 2012, and 92.35% ~ 97.70% of the pixels are possibly underestimated within 2 m²/m² during 2003~2012. Similarly, 75.8% ~ 93.4% of the pixels are possibly overestimated within -1 m²/m², and 92.92% ~ 98.82% of the pixels with a possible overestimation error within $-2 \text{ m}^2/\text{m}^2$. The distribution of the overestimation error and overestimation error shows that the assumption of the equal day interval has a limited and relatively small impact on the estimation of grazing-led LAI changes. An overall uncertainty analysis which consists of the background noise (see Section 5.10.1), fitting residuals (also see Section 5.10.1), underestimation error and overestimation error, will be discussed below.



Figure 5.26: Underestimation error caused by equal days interval assumption during 2003~2012, Zeku, China



Figure 5.27: The distribution of underestimation error during 2003~2012, Zeku, China



Figure 5.28: Overestimation error caused by equal days interval assumption during 2003~2012, Zeku, China.



Figure 5.29: The distribution of overestimation error during 2003~2012, Zeku, China

5.10.3 The overall uncertainty of the estimated grazing-led LAI changes

The overall uncertainty of the grazing-led LAI changes estimated in this thesis can be quantified by the summation of the three components of the uncertainties:

 $Error_{overall} = Error_{noise} + Error_{fittingresidual} + Max(abs(Error_{underestimation}), abs(Error_{overestimation}))$

Eq. 5-23

Where $Error_{noise}$ and $Error_{fittingresidual}$ are the background noise and the fitting residuals discussed in Section 5.10.1. They can be added up because they are all absolute values which represent different error components.

Max(*abs*(*Error*_{underestimation}), *abs*(*Error*_{overestimation})) means taking the maximum absolute value between underestimation error and overestimation error, as

the grazing-led LAI changes can only be either overestimated or underestimated for each pixel.

The results of the overall error are shown in Figure 5.30, where the maximum overall error can reach as high as about 9 m^2/m^2 , and the distributions of the overall error are within the error of error of 3 m^2/m^2 from 2003 to 2012. These are shown in Figure 5.31. A further statistical analysis of the overall error shows that 56.62% ~ 81.74% of the pixels have an overall error of less than 1 m^2/m^2 ; 86.37% ~ 95.93% of the pixels have an overall error of less than 2 m^2/m^2 ; and the percentage of the pixels with an overall error smaller than 3 m^2/m^2 is 94.98% ~ 98.90 % from 2003 to 2012. One the annual average, the overall error ranges from 0.59 m^2/m^2 to 1.08 m^2/m^2 , and this is about 7.97%~12.34% of the estimated annual average of the grazing-led LAI changes in Figure 5.14), and for the year 2011 (which will be used to quantify the input uncertainty in Chapter 7), it is about 10.26% of the estimated annual average of the grazing-led LAI changes. Those overall errors will further be used to quantify the upper and lower boundary of the estimation of grazing-led LAI changes, see Section 5.12, next.



Figure 5.30: Overall error for the estimated grazing-led LAI changes during 2003~2012, Zeku, China



Figure 5.31: The distribution of the overall error of estimated grazing-led LAI changes during 2003~2012, Zeku, China

To this point, all the error components were quantified, and the overall error has been shown. The next section will discuss how to validate the estimation result of grazing-led LAI changes.

5.11 The uncertainty of the improved LAI

As mentioned in Step 4 of Section 5.6.4, the improved LAI can be derived from the new growth equation directly. There are 46 improved LAI images for each year, and due to the limited pages in this thesis, they are not visualized in GIS maps. Here, this thesis rather uses the average improved LAI of the whole region during 2003~2012 (see Figure 5.33).

In the same way, as the uncertainty of the estimated grazing-led LAI changes were quantified in Section 5.10, the uncertainty of the improved LAI is also quantified. The uncertainty of the improved LAI mainly consists of three parts:

- 1. Background noise. This is the same as has been calculated in Section 5.10.1;
- 2. The uncertainty of MODIS "good quality" data. This quantification is also the same as per Section 5.10.2, but that the underestimation and overestimation of the improved LAI are calculated directly rather than that of the grazing-led LAI changes;
- 3. The fitting residual of the new growth function. Underestimation and overestimation of the improved LAI have different fitting residuals. This thesis uses the biggest fitting residual of the underestimated improved LAI as the upper limit, and uses the smallest fitting residual of the overestimated improved LAI as the lower limit.

The overall uncertainty of the improved LAI is then the summation of those three components of the uncertainty. The uncertainty of the improved LAI is shown in Figure 5.33. We can visually see that the overall uncertainty of the improved LAI is quite fixed during the non-growth period, and the uncertainty of the improved LAI during the growth period is relatively smaller than that of the non-growth period.



Figure 5.32: The average improved LAI of the whole region with underestimation limit and overestimation limit during 2003~2012, Zeku, China

To further investigate the uncertainty of the improved LAI during the growth period, and to compare with the degree of uncertainty of the estimated grazing-led LAI

changes in the last section (Section 5.10), an average of the underestimation limit and overestimation limit are shown in Table 5.4. Although the highest underestimation rate and can reach 24.28%, and the biggest overestimation rate (absolute value) is 29.65% during the year, the maximum underestimation rate and overestimation rate are 14.48% and 18.71% respectively during the growth period (day 113¬289), which is at the similar level (within the range from 10% to 20%) for the uncertainty of the grazing-led LAI changes (the maximum uncertainty is 12.34%) during the growth period. The background noise and fitting residual of the estimated grazing-led LAI changes is the same as that of the improved LAI, but the effect of the uncertainty of the date in MODIS LAI data on the two is different, because the value of improved LAI and grazing-led LAI changes is different and therefore, the relative ratio of the uncertainty is different.

	unit		unit: m²/m	uni	t: %	
type	Year	underest i-mation limit	overesti -mation limit	improved LAI	underesti -mation rate	overesti- mation rate
	2003	0.91	0.51	0.73	24.28	-29.65
	2004	1.00	0.58	0.81	22.75	-28.01
	2005	1.03	0.60	0.84	22.59	-27.76
average	2006	1.02	0.58	0.82	23.83	-29.71
LAI of	2007	0.98	0.57	0.80	23.09	-28.48
whole	2008	0.93	0.54	0.76	22.94	-28.88
year	2009	1.03	0.61	0.85	21.91	-27.98
,	2010	1.05	0.63	0.86	21.13	-26.97
	2011	0.95	0.54	0.77	22.39	-29.50
	2012	1.04	0.59	0.84	24.18	-28.89
	2003	1.40	1.00	1.22	14.48	-17.89
average	2004	1.57	1.15	1.39	13.38	-17.00
LAI of	2005	1.63	1.19	1.44	13.36	-16.81
the	2006	1.61	1.15	1.41	14.13	-18.71
growth	2007	1.55	1.13	1.36	13.83	-17.29
period	2008	1.46	1.07	1.29	13.52	-17.33
(day	2009	1.65	1.21	1.46	13.02	-17.16
113-289	2010	1.69	1.25	1.50	12.54	-16.47
)	2011	1.49	1.08	1.32	13.16	-17.94
	2012	1.64	1.18	1.44	14.29	-17.96

Table 5.4: The uncertainty of the improved LA during 2003–2012

5.12 Validation of grazing-led LAI changes

The LAI should decrease proportionally to the amount eaten in grazing (Johnson et al., 2010). One direct way to validate the accuracy of grazed LAI estimation is to measure the on-the-ground LAI at both pre-grazing and post-grazing sites for every 8 days during the growth period. However, this requires continuous sampling on the same site for years. An alternative way is to compare with the total carbon mass

consumption of the livestock for each year in Zeku. The total numbers of livestock recorded in the annual statistical yearbook are available from the Zeku Statistics Bureau. To calculate the livestock consumption, all the livestock including sheep (usually considered grazers on the ground), goat (usually considered browsers), yak and horse are converted to Sheep Unit (SU), then according to the SU conversion coefficient (Table 5.5), see NY/T 635-2002 <u>NY/T635 (2002)</u>), the carbon consumption is calculated during the grazing period for each year using the following formula:

Raised Sheep Unit

= (livestock_{total_{start} - livestock_{young_{start}}) * SUcoe_{mature} + (livestock_{young_{start}} + livestock_{young_{increase}}) * SUcoe_{young} - (livestock_{total_{dead}} - livestock_{young_{dead}}) * SUcoe_{mature} * Coef_{die} - livestock_{young_{dead}} * SUcoe_{young} * Coef_{die}}

Eq. 5-24

Carbon Mass = Raised Sheep Unit * GrassDryWeight_{perSU}/0.5 * 155

Eq. 5-25

For each livestock type (sheep, goat, yak and horse), $livestock_{total_{start}}$ is the total number of livestock at the start of the year; $livestock_{young_{start}}$ is the number of young livestock at the start of the year; $livestock_{young_{increase}}$ is the number of livestock increased during the year; $livestock_{total_{dead}}$ and $livestock_{young_{dead}}$ is the number of total and young livestock dead separately during the year; SUcoe_{mature} and SUcoe_{young} is the SU convert coefficient for mature and young livestock (Table 5.5); $Coef_{die}$ is the percentage of livestock dead before the grazing period: here, we give this a constant value 0.5, assuming the number of dead livestock is evenly distributed during the year. In Zeku, the herders treasure the livestock as a fortune, and the livestock is mainly sold after the grass growth period according to our 2012 field survey. After calculating SU, the SU is converted to carbon mass using the second equation. A 0.5 multiplier accounts for the conversion from dry matter to carbon (Maselli et al., 2013), and 155 is the total grazing days during grass growth period according to Fan et al. (2010b) (Fan et al., 2010b). GrassDryWeight_{perSU} is the dry grass consumed per SU, the value is 1.8 kg day⁻¹ according to Fan et al. (2010a) (Fan et al., 2010a).

Table 5.5: Livestock convert coefficients:

	Mature (sheep unit)	Young (sheep unit)
Sheep	1	0.4*1
Goat	0.8	0.4*1
Yak	4.5	0.3*4.5
Horse	6.0	0.3*6.0

Year-round statistical carbon mass vs grazed LAI based leaf mass

To compare with the statistically calculated carbon mass, the grazed LAI are converted to carbon mass using (Johnson et al., 2010):

$LeafMass = LAI/\sigma$

Eq. 5-26

where σ is the Specify Leaf Area (SLA); we take the same value in the MODIS Biome-Property Look Up Table (BPLUT) (<u>Running et al., 2000b</u>). The following table (Table 5.6) shows the correlation matrix between the yearly time series of LAI based grazed leaf mass and the carbon mass calculated from raised livestock according to the statistics yearbook. The unit for carbon is 1×10^6 kgC. The herders would not sell the yaks until there was not enough feed from the grassland in Zeku, which is why we can see a correlation coefficient about -0.01 between raised yaks and estimated grazed carbon mass. However, the total number of sheep more accurately reflect the change in grassland provision, this is because sheep can be traded anytime and during any growth period as needed (the correlation coefficient is 0.59). The overall correlation between sheep units of actual sheep and estimated grazed leaf mass is 0.42, while the p-value of a paired T-test is 0.71 (with Rsquared= 0.17), which indicates a consistent trend between estimated grazed amount of leaf mass over time.

Table 5.6: Correlation matrix	among raised livestock	and identified	grazed leaf
mass			

	year	yak	horse	goat	sheep	total	leafmass
year	1.00	-0.78	0.82	-0.38	0.57	-0.50	0.28
yak	-0.78	1.00	-0.61	0.75	-0.68	0.84	-0.01
horse	0.82	-0.61	1.00	-0.49	0.32	-0.36	0.06
goat	-0.38	0.75	-0.49	1.00	-0.39	0.71	0.12
sheep	0.57	-0.68	0.32	-0.39	1.00	-0.22	0.59
total	-0.50	0.84	-0.36	0.71	-0.22	1.00	0.42
leafmas	0.28	-0.01	0.06	0.12	0.59	0.42	1.00

Note: leafmass is the converted carbon mass from grazing-led LAI changes

The overall error of the grazing-led estimation can be converted to the equivalent carbon through the same converting equation. The upper and lower limit of the grazing-led LAI changes are then can be calculated by adding and subtracting the converted leaf mass from the overall error map (see Figure 5.30). The relative error of the estimation of grazing-led LAI changes is evaluated by:

Relative estimation error

= (LeafMass_{estimation} - CarbonMass_{statistical})/CarbonMass_{statistical}

Eq. 5-27

Where *Leaf Mass_{estimation}* is the leaf mass converted from grazing-led LAI change, *CarbonMass_{Statistical}* is the livestock carbon consumption calculated from statistical data.

Table 5.7 shows the comparison of the converted carbon mass from grazing-led LAI changes and the total carbon mass consumption of the livestock from statistical data. The relative estimation errors range from -27.3% to 32.98% during 2003~2012 at

the aggregated annual level. One cause of such high relative error can be sourced in the uncertainty of statistical data, where the total livestock structure data were only recorded at the end of the year, but the detailed data such as the number of young livestock and mature livestock sold, killed or naturally died during the grass growth period have not been recorded in the statistical data, this thesis can only make an evenly distributed assumption during the year when calculating. With more detailed ground measured and statistical data being collected in the future, the accuracy of grazing-led LAI changes can be improved. Nevertheless, the results of this chapter are the first attempt to quantify the per-pixel grazing information from remote sensing data, which will be useful for the large-scale grazing monitoring and further assessment of the grassland ecosystem.

year	SCC (10 ⁶ kgC)	Leaf mass $(10^6 kgC)$	Leafmass Upper (10 ⁶ <i>kgC</i>)	Leafmass Lower (10 ⁶ kgC)	Relative estimatio n error (%)
2004	207.76	150.78	163.74	137.82	-27.43%
2005	204.87	221.35	235.00	207.70	8.04%
2006	209.51	236.73	254.97	218.50	12.99%
2007	196.23	174.75	187.29	162.21	-10.95%
2008	196.48	160.94	173.12	148.76	-18.09%
2009	206.31	274.34	292.03	256.66	32.98%
2010	189.25	239.02	255.32	222.71	26.30%
2011	185.11	149.27	163.57	134.98	-19.36
2012	206.09	250.74	265.02	236.47	21.67%
mean	200.18	206.43	221.12	191.75	-
Pearson c value wit	correction h SCC	0.420	0.416	0.424	

 Table 5.7: Comparison of converted carbon mass from grazing-led LAI changes and total carbon mass consumption of the livestock

Note: SCC means the converted statistical carbon mass leafmass is the converted carbon mass from grazing-led LAI changes

5.13 Summary

Current reprocessing methods are focused on producing smoother and more spatiotemporally consistent LAI products by taking spatial, temporal, or hybrid combinations of weighted LAI. However, for grazing grasslands, the spatiotemporal weighted average LAI reprocessing methods diminish grazing information. In fact, for grassland vegetation, the temporal consistency is more important than the spatial consistency: every pixel is likely to have different conditions and/or different grazing patterns. This chapter considered the characteristics of grassland growth, developed a new exponential growth function under grazing to produce the final improved LAI data (after grazing or if grazing happens) and expected LAI data (before grazing or if no grazing happens), which is suitable for extracting grazing information effectively and consistently. This chapter developed a new growth grazing function with an estimation algorithm, to identify the grazing-led LAI changes for each pixel.

In this chapter, the main focus is on the estimation and fitting of the grazing-led LAI changes based on the MODIS LAI curve. The MODIS LAI does not account for the winter death and grazing of grasslands, so a new equation for growth curving fitting has been introduced and used for the production of improved LAI data. After that, a search algorithm has been developed to calculate the grazing-led LAI defoliation. The whole process is a series of algorithms consist of the calculation of initial background LAI, preliminary estimation of grazing-led LAI changes and expect LAI. Then the ratio of winter pasture area from household survey data was used to match up with the estimation results. Due to the limited summer/winter pasture map data, this thesis uses statistical aggregate data to validate the result. It shows that the estimates track the validation dataset consistently over time. The grazing-led LAI changes were calculated as the difference between improved LAI and expected LAI; then it was converted to leaf mass in this chapter. The carbon mass consumption of livestock during the grass growth period was calculated according to statistical yearbook data. Although the linear coefficient between grazed NPP estimated from this chapter and NPP consumption of livestock from the statistical yearbook is 0.42, the magnitude and the time trend show consistency with p-value = 0.71, indicating the new exponential growth function can be used to improved MODIS LAI data and to quantify livestock grazing. In addition, the possible overestimation error and underestimation error was quantified through an extreme situation analysis. Together with background noise and fitting residuals, the overall estimation error was calculated.

Another validation effort is to check the improved LAI produced in this chapter. To this end, in the next chapter, the improved LAI data will be used to calculate the Net Primary Productivity (NPP) using the light use efficiency with vegetation photosynthesis model (LUE-VPM). It is almost impossible to collect the grazing data before and after grazing over a sufficient time period in the field; however, given the requirement of grassland ecosystem monitoring work in China, grassland monitoring data is available, along with other data like *in situ* fresh weight, which is a crucial parameter for modelling grass growth under grazing. After converting the fresh weight sampling data to equivalent leaf mass, the LUE-VPM model is developed for such validation, and it is found that the improved LAI produced in this chapter is more accurate than the MODIS LAI with regards to NPP estimation.

Chapter 6 Grassland Productivity Sub-model

The productivity of the grassland patch is a key factor for the maximum number of livestock that can be raised on one specific land patch. It depends not only on the water and heat condition of the grassland, but also the grazing severity of the herbivores. These factors affect both the quality and quantity of grass (Briske et al., 2015). The chemical composition of pasture species has not been considered in this thesis due to the lack of relevant data. Only the quantity of grassland productivity is evaluated for each land patch. In Chapter 5, a grass status indicator, LAI, has been used to describe grazing during dynamic grass growth. The LAI is based on MODIS LAI dataset, and an improved MODIS LAI was produced by using a new growth function considering both senescence and grazing.

However, the accuracy of this improved MODIS LAI data has not been evaluated directly. Although the grazed LAI has been validated by the aggregated livestock consumption in Chapter 5, the accuracy of the improved LAI (LAI after grazing and with previous grazing effect) has not been evaluated, that is, whether the improved LAI has really been improved through the new growth function. This chapter, therefore, aims to validate the improved LAI. However, there is no available LAI data measured in Zeku. A survey that was done in 2016, the Livestock Husbandry Bureau of Zeku, has provided data for fresh grass weight from 15 sample sites collected in 2012. The validation work is then to convert MODIS LAI data and grass fresh weight data into a comparable unit. Thus, we need a Net Primary Productivity (NPP) model to calculate the NPP of the grassland (unit: gCm⁻²) based on the improved LAI data, and then convert the in-situ measured grass weight data to carbon mass (unit: gCm⁻²). In this way, the accuracy of the improved LAI can be evaluated indirectly.

NPP is defined as the net flux of carbon from the atmosphere into green plants (Odum, 1971). As an ecosystem structural and functional indicator, the amount of NPP is commonly used to measure the consumption of herbivory (Gignoux et al., 2001). NPP provides an energy and matter basis for ecosystems, it is also an important indicator showing the health of ecosystems and ecological balance, a key element for estimating carbon storage (which can be used as an indicator of the amount of forage grassland can provide (Fan et al., 2010a)) and the regulation of the ecological processes (Odum, 1971). Research has found the response of NPP to grazing intensity emerges as a complex result of both positive and negative, and direct and indirect, effects of grass productivity (Gignoux et al., 2001). Herbivores can maximize NPP (Luo et al., 2012), but high grazing intensity could strongly reduce the fraction of below-ground NPP (Gong et al., 2015).

There are numerous biomass estimation models at both global and regional scale, ranging from statistical models to process-based models and remote sensing based models. The purpose of this chapter is not to build a brand new NPP model, but to utilize the available high spatial resolution dataset to produce a highly reliable estimate of NPP. The Light Use Efficiency (LUE) model is widely used in NPP estimation (Xiao et al., 2004), and MODIS also used this model to produce their global 500 m and1000 m NPP data. The difference between the LUE model in this chapter and the conventional model used in the MODIS data is that the Vapour Pressure Deficit (VPD) attenuation scalar is replaced by a

Vegetation Photosynthesis Model (VPM) scalar due to data limitations (called "LUE-VPM" model for later reference).

Starting from a brief introduction of current NPP models, a detailed LUE-VPM model will be discussed that converts LAI to grass productivity. The grassland NPP that is calculated based on the improved MODIS LAI will be validated with the annual grassland monitoring data provided by the Zeku grassland monitoring station (a sector of Livestock Husbandry Bureau of Zeku), and be further compared with the MODIS NPP product. This process is essential to ensure the accuracy of the improved LAI product we have produced in Chapter 5.

6.1 Vegetation productivity models

Estimation of land productivity is crucial to the management of grassland grazing as well as allowing the quantification of the carbon balance for both regional and global sustainable grassland development. Essentially, there are four major categories of land productivity models: Canopy Photosynthesis Models (CPMs), Production Efficiency Models (PEMs), Ecosystem process models and statistical models. When data was limited, statistical models were prevalent, linking vegetation with climate factors. However, these are not suitable for large-scale spatial and/or pixel-specific modelling. In addition, the temporal resolutions are relatively low (usually, on a yearly basis) compared with the other three.

PEMs are based on the theory that the fraction of Photosynthetic Active Radiation (fPAR) absorbed by terrestrial vegetation can be derived from remote sensing data (Kumar and Monteith); for example, the Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) recorded by the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) Advanced Very High Resolution Radiometer (AVHRR) sensor (Anyamba and Tucker, 2005). Remote sensing based models have the advantage of near real-time, high spatial resolution and large-scale observation data, but these models are highly dependent on hard to estimate empirical parameter values such as radiation conversion efficiency, which is sensitive to the optical properties of the background environment and directional effects of the landscape (Myneni and Williams, 1994; Fensholt et al., 2004). Therefore, a predefined 'conversion efficiency' or an optimum value considering other environmental factors is used in NPP calculation. They are also called "diagnostic models" as remote sensing derived vegetation indices are employed in the calculation.

Ecosystem Process Models (EPMs) are "bottom-up" oriented – they are commonly modelled at the level of each ecosystem process: phenology, leaf thickness, minimum stomatal conductance, photosynthetic pathway, allocation, rooting depth based on the structural characteristics of the vegetation (Woodward and Cramer, 1996), then integrated through the canopy with biochemical fluxes (CO₂, water and energy exchange) (Cramer et <u>al., 1999</u>). However, such models are commonly complicated and involve lots of parameter estimation work. They either do not use PAR as an input, or are not able to provide the basis to compute fPAR. The following table (Table 6.1) shows some typical models of NPP simulation.

While in CPMs, the estimation process is basically the same as PEMs or EPMs, they are more focused on the leaf level plant photosynthesis, and usually integrated with the seasonal canopy dynamics (typically, LAI dynamics during the year) and biochemical

exchanges. CPMs are called 'process models', because they evolved from ecosystem or crop models which have explicit processes for individual plant growth. The significant difference between CPMs and PEMs is that remote sensing measurements are not necessary for CPMs. For this reason, CPMs have the ability to produce results for future climate scenarios, and they are "prognostic models" as well (<u>Ruimy et al., 1999a</u>). However, CPMs depend highly on the vegetation seasonal parameters, which would be different across different vegetation types.

Table 6.1: Comparison of the broad features of the participating NPP models, modified from <u>Cramer et al. (1999)</u> and <u>Ruimy et al. (1999a)</u>. Note: R, solar radiation; LAI; leaf area index; T, temperature; SW, soil water content; VPD, vapour pressure deficit; LeafN, leaf nitrogen; VegC, vegetation carbon; P, precipitation; AET, actual evapotranspiration; PET, potential evapotranspiration; S, soil inorganic sulphur; AWC, available water capacity.

	model	tempora l resolutio n as	calculate d as	influenced by	Strategy	Key referen ce
	Miami	1 year	statistical	NPP _r = $\frac{3000}{1 + e^{(1.315 - 0.1197)}}$, <i>Or</i> , NPP _r = $\frac{3000(1 - e^{-0.000654r})}$	Regression with temperature	(<u>Lieth.</u> <u>1975</u>)
	Thointh waite Memor ial	1 year	statistical	NPP = $3000(1 - e^{-0.0009695(v-20)}),$ $v = \frac{1.05R}{\sqrt{(1+1.05R/L)^2}},$ L = $3000 + 25t + 0.05t^3$	Regression with potential evaporation	(<u>Lieth,</u> <u>1975</u>)
Statistical models	CSCS	1 year	statistical	$\begin{split} NPP &= L^2 \cdot \\ \frac{0.1 \cdot \Sigma \theta \cdot (K^6 + L(K)K^3 + L^2(K))}{(K^6 + L^2(K)) \cdot (K^5 + L(K)K^2))} \\ e^{-\sqrt{13.55 + 3.17K^{-1} - 0.16K^{-1}}} \\ , \\ L(K) \\ &= 0.58802K^3 \\ + 0.50698K^2 \\ - 0.0257087K \\ + 0.0005163874 \end{split}$	Classified by ecophysiological feature and regional evapotranspiratio n	(<u>Lin,</u> 2009)
	Chikug o	1 year	statistical	NPP = $0.29e^{-0.216 \times RDI^2} \times R_n,$ RDI = $\frac{R_n}{L \cdot r}$	Regression with radiation and radiative dryness index	(UCHIJ IMA and SEINO, 1985)
	HRBM	1 month	NPP	$NPP = f(T, P, AET/PET, CO_2, Fert)$	regression of annual NPP on climate,	(<u>Esser,</u> <u>1994</u>)

					1	
					seasonality driven	
	CASA	1 month	NDD	NDD = f(D = DAD T)		(Detter
	CASA	1 monui	INPP	$NPP = I(\mathbf{K}_s, \Gamma PAK, I, \Lambda ET/DET)$	PEM, LUE	(<u>Poller</u>
					ampirically	$\frac{ct al.}{1003}$
					applied to NPP	<u>1995</u>)
	CLO	10 days	CDD D	$CDD = f(\mathbf{D} = ED \land D = T)$		(Dringg
	DEM	10 days	UFF-KA	$OFF = I(\mathbf{A}_s, FFAK, I,$ SW VPD)	derived from a	$\left(\frac{\mathbf{r}_{111100}}{1001_{20}}\right)$
	I LIVI			$\mathbf{R}_{i} = \mathbf{f}(\text{Veg} \mathbf{C} \mid \mathbf{GPP})$	mechanistic	<u>1))1a</u>)
				$\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{A}} = \mathbf{I}(\mathbf{V} \mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{S}} \mathbf{C}, \mathbf{O} \mathbf{I} \mathbf{I})$	model applied to	
Productio					GPP	
n	SDBM	1 month	NPP	NPP = $f(\mathbf{R}_{s}, FPAR)$.	PEM. LUE	(Knorr
Efficiency				CO ₂)	derived	and
Models					empirically,	Heiman
(PEMs)					applied to NPP	<u>n, 1995</u>)
	TURC	1 month	GPP-R _A	$GPP = f(\boldsymbol{R}_s, FPAR)$	PEM, LUE	(<u>Ruimy</u>
				$R_A = f(Veg C, T)$	derived	<u>et al.,</u>
					empirically	<u>1996</u>)
					(global value),	
					applied to GPP,	
					environmental	
					constraints	
					applied to RA	
	FBM	1 day	GPP-R _A	$GPP = f(\boldsymbol{R}_{s}, LAI, T,$	leaf level	(<u>Kinder</u>
				SW, CO_2	photosynthesis	<u>mann et</u>
				$R_A = f(Veg C, T)$	model, C and H_2O	<u>al.,</u>
					balance integrated	<u>1993</u>)
					over the canopy,	
					pnenology	
		1 day	CDD D	$CDD = f(\mathbf{D} \perp A \perp T)$	loof loval	(Dlöchl
	FLAI	1 uay	UTT-KA	$\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{O}\mathbf{F}\mathbf{f} = \mathbf{I}(\mathbf{A}_{s}, \mathbf{L}\mathbf{A}\mathbf{I}, \mathbf{I}, \mathbf{I}, \mathbf{S}\mathbf{W}, \mathbf{C}\mathbf{O}_{s}) \end{array}$	nhotosynthesis	and
				$B_{\Lambda} = f(Veg(C, T))$	model C and H ₂ O	Cramer
					balance integrated	<u>1995</u>)
					over the canopy.	<u> </u>
					phenology	
					internal	
C	SILVA	6 days	GPP-R _A	$GPP = f(\mathbf{R}_s, LAI, T,$	leaf level	(Kaduk
Canopy	N			AET/PET, CO ₂)	photosynthesis	and
Photosynt				$R_A = f(Veg C, T)$	model, C and H ₂ O	<u>Heiman</u>
Models					balance integrated	<u>n, 1996</u>)
(CPMs)					over the canopy,	
					phenology	
					internal	
	KGBM	1 day	GPP-R _A	$GPP = f(\boldsymbol{R}_{s}, LAI, T,$	estimates LAI	(<u>Kergoa</u>
				SW, VPD)	from water	<u>t, 1998</u>)
				$R_A = f(GPP)$	balance,	
					pnenology (=	
					from satallite	
	BIOM	1 month	GDD D.	$GDD - f(\mathbf{R} \perp \Lambda \perp T)$	simulates	(Havalti
	F3	1 monui	UT T-KA	$\Delta FT/PFT CO_{2}$	vegetation	ne and
				$R_{\Lambda} = f(I AI GPP)$	structure and	Prentice
				$ \mathbf{A} - \mathbf{A} - \mathbf{A} $	physiological	1996h
					processes.	Haxelti
					coupled C and	ne et al
					H_2O balance,	<u>1996</u>)

					phenology internal	
	CARAI B	1 day	GPP-RA	$GPP = f(\boldsymbol{R}_{s}, LAI, T, SW, VPD, CO_{2}, O_{2})$ $R_{A} = f(Veg C, LAI, T)$	leaf level photosynthesis model, C and H ₂ O balance integrated over the canopy, phenology	(<u>Warna</u> <u>nt et al.,</u> <u>1994</u>)
	HYBRI D	1 day	GPP-R _A	$GPP = f(\boldsymbol{R}_{s}, FPAR, T, SW, CO_{2}, N)$ $R_{A} = f(Veg C, T, Veg N)$	internal simulates vegetation structure and physiological processes, coupled C and H ₂ O balance, phenology internal	(<u>Friend</u> <u>and</u> <u>Cox,</u> <u>1995;</u> <u>Friend</u> <u>et al.,</u> <u>1997</u>)
	SIB2	12 min	GPP-R _A	GPP = $f(\mathbf{R}_s, FPAR, LAI, T, SW, VPD, CO_2)$ R _A = $f(GPP, T, SW)$	SVAT model, coupled to GCM	(<u>Randal</u> <u>1 et al.,</u> <u>1996;</u> <u>Sellers</u> <u>et al.,</u> <u>1996a;</u> <u>Sellers</u> <u>et al.,</u> 1996b)
	DOLY	1 year	GPP-R _A	$GPP = f(\boldsymbol{R}_{s}, LAI, T, SW, VPD, CO_{2}, Soil C & N)$ $R_{A} = f(Veg C, T, Soil C & N)$	simulates vegetation structure and physiological processes, coupled C and H ₂ O balance, RA and NPP annual	(<u>Wood</u> ward et al., 1995a)
Ecosyste m process models	CENT URY	1 month	NPP	NPP = f(Veg C, <i>T</i> , SW, P, PET, N, P, S)	mechanistic soil C and N model with above – ground vegetation processes, calibrated against observations	(<u>Parton</u> <u>et al.,</u> <u>1993a</u>)
	TEM	1 month	GPP-R _A	$GPP = f(\mathbf{R}_{s}, KLeaf, T, AET/PET, CO_2, N)$ $R_A = f(Veg C, GPP, T)$	mechanistic process model, using climate and soils data with a water balance algorithm to estimate NPP	(<u>McGui</u> <u>re et al.,</u> <u>1995</u>)
	BIOM E – BG C	1 day	GPP-R _A	$GPP = f(\boldsymbol{R}_{s}, LAI, T, SW, VPD, CO_{2}, Leaf N)$ $R_{A} = f(Veg C, T)$	estimates LAI from water balance, no phenology	(<u>Runnin</u> <u>g and</u> <u>Hunt Jr.</u> <u>1993</u>)

6.2 NPP model selection

NPP is mainly affected by climate factors, so statistical models associate climate factors (precipitation, temperature, sunshine (Ye et al., 2013) and flux of radiation (Zhou et al., 1995), etc.) with plant dry matter production through a simple mathematical regression to estimate NPP (Lieth and Whittaker, 1975). The advantage of statistical models is the high availability of meteorological data, and that the result of them can truly reveal the climateaffected patterns of NPP, but NPP is also affected by other factors (e.g. soil conditions) therefore, this kind of model is too simple to represent the true NPP distribution. Physiological models consider the transformation mechanism of chemical energy from solar energy by plants, and canopy transpiration, as well as photosynthesis accompanied by soil and water effects (CENTURY 4.0 (Parton et al., 1993b), TEM 4.0 (McGuire et al., 1997), CASA (Potter et al., 1993)). Such models are important tools estimating NPP and predicting ecosystem or environmental change problems, but due to the complicated dynamic bilateral feedback of NPP with the environment, it is difficult to apply these models at different scales. Remote sensing based models are developing rapidly with remote sensing becoming increasingly popular. The basic theory is that different plants have different spectral reflectance and even the same plant has different spectral reflectance according to different growth stages (Li et al.; Field et al., 1995). The common assumption is that such models view above ground NPP (ANPP) as NPP and they have not taken full account of both turnover and below-ground NPP (BNPP) (Long et al., 1989).

To conclude, both PEMs and CPMs are the LUE based models, which concentrate on the conversion processes of solar radiation to carbon mass (or biomass). PEMs have the advantage of using remote sensing data to quantify fPAR; while CPMs consider the photosynthesis processes of vegetation leaves and the exchange of carbon and water, based on which the conversion of carbon mass from PAR can be calculated. Other ecosystem process models simulate the structure of vegetation and biogeochemical fluxes. Considering this, remote sensing based PEMs are more suitable for this thesis. The purpose of this chapter is to check whether the improved LAI produced in Chapter 5 is reliable. It is the most important input data we have to integrate into the final model.

In addition, MODIS NPP products were produced by the combination of PEM and an ecosystem process model (see Figure 6.1). By using the biome-specific ecosystem process model, BIOME-BGC, the maximum value for the conversion efficiency ε_{max} for each land type can be derived. However, while ε_{max} is the potential maximum convert efficiency for specific land type, the value of ε_{max} varies to different local environmental conditions (mainly temperature and atmospheric moisture). In the MODIS NPP algorithm, the Vapour Pressure Deficit (VPD) model was employed to calculate the final conversion efficiency ε :

$$\varepsilon = \varepsilon_{max} \cdot \text{TMIN}_{\text{scalar}} \cdot VPD_{\text{scalar}}$$

Eq. 6-1

 $TMIN_{scalar}$ and VPD_{scalar} represent the constraint of minimum temperature and VPD. Both of the data were held by the Global Modelling and Assimilation Office of National Aeronautics and Space Administration (GMAO/NASA) at the daily scale.



Figure 6.1: Flowcharts showing the logic behind the MOD17 Algorithm in calculating both 8-day average GPP and annual NPP, from Running (2015)

Unfortunately, the daily temperature and VPD data archived by GMAO/NASA are not publicly accessible, and most importantly, the spatial resolution (0.5 Latitude degree by 0.67 Longitude degree) of them (Zhao et al., 2006) is not enough to reflect the spatial heterogeneity of Zeku, which is an important factor that would affect the accuracy of any regional NPP calculation. Given these complexities, this thesis turns to the same algorithm as MODIS NPP, but instead of using LUE-VPD in calculating ε , an LUE-VMD model is selected as the best way forward, for the reasons that:

-The LUE model is one of the most widely used models in remote sensing based NPP estimation. MODIS itself published a global NPP dataset, with an 8-day period resolution, based on this model, with which we can easily compare our estimation;

-in Chapter 5, the LAI dynamic under grazing is analysed with remote sensing data; given this, the NPP estimation modelling is ideally done using a remote sensing based model;

-there are limited high spatial resolution climatic and planetary data for us to use to parameterize a process-based model (sadly, as the mechanism would be more clear if we could).

The following parts of this chapter will discuss the radiation, LUE and plant growth in detail. It will start with a Photosynthetic Active Radiation (PAR) estimation, then the VPM model and finally the NPP calculation.

6.3 General processes of LUE-VPM model

The LUE models are based on the rationale that daily photosynthesis is proportional to the Absorbed Photosynthetic Active Radiation (APAR) according to the Monteith theory (Monteith, 1972; Monteith and Moss, 1977), which proposed a linear relationship between

aboveground photosynthesis and APAR for barley, potatoes, sugar beet, and apples in Britain. Later, a similar linear relationship has been found for cereals (<u>Gallagher and</u> <u>Biscoe, 1978</u>) and tropical trees (<u>Harrington and Fownes, 1995</u>). Thus, light use efficiency has been widely used to quantify the amount of APAR in energy units converted into vegetation biomass in carbon units (GPP) (<u>Odum, 2013</u>).

$GPP = \varepsilon \cdot APAR$

Eq. 6-2

where ε is known as light use efficiency (LUE), and it represents the conversion efficiency of solar radiation to carbon mass. A detailed theoretical analysis of Eq. 6-2 was discussed in <u>Haxeltine and Prentice (1996a)</u>. The value of ε has been estimated both theoretically and experimentally for various species (<u>Ruimy et al., 1994</u>; <u>Landsberg et al., 1997</u>; <u>Medlyn, 1998</u>). It depends on the local environmental conditions: water, nitrogen, and temperature (<u>Hunt Jr and Running, 1992</u>; <u>Wright et al., 1993</u>; <u>Ruimy et al., 1999b</u>). MODIS NPP products (MOD17A2/A3) use temperature and moisture (VPD) as the two main constraint parameters to calculate ε (see Eq. 6-1). But as mentioned earlier in this chapter, a VPM model is used to calculate the value of ε . The other algorithms for NPP calculation are exactly the same as the MODIS NPP algorithms (see Figure 6.1). Before introducing these, a brief description of the APAR calculation (in Eq. 6-2) is presented first.

6.3.1 Quantifying the absorbed solar radiation for photosynthesis: APAR

Solar radiation is the key factor in vegetation growth, providing the essential energy for photosynthetic activities (Monteith, 1972). Solar radiation has a variety of wavelengths, but only the wavelengths between 0.4 μ m and 0.7 μ m can be used by vegetation for photosynthetic activities, that is, photosynthetically active radiation (PAR) (McCree, 1972). APAR (Absorbed PAR) describes the amount of PAR received by the vegetation canopy and used for photosynthesis. It varies with the change in day length due to axial tilt and the daily cloud over the aerosol attenuation of solar radiation (Odum, 2013), as well as the upwelling radiance reflected by the land surface (Roujean and Breon, 1995). Therefore, it is also an important component of any analysis of the global carbon balance through the estimation of vegetation photosynthetic carbon sink (Tucker et al., 1986). In addition, APAR implicitly indicates how much leaf area the vegetation (LAI) is exposed to absorb solar radiation, and it follows the form:

APAR = fPAR * PAR

Eq. 6-3

where PAR is Photosynthetic Active Radiation (PAR), which is part of the solar radiation within the spectral range of 400-700 nm for vegetation photosynthesis, which controls the accumulation of NPP and the carbon fixation on the earth (Frouin and Pinker, 1995). It plays an important role in evaluating global productivity change and carbon balance (Li et al., 2015a) incoming photosynthetically active radiation. It is the potential radiation that could be absorbed to do photosynthetic work: not all this light is used, and fPAR is the Fraction of Photosynthetically Active Radiation absorbed by vegetation; the actual proportion used is known as the APAR.

Basically, all the methods of fPAR estimation are based on the relationship between vegetation indices and vegetation canopy properties. For example, fPAR was calculated by quantifying the linear relationship with the Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) (Sims et al., 2006): FPAR = 1.24NDVI – 0.168; or the linear relationship with the Enhanced Vegetation Index (EVI) (Fisher et al., 2008): fPAR = 1.2EVI. The MODIS fPAR product has used a more advanced vegetation index, which consists of three or four wavelengths (Odum, 2013). Among all those calculations, the relationship between fPAR and LAI, which is known as Beer's law, is the most widely used one (Hu et al., 2013), which follows:

fPAR = 0.95(1 - exp(-k * LAI))

Eq. 6-4

where fPAR is the fraction of incident PAR absorbed by the canopy, k is the light extinction coefficient, LAI is the one-sided leaf area per ground area. Similar to the other light use efficiency models, the light absorption here integrates leaf photosynthesis to the canopy (<u>Ruimy et al., 1999b</u>). The value for k is 0.5 in this thesis, which has been extensively validated for both herbaceous crops (<u>Varlet-Grancher et al., 1980</u>), forest (Jarvis and Leverenz, 1983) and grass (<u>Zhang et al., 2014b</u>).

6.3.2 Calculation of PAR from solar shortwave radiation

PAR is affected by atmospheric conditions (water vapour and ozone amounts, surface visibility, aerosol type and cloud optical thickness) (Frouin and Pinker, 1995) and radiation geometry (solar zenith angle) (Myneni et al., 1997b). However, numerous studies have confirmed there is a robust linear relationship between PAR and solar Shortwave Irradiance (SI) (Britton and Dodd, 1976; Papaioannou et al., 1993). Notice that, solar radiation is also called solar shortwave radiation compared with terrestrial radiation (longwave radiation) (Mani, 1980). Thus, PAR can be calculated by using SI at the top of the atmosphere and a conversion ratio, which can be expressed as:

 $PAR = \phi * SI$

Eq. 6-5

where φ accounts for the ratio of PAR to the solar shortwave radiation; SI stands for the solar shortwave radiation. Studies have found that the value of φ varied according to weather conditions. The early most commonly used value of φ was 0.44 (Moon, 1940). Under clear sky conditions, the value of φ changed from 0.47 to 0.5; while under cloudy or rainy conditions, the range was 0.47–0.59 (McCree, 1966).

In the Carnegie–Ames–Stanford Approach (CASA) model, φ is a constant value, which accounts for the fact that approximately half of the SI can be considered as PAR (Potter et al., 1993). For practical purposes, the ratio of photosynthetically useful radiation has been suggested to be half of the SI (Monteith and Reifsnyder, 1974). In Barrow, Alaska, the value was found to be 0.45, and similar results have been revealed in Jerusalem, Israel, and Rockville, Maryland, U.S.A (Goldberg and Klein, 1977), although the value ranged from 0.45 to 0.47 in Ultuna, Sweden (Rodskjer, 1983). The results for California State

University, Fresno site, indicated that φ varied from 0.458 in July to 0.446 in April (Blackburn and Proctor, 1983).

While in China, especially in the Qinghai-Tibet regions, the value of φ has been extensively investigated. A comparison of observed and modelled φ is shown in Figure 6.2. Although there are obvious seasonal differences in the ratio of PAR ("QP" in Figure 6.2) to SI ("RS" in Figure 6.2), the observed standard deviation is 0.004 at the monthly

level with a mean value of 0.446 in Tibet (<u>Li et al., 2010</u>). The ratio $(\frac{Q_P}{R_c})$ of

photosynthetically active radiation (Q_P) and global solar radiation (R_S) is not significantly different for each month. In this thesis, the value of φ is set to be 0.446, based on <u>Li et al.</u> (2010)'s observation.



Figure 6.2: Monthly measured and modelled ratio $({Q_P}/{R_S})$ of photosynthetically active radiation (Q_P) and global solar radiation (R_S) , figure from Li et al. (2010)

Unfortunately, in the algorithm used for calculating the MODIS daily NPP (MOD17A2/A3) products, PAR is estimated in this manner (Eq. 6-5) from data provided by the Global Modelling and Assimilation Office in the National Aeronautics and Space Administration (GMAO/NASA). The spatial resolution of this shortwave radiance data is in increments of 2/3° latitude and 1/4° longitude (Masuda, 2004), which is not suitable for estimating NPP at a 463×463 m² spatial resolution. In addition, the MODIS method does not consider the shadow effect of hills' elevation on the total incoming shortwave radiation. This thesis uses a viewshed model developed by Fu and Rich (2002) to calculate the downward surface radiation for each day. The elevation data is from the Advanced Spaceborne Thermal Emission and Reflection Radiometer (ASTER) Global Digital Elevation Model (GDEM) (<u>ASTER, 2005</u>) with a spatial resolution of 30m and resized to 463m (see Figure 6.3).



Figure 6.3: DEM of Zeku, China

Generally, when solar radiation travels from the sun through the atmosphere to the top of the canopy, it is inevitably affected by astronomical and meteorological factors (Brock, 1981). There are three components actually arriving at the top of the canopy: direct, diffuse, and reflected insolation. Direct radiation is the main component of solar radiation, it is not reflected or scattered and reaches the surface directly; while diffuse radiation is the second largest component, it is the scattered radiation that reaches the ground. Reflected radiation from surrounding landscapes (reflected from the ground onto the inclined receiver) generally accounts for a small proportion of total incident solar radiation and usually can be neglected (Hofierka and Suri, 2002). If both the diffuse and global solar radiation is known (diffuse ratio), the direct component of solar radiation can be obtained through simple subtraction (Tuller, 1976). However, the diffuse ratio varies inversely with cloudiness, the value of the diffuse ratio for different regions are listed in Table 6.2. The diffuse ratio is set to 0.31(row "NC" in Table 6.2, means Northwest China region) in this thesis following the table (Fu et al., 2015).

	Regions	Mean	Standard deviation	Trend coefficient	Regression coefficient	P value
SSD (hr/day/10 year)	NE	9.27	0.20	-0.42	-0.06	0.005
	NC	9,50	0.31	-0.79	-0.18	0.001
	CC	9.63	0.42	-0.76	-0.23	0.001
	NW	10.02	0.17	-0.55	-0.07	0.001
	EC	9.71	0.41	-0.79	-0.24	0.001
	SW	9.42	0.14	-0.57	-0.06	0.001
	SC	9.55	0.36	-0.81	-0.22	0.001
SDRP (%/10 year)	NE	30.14	3.70	0.65	1.79	0.001
(A.S. 1997) (A.	NC	30.37	3.91	0.59	1.72	0.001
	CC	36.50	5.29	0.84	3.33	0.001
	NW	31.16	2.41	0.13	0.23	0.1
	EC.	33.13	5.35	0.83	3.36	0.001
	SW	24.66	3.41	0.62	1.60	0.001
	SC	54.33	3.99	0.41	1.24	0.005

 Table 6.2: Sunny diffuse radiation percentage, from Fu et al. (2015)

Considering the effect of the solar altitude, atmospheric water vapour content, dust content, ozone content and any other radiation depletion, a transmission coefficient for direct and diffuse radiation have been proposed by Liu and Jordan (1960); it was also referred to as either the clearness index or cloudiness index. It is a very attractive parameter for estimating the response of solar radiation to different atmospheric conditions; using this the diffuse ratio can be calculated by using the global transmissivity of the atmosphere (Carroll, 1985). The transmissivity is set to 0.72 based on regional figures given by Pan et al. (2013) (see Figure 6.4), and the calculation interval is 30 minutes. Slope and aspect are from the DEM, and 32 different incident radiation directions are calculated.



Figure 6.4: The spatial pattern of the atmospheric transmission coefficient under clear-sky conditions over the Tibetan Plateau, the labels are percentages. From Pan et al. (2013)

To summarise, the SI can be calculated by using the viewshed method, which includes two key parameters: diffuse ratio and transmissivity. The value of these two parameters were all referred to the current studies in the case study area. Then the PAR can be obtained through Eq. 6-5. The ratio for the PAR (ϕ) was derived from the study in Qinghai-Tibet region. According to Eq. 6-2, Eq. 6-3 and Eq. 6-4, the main difficulty for NPP estimation is the value of LUE for each pixel in Zeku. Due to the limited data accessibility and low spatial resolution of climatic data, instead of using VPD model, a VPM model will be used to calculate LUE (ϵ).

6.3.3 An alternative way of calculating LUE: VPM

The MODIS NPP algorithm uses the Water Vapour Deficit (VPD) model to calculate the scalars that attenuate the solar radiation. The main purpose of this calculation is to convert the maximum radiation conversion efficiency (ε_{max}) to the local instantaneous radiation conversion efficiency (ε) on a daily basis. The formula for the VPD model was shown in Eq. 6-1, where $Tmin_{scalar}$ is the scalar factor that reflects the effect of temperature on radiation conversion efficiency (the value range is from 0 to 1), and VPD_{scalar} reflects the effect of water on the radiation conversion efficiency (the value range is from 1 to 0). The default value of ε_{max} can be obtained from the Biome Property Look Up Table (BPLUT, see Table 6.3) (Running, 2015).

Table 6.3: Biome Property Look Up Table (BPLUT) for MODIS GPP/NPP algorith	m
(from MODIS data user guide, *: the constant $Q_{10} = 2.0$ is applied to fine roo	ots
and live wood, while for leaves, a temperature acclimation Q_{10} value is used as	S
described in Equation)	

Classification type	grass	Description
ε_{max} (KgC/m ² /d/MJ)	0.00086	The maximum radiation conversion efficiency
Tmin_min (C)	-8.00	The daily minimum temperature at which $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_{max}$
Tmin_max (C)	12.02	The daily minimum temperature at which $\varepsilon = 0$
VPD_min (Pa)	650.00	The daylight average vapour pressure deficit at which $\varepsilon = 0$
VPD_max (Pa)	5300.00	The daylight average vapour pressure deficit at which $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_{max}$
SLA (LAI/KgC)	37.5	Projected leaf area per unit mass of leaf carbon
Q ₁₀ *	2.0	Exponent shape parameter controlling respiration as a function of temperature
froot_leaf_ratio	2.6	The ratio of fine root carbon to leaf carbon
leaf_mr_base	0.0098	Maintenance respiration per unit fine leaf carbon per day at 20 °C
froot_mr_base	0.00819	Maintenance respiration per unit fine root carbon per day at 20 °C

However, the value of ε_{max} varies in different biome types and by local environmental conditions (Landsberg and Waring, 1997). The value of ε_{max} for grassland in the MODIS NPP products calculation is 0.00086 $gC/m^2/MJ$ (Running et al., 2000a), but one of the key uncertainties is the spatial and temporal variation of the daily ε_{max} value (Goetz and Prince, 1999; Turner et al., 2002). Therefore, in the NPP calculation, especially in regional or local areas (smaller scale calculations), the value of ε_{max} would be different (Goetz et

<u>al., 1999</u>). In this thesis the value of ε_{max} is 0.0006 $gC/m^2/MJ$ when calculating the NPP based on ground measurement in Qinghai-Tibet (Li et al., 2012).

The main reason for choosing the VPM model is data availability. Since there is no access to the daily climatic data provided by GMAO/NASA, and the spatial resolution (0.5 Latitude degree by 0.67 Longitude degree) of GMAO/NASA climatic data is too low thus cannot be used. One pixel of GMAO/NASA data could cover all the area of Zeku and could result in the homogeneity of local ε , which is not true in reality. The China Meteorological Forcing Dataset (CMFD) (Chen et al., 2011) has provided high spatial resolution climatic data for every three hours from 1979 to 2012 (this is also the main reason for this thesis choosing 2003-2012 as a case study period; from 2003, the grasslands have also been contracted to individual households). By aggregating the three-hour temperature data to the daytime temperature data of CMFD, the effect of temperature on ε_{max} can be quantified. Basically, the VPM uses the following equation to calculate ε at the daily scale (Xiao et al., 2004):

$$\varepsilon = \varepsilon_{max} * T_{scalar} * W_{scalar} * P_{scalar}$$

Eq. 6-6

where ε_{max} is maximum light use efficiency, and T_{scalar} , W_{scalar} and P_{scalar} are the downward-regulation scalars for the effect of temperature, water and leaf phenology on the light use efficiency of vegetation, respectively.

 T_{scalar} is estimated at each time step, using the equation developed for the Terrestrial Ecosystem Model (Raich et al. 1991),:

$$T_{scalar} = \frac{(T - T_{min})(T - T_{max})}{(T - T_{min})(T - T_{max}) - (T - T_{opt})^2}$$

Eq. 6-7

where T_{min} , T_{max} and T_{opt} are minimum, maximum and optimal temperature for vegetation photosynthesis. If air temperature falls below T_{min} , when the temperature is beyond the minimum temperature for vegetation photosynthesis, the photosynthesis is at a low rate or there is no photosynthesis, and T_{scalar} is set to zero. The value of T_{min} , T_{min} and T_{min} are different according to the vegetation types. In the research of Qinghai-Tibet alpine ecosystems, the values for these three parameters are 0, 20 and 35 °C respectively (Li et al., 2007). In their research, the average daytime temperature during light periods was used instead of using the daily mean air temperature that is calculated as the average value between daily maximum temperature (generally daytime) and daily minimum temperature (night time) in calculating T_{scalar} (Li et al., 2007). They argued that the day time average temperature would better capture the temperature effect on ε . But in this thesis, the average temperature is the average value during the whole day as it is the most commonly used way of calculating T_{scalar} (Xiao et al., 2004; Sannigrahi et al., 2016).

The main contribution of the VPM model is that it considers the effects of both water stress and vegetation phenology on ε . In the VPM, a water sensitive vegetation index (LSWI) was utilized to capture the effects of water stress and phenology on light use efficiency,

 $LSWI = \frac{\rho_{NIR} - \rho_{SWIR}}{\rho_{NIR} + \rho_{SWIR}}$

Eq. 6-8

where ρ_{NIR} is the surface reflectance band intensity between 841nm and 876 nm (nearinfrared band), and ρ_{SWIR} is the surface reflectance band from 1628 nm to 1652 nm (short infrared band). Both of the data can be derived from the MODIS reflectance dataset MOD09A1 (Vermote, 2015).

Then, the effect of water on plant photosynthesis (W_{scalar}) can be calculated as:

 $W_{scalar} = \frac{1 + LSWI}{1 + LSWI_{max}}$

Eq. 6-9

where *LSWI*_{max} is the maximum LSWI within the plant growth season.

Finally, P_{scalar} is included in the VPM model to account for the effect of leaf phenology (leaf age) on photosynthesis at the canopy level:

$$P_{scalar} = \frac{1+LSWI}{2}$$

Eq. 6-10

during bud burst to leaf full expansion P_{scalar} was set to be 1 after leaf full expansion.

6.3.4 Daily maintenance respiration

Maintenance respiration costs (MR) for leaves and fine roots are summarised in the flowchart Figure 6.1 and are also calculated on a daily basis. Leaf mass (kgC) is calculated as (Running, 2015):

$Leaf Mass = \frac{LAI}{SLA}$

Eq. 6-11

where LAI is the leaf area index, and SLA is the specific leaf area (projected leaf area /Kg C).

Fine root mass is then estimated by:

Fine Root Mass = Leaf Mass * froot_leaf_ratio

Eq. 6-12

Leaf maintenance respiration is calculated as:

Leaf $MR = Leaf Mass * leaf_mr_base * Q_{10}^{(T_{avg}-20)/10}$

Eq. 6-13

 T_{avg} is the average daily temperature (°C). Q_{10} describes the short term temperature dependence of the rates of biological processes widely used among biologists, which could

affect the respiration of vegetation (<u>Wager, 1941</u>; <u>Tjoelker et al., 2001b</u>). Q_{10} is calculated through the equation which developed by <u>Tjoelker et al. (2001a)</u> :

$$Q_{10} = 3.22 - 0.046 * T_{avg}$$

Eq. 6-14

Similarly, the maintenance respiration of the fine root mass can be calculated as:

Root $MR = Root Mass * froot_mr_base * Q_{10}^{(T_{avg}-20)/10}$

Eq. 6-15

and finally, the net photosynthesis can be calculated:

PSNnet = GPP - Leaf MR - Root MR

Eq. 6-16

In addition, for the energy cost for constructing organic compounds fixed by photosynthesis, which is empirically parameterized as 25% of NPP, the MODIS NPP algorithm simply uses a fixed percentage of NPP to calculate energy cost for constructing organic compounds fixed by photosynthesis, that is.

 $NPP = GPP - R_m - R_g = GPP - R_m - 0.25 * NPP$

Eq. 6-17

where R_m is the plant maintenance respiration, and 0.25 * NPP represents calculate energy cost for constructing organic compounds fixed by photosynthesis, therefore, the NPP can be calculated by:

 $NPP = 0.8 * (GPP - R_m)$ when $GPP - R_m \ge 0$, and

NPP = 0 when $GPP - R_m < 0$

Eq. 6-18

To summarise, all the process for NPP estimation have been discussed in detail. They broadly followed the flow in Figure 6.1, but due to the data availability of climatic data and daily radiation data, the viewshed model and VPD model were employed to estimation solar radiation and the conversion rate of solar radiation to carbon mass on grassland. The rest of this chapter will show the results of the NPP calculations based on the improved LAI data produced in Chapter 5.

6.4 Improved and expected NPP of Zuku: new view of grazing effect on carbon fixation

Using the above estimation methods, the NPP after livestock grazing is shown in Figure 6.5. The LAI data for the calculation is the improved LAI data (improved by fitting with new growth function considering both the effect of the previous grazing and current grazing). The value of NPP ranges from 43.66 gCm⁻² to 664.39 gCm⁻². the average NPP is 380.09 gCm⁻² for the whole region. We can see obvious spatial heterogeneity in the NPP

distribution, with the high productivity concentrating to the southeast of Zeku. The low productivity areas are mainly distributed in the northern mountainous areas (see DEM figure in Figure 6.3). Notice that there are some black points in the figures: these are the points where the improved LAI cannot be calculated (non-linear regression cannot find a solution for the new growth function). The total number of these black points is 45. Considering a total of 29423 pixels in Zeku, these black points have no noticeable influence on the NPP calculation. The spatial pattern is quite similar to that of Fan et al. (2010b).



Figure 6.5: Improved NPP products, 2002~2012, Zeku (unit: gCm⁻²)

Similarly, the expected NPP can be calculated by using the expected LAI (the LAI value if the pixel has not been grazed) produced in Chapter 5. The calculation keeps all the other parameters the same, and changes the improved LAI to expected LAI. The aggregated annual NPP distribution is shown in Figure 6.6. On the whole, the spatial patterns have not changed compared with the improved NPP distribution. The minimum productivity is

45.79 gCm⁻² and the maximum productivity reaches as high as 735.76 gCm⁻². On the average, the productivity is 405.58 gCm⁻² from 2003 to 2012, which means that the effect of livestock grazing on the productivity is 25.49 gCm⁻² in Zeku, accounting for 6.28% of the expected grassland productivity. This provides a new view in evaluating the effect of livestock grazing on grassland. Although a relatively high grazing pressure has been observed in Zeku (Fan et al., 2010b), the overall effect of grazing on the reduction of carbon fixation in Zeku by plants is 6.28%. Presumably, we cannot tell where the carbon goes—some as dung, some as cattle, some respired.



Figure 6.6: Expected NPP of Zeku, 2003~2012 (unit: gCm⁻²)

6.5 Validation of the improved NPP
This the Net Primary Productivity (NPP) produced by the improved LAI with *in-situ* measured grass weight data that were collected from the Grassland Livestock Bureau of Zeku. In order to validate improved NPP, the daily NPP calculated in this chapter needs to be aggregated to the exact sampling date (Table 6.5).

6.5.1 Estimate NPP based on the improved LAI with LUE-VPM

To convert the improved LAI to NPP this thesis here utilises the Light Use Efficiency (LUE) model which is widely used in NPP estimation, most specifically by MODIS, to produce their global 500m and 1000m NPP data. The difference between the LUE model in this thesis and the conventional model used in the MODIS data is the Vapour Pressure Deficit (VPD) attenuation scalar is replaced by a Vegetation Photosynthesis Model (VPM) scalar due to data limitations; for more information on the LUE-VPM construction, see (Xiao et al., 2004); the key parameters and datasets for models are shown in Table 6.4:

	MODIS (<u>Running</u> and Zhao, 2015)	LUE-VPM (Light Use Efficiency with Vegetation Photosynthesis Model)
Light Use efficiency (LUE)	Vapour Pressure Deficit (VPD)	Vegetation Photosynthesis Model (VPM) (<u>Xiao et al.</u> , <u>2004</u>)
Maximum radiation conversion efficiency $(\varepsilon_{max}, \text{KgCm}^{-2}/\text{d/MJ})$	0.00086	0.00061(<u>Li et al., 2012</u>)
Photosynthetic Active Radiation (PAR) data	from Global Modelling and Assimilation Office (GMAO/NASA)	calculated by Area Solar Radiation (<u>Fu and Rich, 2002</u>)
the fraction of Photosynthetically Active Radiation absorbed by vegetation (fPAR) data	from MODIS fPAR	calculated with Beer-Lambert law (<u>Ruimy et al., 1999b</u>)

Table 6.4: Model parameters for NPP calculation

There are 14 national grassland monitoring sample sites in Zeku, 2012. The locations are shown in Figure 6.7.



Figure 6.7: Locations of validation stations in Zeku, 2012

6.5.2 Modelling results vs MODIS NPP and in-situ measurements

For each sampling site, there are 4 samples, of which the size is 1m x 1m. Table 6.5 shows the average carbon of the 4 samples for each grassland monitoring site after converting from above ground fresh matter to whole plant carbon (column "Converted *in-situ* NPP"). Unfortunately, no information about the uncertainty of these estimates is provided. In comparison, this table also lists the MODIS NPP (column "MODIS NPP") and the NPP this thesis has estimated (column "LUE-VPM NPP (improved LAI)").

The NPP was calculated on a daily basis for our improved LAI (Table 6.5, column "LUE-VPM NPP (improved LAI)"). In order to compare with the *in situ* observed data (Table 6.5, column "LUE-VPM NPP (improved LAI)"; below), we aggregate the daily ANPP from the first day of 2012 to the date listed in Table 6.5 (column: "collecting time", these are the date when the fresh grass weight was measured). The original MODIS NPP product is in Table 6.5 (column: "MODIS NPP"). In addition, with the purpose of showing our improved LAI is better than the MODIS LAI, we calculated the NPP using MODIS LAI as well (column: "LUE-VPM NPP (MODIS LAI)"). However, before we can compare those results, the *in situ* grass weight (gm⁻²) should be converted to grass mass (or NPP, gCm⁻²), as described below.

The relation between aboveground dry matter (ADM) and NPP can be described as (<u>Maselli et al., 2013; Running, 2015</u>):

$NPP = DM * (Root_Leaf_Ratio + 1) * 0.5$

Eq. 6-19

where the multiplier ($Root_Leaf_Ratio + 1$) converts the above ground dry matter to whole plant dry matter (both above ground mass and below ground mass). This value is taken as 0.28 following <u>Running (2015)</u>. The 0.5 multiplier accounts for the conversion from dry matter to carbon (<u>Maselli et al., 2013</u>). The ratio of dry matter to fresh grass in Zeku is 0.37 according to <u>Lai et al. (2008)</u>.

ID	longtitute	latitut e	altitute	collecting time	Converte d <i>in-situ</i>	LUE-VPM NPP (improved LAI)	MODIS NPP	LUE-VPM NPP (MODIS LAI)
					NPP			
1	101.13	35.31	3482	2012-08-06	143.56	191.47	151.12	182.79
2	101.08	35.27	3495	2012-08-05	548.06	285.35	203.60	264.61
3	101.32	35.27	3636	2012-08-06	180.38	245.00	175.12	223.42
4	101.73	35.06	3617	2012-08-07	335.81	316.31	194.16	272.44
5	101.80	35.06	3549	2012-08-08	233.40	235.56	167.36	228.64
6	100.87	35.22	3371	2012-08-09	193.42	NA	194.96	NA
7	100.87	35.22	3380	2012-08-09	346.88	NA	183.36	NA
8	101.01	35.19	3511	2012-08-06	290.71	301.43	219.12	269.31
9	101.46	35.04	3671	2012-08-08	103.15	256.47	156.64	202.58
10	100.91	35.39	3411	2012-08-07	149.98	245.32	170.16	230.09
11	100.94	35.39	3420	2012-08-07	288.73	271.83	170.24	243.14
12	101.15	35.30	3481	2012-08-06	139.91	230.29	146.64	194.44
13	101.18	35.29	3524	2012-08-06	321.60	254.39	161.76	210.04
14	101.70	35.03	3619	2012-08-10	328.38	339.67	188.80	262.48
15	101.61	35.08	3789	2012-08-07	346.54	295.67	195.84	289.53
mean					262.32	266.83	176.97	236.42

Table 6.5: Validation with in-situ measured carbon mass (unit: gCm⁻²)

The results of Tukey's honest significance test (TukeyHSD test) (Tukey, 1949) (Table 6.6) shows there is no significant difference between NPP calculated by LUE-VPM based on our improved LAI and converted *in-situ* measured carbon mass with a p-value equalling 0.998 (the RMSE between the two is 97.77 gCm⁻²). Conversely, the p-value between converted *in-situ* measured carbon mass and the MODIS NPP product is 0.011 (the RMSE between the two is 133.98 gCm⁻²), indicating the MODIS NPP product for Zeku is significantly different from the *in-situ* measured data. When keeping all the parameters of LUE-VPM the same, the p-value between converted *in-situ* measured nPP and the NPP calculated based on MODIS LAI is 0.760. In addition, from Table 4, the average converted NPP from *in-situ* measured data is 262.32 gCm⁻², while the NPP calculated by LUE-VPM based on our improved LAI is 266.83 gCm⁻², and if all the LUE-VPM parameters are kept

the same, the average recalculated NPP by LUE-VPM based on MODIS LAI is 236.42 gCm⁻², which indicates that the improved LAI estimate has improved the accuracy of the NPP calculations on average.

(I) group	(J) group	Mean	Std. Error	Sig.	95% Confidence Interval	
		Difference (I-J)			Lower Bound	Upper Bound
LUE-VPM NPP	MODIS NPP	89.861*	26.350	.007	19.735	159.988
(improved LAI)	Converted in- situ NPP	4.504	26.350	.998	-65.623	74.6301
	LUE-VPM NPP (MODIS LAI)	30.404	26.350	.658	-39.723	100.531
MODIS NPP	LUE-VPM NPP (improved LAI)	-89.862*	26.350	.007	-159.988	-19.735
	Converted in- situ NPP	-85.358*	26.350	.011	-155.485	-15.231
	LUE-VPM NPP (MODIS LAI)	-59.458	26.350	.123	-129.585	10.669
Converted in- situ NPP	LUE-VPM NPP (improved LAI)	-4.504	26.350	.998	-74.631	65.623
	MODIS NPP	85.358*	26.350	.011	15.231	155.485
	LUE-VPM NPP (MODIS LAI)	25.900	26.350	.760	-44.227	96.027
LUE-VPM NPP (MODIS LAI)	LUE-VPM NPP (improved LAI)	-30.404	26.350	.658	-100.537	39.723
	MODIS NPP	59.458	26.350	.123	-10.669	129.585
	Converted in- situ NPP	-25.900	26.350	.760	-96.027	44.227

Table 6.6: Multiple comparisons with one-way ANOVA test

*. The mean difference is significant at the 0.05 level.

Notes: Converted in-situ NPP is the converted NPP from the in-situ measurement of fresh grass weight;

MODIS NPP is MOD17A3H (MODIS collection 6 NPP), which is public free from https://lpdaac.usgs.gov/dataset_discovery/modis/modis_products_table/mod17a3h_v006;

LUE-VPD (improved LAI) is the NPP calculated by Light Use Efficiency with Vegetation Photosynthesis Model based on improved LAI produced by this paper;

LUE-VPD (MODIS LAI) is the NPP calculated by Light Use Efficiency with Vegetation Photosynthesis Model

based on MODIS LAI (MOD15A2H006, MODIS collection 6 LAI, which is public free from <u>https://lpdaac.usgs.gov/dataset_discovery/modis/modis_products_table/mod15a2h_v006</u>).

6.6 The uncertainty of the NPP calculation

The LUE-VPM model was employed to calculate the NPP based on the improved LAI. However, the outputs of LUE-VPM depend on the model structure, input datasets, and the values of parameters describing the NPP, all of which affect the accuracy and reliability of the model output. Uncertainty will inevitably arise from the simplifications and abstractions of the real system used to create the models, as well as through the processes of data collection and the parameterization of the model {Bagnara, 2018 #1058}.

Imperfect simplification or abstraction of processes in a model leads to structural uncertainty. However, both the LUE model and VPM model have been widely used and validated worldwide; they have comparable consistency and can be assumed to reliably estimate the NPP with minimal structure uncertainty {Sannigrahi, 2017 #1056;Bao, 2016 #1057}. A multi-model comparison should be carried out in Zeku to quantify the structural uncertainty of LUE-VPM, but as it has been discussed in Section 6.2, the availability of data in Zeku region make further multi-model comparison extremely difficult. This is an important research area for future work that could be carried out when all of the datasets required for model parameterization are available (such as soil water content; vapour pressure deficit; leaf nitrogen; vegetation carbon; precipitation .etc., which have been listed in Table 6.1).

Inadequate information or knowledge of the values of parameters associated with the processes describing the system result in parametric uncertainty. The effect of the LAI change on NPP depends on many other factors, such as temperature, solar radiation, light use efficiency, leaf root ratio, etc. In this chapter, the values of those components were all derived from published literature or published datasets (see Section 6.3 for detail), but unfortunately none of these sources also published the uncertainty associated with their data. This makes it impossible to estimate parametric uncertainty meaningfully. More scientific effort on collecting site-specific values of parameters will be beneficial, but this would require collaboration among scientists from different research communities, and such an endeavour is well beyond the scope of this thesis.

The above-mentioned difficulties in quantifying uncertainty make it impossible to conduct a complete uncertainty analysis. Section 6.7 will further elaborate on these difficulties and the reasons that such an analysis is beyond the scope of this work. Instead, this section will use a numerical simulation approach to explore the relationship between LAI and NPP within the error range of the improved LAI in Zeku. The uncertainty of the improved LAI (produced in Chapter 5) is the main concern of this thesis as this uncertainty could propagate through the modelling process of LUE-VPM. Since no uncertainty estimates are available for the other parameters and the input data used in LUE-VPM for the Zeku region, the assumption here is all the other parameter settings and input data have no uncertainty (again, Section 6.7 will elaborate).

6.6.1 Numerical simulation for exploring the relationship between LAI and NPP using LUE-VPM model within the error range of the improved LAI

As it has been discussed in Chapter 5, the error range has been quantified along with the improved LAI based on the MODIS LAI product. However, the validation of the improved LAI in Section 6.5 would not be reliable if the uncertainty of the NPP is not accounted for. Figure 6.8, below, decomposes the estimation equations, showing how the Net Product Productivity (NPP), in equation 6.21 of Figure 6.8, can be estimated from the Leaf Area Index (LAI). As the NPP must be greater than 0 gCm⁻², the value of equation 6-21 should also be greater than 0 gCm⁻², and the monotonicity between LAI and NPP needs to be explored within such range. All the other input data and parameter values can be represented as two constant variables, *A* and *B*. These are shown in equation 6.21 in Figure 6.8, which expresses the relationship between LAI and NPP. Importantly, this relationship can take two forms, depending on the values of *A* and *B*. It can be either:

- non-linear but monotonic (see Figure 6.9) in the case that *A* is sufficiently larger than *B*; or
- non-linear and non-monotonic (see Figure 6.10) in the case that *A* is not sufficiently larger than *B*.

A feasible way to quantify the uncertainty of NPP caused by the LAI is to explore the real value of *A* and *B* in equation 6-21, and determine whether *A* is sufficiently bigger than *B*. In this case, the maximum and minimum improved LAI can be used to calculate the maximum and minimum NPP as the relationship between LAI and NPP in Zeku would be monotonic. If this were not the case and the result was non-monotonic, then the maximum/minimum NPP may not be calculated by giving maximum/minimum LAI. Such method will not work, and a more efficient exploration method should be developed to solve this problem, but it would be more complicated and time-consuming. We need to theoretically find all the extreme values of the NPP within the error range, and they may not locate at the points where LAI are the maximum/minimum, due to the non-monotonic relationship between LAI and NPP. It will be further discussed in Section 6.7.



Figure 6.8: Decomposition of key equations for the NPP calculation in LUE-VPM



Figure 6.9: An example of non-linear but monotonic relationship (NPP monotonically increase with the increase of LAI between 0 and 6 m^2/m^2) between LAI and NPP (the equation for the red curve is NPP=3*(1-exp(-0.5*LAI))-0.01*LAI)





This section, therefore, uses a numerical simulation method to explore the relationship between LAI and NPP, that is, whether they are monotonic or non-monotonic. The process for this exploration is:

- for each data point during the year, the error range is equally divided into N segments (N=10 in this analysis, it can be any positive integer, and the bigger value of N, the better accuracy of the analysis);
- for each segment, a random number is produced within the upper and lower limit of the segment, and then this step is repeated M times (M=10 in this analysis, and also the bigger value of M, the better accuracy for the analysis);
- run the LUE-VPM to obtain the NPP output using LAI which has been randomly produced in the last step;
- check whether the NPPs based on the LAIs randomly produced in the same segment are all smaller or bigger than that in the next segment, and the overall trend for all the segment is increasing or decrease monotonically.

In this section, the relationship between LAI and NPP in Zeku is examined at both year-round NPP and stational NPP level. The year-round aggregated NPP is calculated by the summation of the daily NPP during the year for each pixel, and the regional average NPP is the mean NPP value for all the pixels in the whole region. The stational NPP is calculated by the summation of the daily NPP from the first day of the year to the sampling day of the year (see column "collecting time" in Table 6.5 for the exact date), with the purpose of giving the error boundary of the estimated NPP in Table 6.5.

The segments were produced within the error range of LAI from the lower limit to the upper limit, that is, the 10 randomly produced LAI values in the current segment were smaller than that of the next segment. The first 10 randomly produced LAI values within the lower and upper limit of the first segment (segment 1) were the smallest LAI value set among all randomly produced LAI values and then last 10 randomly produced LAI values made up the biggest LAI value set. For each pixel at the same time, the LAI values in segment 1 were smaller than that of segment 2, and the LAI values in segment 2 were smaller than that of segment 3, and that continues in the same way). The results will be discussed in the next two sections.

6.6.2 Result at the regional scale

The corresponding regional average NPP calculated by LUE-VPM based on the randomly produced LAI within the upper and lower limit of each segment for 2012 (in Section 6.5, the validation data was in 2012) is shown in Figure 6.11. The regional average NPP during the year monotonically increases within LAI values. The biggest NPP value calculated by the randomly produced LAI value within the lower and upper limit of segment 1 is smaller than the smallest NPP value calculated by the randomly produced LAI value within the lower and upper limit of segment 2, and that is true for all the two neighbouring segments, indicating "A" is sufficiently larger than "B" (see Eq 6-21 in Figure 6.8) at the regional average level.



Figure 6.11: Boxplot of regional average NPP with 10 equally divided error segments within the error range of LAI in the year 2012

6.6.3 Results at the in situ grassland monitoring stations

However, the regional average trend for the NPP with the increment of LAI within the error range does not ensure a similar trend at the grassland monitoring station (pixel level). This section, therefore, examines the relationship at the 15 grassland monitoring stations. The name and identifications of the stations were shown in Table 6.5, and the spatial locations of the stations were shown in Figure 6.7. Similar to the validation process, the daily NPP values, that are based on a randomly produced LAI for each segment, are summated to the exact date when the in situ NPP was collected, and the specific dates were shown in Table 6.5.

The boxplot of NPP with 10 equally divided error segments within the error range of LAI in the year 2012 at 15 grassland stations is shown in Figure 6.12. There is an obvious increase trend in the NPP with the increase of the LAI (a larger number of segment identification means a greater value of LAI used in the NPP simulation). To summarise, both the regional aggregated NPP and the stational (pixel level) aggregated NPP shows a monotonic relationship between LAI and NPP within the error range of the improved LAI. This indicates *A* is sufficiently larger than *B* (also see Eq 6-21 in Figure 6.8).

Notice that a quite strong linear relationship between segment identification and NPP can be observed in Figure 6.12 and in Figure 6.11 (the horizontal axis is the numerical identification of the segment for both figures). This is possible because the variation of LAI is in a quite small range. In Table 5.4, the maximum underestimation error of the improved LAI was 24.18%, and the maximum overestimation error was 28.89% for the year 2012. These are quite small percentages compared with the possible LAI values (about 0 m²/m² ~ 6 m²/m² in Zeku). For example, for a point with a possible LAI value of 3 m²/m², the upper and lower LAI value considering the uncertainty is $3.73 \text{ m}^2/\text{m}^2$ and $2.13 \text{ m}^2/\text{m}^2$, and this point can only either be overestimated or underestimated. This error range (2.13 m²/m² ~ $3.73 \text{ m}^2/\text{m}^2$) is quite a small LAI range, and although the overall relationship between LAI and NPP is non-linear in Figure 6.9 or Figure 6.10, an obvious linear relationship between the two can be observed in a small value range of LAI.



Figure 6.12: Boxplot of NPP with 10 equally divided error segments within the error range of LAI in the year 2012 at 15 grassland stations

In addition, the upper and lower boundary of NPP caused by the uncertainty of the improved LAI can, therefore, be calculated by setting the maximum and minimum LAI within the error range. The results are shown in Table 6.7, and it gives complementary information about the reliability of the validation results in Table 6-5. The relative maximum estimation errors are less than 32% for all the stations. The percentage of overestimation errors and underestimation errors listed in Table 6.7 are all the maximum possible error ratios; it would be very unlikely for the error to be this large in practice.

Table 6.7: Error range of NPP simulated in 2012 caused by the uncertainty of the improved LAI

ID	Converte d <i>in-situ</i> NPP	LUE-VPM NPP (improved LAI)	Overesti mation error	Underes timation error
1	143.56	191.47	32%	31%

2	548.06	285.35	19%	16%
3	180.38	245.00	25%	18%
4	335.81	316.31	27%	31%
5	233.40	235.56	24%	22%
6	193.42	NA	NA	NA
7	346.88	NA	NA	NA
8	290.71	301.43	21%	13%
9	103.15	256.47	28%	34%
10	149.98	245.32	19%	19%
11	288.73	271.83	25%	22%
12	139.91	230.29	32%	26%
13	321.60	254.39	30%	19%
14	328.38	339.67	16%	18%
15	346.54	295.67	15%	29%
mean	262.32	266.83	23%	23%

6.6.4 The spatial distribution of the uncertainty in NPP caused by the uncertainty of the improved LAI

Since there is a monotonic relationship between LAI and NPP using LUE-VPM in Zeku, the error limits of NPP can be calculated using the lower and upper limit of the improved LAI value. The maps of the lower and upper error boundary of NPP simulated by the improved LAI are shown in Figure 6.13 and Figure 6.14 respectively. For each pixel, the NPP is the summation of the daily NPP of that pixel during the year 2012. There is a similar spatial pattern of NPP in both Figure 6.13 and Figure 6.14, that is, the majority of the high productivity regions are distributed in the southeast part of Zeku, and we can visually identify that they are generally located in the low altitude area in Zeku (see Figure 6.3 for the DEM of Zeku). The regions with the lowest productivity are located in high mountainous areas.

In Figure 6.13, the lower limit of NPP in Zeku ranges from 0 gCm⁻² to 570.92 gCm⁻², with the regional average of the NPP at 310.18 gCm⁻²; while in Figure 6.14, the upper limit of NPP in Zeku varies from 0 gCm⁻² to 759.49 gCm⁻², and the regional average of the NPP is 487.75 gCm⁻². The difference between the upper and lower limit of NPP is shown in Figure 6.15. The difference ranges from 0 gCm⁻² to 427.54 gCm⁻², and the average difference is 177.57 gCm⁻². Compared with the NPP based on the assumption in Section 6.4 during 2012, of which the mean value is 407.78 gCm⁻², on the regional average, the overestimation error of NPP is 23.93%. This was calculated by:

 $Overestimation_{Error} = (NPP_{assumed} - NPP_{lower})/NPP_{assumed} \times 100\%$

where $NPP_{assumed}$ is the NPP calculated under equal date intervel of LAI (see Section 5.10.2 in Chapter 5 for detailed information), and NPP_{lower} is the NPP with the smallest LAI within the error range. In a similar way, the average underestimation error of NPP is calculated and the error is 19.61%.



Figure 6.13: Lower limit of NPP (lower error boundary of NPP) by using improved LAI, 2012, Zeku, China



Figure 6.14: Upper limit of NPP (upper error boundary of NPP) by using improved LAI, 2012, Zeku, China



Figure 6.15: The difference in NPP estimation between the upper limit and lower limit of the improved LAI

6.7 Discussion

This chapter has modified the MODIS NPP estimation algorithm to calculate the grassland NPP of Zeku. In order to validate the modelling results, the improved LAI data was used to calculate the NPP using the LUE-VPM model. It is very difficult to collect real grazing data before and after grazing over a sufficient time period; however, given the requirement of grassland ecosystem monitoring work in China, grassland monitoring data is available, along with other data like in situ fresh weight which is a crucial parameter for modelling grass growth under grazing. After converting the fresh weight sampling data to equivalent leaf mass, the LUE-VPM model was validated, and found to be more accurate than the MODIS NPP estimations. The grazing-led LAI changes were calculated as the difference between improved LAI and expected LAI, then converted to leaf mass. The carbon mass consumption of livestock during the grass growth period was calculated according to statistical yearbook data. Although the linear coefficient between grazed NPP estimated from this paper and NPP consumption of livestock from statistical yearbook is 0.42, the magnitude and the time trend shows a great consistency with p-value = 0.71, indicating our new exponential growth function can be used to improve MODIS LAI data and to quantify livestock grazing.

The model is a simplification or abstraction of the real system. Due to an imperfect representation of the model structure, inadequate information or knowledge of the parameters or input data, and the uncertainty in measuring the observation data, output uncertainty exists in almost every model. A complete uncertainty analysis of

the LUE-VPM should consider all sources of uncertainty that contribute to the modelling process and to the indicators or statistical properties of the model output. However, it is difficult to give a comprehensive uncertainty analysis of the NPP produced by the LUE-VPM. Although the uncertainty of the grazing-led LAI estimation has been calculated in Chapter 5, and the effect of such uncertainty has been clarified through a numerical simulation analysis, there are other components involved in the NPP calculation that may also affect the accuracy of NPP outputs. The source for those uncertainties includes: inaccurate assignment of the biological parameters (for example, seasonal difference in the value of light use efficiency); error in the remote-sensing measurement (uncertainty of surface reflectance data in VPM model); bias in in-situ measurement; and the structure uncertainty of the model. These were discussed in Section 6.6. This thesis is not able to determine the overall effect of all those uncertainties on NPP calculation because of a lack of data. Obtaining sufficient data would require a collaborative scientific effort from numerous different research communities.

Instead of conducting full uncertainty analysis, this chapter explored the uncertainty of NPP by analysing the extreme values of the NPP using a numerical simulation with random sampling. The upper limit and lower limit of the model can be derived easily by setting the model input to the maximum or minimum value within the error range. However, this is only feasible when there is a monotonic relationship between model parameters/inputs and model output (here, LAI was the input, and NPP was the output), as if the relationship is non-monotonic then this approach to estimating the uncertainty will not work. Section 6.6 showed that the relationship between LAI and NPP, when considering only the extreme (minimum and maximum) values of the improved LAI in Zeku, was monotonic both at the regional level and at the 15 measuring sites. Therefore an analysis of the extreme values of NPP was conducted, and the results showed that the estimated NPP values were not overly affected by the uncertainty in the LAI.

It is important to note that although there is a monotonic relationship between LAI and NPP at the regional level, as well as at the monitoring locations, this will not be the case for all the pixels. However, the presence of monotonic relationship at regional level indicates even if some pixels have a non-monotonic relationship between LAI and NPP at the pixel level, the effect of the monotonic relationship between LAI and NPP of the other pixels are big enough to diminish the effect of the non-monotonic relationship between LAI and NPP of the other pixels are big enough to diminish the effect of the non-monotonic relationship between LAI and NPP at the uncertainty of NPP calculated in Section 6.6 at the regional level. Increasing the number of segments within the LAI error range and increasing the number of sampling points in each segment will improve the reliability of the results in Section 6.4, but there is a comprise between computing cost and reliability. Nevertheless, 10 sampling points in each segment (10 segments for each LAI error range) means there is 100 sampling point within the error range of LAI for each pixel, and it is big enough to ensure the reliability of the result.

In addition, the monotonic relationship at the regional level might not be observed if the uncertainty of the other parameters and input datasets other than LAI change such relationship. That is, if the relationship between LAI and NPP at the regional level is non-monotonic, then the maximum/minimum NPP cannot be calculated by giving the maximum/minimum LAI. More comparison with the local convex and concave values for each pixel needs to be done. A more efficient sampling and analysis schema need to be adopted to well-represent the statistical properties of the data while requiring lesser combinations, but there is a compromise between the accuracy or confidence level of the analysis and the computational efficiency.

Nevertheless, the extreme value analysis here is sufficient to show that the grazingled LAI changes estimated in Chapter 5 is reliable, and the improved LAI data is consistent with the *in situ* measured data. Theferore the next chapter will use the grazing-led LAI changes and the full-growth LAI as input datasets, with the purpose to explore the effect of different grazing strategies and institutional arrangements in Zeku.

Chapter 7 Agent-based modelling of grassland grazingexperimenting with real data

In Chapter 5, the grazing-led LAI changes (without the effect of previous grazing) and the full-growth LAI were estimated for each pixel based on "good quality" MODIS LAI product. Continuous, rotational and un-grazed pixels were also identified according to the frequency of the grazing-led LAI changes during the year. This was done at the resolution of remotely sensed data pixels (about $463 \times 463 \text{ m}^2$), which can provide patch-specific information for the agent-based modelling of the grassland grazing system: grazing demands of livestock and grazing types of the patches (continuous, rotational and un-grazed). In this chapter and later, we will call pixels as patches – a term agent-based modellers are thought to be more familiar with.

This chapter presents an Agent-based Model of Grassland Grazing (ABMGG) that incorporates grazing information derived from remote sensing data. The results of applying the ABMGG to explore how different grazing strategies and institutional arrangements affect the LAI after grazing and degradation are presented. Section 7.1 details the general process of building an Agent-based Model (ABM). Section 7.2 provides a detailed description of the ABMGG developed. Section 7.3 focuses on evaluating ABMGG. Section 7.4 details the scenario of using the ABMGG to examine the effects of different grazing strategies and institutional arrangements on grassland in the case study area.

7.1 The general process of building an ABM

The whole process of developing, testing and applying a model consists of various parts, and the key design and development stages may be revisited repeatedly as a result of feedback. The applied modelling processes include model (re)design, (re)development, verification, sensitivity analysis, calibration and validation, (re)use (Railsback and Grimm, 2011). The aim of feedback and validation (where the model is tested and its performance measured) in this process is to make sure the model is fit for purpose (Wilensky and Rand, 2015). Model design is the first and the most important part, and it should be very clear what the main purpose of the model is. For an ABMGG, what kinds of agents should be included in the model? What are the behaviours and the interactions among the agents? Are there any adaptive, evolutionary or learning properties of the agents - in the way they make decisions? All those modelling related questions should be considered before any implementation. However, with consideration of more complexities, which are usually ignored in statistical or process-based models (variability among individuals, local interactions, complete life cycles, and in particular individual behaviour adapting to the changing internal and external environment), the costs of agent-based modelling increase. Therefore, when starting modelling, a trade-off between the costs and complexities needs to be considered. The first question of model design is then about how to describe such complex systems effectively. An Overview, Design, concept and Detail (ODD) protocol has been proposed by Grimm et al. (2006) to give a standardized way of describing such a complex system.

Model development considers what platform to use. One option is to choose a single computer programming language and may or may not involve utilising third-party libraries (things are written in a language, but not a core part of the language) to help build a model. Another option is to adopt an existing Agent-Based Modelling platform that might comprise several components that essentially run on a computer and allow a user to develop and run a model. Such a specialist platform may or may not, or may to a degree provide support for testing and validation. Many Agent-Based Modelling platforms are available, most of them (like programming well in any computer programming language) require a considerable amount of skill and knowledge to use well (Kravari and Bassiliades, 2015). Numerous ABM platforms exist, include: Agent Factory, Agent Builder, AgentScape, AGLOBE, AnyLogic, Cormas, ECHO, JADE, Madkit, MAGSY, MASON, MIMOSE, Cougaar, CybelePro, EMERALD, GAMA, JACK, NetLogo, Repast, SimAgent, SimPAck, StarLogo, Sugarscape, Swarm, SeSAm and FlowLogo (Castilla-Rho et al., 2015; Kravari and Bassiliades, 2015). A detailed comparison of these platforms can be found in Kravari and Bassiliades (2015). However, there is no single best platform for all modelling purposes because each one follows its own set of protocols for developing and encoding ABMs; some are efficient for parallel computing while others may be easier for establishing a prototype model. Therefore, selecting a proper platform is not only dependant on the aim of the model but also on modeller's programming expertise. According to Kravari and Bassiliades (2015) the main criteria for selecting a platform, however, include how the modellers could benefit more from the selected platform.

Model evaluation is an essential part of agent-based modelling to check the consistency and integrity after development; that is, the design, the entities, processes, and associated constraints and assumptions are implemented correctly, and it performs as expected. Usually, for a complex model, there is an inherent problem to make sure all the interactions and behaviours of agents are coordinated around specific constraints (Yilmaz, 2006). One commonly used method is checking the model's underlying mathematical and computational components do not fail by varying model configurations according to all foreseeable model inputs (Manson, 2003). For example, by varying the randomization technique used in the model, we can check how different randomization techniques could affect the agents' behaviours and model outputs. Castle and Crooks (2006) suggest that the process of evaluating the model can be segregated into three distinct activities: verification, calibration and validation.

Sensitivity analysis, calibration and validation are all about the further evaluation of the model, and these are the main process we will discuss later. For ABMGG, the modelling processes are listed in Table 7.1:

Table 7.1: The modelling process, measurement, techniques and data used for ABMGG

process	measurement	data
(1) verification	R ² , t-test and RMSE, Chapter 5 vs simulated (2011)	Grazing-led LAI changes and degraded patches

(2) Sensitivity analysis(3) Calibration	PCC/PRCC, Simulated vs Chapter 5 ABC, Simulated vs Chapter 5 (2011)	Grazing-led LAI changes and degraded patches grazing-led LAI changes and degraded Patches
(4) output validation		C
	R^2 , <i>t</i> -test and	Improved LAI
	RMSE (2012)	Degraded patches

7.2 Description of ABMGG

The ABMGG model in this chapter does the opposite work to Chapter 5. The fullgrowth LAI and the grazing-led LAI changes are the input data sets for the ABMGG (see Figure 7.1). The purpose of ABMGG is to produce a similar curve to that of the LAI after grazing, i.e. the MODIS LAI (the LAI value with "good quality"). Although patches might not be grazed at exactly the same 8-day time period, the grazing frequency and the grazing-led LAI changes during the grass growing period (the non-growth period is not considered in the model) should be as similar as possible.



Figure 7.1: The patch-specific data source in the ABMGG

The ABMGG is designed for assessing the effects of different combinations of grazing strategies (un-grazed, continuous grazing and rotational grazing) and institutional arrangements (land market and grazing groups encouraged by the local government in Zeku) on grassland status. As was introduced in Chapter 3,

there were two institutional arrangements in Zeku: group grazing and land market. Group grazing is a higher-level policy that would affect the herders' grazing strategies: rotational, continuous and un-grazed (reserved land for winter feed or other purposes). The rotational grazing strategy is adopted for all the group grazing land (from the survey of the author in 2016), for example, the land patches in one grazing group may be divided into four or five sub-groups, with the livestock foraging on one sub-group and then moving to another sub-group. The land market is another form of group grazing. One herder rents or leases land from another herder at the beginning of the year, and then they can put some of their livestock on that rented land. This, in essence, is a kind of smaller scale group grazing, but in line with market demand. The relationship of these two institutional arrangements and three grazing strategies was shown in Figure 3.8.

In ABMGG, the herder agents in rotational grazing land patches form the grazing groups. The number of sub-groups is determined by the frequency of grazing-led LAI changes. Due to the limited data about the exact sizes and locations of grazing groups (although the aggregated statistics are known, see Table 7.7), the related parameters need to be analysed to make sure the modelling results are consistent with the grazing-led LAI defoliation derived from MODIS LAI (see the evaluation section of the model). At the beginning of each simulation year, three different grazing types are reinitialized. The grazing types of Zeku at 463x463 m² spatial resolution are based on the grazing-led LAI frequencies for each patch. Un-grazed patches are the pixels with 0 grazing frequency; rotational grazing patches are the pixels with grazing frequencies equal to 2 or bigger than 2; the rest of the patches are, therefore, the continuous grazing lands.

To demonstrate how these institutional arrangements and grazing strategies affect the grassland status (measured by LAI after grazing and by the number of degraded patches), this chapter first makes sure that the ABMGG output matches the remote sensing derived grazing pattern (the number of degraded patches) well, and then explores the impact of different combinations of group grazing, moving and marketing behaviours of herders on the model outputs. This section will introduce the ABMGG in detail; but firstly, how to simulate the LAI after grazing, which is the most important model output, will be explained.

7.2.1 The LAI after grazing in ABMGG

The LAI after grazing is the key proxy for evaluating grassland status after grazing. This thesis, therefore, explains how it will be simulated by the ABMGG before providing a detailed description of the ABMGG.

In this study, the LAI after grazing is the focus because:

- LAI after grazing is an indicator for the evaluation of grassland status, and whether LAI after grazing is significantly different under various grazing management scenarios will be explored through the ABMGG; and
- degraded patches are classified based on the ratio of LAI after grazing and full-growth LAI, and the number of degraded patches is another important concern in the evaluation of overall grassland status.

The patch-specific grazing-led LAI changes and the full-growth LAI were calculated based on the theory discussed in Chapter 5, that is, the grazing-led LAI changes were estimated for each pixel by equation 5-16 in Chapter 5. By setting

the previous grazing effect, PB_t , and current grazing, PG_t , to 0, the full-growth LAI were calculated using the new growth-grazing function, that becomes:

$$L_{full\,growth} = L_m + L_0 e^{k_1 t - k_2 t^2 + C}$$

Eq. 7-1

, where $L_{full growth}$ is the theoretical LAI value without the effects of previous or current grazing; L_m is the background LAI, L_0 is the initial LAI, k1, k2 and C are the parameters describing growth and senescence of the grass, as estimated in Chapter 5. In Chapter 5, the grazing-led LAI changes were extracted through MODIS LAI, which were the LAI after grazing, and the full growth LAI can be produced through Eq. 7-1. In this chapter, the grazing-led LAI changes (direct changes in LAI caused by grazing) will be used as forage demand for every eightday period for each patch, and the full growth LAI is used as the maximum available forage in each patch (Figure 7.1). The aim is to produce a similar LAI curve after grazing (by calibration) as it has been observed in the MODIS LAI (see Section 7.3). Then, a scenario analysis will be carried out in order to assess the effects of different grazing strategies and institutional management on grassland status (see Section 7.4).

This chapter, therefore, designs the agent landscape to match up with the MODIS LAI maps. Each land patch in ABMGG represents a grassland area of 463×463 m². For each continuous and rotational grazing patch, a livestock agent associated with it at the start of the year. The grass feeding demand for each livestock agent is the same as the grazed LAI calculated in Section 5.7.3, and this feeding demand is updated for each step. The maximum available forage for each land patch is represented by the full-growth LAI, which is calculated using Eq. 7-1. The grazing-led LAI changes were derived during the grass growing period from Julian day 113 to Julian day 289 (the days beyond this period during the year were not analysed in this thesis, as cattle tend to be fed with feed and the ground in the area is frequently snow covered).

In order to simulate the group grazing behaviour of the livestock in Zeku, all the rotational grazing patches are assigned with a group and sub-group identification. The livestock on the same group patch has the same group identification. The livestock can only move in and out of patches with the same group identification. For each step, the total grass feeding demand of the group is calculated by:

$$LDT_t = \sum_{i=1}^m LDI_{i,t}$$

Eq. 7-2

, where *m* is the number of livestock agents in the group and *t* is the time step. $LDI_{i,t}$ represents the grass feeding demand of the individual agent and, LDT_t is the total grass feeding demand of the group. For continuous grazing patches, m = 1, which means only one herder agent on the patch, and their livestock continuously graze on those patches.

For each rotational grazing patch in the sub-group, the LAI decrease caused by grazing is assumed to be proportional to its current available LAI, which means that selective foraging behaviour of the livestock is not considered in the model.

That is, the greater the currently available LAI of the patch, the bigger the LAI decrease caused by grazing. This can be expressed by:

$$LGI_{i,t} = LDT_t \times LCI_{i,t} / \sum_{i=1}^n LCI_{i,t}$$

Eq. 7-3

, where $LGI_{i,t}$ is the LAI decrease of a grazed patch in the sub-group $LCI_{i,t}$ is the current LAI before current grazing of each patch in the sub-group; $\sum_{i=1}^{n} LCI_{i,t}$ is the total available LAI in the sub-group and, n is the total number of patches in the sub-group. For continuous grazing patches, $LGI_{i,t}$ is the LAI decrease of the individual patch, and is not affected by the other patches.

The current LAI before grazing $(LCI_{i,t})$ for each patch is calculated as the subtraction of the effect of previous grazing on LAI from the full-growth LAI:

 $LCI_{i,t} = L_{full growth} - LAI_{previous effect}$

Eq. 7-4

, where $LCI_{i,t}$ is the current LAI before grazing, and $LAI_{previous\,effect}$ is the previous effect on the LAI.

Finally, the LAI after grazing is calculated by taking the difference between the currently available LAI and the grazing-led LAI changes (the grazing demand on the LAI, or the effect of current grazing). The effect of current grazing is the total livestock consumption during the eight-day period, which can be calculated by Eq. 7-3. The livestock will eat forage production on grassland, and the LAI of the grassland will change accordingly. The effect of previous grazing is calculated through averaging previous LAI after grazing and full-growth LAI from the next iteration (average of the two neighbouring LAI time-series). At the beginning of each simulation year, the effect of both previous and current grazing is 0 (no grazing happening); while for continuous or rotational grazing patches where previous grazing has occurred, the effect of previous grazing can be calculated by:

$LAI_{previous\ effect} = L_{full\ growth} - (LAI_{after\ grazing-1} + LAI_{full\ growth+1})/2$

Eq. 7-5

, where $LAI_{after grazing-1}$ is the $LAI_{after grazing}$ value at its previous iteration and; $LAI_{full growth+1}$ is the $L_{full growth}$ value at the next iteration. At the beginning of each simulation year, the effect of both previous and current grazing is 0 (that is, $LAI_{previous effect} = 0$, no grazing happening). The rest of work is then to make sure that $LAI_{after grazing}$ derived from the ABMGG matches with $L_{observed}$ derived from the MODIS LAI dataset, and to examine how $LAI_{after grazing}$ changes with different policy scenarios.

One model iteration (step) accounts for eight days of simulated time (this is the temporal resolution of the MODIS LAI data). Simulations last for 46 time steps, representing the years for which data are available (2011). The livestock owned by herder agents moves from one sub-group of patches to another sub-group of patches and the livestock grazes on the patch that they are on at each time step for rotational grazing patches. For continuous grazing land, once livestock enters the

land patch, they do not move to other land patches. The LAI will decrease accordingly after livestock grazing, with the LAI after grazing for each patch at each time step being calculated by (variables introduced in Eq. 7-3 and Eq. 7-4):

$$LAI_{after grazing} = LCI_{i,t} - LGI_{i,t}$$

Eq. 7-6

Now the LAI after grazing can be simulated through ABMGG. This section is an introduction to the key process of the ABMGG. A detailed Design, concept and Detail (ODD) and Decision (ODD+D) description of the ABMGG, where each part of the model is introduced in a standardised way.

7.2.2 Detailed ODD+D description of ABMGG

As mentioned earlier in this Chapter, the ODD protocol is a standardised way of describing ABMGG. This thesis employs an Overview, Design, concept and Detail (ODD) and Decision (ODD+D) protocol to describe the agent-based model, ABMGG. The protocol is widely used in social and ecological studies (Polhill et al., 2008; Müller et al., 2013). The detailed ODD+D descriptions of ABMGG will be discussed, following the guiding questions proposed by Müller et al. (2013).

7.2.2.1 Overview

Purpose

The model aims to reproduce the leaf area index (LAI) after grazing based on the full-growth LAI and the grazing-led LAI changes. Specifically, the model attempts to produce the same number of unaffected, slightly-, medium- and severely-degraded patches, the regional average of the mean and variance of the grazing-led LAI changes of the patches. The model is intended to be useful for researchers and policy-makers who are interested in grassland management (macro policies).

Entities, state variables and scales

There are two types of entities in ABMGG. Firstly, herder agents represent resource users. They are not the real herders, but the representatives of the grazingled LAI changes (without the effect of the previous grazing) observed in MODIS LAI. There are three types of herder agents according to their grassland management types:

- grazing herders (sedentary or continuous) agents, whose livestock cannot move among land patches;
- group grazing herder agents who have joined the group at the beginning of the year and can move their livestock from one land patch to another land patch within the group;
- land market herder agents who can lease/rent land from/to the other herders. These are randomly chosen from sedentary grazing herder agents.

Another type of entity in ABMGG is the grassland patch, which represents the available forage for grazing (measured by LAI). The variables associated with herder agents and land patch agents are shown in Table 7.2. The names of the variables are all self-explanatory, and all the parameters are classified into three types:

- herders related variables; and
- global variables.

The land patch related parameters are mainly used to present the dynamics of the LAI and the group grazing information. With livestock moving between subgroups, the dynamic of grazed LAI can be simulated to match the grazing intensity and grassland status after grazing. Due to the limited data about the exact sizes and locations of grazing groups, the number of sub-groups they have and within which radius they would form a group, all these related parameters need to be analysed to make sure the modelling results can reveal the grassland status observed in MODIS LAI.

type	Variable	value	explanation
land patche s	lai_current _fullgrowth	Chapter 5	A theoretical full-growth LAI if there is no grazing (calculated from new growth function detailed in Chapter 5.
	lai_right_fu llgrowth	Chapter 5	the full-growth LAI for the next time step.
lai_currentstate_grazedvariable		state variable	the LAI actually being "grazed" (grazing-led LAI change without the effect of the previous grazing).
	lai_current	state variable	the LAI after grazing. It will be affected by the previous grazing ("lai_current_previous") and current grazing ("lai_current_grazed").
	lai_current _previous	state variable	the effect of the previous grazing on the current LAI.
	lai_left	state variable	the LAI after grazing of the previous time step (one step before current time step).
	lai_type	Chapter 5	the grazing types of the land patches (un- grazed, continuous and rotational).
	group_id	random	all the rotational grazing land patches will form a local grazing group within the radius, and the locations of the groups are randomized. The land patch agents in the same group will be assigned a same group identification number.
	sub_group_ id	random	Each grazing group has a certain number of sub-groups, and the land patch agents in the same sub-group will be assigned a same sub-group identification number.

Table 7.2: Key parameters in ABMGG

	SU_patch	Chapter 5	all types of land patch agents have a certain unit of livestock, which denoted by grazing- led LAI changes (without the effect of the previous effect) derived from MODIS LAI. They are used to represent the grass forage demand of livestock.
	cell_size	463m×463 m	the spatial resolution of the model. It represents the size of one land patch in reality.
herder s	id_livestoc k	state variable	from which land patch the livestock comes. This association is initialized at the beginning of the year. It is a "pointer" to a land patch agent and does not change during the year.
	SU_livesto ck	Chapter 5	They are the same as "SU_patch" for land patch agents. For each time step, the "SU_patch" will be updated, and then, "SU_livestock" will also be updated as the same as "SU_patch" through association "id_livestock".
	group_id_li vestock	random	these are the same as the land patch agents, and they are initialized at the start of the year after creating livestock agents on each land patch.
	sub_group_ id_livestoc k	random	these are the same as the herder agent.
	destination	Random	the destination for the next move of a rotational grazing livestock agent. It is also a "pointer" to a land patch agent but changes at each step during the year.
Global	radius	6	the radius of the grazing groups. It indicates the "size" of the grazing groups.
	number_pa rticipant	40	the minimum number of herders in a grazing group.
	number_su b_group	3	the average number of sub-groups in a grazing group.
	lease_perce ntage	16%	the percentage of continuous grazing patches being rented to the other herders.
	prolonged_ snow_prob	0.01	the probability that prolonged snow occurs.

The administrative boundary of Zeku is initialized by the land patches where "lai_current_fullgrowth" does not equal to "NaN"; it is a little bit smaller than the

actual administrative boundary due to the presence of non-grass patches or area with no data. Each land path agent occupies a cell of $463m \times 463m$ in the real world. The locations and spatial reference are kept the same as remote sensing data; each time step represents an 8-day period. There are 46 time steps during the year, and the model assumes that the prolonged snow happens randomly during the year.

Process overview and scheduling

At the beginning of the year, the following process will be executed. The detailed description and decision-making process will be discussed later in Table 7.3.

- Store "lai_left" for each step;
- Update the full-growth LAI for each step;
- Update land types (un-grazed, sedentary and rotational grazing land) and create livestock annually;
- Update grass forage demand for the land patch agents and their associated livestock agents;
- Form the grazing groups;
- Divide sub-groups;
- Update the current LAI considering the effect of the previous grazing;
- Build Leasing/renting relationships.

During grass growth season (step 16-37, which refers to day 121~289), four processes will proceed:

- Simulate the effect of prolonged snow on LAI dynamics;
- Livestock grazing;
- Update LAI after grazing;
- Nothing happens outside of the grass growing season.

7.2.2.2 Design concept

Theoretical and Empirical Background

The decision-making of the herders is not based on theory. However, the empirical background of this model is the grass regrowth under different combinations of grazing strategies and institutional arrangements. Rotational grazing patches will see a higher regrowth rate than that of continuous grazing patches (if they are in the same condition) due to the rest period of rotational grazing at the individual species level (Thornley and Johnson, 1990).

In addition, macro policies such as institutional arrangements (group grazing), to some extent, may further amplify this effect by making the size or scale of rotational grazing larger. Thus, accurate simulation of the LAI after livestock grazing is highly depended on the moving behaviours of livestock and the interactions between livestock and grassland. These two key features play to the innate advantages of agent-based modelling for modelling the grassland grazing system. Therefore, the following theories are included in the model:

- grass growth function based on MODIS LAI data (see Chapter 5);
- social-ecological approach to the study of grazing grassland management (Wang et al., 2013).

The ABMGG assumes that the livestock on the sedentary grazing patches do not move to the other patches; all the herder agents on the rotational grazing patches

will join a local grazing group and all the livestock on a group grazing land (owned by group grazing herder agents) will move from one sub-group to another to simulate the herders' rotational grazing strategy. Once herders have joined a grazing group at the beginning of the year, they will not quit or change to another grazing group. According to field surveys in 2012 and 2016, the herders usually have been contracted to the grazing group for the whole year, and no one quits or changes group during the contracted year. The locations of grazing groups and the sub-groups are randomized due to the lack of such information. The total number of grazing groups was 338 in the year 2011. Although accurate locations can improve the accuracy of the model, randomized locations can be used if they can reveal the overall grazing patterns (grazing intensity and grassland status) with considerable uncertainties, which will be discussed in the model evaluation section later.

The decision-making process underlying the model is to make sure the model output (grazing intensity and grassland status) is consistent with what has been derived from MODIS LAI. The total number of grazing groups and the average number of sub-groups in one grazing group are provided by Grassland and Livestock Bureau of Zeku. The full-growth LAI and the per-pixel grazing-led LAI changes (with the effect of the previous grazing) are based on the results of Chapter 5. The full-growth LAI and the per-pixel grazing-led LAI changes are at the individual level; the average number of sub-groups is at the group level; while the total number of grazing groups is at the system level (the whole case study area).

Individual Decision-Making

In ABMGG, all herder agents are forced to behave in a predetermined way: the livestock on a sedentary grazing land cannot move to the other land patches (at the individual level). The livestock on a group grazing land will have to move from one sub-group to another sub-group. The order of visiting sub-groups is randomized. This behaviour is at the grazing group level. Compared with continuously grazed land patches, rotationally grazed patches have a "rest" period, which can change their grassland status. The total available forage (indicated by LAI) for grazing should be greater than that of the forage needed. During the model evaluation, they make decisions based on this pre-defined rule.

The adaptive behaviours of the herders are not considered in the model. The rotational grazing herder agents can only move their livestock within the spatial boundary of the group. The full-growth LAI and the grazing-led LAI changes (without the effect of the previous grazing) are updated at every step. The parametric and stochastic uncertainties are quantified through Approximate Bayesian Computation with multiple parameter sets and repeated model executions, and the input uncertainty is quantified through an extreme situation analysis. These uncertainty analyses will be discussed in the model evaluation section later.

Learning

Individual learning is not considered in the model.

Individual Sensing

The herder agents sense all the endogenous state variables of patches (listed in Table 7.2) without error. The rotational grazing herder agents can additionally perceive the "group_id_livestock", "sub_group_id_livestock" and "SU_livestock" of the other rotational grazing herder agents without error. Only the herder agents in the same group know the LAI before grazing of other agents in that group. The cost of cognition and the costs of gathering information are not considered.

Individual Prediction

Because the full-growth LAI and grazing-led LAI changes (without the effect of the previous grazing) are direct from the results reported in Chapter 5, the prediction of grass growth is not explicitly considered in this model.

Interaction

There are direct interactions both with the land patch agents (through grazing) and among the herder agents (through grouping), which depend on the group identification and sub-group identification. The first type of interaction is between livestock and grassland: livestock will eat forage on grassland, and the growth of grassland LAI will be changed accordingly. Similar to the grazing-led LAI change estimation algorithm in Chapter 5, the LAI before grazing can be calculated as the average of its left and right time neighbours, and the LAI after grazing is the difference of LAI before grazing and grazing-led LAI defoliation. Another is interaction among herders: the herders can join a grazing group or lease land to the others. The subdividing of their group grazing lands affects the LAI after grazing (for land patch agents), they are imposed in a predefined order.

Collectives

Collective behaviour is considered in the model. Herders in one group will move from one sub-group patches to the other sub-group patches during the grass growing period. By forming the grazing group and subdividing of the grazing group, the LAI decreased proportionally to the available forage of individuals. In such way, the collective behaviours of herders are simulated in the model.

Heterogeneity

The agents are heterogeneous with regards to the following state variables:

- group identification;
- sub-group identification;
- full-growth LAI;
- LAI before/after grazing;
- livestock unit;

The (decision) processes are the same for the agents with the same grazing type, but due to their heterogeneous attributes, different grassland degradation patterns emerge.

Stochasticity

Stochasticity is used to represent two sources of variability in livestock movement that are too complex to represent mechanistically.

- although the selective instinct of livestock could affect their moving behaviours, the livestock just move randomly to the sub-group patches (in predefined random order);
- the second stochasticity is where the prolonged snow would happen during the modelling steps. This is an unpredictable extreme climate event. An overall possibility of a prolonged snow event is represented by parameter "prolonged_snow_prob";

In addition, since the spatial boundary of the grazing groups and sub-groups is not available, another stochastic element is the locations of the group and subgroups (they are randomized).

Observation

LAI after grazing and grazing-led LAI changes are collected for each time step. The simulated grazing-led LAI changes (mean and variance) and the grassland status (the number of no-effect, slightly, medium and severely degraded patches) will be evaluated in Section 7.3.

7.2.2.3 Details

Implementation Details

The model is implemented using NetLogo 6.0.3 with the GIS extension and R 3.3.3. The source code is free for research purpose, and the website is: http://modelingcommons.org/browse/one_model/5706#model_tabs_browse_info

Initialisation

The model world is initialized with the same spatial boundary of the grassland in Zeku. At the beginning of a simulation year, three different grazing types of the patches are reinitialized: un-grazed, sedentary (continuous) grazing and rotational grazing; then the full-growth LAI and the forage demand on each land patch is loaded; the grazing groups and sub-groups are formed randomly thereafter, which are varied among simulations due to the random location of the grazing groups and sub-groups. The other initial state of the model is the same among the simulations. The grazing groups, sub-groups and leasing-renting relations are formed based on the aggregated statistical properties (the total number of grazing groups, the average number of sub-groups in the group and the percentage of leasing-renting land patches). The other initial values are chosen from the grazing information derived from MODIS LAI (see Chapter 5).

Input Data

There are three main input data sets:

- full growth LAI, which changes for each time step;
- "SU_livestock" is updated for each time step; and
- the grazing types which update at the start of the year.

The full growth LAI can be calculated from the new growth-grazing function by setting the previous grazing effect PB_t and current grazing PG_t to 0. We can also calculate the LAI consumption based on the estimated grazed LAI. In order to simulate the group grazing behaviours, and because there is no spatial boundary

data for the grazing groups and herders, the ABMGG does not aim at producing the results of exactly the same grazing amount and grazing frequency at the exactly grazing time point, but rather by producing the same grazing pattern: i.e. the same grazing intensity and grassland status. In ABMGG, grazed LAIs (demand of livestock) are updated at the same grazing-led LAI changes (without the effect of previous grazing) as estimated in Chapter 5.

Submodels

The detailed submodels and processes are listed in Table 7.3. There are three parameters related to the group rotational grazing:

- "number_participant";
- "number_sub_group";
- "lease_percentage".

one related to land market:

• "lease_percentage"

and one related to exogenous disturbance

• "prolonged_snow_prob"

Their values are given in Table 7.2.

Process	Variable involved	Description	Formalization
1. Store LAI after grazing of the previous step	State variable ("lai_left")	for each land patch at each time step, the LAI after grazing (even if it has not been grazed) will be stored before updating any other values of the land patch agent. It is used to calculate the effect of the previous grazing on the current LAI.	ask patches [set lai_left ai_current]
2. Update full-growth LAI	The full-growth LAI ("lai_current_full growth" and "lai_current_fullg rowth_right")	The theoretical LAI if there is no grazing. it is input data for ABMGG from an external file.	Using NetLogo GIS extension to read the external file.

Table 7.3: Details of the implementation of the model processes.

3. Update land types	The grazing type of land patch agents ("lai_type")	At the start of a simulation year, three different grazing types are reinitialized. The grazing types of Zeku at 463x463 m ² spatial resolution are based on the grazing- led LAI frequencies for each patch. The un-grazed patches are the pixels with 0 grazing frequencies; while the rotational grazing patches are the pixels with grazing frequencies equal to 2 or bigger than 2. The rest of the patches are therefore continuous grazing lands.	This information is a pre-produced map derived from the results of Chapter 5.
4. Opdate forage demand of the livestock	demand of the livestock owned by herder agent ("SU_patch" and "SU_livestock")	demand is measured by the grazing-led LAI changes (without the effect of the previous grazing) during the year. For each time step, "SU_patch" will be updated and then the associated livestock will update "SU_livestock", the values of the two are exactly the same.	produced maps.
5. Form the grazing groups	The size of the group (" <i>radius</i> "); The number of herders in the group (" <i>number_partici</i> <i>pant</i> "); The group identification of	All the rotational grazing land patches will have to join the local grazing groups. The locations of the grazing groups are randomized.	Ask number_participant herder agents to form the group.

	the land patch ("group_id")		
6. Divide sub-groups;	The group identification of the land patch ("group_id")	The land patch agents in one grazing groups are divided into sub-groups.	Ask number_participant/nu mber_sub_groups herder agents
	The sub-group identification of the land agents ("sub_group_id") ; The number of sub-groups (number_of_sub_ group).		to form a sub-group.
7. calculate the effect of the previous grazing	The full-growth LAI ("lai_current_full growth", "lai_right_fullgr woth" and "lai_current_prev ious").	The effect of the previous grazing is the difference between full-growth LAI and the expected LAI (with the effect of the previous grazing but without the effect of current grazing).	See Eq. 7-5
8. Build Leasing/rent ing relationship s	The percentage of leasing/renting herders (<i>"lease_percentag</i> <i>e"</i>); The livestock consumption demand (<i>"SU_livestock"</i>).	This is a simplified land market behaviour. Randomly select the same percentage of the herder agents to form such relationships.	Ask <i>lease_percentage*total</i> <i>_number_herders</i> continuous grazing herder agents change <i>SU_livestock</i>
9. The effect of prolonged snow	The probability of prolonged snow ("prolonged_snow _prob"); The current LAI ("lai_current").	The model assumes prolonged snow only happens on rotational grazing patches and causes a random LAI loss (an addition decrease on "lai_current" of continuous grazing patch leads to the grazing frequency greater than 1, which is not true for	Ask prolonged_snow_prob * (count patches with [lai_type = 2]) [set lai_current random lai_current]

		continuous grazing patches)	
10. Livestock grazing	The livestock consumption demand ("SU_livestock"); Current LAI ("lai_current") The identification of patches ("group_id" and "sub_group_id") The identification and destination for next move of herder agents ("id_livestock", "group_id_livesto ck", "sub_group_id_li vestock" and "destination")	The LAI of the land patches will decrease directly on continuous grazing patches, and the livestock will not move to the other patches; For rotational grazing patches, the livestock will move from one sub-group to another sub-group in a randomly pre- defined order. The LAI of the patches in the subgroup will decrease proportionally to the current LAI.	See Eq. 7-2, Eq. 7-3 and Eq. 7-4
11. Update LAI after grazing	The full-growth LAI ("lai_current_full _growth"); The full-growth LAI for the next time step ("lai_right_full_g rowth"); the LAI for previous time step ("lai_current_pre vious"); LAI after grazing ("lai_current"); Grazing-led LAI changes ("lai_current_gra zed").	For un-grazed and sedentary grazing patches, the LAI change is the same as that observed in remote sensing. For rotational grazing patches, the LAI value depends on the number of livestock standing on a patch. The LAI is calculated by considering the effect of current grazing and the effect of the previous grazing.	See Eq. 7-6
8. All the other steps during the	The current LAI (<i>"lai_current"</i>)	The effect of grazing is ignored during this period.	Ask patches

year: nothing happens (not		[set LAI after grazing to full-growth LAI; set grazing-led LAI
considered in ABMGG)	sidered ABMGG)	changes to 0]

7.3 Model evaluation

This section discusses the evaluation of ABMGG. The verification of the model is presented in Section 7.3.1, followed by a subsection that focuses on sensitivity analysis to identify the effect of the parameter value changes on the model output (Section 7.3.2). After calibrating the ABMGG with an Approximate Bayesian Computing method (Section 7.3.3 and Section 7.3.4), the model validation work is then carried out (Section 7.3.6). Section 7.3.5 presents the uncertainties of the ABMGG. Finally, a scenario-based analysis is employed to assess the different combinations of grazing strategies and institutional arrangements for Zeku in Section 7.4, where the uncertainty of the results of scenario analysis is also discussed.

After building the ABMGG, the rest of the work is to make sure it works reasonably well; that is, to ensures the parameter values, interactions, process and output are working in the same manner as the real grassland grazing system, thereby allowing the policy assessment to proceed. In fact, the process of policy assessment is intimately tied to the validation and scenario analysis of the ABMGG (Figure 7.2). The evaluation process consists of model verification, a sensitivity analysis and model calibration. Following the evaluation, the policy scenario analysis proceeds through the analysis of the outputs by changing the value sets of the model parameters. This chapter will now explain each of them.



Figure 7.2: The processes of model evaluation and scenario analysis

7.3.1 Model verification

Verification is an essential part of developing the ABMGG to ensure that the model processes have been accurately implemented such that the model behaves as it is expected to (Ormerod and Rosewell, 2009; Arifin et al., 2011). The main behaviour in ABMGG is livestock grazing according to different grazing types. That is, a herder agent of sedentary grazing type will not move to any patches during the simulation process. Randomly moving herders (herders that do not form grazing groups; they are used just for comparison purposes with the group moving herders) will move to their neighbouring patches randomly. While the group moving herders will move to their sub-group areas one by one, they are quite similar to the industrialized farms, the land in one group will be divided into several subgroups and the livestock will graze on the subgroups one by one. When the land market feature is on, the herders will find a landlord to rent land from at a certain probability.

Figure 7.3 shows the interface of ABMGG. The moving behaviours can be visually examined. The monitoring of the model results can be through either spatial maps or time-series graphs, which plot the indicators over the time of the model run. The large output extent is able to display the spatial maps of LAI after grazing, grazing types of land patches and the randomly formed grazing groups.



Figure 7.3: Snapshot of the ABMGG
Another step of the ABMGG verification is to assess whether the simulation outputs fall within a reasonable range compared with the real data, which means whether ABMGG can produce the same grazing intensity and grassland status. Note that un-grazed patches are excluded in the test because they would produce almost identical LAI values as the MODIS LAI. Hence the grazing-led LAI defoliation would be 0, which would significantly improve the results of statistical tests.

Only time steps between 16 and 37 for the simulated year are tested because these are the grass growth period. In addition, the LAI would be the same in winter when MODIS LAI cannot tell the difference between grazed and un-grazed land. The model was run 50 times for the year 2011 to generate the average outputs for each step.

Figure 7.4 shows the average grazing-led LAI changes (without the effect of the previous grazing) simulated by ABMGG. The standard deviation of 50 simulated runs is also shown in this figure. Within all the simulation steps, the standard deviations are quite small, which indicate the stochastic uncertainty of the model output is quite small; and generally, a bigger standard deviation of the grazing-led LAI changes can be observed in the time steps with a higher average value of grazing-led LAI changes. This is expected as the stochastic setting in the ABMGG (for example randomised locations of grazing groups) affect the grazing-led LAI changes, and a higher grazing intensity would generate a bigger variance of the model output.

In addition, we can see that the average simulated grazing-led LAI changes (without the effect of the previous grazing) are systematically higher than the grazing-led LAI changes (without the effect of the previous grazing) derived with MODIS LAI product. The main reason is that, for some of the grazing groups, the number of sub-groups was bigger than the actual number of sub-groups (unfortunately, the number of subgroups for each grazing group is not available at the time of writing). This may lead to the total grazing demand (represented by LAI) in the group was even greater than that of the total available forage of the sub-group; when the livestock moved in that sub-group, they only ate the maximum available forage rather than the actual grazing demand of the forage (it was bigger than the maximum available forage). Nevertheless, the R² between simulated and observed grazing-led LAI changes is 0.996, and the p-value of the T-test is 0.88, which indicates that they are statistically similar.



Figure 7.4: Simulated and observed grazing-led LAI changes (without the effect of the previous grazing), 2011

The numbers of degraded patches are the important aspect of evaluating the grassland status, and they are simply calculated according to the Chinese national criteria of "Parameters for degradation, sandification and saltfication of rangelands" (Su et al., 2003). By definition, if a decreased LAI is less than 10% of expected LAI, it will be classified into unaffected grassland type ("no effect" in this thesis), which means the patch has not been degraded. If it is between 10% and 20%, the land patch then is classified into the slightly degraded type; The medium degraded land patch indicates a decrease of LAI between 20% and 50%, while that of severely degraded land exceeds 50%.

Figure 7.5 shows the number of degraded patches for each time step of the year 2011 under these four degradation criteria. The ABMGG has underestimated the number of unaffected patches but overestimated the number of degraded patches for the other three types of degradation. Three goodness-of-fit indicators are shown in Table 7.4. The R² between simulated and observed numbers of degraded patches are all bigger than 0.6. The p-values of the t-test for the number of unaffected, medium and severely degraded patches are all bigger than 0.01, indicating that they are statistically the same on the average. However, the p-value of the t-test for the number of slightly degraded patches is smaller than 0.01, which means the average of the number of slightly degraded patches is statistically different. One reason for the discrepancies between statistics of model output with observed data is the inaccurate setting of the grazing groups and sub-groups. The ABMGG used randomised locations of the grazing groups rather than the actual locations, and the

livestock moved from one sub-group to another sub-group in a random order. Even if they were to eat the same amount of grass forage, the LAI after grazing would be different due to the differences in full-growth LAI for the land patches. These model discrepancies can be decreased or even eliminated by using accurate grazing group and sub-group information and the grazing order (or behaviour) within the sub-groups. On the whole, although there are differences in the number of degraded patches, and the simulation results did not hit the exact points of MODIS LAI observed ones at an individual perspective, the ABMGG has behaved as expected and the model output matched with observed data (except for the number of slightly degraded patches). In addition, such discrepancies can also be decreased by calibration with the observed data, which will be illustrated in Section 7.3.3.



Figure 7.5: Simulated and observed number of degraded patches for each step of the year 2011

Table 7.4: Good	lness-of-fit	t measurements of the n	nodelling resu	ılts
Type	\mathbb{R}^2	T-test (P-value)	RMSE	

Unaffected	0.8623	0.0234	1842.3160

0.6089	0.0062	1072.2240
0.8362	0.1674	615.0182
0.6512	0.1563	260.1417
	0.6089 0.8362 0.6512	0.6089 0.0062 0.8362 0.1674 0.6512 0.1563

7.3.2 Sensitivity analysis

For agent-based modelling, sensitivity analysis is commonly carried out to explore the effect of a model's parameters on the model outputs. This analysis is essential for identifying the most important parameters for the model before it is calibrated or used in scenario analysis. One widely used approach in sensitivity analysis is to change one parameter at a time, while keeping all other parameter values constant (<u>Thiele et al., 2014</u>). However, this approach is oversimplified as it leaves out possible interactions among input parameters (<u>Ten Broeke et al., 2016</u>). Therefore, cross-variation systematic sensitivity analysis should be conducted to understand dynamics in the real world system that are described by ABMs (<u>Ten Broeke et al., 2016</u>).

Typically, there are three different approaches: screening, local and global sensitivity analysis (Saltelli et al., 1993; Thiele et al., 2014). Screening methods are designed to explore a large set of parameters with wide value ranges and usually are computationally efficient. They are very fast in identifying the important parameters but cannot quantify importance. Local sensitivity analysis can deliver more detailed information about such importance by changing the values of parameters to a certain percentage. However, interactions between parameters are ignored; the results may be totally different if another set of parameters is quantified by exploring the full range of their possible values against each other. The defect with global sensitivity analysis methods is they are usually computationally expensive.

The global sensitivity analysis techniques are chosen for ABMGG as there are few uncertain input parameters. The technique for global sensitivity analysis of ABMGG is the Partial (rank) correlation coefficient (PCC/PRCC), which is used to measure the relationship and the strength of the relationship of the input parameters (<u>Saltelli et al., 1993</u>; <u>Manache and Melching, 2008</u>). PCC can be used for the measurement of linear relationships, and PRCC is used for the measurement of non-linear but monotonic associations.

Figure 7.6 shows the results of the PCC/PRCC analysis of ABMGG. For the average values of grazing-led LAI changes in the bottom left figure, the PCC/PRCC results show that they are only monotonically correlated with the number of sub-groups. The same is true for the variance of the grazing-led LAI changes. As it had been explained in Section 7.3.1, the main reason for this is the randomized locations of grazing groups and the setting of the average of the number of sub-groups. For some of the grazing groups, a larger number of sub-groups than the actual number may cause insufficiently available forage for

livestock grazing, and therefore, the grazing-led LAI changes would be smaller than the observed ones. The calibration work would be helpful to prevent the simulated grazing-led LAI changes being fundamentally different with the observed data, as only the parameter values which produce the smallest difference between model output and observed data could be selected as valid settings. This will be introduced in the next sections.

The other four parameters do not have a strong correlation with the mean or variance of the grazing-led LAI changes, and this indicates they are non-linear and non-monotonic. Since the radius of the grazing group, number of participants in the group and lease percentage are grazing strategy and institutional arrangement related parameters, and their value would affect the size of grazing groups and the scale of land market, this non-monotonic relationship indicates that different grazing strategies or institutional arrangements cannot significantly change the grazing intensity in ABMGG. It is expected that the grazing intensity should at least keep statistically the same as the observed data, and this is the premise for the scenario analysis later in Section 7.4.

There is basically no relationship between the numbers of degraded patches (four categories) and the number of participants in the groups and lease percentage. The relationship between the number of degraded patches and the radius varies according to the standard of degradation. Radius has a weak positive linear relationship (PCC < 0.5) with the number of medium and severely degraded patches, and a strong negative linear relationship (PCC < 0.5) with the number of unaffected patches, but a strong negative linear relationship (PCC > 0.5) with the number of slightly degraded patches.

The number of sub-groups has a similar relationship with the number of slightly, medium and severely degraded patches, that they have a strong linear but monotonic (decreasing) relationship (PCC and PRCC < -0.8). There is a strong positive linear relationship between the number of sub-groups and the number of unaffected patches (PCC and PRCC > 0.8). In addition, the probability of prolonged snow has a weak negative linear relationship with the number of unaffected patches, and a weak positive linear relationship with the number of slightly and medium degraded patches, but a strong linear and monotonic (increasing) relationship with the number of severely degraded patches. This is expected as the prolong snow was simulated as an exogenous variable to decrease the LAI randomly, and the number of unaffected patches should increase with the increase of the probability of prolonged snow; while the number of slightly, medium and severely degraded patches would increase.

To conclude, the relationship between input parameters and model outputs are revealed through the PCC/PRCC analysis. The grazing strategies and institutional arrangements do not have a significant effect on the mean value of the grazing-led LAI changes; the influence of different grazing strategies and institutional arrangements related parameters varies against the degradation criteria. Based on those analyses, although the number of sub-groups has a strong linear and monotonic relationship with the numbers of degraded patches (four categories), the relationship between the values of the parameters and the statistical properties of the model output are not linear and monotonic, which means the maximum values of the parameters will not produce the maximum statistical properties of the model output. This thesis, therefore, needs to calibrate the model with a method dealing



with such non-linear and non-monotonic relationship, which will be illustrated next.

Figure 7.6: PCC/PRCC sensitivity analysis of ABMGG

7.3.3 Model calibration with Approximate Bayesian Computing

The next step is the calibration of the model. In this stage, an optimisation of the parameters used in the model will be involved. Generally, there are two different ways of fitting the modelling parameters to real-world data. Best fit strategies try to find a parameter set that leads to the lowest difference between observed data and simulated results. However, models usually have more than one criterion that needs to be fitted, and even the parameter set that best fits one criterion may not be able to reproduce the observed pattern that fits embodies a fit for all the other criteria. For ABMGG, the fitting criteria consist of not only grazed LAI measurements (mean and variance) but also degraded related patch measurements (no effect, slight, medium and severe). In addition, the strength of each criteria importance should be considered before aggregating them into one criterion when using best-fit strategies for ABMGG.

Categorical calibration methods are used in a situation where a range of plausible parameter values is defined for each calibration criteria, rather than one single

value (compared to best-fit strategies). The aim of categorical calibration is therefore to find a parameter set that meets all predefined criteria. In this thesis, multiple fitting criteria is used with best fit calibration. Approximate Bayesian Computing (ABC) is particularly well suited for implementing this optimisation as ABC not only provides the best parameter value estimation but also gives the uncertainty with consideration of correlations between parameters (<u>Csilléry et al.</u>, <u>2012a</u>). Rather than estimating the exact maximum likelihood through statistical summaries and simulations, ABCs calibrate a model by forming the posterior parameter distribution which is closest to the real world data (<u>Thiele et al.</u>, <u>2014</u>). The basic idea of ABC methods can be described as (<u>Wilkinson</u>, 2013):

$$\pi(\theta|D) = \frac{\pi(D|\theta)\pi(\theta)}{\pi(D)}$$

where $\pi(\cdot)$ represents different probability densities, and $\pi(\cdot | \cdot)$ is the conditional probability densities; θ accounts for the parameter sets to be calibrated; D denote the real world observation data; $\pi(\theta)$ means the prior distribution of the parameter sets; $\pi(D|\theta)$ is the probability of the true value under the model given parameter values. $\pi(\theta|D)$ is the posterior distribution, and $\pi(D)$ is the evidence for the model. The calibration is then used to calculate posterior distribution based on the true value distribution of parameter sets.

Suppose that a parameter named θ_i needs to be calibrated, the first step of ABC calibration is to produce a sample of θ_i of size j; for each parameter sample value $\theta_{i,j}$, the relevant result of model simulation is represented by $sim_{i,j}$. Then the Euclidean distance d_i can be used as a measurement of the statistical differences between $sim_{i,j}$ and actual data obs_i (van der Vaart et al., 2015):

$$d_{i} = \sqrt{\sum_{j} \left(\frac{sim_{i,j} - obs_{j}}{sd(sim_{j})}\right)^{2}}$$

If d_i is smaller than a given threshold value, which is determined by the tolerance rate (the percentage of accepted simulation, that is, how many simulations are sufficiently realistic) in ABC, the parameter set will be added to the accepted parameter value sets. A smaller value of tolerance would lead to a better approximation (d_i is smaller) of the true posterior distribution. Therefore, tolerance can be regarded as a determinant of the accuracy of the algorithm. Usually, the value of this tolerance can be calculated by cross-validation of the parameter sets (see detail in Section 7.3.3.2).

All the accepted parameter values thus form a distribution that represents the best estimation of the parameter values. This distribution can be further improved by incorporating the relationship between sim_i and $\theta_{i,j}$; local linear regression (Beaumont et al., 2002) and neural networks (Csilléry et al., 2010) are commonly used for this improvement:

 $\theta_i = f(sim_i)$

where $f(\cdot)$ is linear or other advanced methods describing the relationship between simulation results and parameter values. Details can be found in <u>Csilléry et al.</u> (2012b).

7.3.3.1 Latin Hypercube Sampling for parameter value sets

An efficient method to reduce the number of parameter sets but still be able to scan the parameter space in a systematic way is Latin Hypercube Sampling (LHS) (Stein, 1987), which is widely used in the model sensitivity analysis (Marino et al., 2008), calibration (Ciampaglia, 2013) and uncertainty analysis. LHS is a stratified sampling method without replacement, which partitions each parameter distribution into certain intervals of equal probability, and selects one parameter value from each interval. The interval sizes are determined by the probability density distribution of the parameters. For ABMGG, the value ranges of parameters are listed in Table 7.5. The radius of a grazing group is usually 1km or 2 km from the survey (see Chapter 3), that is 2 or 5, patch distance for ABMGG. To make sure the calibration includes some larger grazing groups, the maximum value of radius is taken as 10 (4.6 km in the real world; a greater radius value than 10 is fine, but the trade-off between the cost of computing and maximum value should be considered). The number of participants in one group is the minimum number of herders in a grazing group. The average number of herders in a grazing group can be calculated by dividing the total number of rotational grazing patches by the number of grazing groups (it is from the survey, and the number of grazing group was 338 in 2011), and the results is 21; this thesis, therefore, set the calibration range to 10~45. A bigger number of the minimum number of herders in a grazing group is fine, but the efficiency of the calibration should be considered; in addition, the herders in the ABMGG will find the closest grazing groups to join in if they cannot be assigned to a grazing group randomly, and if the minimum number of herders in a grazing group is too big, it may cause the intersection among grazing groups, which is unlikely to happen in the real situation according to the field survey by the author in 2016. For the number of sub-groups, the rotational grazing patches should have at least 2 sub-groups (otherwise it will be continuous grazing patch or un-grazed patch), the maximum is 22 because it is big enough to encompass all situations. From the survey, we just have one fixed number of lease percentage, which is about 15%. This value range extends to 10~20% in the calibration. Unfortunately, we have not got the prolonged snow data, but in the neighbouring (Maging) County, the probability is 0.27%. Therefore this calibration chose $0.1 \sim 1\%$ as a value range for the prolonged snow probability.

parameters	Value range	Distribution
radius	2~10	uniform
num_participant	10~45	uniform
num_sub_group	2~22	uniform
lease_percentage	5~20%	uniform
prolonged_snow	0.1~1%	uniform

 Table 7.5: The prior distribution of the parameter values in ABC calibration

7.3.3.2 Cross-validation for ABC tolerance selection

The tolerance value determines how many simulations should be accepted, and how to get a good tolerance value is then the next challenge for the ABC calibration. Cross-validation methods provide an alternative way to evaluate the accuracy of the tolerance value when there is not enough data to distinguish the accuracy of different tolerance values (Kohavi, 1995; Csilléry et al., 2012a). Here, 5 different tolerance values are tested: 5%, 10%, 20%, 30% and 50%. The summary statistics are shown in Table 7.6:

tolerance parameters	5%	10%	20%	30%	50%
radius	1.0133	0.9566	0.9858	0.9794	0.9892
num_participant	0.983	0.9912	0.9719	0.981	1.0121
num_sub_group	0.0265	0.0314	0.0436	0.0646	0.1785
lease_percentage	0.9985	0.9936	0.9974	0.9972	0.9984
prolonged_sonw	0.4268	0.5803	0.7977	0.9224	0.9767

Table 7.6: Summary statistics of the results of cross-validation for model parameters

A simulation is selected repeatedly to be a validation simulation, while the other simulations are used as training simulations. The error of this "leave-one-out" cross-validation shows the tolerance value 20% is more suitable compared with all the other values. The modelling error of "radius" is decreased and then increased with the tolerance value varying from 5% to 20% and being fixed around 0.98 when tolerance value exceeds 20%, while the error of "num_participant", "lease_percentage" and "prolonged_snow" were all increase when tolerance value exceeding 20%. The error of "lease_percentage" under is not sensitive to the value of the tolerance rate and it is fixed to about 0.99. A bigger value of the tolerance rate is fine, but there is a compromise between the value and the accuracy of the calibration results. Usually, the smaller the tolerance rate, the higher the accuracy of the calibration results, but also the higher cost of the computing time.

7.3.3.3 ABC calibration results

The final step of ABC validation is to generate a parameter set that produces the best-matched simulation result against the remote sensing derived data. In Section 7.3.1, the comparisons of ABMGG results show the simulated number of unaffected, medium and severely degraded patches match with the remote sensing derived data, but the simulated number of medium degraded patches was statically different from the remote sensing derived one. The ABC calibration results aim therefore to find a parameter set that produces a match as similar to the remote sensing derived data as possible for all the calibration years. The ABMGG focus on producing a similar grazing intensity and the grassland status, and the calibration year used is 2011. The numbers of degraded patches, mean and variance derived from MODIS LAI data are shown in Table 7.7. Notice that the un-grazed patches are excluded, and the numbers of degraded patches were also calculated for the continuous and rotational grazing pixels by comparing the rate of LAI after grazing to full-growth LAI with the degradation standard.

output	value	unit
no_degraded	12804	-
slight_degraded	752	-
medium_degraded	1474	-
severe_degraded	268	-
mean_grazed	0.077	m ² /m ²
var_grazed	0.0680	-

Table 7.7: Number of degraded patches, mean and variance of grazing-led LAI changes derived from remote sensing data

The posterior distributions of ABC calibration are shown in Figure 7.7. There are 2000 LHS sampling parameter value sets. The ABC calibration, therefore, needs to run the model for 2000 times and repeat 10 times for each parameter value set to get the mean value of statistical properties of the model output. This can produce more robust results compared with single run with each parameter value set due to the stochastic settings in the ABMGG, of which only 20% of the running can be accepted (see tolerance rate selection for detail). The posterior distributions are all based on these 400 accepted simulations. These distributions provide not only the best-matched parameter value sets but also upper and lower confidence boundaries, which would be helpful in producing a confidence band for the ABMGG.

- 211 -



Figure 7.7: Posterior distribution of the parameters using ABC

In addition, the estimation of posterior distributions can be improved by local linear regression, but it is not suitable for this research as there is no obvious linearity among parameters. Figure 7.8 shows the joint posterior density between all the parameters. The Pearson's product-moment correlation test shows the correlations among parameter are all smaller than 0.2, which indicate there is no significant linear relationship among the parameters. This thesis, therefore, does not need to incorporate with the linear relationship between the parameters.



Figure 7.8: Joint posterior distribution between parameters: top-left part shows the Pearson's product-moment correlation test value; the bottomright part shows their joint density counterplot

The preferred parameter selection of ABC calibration in Table 7.8 is the mean of the posterior parameter distribution. Commonly, mean or mode values of posterior parameter distribution can be selected as the best match parameter value set as well depending on different modelling purposes; and in the R "abc" package, the median absolute deviation is used as a robust unbiased estimation of the standard deviation, and it is more resilient to outliers in the data (<u>Csilléry et al., 2012b</u>). However, this thesis uses the mean value of the posterior parameter values as the calibration results as it is more convenient and common to visualise the uncertainty with the mean value. The model results produced by the other posterior values of the parameters, therefore, can be expressed as the uncertainty of the model.

	radius	num_participant	num_sub_group	lease_percentage	prolonged_snow
Min.:	2.011	10.055	1.585	0.100	0.001
5 % Perc.:	2.566	11.770	2.065	0.105	0.002
Median :	5.733	26.838	4.212	0.146	0.006
Mean:	5.939	26.797	4.203	0.149	0.006
Mode:	4.690	15.139	4.185	0.140	0.007
95 % Perc.:	9.615	42.962	6.269	0.195	0.010
Max.:	9.973	44.989	6.495	0.200	0.010

Table 7.8: Posterior distribution characteristics for all the parameters after ABC calibration

7.3.4 Evaluation of the calibration results

The evaluation of the calibration results is to make sure the performance of the ABMGG has been improved. Using the mean values of the selected parameters listed in Table 7.8, the R^2 between simulated and observed grazing-led LAI changes is 0.978, and the p-value of the T-test is 0.66, which indicates they are still statistically similar. However, this result does not ensure the same grassland status under the degradation standard, and therefore, the goodness-of-fit measurements and the spatial pattern of the grassland status should be evaluated to ensure a successful calibration.

Similar to the model verification, three goodness-of-fit indicators have been employed to evaluate the calibration results. As it is shown in Table 7.9, the R^2 and the p-value of the t-test between simulated degradation status and that observed in MODIS LAI for each degradation type has increased, while the RMSE has decreased. This indicates that the calibration has improved the overall model accuracy. However, the R^2 and the p-value of the t-test for slightly degraded patches are still relatively low. As was mentioned in Section 7.3.1, such discrepancies between simulation results and the observed data can be improved by more accurate and explicit information and knowledge on, for example, grazing groups and sub-groups.

	Туре	R ²	T-test (P-value)	RMSE
Before calibration	Unaffected	0.8623	0.0234	1842.3160
	Slightly degraded	0.6089	0.0062	1072.2240
	Medium degraded	0.8362	0.1674	615.0182
	Severely degraded	0.6512	0.1563	260.1417
After calibration	Unaffected	0.8667	0.05023	1445.2860
	Slightly degraded	0.6459	0.0131	920.7647

Table 7.9: Goodness-of-fit measurements before and after calibration

Medium degraded	0.9112	0.1983	388.6010
Severely degraded	0.7589	0.1943	158.2865

Another aspect of the evaluation work is to compare the spatial pattern of the degradation status. In this section, the spatial maps of the four degradation types will be displayed directly. Since the simulated degradation maps were all produced through an average of 50 repeated simulations, the standard deviation of the numbers of degraded patches is shown alongside the average numbers of degraded patches.

The maps of the number of degraded patches are shown in Figure 7.9, Figure 7.10, Figure 7.11 and Figure 7.12. Notice that the un-grazed patches identified in Chapter 5 are filled with black colour, and these are the patches where no grazing happen in both observed data from remote sensing and the model output of the ABMGG. The values on the maps are the counts of the patches which have been identified as specific degradation types during the year (there are 46 time steps in total for the year). In addition, the relative estimation error ratio at the patch scale can be represented by the ratio of the difference between the simulated and observed number of degraded patches to the observed number of degraded patches. Four descriptive statistics (maximum, minimum, mean and standard deviation) of the relative error are shown in Table 7.10.

	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Standard Deviation
Unaffected	-0.178	0.257	-0.037	0.043
Slightly degraded	-0.950	3.480	0.503	0.849
Medium degraded	-0.970	2.880	-0.013	0.538
Severely degraded	-1.000	0.899	-0.315	0.281

 Table 7.10: Descriptive statistics of the relative error of the model

An obvious decrease (an overall decrease in redness) in the simulated average number of unaffected patches in Figure 7.9b can be seen compared with that in Figure 7.9a, and more specifically, in Figure 7.9d, where the differences between the two show that the majority of the difference is negative, which mean the ABMGG has underestimated the number of unaffected patches. This is consistent with the results of the top-left plot in Figure 7.5, where the simulated numbers of unaffected patches were systematically smaller than that of the observed data. In addition, as listed in Table 7.10, the average relative error ratio is -3.7%, which also indicates the ABMGG has slightly underestimated the number of unaffected patches on the average.



Figure 7.9: Spatial maps of the simulated and observed number of unaffected patches

Contrary to the number of unaffected patches, there is an obvious increase (an overall increase in redness) in the simulated average number of slighted patches in Figure 7.10b can be seen compared with that in Figure 7.10a; and in Figure 7.10d, the differences between the two show that the majority of the difference is positive, which indicates the ABMGG has overestimated the number of slightly degraded patches. This is more visually obvious in the results of the top-right plot in Figure 7.5, where the simulated numbers of slightly degraded patches were significantly bigger than that of the observed data. As it is shown in Table 7.10, the average relative error ratio is 50.3% for the simulated number of slightly degraded patches, and this implies the number of slightly degraded patches was largely overestimated.



Figure 7.10: Spatial maps of the simulated and observed number of slightly degraded patches

The comparison of the spatial maps of the observed and simulated number of medium degraded patches shows (see Figure 7.11a and Figure 7.11b) there is no obvious overall increase or decrease pattern; this can be further confirmed through Figure 7.11d, where the overestimated and underestimated number of medium degraded patches are scattered on the land, and we can hardly verify the overall

pattern (decrease or increase) through visual interpretation. The further descriptive statistics in Table 7.10 shows the average relative error ratio is -1.3% for the simulated number of slightly degraded patches, which means the ABMGG has slightly underestimated the number of medium degraded patches.



Figure 7.11: Spatial maps of the simulated and observed number of medium degraded patches

For the number of severely degraded patches, there is an obvious increase (an overall increase in redness) in the simulated average number of unaffected patches in Figure 7.12b can be seen compared with that in Figure 7.12a. We can also see that the overwhelming positive differences between the simulated number of severely degraded patches and the observed number of severely degraded patches are shown in Figure 7.12d. This is also can be seen from the bottom-right plot in Figure 1.4, where some of the simulated numbers of unaffected patches were much greater than that of the observed data. However, the average relative error ratio for the number of severely degraded patches in Table 7.10 is -31.5%, which suggests a contrary result. This is because the average relative error ratio here is the mean value of the relative error ratio for all the severely degraded patches. Although most of the number of severely degraded patches have been overestimated, the



relative error ratio is relatively smaller than that of the underestimated patches; and therefore, a negative average relative error ratio presents.

Figure 7.12: Spatial maps of the simulated and observed number of severely degraded patches

The spatial maps of the standard deviation in Figure 7.9c, Figure 7.10c, Figure 7.11c and Figure 7.12c show a quite similar spatial pattern, which presents quite similar "clusters" at the current classification. A further detailed spatial pattern analysis can be helpful to understand the spatial distribution of these standard deviations, but this is beyond the topic of this research.

The goodness-of-fit measurements in this section have examined the improvement of the model output at the regional level through model calibration, and the comparison of the simulated and observed spatial distribution of the number of degraded patches further explored the model validity. However, the spatial maps displayed in this section were the results of 50 repeated simulations, which is useful to explain the uncertainty caused by the stochastic setting in the ABMGG; the parametric uncertainty, however, needs to be additionally clarified to ensure the model output being within a reasonable range.

7.3.5 The uncertainty analysis of the ABMGG

The uncertainty of the ABMGG consists of 3 parts:

- stochastic uncertainty, which can be quantified by repeated simulations and it has been presented in Section 7.3.4;
- parametric uncertainty, which typically can be evaluated through model calibration and the result of the parametric uncertainty will be discussed in this section; and
- input uncertainty, which will be explored after the validation section.

The parametric uncertainty can arise from imprecise settings of the parameter values. In the calibration section (Section 7.3.3), only the parameter value sets producing the results of the closest distance with observed value were selected as the posterior distribution of the parameter values. The parametric uncertainty, therefore, can be described by the model outputs with those selected parameter values.

Figure 7.13 shows the distribution of the model output before and after calibration within the parameter space, which contains a set of all possible combinations of values for all the different parameters in the ABMGG. The red lines were additionally drawn on those figures indicating the observed results by MODIS LAI, which were listed in Table 7.7. We can see that the observed values are all included in the range of the simulated results selected by ABC calibration, except the number of slightly degraded patches, which was discussed in Section 7.3.4, that was systematically overestimated by the ABMGG.



Figure 7.13: Comparison of the prior and posterior distribution of the model outputs

In addition, the descriptive statistics of the four degradation types selected by ABC are shown in Table 7.11, where the specific uncertainty boundary can be seen more clearly. The coefficients of variation (CV) of the four model outputs are all smaller than about 0.15, which indicate the parametric errors are distributed relatively close to the estimated mean value of the model outputs. Up to this point, the parametric uncertainty of the ABMGG has been illustrated; the next section will validate the calibration results with the input data from a different year.

 Table 7.11: Descriptive statistics of the parametric uncertainty of the simulated grassland status

Туре	Mean	SD	CV	Max	Min
Unaffected patches	12379.6	392.2	0.031	12988.4	11736.9
Slightly degraded	1373.6	175.8	0.128	1672.6	1097.0
Medium degraded	1241.7	182.3	0.155	1629.9	951.2
Severely degraded	303.9	29.7	0.098	367.6	239.8

- 220 -

7.3.6 Validation with model output

The final stage of making sure ABMGG can represent the grazing system correctly is the validation of the model outputs. Validation of agent-based models is one of the most difficult problems during the modelling process (Rand et al., 2003). The behaviour and structure generated by agents interacting are very hard to predict (Bankes, 2002). Where agents make decisions based on pre-defined rules, this can lead to the modelling results being extremely sensitive to initial settings or such pre-defined rules (both agents and their environment). In addition, due to the stochasticity and uncertainty in agents' decision-making and interactions, one may have multiple emergent patterns when running the model many times.

The aim of building ABMGG is to ensure the simulated grazing-led LAI changes, and the grassland status matches remote sensing derived data; then the "what if" assessment can be done by changing the grazing strategies and institutional arrangements. It is not a predictive model; that's why we cannot validate the model with predictive results. In previous sections of this chapter, the behaviours of herder agents and grassland patches are verified. The stochastic and parametric uncertainties of the ABMGG have been quantified, and the values of the parameters were optimized as well by ABC calibration.

The validation in this section is then to examine whether the calibration is good by: was it over-fitted for other years when using the parameter values after calibration? The validation year is 2012 because the grazing groups and sub-groups information were based on the information collected for the year 2011, and it was in the same five-years' plan period (12th five-year plan, 2011~2015). The policies on grazing strategies and institutional arrangements were more relatively stable and coherent during the same five-year plan period. In addition, the year 2012 was just one year after 2011, the parameter values of the model would be more likely to be the same. The model was configured using the parameter value set from the ABC calibration (see Table 7.8). The model runs 50 times for the year 2012.

Figure 7.14 shows the simulated and observed grazing-led LAI changes for each time steps during 2012. The R^2 between the two is 0.97, and the p-value of the t-test is 0.63, which indicates the observed and simulated grazing-led LAI changes are similar. The further comparison of the grassland status is shown in Figure 7.15, where the mean and variance of the number of the degraded patches for 50 repeated simulations are plotted along with the observed ones. An obvious underestimation of the number of unaffected patches presents on the top-left figure of Figure 7.15; while for the numbers of slightly and medium degraded patches, the ABMGG have overestimated them.



Figure 7.14: Simulated and observed grazing-led LAI changes in the validation year, 2012



Figure 7.15: Simulated and observed numbers of the degraded patches, 2012

The results of more detailed goodness-of-fit measurements are shown in Table 7.12. Similar to the results of goodness-of-fit measurements in the calibration section (see Table 7.9), the ABMGG again failed to match the number of slightly degraded patches with the observed ones. This is a systematic defect of the ABMGG caused by the insufficient information on grazing groups and sub-groups, and the model randomly assigned the locations of the grazing groups and sub-groups. Such patch-specific information is still not available in the study area. Nevertheless, the R^2 for the other three in Table 7.12 are all bigger than 0.68, and the p-value of the t-test are all bigger than 0.05, which show they are statically similar. This can ensure the model has not been overfitted through modelling calibration.

Table 7.12: Goodness-of-fit measureme	ents of the validation results
---------------------------------------	--------------------------------

Туре	\mathbb{R}^2	T-test	RMSE
		(P-	
		value)	
Unaffected	0.6828	0.0948	2532.5360
Slightly degraded	0.1811	0.0216	1559.1990
Medium degraded	0.6882	0.3903	944.0199
Severely degraded	0.8850	0.9238	197.0047

7.4 Scenario analysis: the effect of different grazing strategies and institutional arrangements on grassland

Up to this point, this thesis has discussed the methods by which the ABMGG was evaluated, through calibration and validation against remote sensing derived data. In this section, the aim of the scenario analysis is intended to explore the potential outcomes of the combination of different grazing strategies and institutional arrangements at the study site. The experiments in the scenario analysis simulate how the number of degraded patches changes under different strategies. Are the current grazing strategies and institutional arrangements the best choice, or is there an alternative?

7.4.1 Scenario definitions

To evaluate the effect of grazing strategies and institutional arrangements on the number of degraded patches, eight experiments will be conducted in order to answer these questions, involving varying the behaviour of the herder agents. The combinations of all these rules are listed in Table 7.13. The grazing-led LAI changes for different scenarios are classified into four types (notice that rotational and continuous grazing patches are the grazing types of the patches, which have

been defined before the model running and they remain unchanged during the simulation year):

- group rotational grazing: assumed for TTT (current choice scenario. This is a way of naming the scenarios according to the behaviour of herders, see Table 1) and TTF (no market scenario). The grazing-led LAI change for each patch depends on the proportion of currently available LAI on the patch to the total available LAI of the sub-group (see Section 7.2.1). This is affected by the grazing demand in the group and the number of sub-groups in the group;
- group continuous grazing: assumed for TFF (group continuous grazing without market scenario) and TFT (group continuous grazing with market scenario). The grazing-led LAI change for each patch depends on the proportion of currently available LAI on the patch to the total available LAI of the whole group. This depends on not only the total grazing demand in the group but also the total available forage in the group;
- regional random moving grazing: assumed for FTT (random moving with market scenario) and FTF (random moving with market scenario). The grazing-led LAI change is the same as the grazing demand; the livestock moves randomly on all rotational grazing patches, and
- regional continuous grazing: assumed for FFT (regional continuous grazing with market scenario) and FFF (regional continuous grazing without market scenario). The grazing-led LAI change for each patch depends on the proportion of currently available LAI on the patch to the total available LAI of all the rotational grazing patches. This is affected by not only the total grazing demand in all the rotational grazing patches.

Table 7.13: Combinations of different	grazing strategies and institutional
arrangements	

ID	grouping	moving	marketing	explanation
ттт	V	V	V	Current choice scenario (group rotational grazing scenario) : parameter values exactly the same as the validation experiment (mean value of parameter values after calibration). Grazing groups are formed on rotational grazing patches, and the livestock can move from one sub-group to another sub-group during grass growth period; herders on the continuous grazing patches can rent/lease land from/to other continuous grazing herders.
TTF	V	V	×	No market scenario : similar to TTT, but there is no leasing/renting behaviour among continuous grazing herders.
TFF	V	×	×	Group continuous grazing without market scenario: grazing groups are formed on rotational grazing patches, but livestock owned by the rotational grazing herders

				cannot move from one land patch to another, and they continuously graze on the land in the group; there are no land market behaviours.
FFT	×	×	V	Regional continuous grazing with market scenario: herders can lease/rent land from other herders on continuous grazing lands; there are no grazing groups, and the livestock does not move among patches; herders on the continuous grazing lands can lease/rent lands.
FTT	×	V	V	Random moving with market scenario: there are no grazing groups, but the livestock owned by rotational grazing herders can move randomly among all the rotational grazing patches;
TFT	V	x	V	Group continuous grazing with market scenario, it is similar to TFF, but the herders on the continuous grazing lands can rent/lease lands from the other continuous grazing herders.
FTF	×	V	×	Random moving without market scenario: similar to FTT, but the herders on the continuous grazing lands can rent/lease lands from the other continuous grazing herders.
FFF	×	×	×	Regional continuous grazing without market scenario : there are grazing groups on the rotational grazing patches, and also no leasing/renting behaviours of the herders on continuous grazing patches.

Note: v means scenario include that behaviour while × not

These eight combinations form the policy scenarios based on the grazing strategies (continuous and rotational grazing) and institutional arrangement (land market) in Zeku. The most significant advantage of ABMGG is that it is able to gain a quantified assessment of possible grazing strategies and institutional arrangements. For each scenario, the model was run for 50 replicates to capture the uncertainties. Through different scenario analysis using ABMGG, the LAIs after grazing and number of degraded patches according to the Chinese Criteria of Grassland Degradation (Su et al., 2003) can be obtained. The results can be used as a policy tool to assess the impact of policies on the grassland grazing system, and to pinpoint the possible optimal one when keeping the other parameter values the same. The time scale is the year 2011 for the assessments.

7.4.2 Results of scenario analysis

The regional average (continuous and rotational grazing patches) of the LAI after grazing is shown in see Figure 7.16. The average LAIs after grazing under FFF (regional continuous grazing without market scenario) and FFT (regional

continuous grazing with market scenario) are the highest among all the scenarios; TFT (group continuous grazing with market scenario) and TFF (group continuous grazing without market scenario) give the lowest average LAIs after grazing among all the scenarios. The standard deviation of the 50 simulations for each scenario is too small to be presented in Figure 7.16, and does not significantly affect the statistical analysis later.



Figure 7.16: The LAI after grazing for all the combinations of grazing strategies and institutional arrangements (see Table 7.13 for the meaning of the legend)

Since the t-test can report the significant level of the difference, but is only suitable for two-sample comparisons; in order to know whether these differences among the eight scenarios are statically significant, Tukey's honest significance (TukeyHSD) test is employed. It was designed for multiple comparisons (more than three samples). The results of the TukeyHSD test are shown in Figure 7.17. All the differences in the LAI after grazing are relatively low, and the TukeyHSD test shows they are statistically the same (Figure 7.17), where the zero difference line (red vertical line) is within the range of all 99% confidence levels of the difference pairs (horizontal red line segments). This is similar to previous studies (Woodward et al., 1995b; Jerrentrup et al., 2015) that showed that different grazing strategies or institutional arrangements could not improve or decrease the productivity of the grassland (herein, the productivity of the grassland is represented by the LAI) significantly.

TTF-TTT TFT-TTT TFF-TTT FTT-TTT FTF-TTT FFT-TTT FFF-TTT TFT-TTF TFF-TTF FTT-TTF FTF-TTF FFT-TTF FFF-TTF TFF-TFT FTT-TFT FTF-TFT FFT-TFT FFF-TFT FTT-TFF FTF-TFF FFT-TFF FFF-TFF FTF-FTT FFT-FTT FFF-FTT FFT-FTF FFF-FTF FFF-FFT -1.0 0.5 -0.5 0.0 1.0

99% family-wise confidence level

Differences in mean levels of scenarios

Figure 7.17: Results of the TurkeyHSD test for the average LAI after grazing under 8 scenarios

Another important output of the ABMGG is the number of degraded patches, which are calculated for each time step for all 50 replicates. The mean values for each time step are plotted against the current choice scenario (Figure 7.18). The standard deviations of those 50 simulations, however, are too small to be presented in Figure 7.18, indicating that the stochastic uncertainties in the ABMGG have a limited effect on the results of scenario analysis.

The boundary of the effects of these scenarios can be seen clearly in Figure 7.18. In Figure 7.18-A, FFT and FFF have the largest number of unaffected patches when the regional continuous grazing strategy exists, and the number of unaffected patches in FFT is a little bit larger than that of FFF due to the positive effect of the land market on the number of unaffected patches. This phenomenon can be seen from FTT and FTF, TFT and TFF, TTT and TTF as well. The moving behaviour can positively affect the number of unaffected patches as seen from the comparison of TTF~TFF and TTT~TFT, where the number of unaffected patches on group rotational grazing patches is larger than that on the group continuous grazing patches; however, when such comparison extended to the regional scale, for example, FFT~FTT and FFF~FTF, an obvious negative effects of the moving behaviours on the number of unaffected patches appear, that the number of unaffected patches on the regional continuous grazing lands are much larger than that on the patches with livestock randomly moving in the region. All the scenarios are better performed compared with the group continuous grazing without market scenario (TFF) and group continuous grazing with market scenario (TFT) with regards to the number of unaffected patches.

For the number of slightly degraded patches (Figure 7.18-B), FFT and FFF have a smaller number than that of the other scenarios, both of them involve the regional continuous grazing behaviour. While the number of slightly degraded patches of TTT and TTF is larger than that of FTT and FTF, but they are much smaller than that of TFT and TFF, which means the group rotational grazing strategy performed better than the group continuous grazing strategy, but worse than the regional continuous grazing strategy and regional randomly moving strategy. The institutional arrangement of the land market has a negative effect on the number of slightly degraded patches, which can be seen from FFF~FFT, TTT~TTF, FTF~FTT and TFF~TTT.

Scenario FFF and FFT still have the smallest number of medium degraded patches among all the scenarios (Figure 7.18-C), and scenario TFF and TFT have the largest number of medium degraded patches, but there are some model results where a smaller number of medium degraded patches (compared with current choice scenario, TTT) emerge within the range of about 0~2000. This is more obvious for scenario FTF and FTT, under which lots of model outputs have a smaller number of medium degraded patches (also compared with current choice scenario, TTT) within the range about 0~4000; This indicates that the regional continuous grazing strategy has a negative effect on the number of medium degraded patches, while the group continuous grazing has a positive effect on the number of medium degraded patches.

It is interesting to see almost all the scenarios have a smaller number of severely degraded patches than that of the current choice scenario except scenario FTT and FTF (Figure 7.18-D), indicating that the regional randomly moving strategy performs worse than that of the other strategies in terms of the number of severely degraded patches. FFT still has the smallest number of severely degraded patches for all the steps during the simulation. TFT and TFF have a little bit larger number of the severely degraded patches than that of the FFF and FFT, but there is an obvious smaller number of severely degraded patches than the current choice scenario.



Figure 7.18: Number of degraded patches of current choice scenario plotted against other scenarios simulated by the ABMGG

Overall, the regional continuous grazing scenarios (FFF and FFT) produce the smallest average number of severely degraded patches and the largest number of unaffected patches. The land market could have a positive effect on the number of unaffected patches, but a negative effect on the number of slightly, medium and severely degraded patches, which indicates that appropriate land market strategy could improve the grassland status under grazing, as it produces fewer slightly, medium and severely degraded patches, and greater number of unaffected patches.

Group continuous grazing scenarios (TFF and TFT) can produce a smaller number of severely degraded patches than that of the current choice scenario (TTT), but they also produce a higher number of the slightly and medium degraded patches, and a smaller number of unaffected patches than the current choice scenario (TTT).

Regional randomly moving scenarios (FTT and FTF) produce the largest number of the severely degraded patches compared with all the other scenarios, but they also produce a smaller number of the slightly and medium degraded patches, and a greater number of unaffected patches compared with the current choice scenario. To conclude, under current grazing intensity in Zeku, regional continuous grazing appears to be the best choice, as it can produce a greater number of unaffected patches and a smaller number of slightly, medium and severely degraded patches. However, such continuous grazing assumes that all the land patches are being grazed proportionally according to their available forage. This is a quite strong assumption that all the livestock are also distributed proportionally, according to the available forage of the land patches, which is quite difficult to manage in reality. One of the key parts in grassland management is to manage the heterogeneity (both grass resources and herbivores) of the grassland (<u>Stewart and Pullin, 2008; Bonari et al., 2017</u>). although regional continuous grazing scenario could reduce such heterogeneity, there are also other difficulties such as dealing with the local land tenure systems across villages in the whole region.

Group continuous grazing is worse than the current choice with regard to the grassland status, indicating a rotational grazing strategy is more suitable than continuous grazing at the group level for Zeku. That is, compared with group continuous grazing, group rotational grazing with the land market (current choice scenario, TTT) is a reasonable choice, with regard to fewer slightly, medium and severely degraded patches, and more unaffected patches. This 'reduces' the spatial heterogeneity of forage distribution. Livestock on low productivity land with a relatively high stocking rate can move to high productivity land rather than continuously graze on one land. This also supports field experiments in north-central Texas, USA, where evidence suggested that, for large paddocks, rotational grazing allowed recovery from, and reduced degradation caused by, patch overgrazing (Teague and Dowhower, 2003).

Compared with standard rotational grazing, grasslands of intensive rotational grazing with a greater number of subdivisions have longer resting periods preserving storage biomass more close to maximum yield, and therefore can maintain higher stocking rates (Savory and Parsons, 1980; Barnes et al., 2008; Teague et al., 2011; Jakoby et al., 2014). The rotational grazing strategy increases income and improves rangeland conditions, but might demand high management costs (Beukes et al., 2002) and the risk of forage shortage if livestock stocking rates are too high (Hart et al., 1993). However, although rotational and continuous grazing strategies may have little effect on the frequency, severity or variation of grazing-led grass defoliation (Hart et al., 1993) and its botanical composition (Taylor, 1989) if the stocking rates remain the same. This research reports similar results (see Figure 7.16 and Figure 7.17), the degradation structure of the land would change with different grazing strategies and institutional arrangements (Figure 7.18).

In addition, macro-level policies can affect the grassland system. Research on the institutional arrangements targeting grazing removal on grasslands, which have largely been implemented in Sanjiangyuan, China (Wang et al., 2010b; Lu et al., 2015), suggests the policy run the risk of exacerbating both poverty and degradation (Yeh, 2009). Land market institutional arrangements can aggregate grazing land into larger units, which can better achieve an efficient allocation of grassland resources and economies of scale in livestock production (Gongbuzeren et al., 2016). The complex and comprehensive nature of the impact of different grazing strategies and institutional arrangements (Briske et al., 2015) on the ecological, socio-economic and climatic conditions (Campbell et al., 2006) of

grassland systems should be considered before selecting robust management strategies and institutional arrangement.

Up to this point, the effects of different grazing management scenarios under current grazing intensities have been explored. Due to the relatively small stochastic uncertainties in the number of degraded patches (four types), only the mean values of the 50 replicants were presented in Figure 7.18, and this did not affect the results of scenario analysis. However, as it has been discussed in Section 7.3.5, the parametric uncertainties can also affect the model outputs, and therefore, to assure the conclusions discusses in this section, a further analysis about the error propagation through parametric uncertainty in the parameter values is carried out.

7.4.3 The parametric uncertainty of the scenario analysis

The parametric uncertainty analysis here aims to explore whether the changes in parameter values could change the effect of grazing strategies and institutional arrangements reported in the last section. It is impossible to examine the number of degraded patches from all the possible parameter values after calibration (see Table 7.8 for the ranges of parameter values), and instead, this thesis examines the two extreme situations: 5% and 95% percentile of the parameter values after calibration.

Similar to the scenario analysis, for both of the parameter value set, the ABMGG is repeated 50 times for each of the scenarios. The average numbers of degraded patches (four types) for each time step are plotted against the current choice scenario (TTT).

The results are shown in Figure 7.19 and Figure 7.20, where a similar pattern of the number of unaffected, slightly, medium and severely degraded patches among the scenarios are presented. This means the parametric uncertainty of the ABMGG does not fundamentally change the results of scenario analysis.

However, only examining those two extreme parameter value sets does not ensure the scenario analysis can produce the same results for the other valid parameter value sets. Ideally, such examination should cover all the possible parameter value sets, but as it clarified at the start of this section, the aim is to explore whether the changes in parameter values could change the effect of grazing strategies and institutional arrangements on grassland status. Simply running the model with all the possible parameter value sets can only quantify the uncertainty for each scenario. Such uncertainties are not useful for the examination of the effect of parameter value change on the grassland degradation status among scenarios; as the uncertainties of the scenarios are based on all the possible parameter value sets, but the effect of the parameter values on the grassland status is based on one specific combination of the parameter values, which is one of the possible parameter value sets. The error range of the former would be much larger than that of the later, and therefore, this thesis chooses those two extreme parameter value sets as an example of the parametric uncertainty analysis for the scenario analysis.



Figure 7.19: Number of degraded patches of current choice scenario plotted against other scenarios simulated by the ABMGG with parameter values from 5% percentile of the parameter values after calibration





7.4.4 Input uncertainty of the scenario analysis

As mentioned in Section 7.3.5, the last part of the uncertainty in the ABMGG is the input uncertainty. In Chapter 5, it was estimated that the relative error for the estimated average of the grazing-led LAI changes was about 10.26% for the year 2011. This chapter used grazing-led LAI changes as an input for the livestock consumption demand. Such uncertainty in the grazing-led LAI changes can propagate through the modelling processes and affect the final output of the model. In addition, the grazing intensity is a key factor that affects grassland status. The input uncertainty in this section is also related to another important research question: how the grazing intensity could affect the grassland status.

This section, therefore, aims to explore the effect of input uncertainty on the results of scenario analysis. In the ABMGG, and additional global parameter "overall_error" is designed to quantify such effects. It is a ratio of the input uncertainty of the grazing demand. Since the relative error for the estimated average of the grazing-led LAI changes was about 10.26%, this section, therefore,

sets the "overall_error" to -10.26% and 10.26% respectively to cover the lower and upper error boundary of the input data. The ABMGG is also running 50 times for each of them, and the average number of the degraded patches (four types) are plotted against that of the current choice scenario. Due to the quite small standard deviation of the 50 repeated simulations in the number of the degraded patches, they are not plotted out, and they do not affect the comparison results later.

The results of the input uncertainty analysis are shown in Figure 7.21 and Figure 7.22. Again, a quite similar pattern of the number of the degraded patches (four types) emerges (compared with the scenario analysis results presented in Section 7.4.2, and also the parametric analysis results presented in Section 7.4.3) at both 10.26% of the average underestimation error in input data and 10.26% of the average overestimation error in input data. One of the reasons for such a small change in the number of degraded patches caused by input uncertainty is that, as it has been reported in Chapter 6, the loss of grassland productivity caused by grazing was only 6.28% of the expected grassland productivity, and 10.26% of the uncertainty in the input data still results in a relatively small proportion of the grazing intensity change. Nevertheless, the results in Figure 7.21 and Figure 7.22 indicate that the results of the scenario analysis in Section 7.4.2 are stable and robust to the uncertainty in input data.





B: slightly degraded



current choice scenario

C: medium degraded







Figure 7.21: Number of degraded patches of current choice scenario plotted against other scenarios simulated by the ABMGG with 10.26% of the average underestimation error in input data





7.5 Discussion

Policy assessment is critical for successful policy development and implementation, especially in the complex grassland grazing system. However, assessment of such natural resource related policies has usually been neglected, and a substantial gap is emerging between theory and practice (Wallace et al., 1995), which may lead to unsuccessful or harmful policy implementations (Sallis et al., 1998; Sarewitz et al., 2000). An example can be seen in the effect of long-term exclusion policies, which have been implemented to improve grassland productivity, but in fact have caused the loss of plant cover and diversity in arid

regions (<u>Oba et al., 2000</u>). The same is true for institutional changes in Inner Mongolia, where market and protection policies have actually suppressed local incentives for grassland conservation (<u>Robinson et al., 2017</u>).

Existing methods and models for the assessment of the coupled human and natural system have not provided an integrated evaluation which is sensitive to household decision-making, policy/institutional arrangements and natural constraints (Bellamy et al., 2001). The bottom-up agent-based model presented in this section accounts for the heterogeneity in grassland resources, individual herder' decision-making and plant-livestock interactions. After calibration with real grassland situations, the ABMGG has the capability to assess the effect of different policies on grassland status. This provides a new perspective through which to undertake policy assessment for grassland management.

A novel agent-based model that has been integrated with near real-time remote sensing data for the assessment of various grazing policies has been presented. In this chapter, the ABMGG has been evaluated through model verification, sensitive analysis, calibration and validation, then different combinations of grazing strategies and institutional arrangements were assessed under various criteria. Although there are some drawbacks, the ABMGG is an ideal methodology for the grassland grazing system that is characterized by individual interactions and contains hierarchical grazing strategies and institutional arrangements. There were eight combinations of grazing strategies and institutional arrangements. The model was able to estimate the number of degraded patches based on the individual level interactions under those combinations.

It was found that different grazing management scenarios have no effect on the LAI after grazing; that is, different grazing management scenarios could not significantly improve or decrease grassland LAI. This is similar to findings from previous studies (Woodward et al., 1995b; Jerrentrup et al., 2015), suggesting that grazing intensity, rather than grazing strategy, is the main factor in changes in grassland productivity. Importantly, however, the grassland status was different under those scenarios. Although the regional continuous grazing scenario performed best, with the more unaffected patches and fewer slightly, medium and severely degraded patches, compared to the other scenarios, the proportionally spatial distribution assumption of the livestock grazing intensity to the available forage on the patches in regional continuous grazing scenario could make it quite difficult to be implemented, due to potentially high managemental cost. Compared to the group continuous grazing scenario and regional randomly moving scenario, the group rotational grazing (current choice scenario) was a reasonable grazing management implementation in Zeku; it is a group level management strategy, which involves subdividing of the land patches in the groups.

Although spatial pattern analysis or spatial statistics could help the researchers to reveal different information embedded in the results, due to the fact that the unaffected patches will only occur on the un-grazed land patches in the simulation, and the slightly, medium and severely degraded patches will only happen on the continuous or rotational grazing patches, whose topological locations play an important role in the spatial pattern of the grassland status; in addition, there are 46 time steps during the year, and they have different spatial distribution of the grassland degradation. To analyse the time series changes of the spatial distribution of the grassland degradation during the year is quite difficult and unnecessary as
this section seeks to quantify the overall effect of each grassland management scenario. Instead, this section uses the occurrence frequency of the degradation during the year for each land patch to represent the spatial distribution of the grassland status. The spatial difference can be interpreted directly from those frequency maps. In addition, this section also illustrated three components of the uncertainty in the ABMGG. The results of error propagation and uncertainty analysis in this section showed the reliability of the ABMGG, which was robust and accurate for the number of unaffected, medium and severely degraded patches, but it overestimated the number of slightly degraded patches due to lack of patch-specific information on the location of grazing group and sub-groups, as well as the grazing behaviour of the livestock.

Validation of the agent-based model is one of the most difficult problems during the modelling process (<u>Rand et al., 2003</u>). The behaviour and structure generated by agents interacting can be very hard to predict (<u>Bankes, 2002</u>). Firstly, agents making decisions based on pre-defined rules rather than gradual monotonic data series can lead to the modelling results having extreme sensitivity to initial settings (both within agents and their environment). Secondly, due to the stochasticity and uncertainty of agents' decision-making and interactions, one may have a wide spectrum of emergence end results when running the model many times. In both cases, here, this section has good pixel scale constraining LAI data with which to limit the model and calibrate it accurately. Given this, indicative "what if" assessment can be done by changing the grazing strategies and institutional arrangements.

One of the key difficulties in agent-based modelling of policy assessment is effective calibration. ABMs are usually used to simulate non-linear dynamic systems with different initial settings (Waldrop, 1993). Effective calibration requires a wealth of high-quality data, but, unfortunately, empirical data which describes the behaviours of the agents is usually scarce (Windrum et al., 2007). Therefore, the calibration of ABM is often considered a major point of weakness with ABM that needs to be improved (Phan, 2007; Crooks et al., 2008). In addition, agent-based models for the human and natural systems often involve numerous parameters and therefore calibration requires the searching of extremely large parameter spaces; even on the most powerful computing systems available, the time requirements can be unacceptable (Malleson, 2010). In this paper, the Approximate Bayesian Computing (ABC) calibration method was used with the assistance of Latin Hypercube Sampling (LHS), which substantially decreased the time cost of calibration. Nevertheless, it still took 10.5 days for 20000 model runs (Windows 10 Education; Inter Core i7-4710MQ @ 2.5GHz; 8 GB RAM, 64-bit Operating System). In ABC calibration, a larger sample size means higher accuracy (van der Vaart et al., 2015), there certainly exists some calibration schema or methods yet to be developed to improve the calibration efficiency.

Chapter 8 Conclusions

8.1 Introduction

The research in this thesis is theoretically and methodologically innovative. There are only limited published researches that assess different grazing management approaches based on natural grass growth under grazing and macro-grazing strategies, especially the spatial explicitly assessment. The main difficulty is, in essence, the lack of patch-specific grazing and management information. Hitherto, it has been regarded as almost impossible to collect this data for each land patch at a regional or global scale over a long time period; and this is especially true with regards to the status of grassland before and after grazing. Extracting such information is the basis for any further research, and it is the biggest methodological challenge for researchers. In addition, how to build a model that reflects the real-world situation, and to integrate all of the necessary components into the model, has been a theoretical challenge for grassland grazing modelling. The grassland grazing system is a complex system. The complexities consist of the natural growth of grass, the population dynamics of the livestock, the herbivorevegetation interactions and the constraints of herders' grazing strategies and wider institutional arrangements. To what degree these complexities should be included in the model should be considered as the first priority, but in turn, they are highly dependent on data availability.

This chapter will sum up the main research findings and highlight the extent to which the research aim and objectives have been met. Then the contributions of this research will be listed. After this, a critique of the research methods and the limitations of this project will be discussed thoroughly, based on which some recommendations for future work will be summarised. Finally, this chapter ends with some concluding remarks.

8.2 A summary of the research findings

The overall aim of this research was to establish an agent-based model that incorporated grazing information derived from remote sensing data in Zeku, with the purpose of assessing various grassland management scenarios. To accomplish this aim, five research objectives needed to be accomplished. In this section, a discussion about the extent to which they have been accomplished by the main body of the research will be carried out.

Objective 1: review, discuss and critique the grassland grazing literature and analyse the current theories and system complexities in the grazing system in order to identify those that should be employed in the model

This objective was accomplished in Chapter 2 through a review of the literature on modelling the complexities as well as the current modelling paradigms used to research grassland grazing systems. The grassland grazing system is not only affected by livestock grazing, which may be indirectly determined by the grazing strategies and institutional arrangements, but also by the local climate, radiation conditions and even extreme events (for example, prolonged snow). To model such

a complex system, the overall modelling paradigm will need a variety of different modelling theories. Chapter 2, therefore, demonstrated that it is extremely important to understand that the grassland grazing system is a complex, dynamic and unstable system.

Before reconciling the equilibrium and non-equilibrium paradigms, Chapter 2 reviewed the grassland modelling literature with the purpose of determining what kinds of complexities were indispensable in order to describe the individual-level dynamics of the grazing system. With respect to individual grassland patches, research pointed to the importance of the interaction between vegetation and herbivores, as it is the important lower-level factor that changes the growth of grass. The spatiotemporal heterogeneity of the vegetation and distribution of herbivores were also found to have an effect through the selectivity of herbivores and floristic composition of grasslands. They were mainly determined by the local natural conditions, but in the livestock grazing dominated regions, the dynamic of the livestock population was also controlled by the herders' willingness and power to gain from grassland and the social-economic demands of livestock production. Chapter 2 and Chapter 3 also reviewed the grazing strategies and institutional arrangements that are used to manage grassland grazing, which would further affect the status of grassland by changing the grazing intensities. Those complexities, along with grassland grazing modelling paradigms, form the basic theory on which the model is based.

Objective 2: review, discuss and critique the modelling techniques and data availability for the grassland grazing system to highlight the necessity of the techniques used for this research and to guide the model development process

One of the main research findings in this thesis was that the heterogeneity of individual forage and livestock distributions, vegetation-herbivore interactions and grazing management strategies should be considered when assessing the overall status of grassland in grazing systems. Also, all the complexities that were discussed in Chapter 2 are based on the individual interactions among herders, livestock and the grasslands and, as such, should not be modelled by a constant fixed rate. Chapter 2 introduced empirical and process-based modelling techniques that could, to some extent, overcome some of those problems but it was found that they were not able to fully account for the mechanisms (herders' grazing strategies and institutional arrangements) behind the individual vegetation-herbivore interactions.

Agent-based modelling proved to be the most suitable way to deal with these problems, and the few published agent-based grassland grazing models were critiqued. The use of agent-based modelling in grazing system analysis appeared in studies of animals' behaviours (Topping et al., 2003; Dumont and Hill, 2004b), but they were typically simple rule-based, spatially explicit models that did not consider the interactions between livestock and vegetation. Milner (2006) improved this and built the first agent-based grazing model for grassland in Kazakhstan, which included both household decision-making and vegetation-herbivore interactions. However, the effect of different grazing strategies and institutional arrangements was ignored (Milner-Gulland et al., 2006). Wang (2013) further enriched the field by incorporating social mechanisms and institutional arrangements in their study of Mongolian grasslands, but the absence of the real productivity and livestock grazing data in the model make the results less

convincing (Wang et al., 2013). The effect of grazing has usually been ignored or simply represented by a fixed rate for all patches. This becomes the main impediment for further individual level grassland grazing modelling. Janssen et al. (2000) have built an adaptive agent model, but like many other ABMs in modelling grassland grazing systems, the grazing intensity data used in the research was actually the regional average intensity (at property scale). Such data used in the model led to the ignorance of the spatial heterogeneity of the grassland resource, which could produce a false expression of the plant-herbivore interaction due to the different grazing intensities in the different places of the property. Yet for this reason, the spatial distribution patterns of the vegetation have not been reported in many ABMs of the grassland grazing systems.

Chapter 2 also elaborated the advantage of agent-based models in modelling vegetation-herbivore interactions and herders' decision-making. Along with remote sensing (one of the key research findings in this thesis, see next), agent-based modelling is the most suitable technique for the further assessment of grassland status based on individual interactions and decision-making.

Objective 3: Develop a new method to derive information about grass growth and the effect of grazing from remote sensing data

Remote sensing, as a widely used grassland monitoring technique, has been used in quantifying grazing intensities (Kawamura et al., 2005) and the impact of grazing on pasture biophysical properties (Numata et al., 2007; Eddy et al., 2017), but unfortunately, all the grazing-related information has previously been aggregated to the regional level as a whole for further analysis. LI et al. (2007) and Gómez (2017) used pixel-based analysis of grazing intensities based on vegetation index (VI) fluctuations caused by grazing (Gómez et al., 2017b; Li et al., 2017), but again, did not attempt to estimate the amount of the grass that was eaten by livestock. On the other hand, the current reprocessing methods for remote sensing data were designed to smooth the outputs through spatial or temporal averaging techniques. This makes them unsuitable for grazing information extraction, where grazing-led unusual fluctuations need to be retained during estimation. Sakamoto (2016) used the Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) data as a source of an indicator of the grass forage distribution, and applied an agent-based model to simulate the behaviours of the pastoralists, in order to explore the dynamics of vegetation and livestock. However, the model results have not been validated due to the lack of data, and the *ad hoc* assumptions of the behaviours of the pastoralists (for example, grazing range, frequency and carrying capacity) make it difficult to be applied to new conditions. Chapter 2 and Chapter 5, therefore, explained the feasibility of remote sensing in the more spatiotemporal specified extraction of grazing information. No other techniques that can derive the grazing information for each grassland patch are as convenient as remote sensing related techniques.

A novel grass growth function has been derived with consideration of both plant senescence and grazing-led defoliation based on the conventional exponential growth function. It is a year-round grass growth under grazing function rather than a predictive plant-livestock interaction function. This new growth-grazing function was not used in isolation to estimate the growth of grass under grazing; it was accompanied by a grazing-led LAI changes estimation algorithm, which was used to estimate the values of parameters in the new growth function. Using this new growth function, it was possible to account for a large degree of the complexities that Chapter 2 has pointed to. By filling the "gaps" of MODIS LAI data caused by clouds or uncertainties within the MODIS algorithm, two products were produced: improved LAI (LAI after grazing) and expected LAI (LAI before grazing). The grazing frequencies and grazing types were also identified. The validation of these results consisted of two parts: Chapter 5 reviewed the accuracy of estimated grazing-led LAI changes through an LUE-VPD model. Chapter 6 has a detailed description of the validation of the improved LAI by comparison with the statistical data. The validation results showed a great spatiotemporal consistency with both *in-situ* data and statistical data and, therefore, this new growth function can be used in deriving grazing information based on remote sensing data. This is a novel contribution to the field.

Objective 4: Design and build an agent-based model that can account for the different grazing strategies and institutional arrangements and use remote sensing data as an input

Chapter 4 translated the complexities reviewed in Chapter 2 into a prototype model based on the grazing profiles of grazing system in Zeku. Chapter 3 elucidated the livestock grazing and grassland distribution profiles, land tenure system and three grazing strategies and two main institutional arrangements in the case study area. These features of the grassland grazing system in Zeku provided a modelling basis for conceptualising the key components of the prototype model. Chapter 4 began with an explanation of how different modelling paradigms and system complexities could be represented in a conceptual model. Three key features of the environment were represented through available forage, seasonal forage growth rate and degraded status. Chapter 4 also showed three conceptual models: a sedentary grazing model, land market model and EAHEC model. The herders in those three models were differentiated by the grazing strategies and institutional arrangements. The behaviours of agents change according to their initial decisionmaking when degradation occurs. To compare the output performance of these three grazing systems, Chapter 4 concluded with an assessment of the livestock and forage dynamics, net income of herders and number of degraded patches in these three conceptual models.

Building upon these three conceptual models in Chapter 4 and the grazing information derived from remote sensing in Chapter 5, Chapter 7 developed an agent-based grassland grazing model (ABMGG) which was parameterized with real grazing and grassland forage data. The key parameter in the ABMGG was the leaf area index (LAI). The overall purpose of Chapter 5 was to derive the grazingled LAI changes based on the remaining LAI (improved LAI), but the key issue for Chapter 7 was calibration: how to generate similar grazing patterns for each pixel as compared to the real grazing patterns (as remote sensing observed grazing-led LAI changes) through the full-growth LAI. For the un-grazed patches, the grazing pattern produced by ABMGG would be exactly the same as we could observe from the improved LAI (there are no grazing activities happening for un-grazed patches in ABMGG). For continuous grazing patches, the simulated grazing-led LAI changes were the same as those derived from remote sensing data, as the time, frequency and quantity of grazing-led LAI changes were the same. However, for rotational grazing patches, the difficulty was how to form the grazing group reasonably so that it matched up with the grazing frequencies and grazing quantities for each grassland patch. This required a piece of detailed survey information on the grazing profiles and grazing groups. Chapter 3 reviewed the

results of the survey in 2012 and 2016 with respect to grassland productivity, livestock and the grazing group profiles of Zeku. Then Chapter 7 technically documented the final model. The parameterized ABMGG in Chapter 7 was able to incorporate the paradigms and complexities discussed in Chapter 2 and later implemented in Chapter 4, and formed a solution that is able to account for the dynamics of the grassland grazing system based on individual decision-making and grazing management strategies.

Objective 5: Assess different management scenarios after making sure the model has the ability to simulate the grassland status under grazing based on current grazing strategies and institutional arrangements

Before carrying out an assessment, an essential part of the modelling endeavour is to make sure the model behaved as it was expected to. That is, the design, the entities, processes, and associated constraints and assumptions are implemented correctly. This is the critical step for any complicated model that involves numerous parameters, which could potentially or indirectly affect model outputs. Chapter 7 evaluated ABMGG through systematic testing and validation with the real-world data from Zeku. The evaluation began with a verification to track the key outputs of the models, along with the sensitivity analysis of the parameters, and was able to determine that the ABMGG was able to produce acceptable results in simulating real group grazing behaviours. The rest of the evaluation work was then to calibrate ABMGG to the remote sensing observed grazing patterns by an Approximate Bayesian Computing schema. The validation of ABMGG was to see whether the calibrated model was over-fitted to the data; this thesis used R2, t-test and RMSE to quantify the overall model accuracy, where an obvious improvement of the model accuracy could be seen when comparing the model outputs before calibration and after calibration. In addition, the stochastic, parametric and input uncertainty of the ABMGG were analysis by repeated simulation, calibration with Approximate Bayesian Computing (ABC) method and numerical simulation, and they have been extensively discussed in Chapter 7 to evaluate the accuracy and credibility of the ABMGG.

To fully accomplish the final aim of this thesis, the various grazing management scenarios that were tested with the model were discussed in Chapter 7. The most significant advantage of agent-based modelling is that it is able to gain a quantified assessment of possible grazing strategies and institutional arrangements and to pinpoint the possible optimal strategy when keeping other parameter values the same. There were eight combinations of grazing strategies and institutional arrangements. The model was able to estimate the number of degraded patches based on the individual level interactions under those combinations. This analysis has not considered the effect of scales of the economy which may further decrease the number of severely degraded patches by with good grassland management. It was found that different grazing management scenarios could not significantly improve or decrease grassland productivity. That is, different grazing management scenarios had no effect on the average LAI after grazing. This is to be expected as animals always have the same energy requirements, regardless of the quality of patches, and therefore, the total amount of LAI devoured would be the same. However, the assessments highlighted that the rotational group grazing was a reasonable choice in terms of the obvious smaller number of degraded patches; although the regional continuous grazing scenario produced the smallest number of degraded patches, the assumption of the same percentage of available forage being

grazed was quite difficult to be implemented in reality. These results can be used as a policy tool to assess the impact of policies on the grassland grazing system.

8.3 Limitations of the research

Although the five research objectives have been achieved through the employment of the new growth function, the development of the model and its application in the scenario analysis of grazing management, there are still some limitations to this research.

The effect of cell size

The spatial resolution of the LAI data used in this research is $463 \times 463 \text{ m}^2$. As was mentioned in Chapter 7, a rotational grazing patch at a higher spatial resolution may appear as a continuous grazing pattern at a lower spatial resolution patch size, for example where the sub-division of a farm cannot be observed from remote sensing. That is, although the pixels are rotational grazing pixels in reality, they still have the possibility of being classified into continuous grazing pixels from a remote sensing perspective if the spatial resolution is lower than the farm size. Given the fact that the majority of the farm sizes in Zeku are smaller than 0.33 km², only spatial resolutions of remote sensing smaller than 0.33 km² can be used for rotational grazing pixel identification and grazed LAI estimation. This is the main reason why 1 km×1 km MODIS LAI was not used in this thesis.

At the time of writing, the highest spatial resolution LAI data are the 463m MODIS LAI version 6 products, which are about 0.21 km². This is similar to the size of the household average summer farm size (0.20 km²); therefore, the subdivisions of the summer pasture of the household cannot be observed from remote sensing. However, when grazing groups are formed, the group grazing grassland size would be much larger than the spatial resolution of the MODIS LAI data. Subdivision of the group grazing grassland for rotational use can be identified from remote sensing. Unfortunately, the higher spatial resolution LAI data have not been published, and there is no ideal method that can be used to identify the household level rotational grazing patterns.

In addition, the cell size will further affect the assimilation of the survey and statistical data at the patch unit. Here, this includes the radius of the grazing group, the number of participants in the group, as well as the spatial resolution of climatic and radiation data. A mismatch of the spatial resolution is a common problem in agent-based modelling when incorporating pixel-level remote sensing data and regional or community level statistical data. How to ensure the change of spatial resolution does not induce further uncertainties into the model is the next challenge for modellers.

Data scarcity and uncertainty

Chapter 4 has presented an advanced agent-based model of grassland grazing, that accounts for the four main aspects that drive the system. However, the data for the parameter parameterizations were still insufficient, and uncertainties still exist in some key parameter values, as discussed in Chapter 7. In this thesis, there are three types of data related to those problems: 1) household social-economic data, which includes: the price of selling or buying livestock; the kinship of the herders (Wang et al., 2013); the cost of renting land; the cost of joining or leaving grazing groups;

and the boundary of the summer/winter pastures for each household and grazing group. Lacking that information, the social-economic outcomes cannot emerge from the individuals' behaviours, which is why the social-economic performance of the grazing system has not been included. 2) species-specified biophysical data, which involves the value for potential light use efficiency (ε_{max}), specified leaf area (SLA) and the leaf-root ratio, which are all highly dependent on the vegetation types and could further affect the accuracy of Net Primary Productivity (NPP) estimation. The use of an empirical value for a broader vegetation type will introduce uncertainty. 3) high resolution climatic and Photosynthetic Active Radiation (PAR) monitoring data, which consist of the daily temperature data and ground measured PAR data. When lower spatial resolution input data have been used for a higher spatial resolution model, the spatial heterogeneity of the model is affected reducing the model accuracy. The modelling work therefore needs to be able to cope with such scarce or uncertain data by dynamic data assimilation or calibration (see next—the calibration schema).

In Chapter 5, the uncertainty of the grazing-led LAI changes was quantified by an extreme situation analysis. Also, the uncertainty of the improved LAI estimated in Chapter 5 can propagate through a Light Use Efficiency with Vegetation Photosynthesis Model (LUE-VPM) in Chapter 6. The error boundary of the Net Primary Productivity simulated by the LUE-VPM was quantified considering the error range of the improved LAI estimated in Chapter 5. However, as it has been discussed in Section 6.7 of Chapter 6, the other sources of uncertainties in the parameters and input datasets (for example, the uncertainty of daily temperature data) used in the LUE-VPM were not given. Obtaining such uncertainty information would require a collaborative scientific effort from numerous different research communities, especially when the model is used in a new condition that the error range of the parameter values would be different.

The calibration schema

One of the key difficulties in agent-based modelling is effective calibration. ABMs are usually used to simulate non-linear dynamic systems with different initial settings (Waldrop, 1993). Effective calibration requires a wealth of high-quality data, but unfortunately, empirical data which describes the behaviours of agents is always scarce (Windrum et al., 2007). Therefore, the calibration of ABM is often considered a major weakness of ABM that needs to be improved (Phan, 2007; Crooks et al., 2008). In addition, agent-based models for human and natural systems often involves numerous parameters and therefore calibration requires the searching of extremely large parameter spaces; even on the most powerful computing systems available, the time requirements can be unacceptable (Malleson, 2010). In this thesis, the Approximate Bayesian Computing (ABC) calibration method was used with the assistance of Latin Hypercube Sampling (LHS), which substantially decreases the time cost of calibration. Nevertheless, it still took 11 days for just 20000 model runs³. In ABC calibration, a larger sample size means higher accuracy (van der Vaart et al., 2015); there certainly exists some

³ The machine used in this thesis is: Windows 10 Education; Inter Core i7-4710MQ @ 2.5 GHz; 8 GB RAM, 64-bit Operating System.

calibration schema or methods yet to be developed to improve the calibration efficiency.

8.4 Recommendations for Future Work

The ABMGG can be further developed in several ways to improve upon the limitations discussed above. One means of improvement would be through integration with other models such as climate models, solar radiation models, vegetation distribution models, productivity models and even economic models. However, such integration should be followed with caution because the "more is different" (Anderson, 1972). The more detailed the components in the model, the less relevant the science behind the overly detailed structure of the model (Anderson, 1972). In addition, replacing simple abstracted parameters in the current ABMGG model with more complex sub-models would dramatically increase the complexity of the overall model, which would surely be more computationally expensive to evaluate. Therefore, the more simple and feasible ways to extend the current work in the future would be:

Firstly, a predictable growth function under grazing should be developed based on the new growth function introduced in this thesis. That is, the long-term effect of grazing on the growth of grass should be considered (a multi-year' growth function rather than current year-round growth function). This could improve the usefulness of the new growth function in the field of grassland grazing management, but this also requires extensive comparison experiments in different grassland types.

Secondly, this research specifically calls for studies on social-economic data assimilation (Anderson and Kellam, 1992) in agent-based modelling, as human's decision-making depends on his/her social-economic status and even on the cultural or psychological difference, which all change with time and condition. The spatial and temporal scale of the social-economic or psychological data can be considered dynamically.

Thirdly, one direction might be to create the individual herder agents rather than abstract herders for each grassland patch. The behaviours of agents in this thesis are estimated from the regional aggregated statistical properties, but this could hide the influence of kinship, community and the individual interactions among herders, which are important elements of the complexities of the grazing system. Another contrary direction might be the scaling up the agents and patches and embedding them in a broader context, for example, to explore the effect of grazing and grazing management practices/policies on the landscape scale ecosystem functions.

Fourthly, the bilateral feedbacks of vegetation and the livestock under grazing was not considered in the ABMGG. However, such bilateral feedbacks may change the long-term dynamics of both vegetation and the herbivores. In addition, the decision-making may also have multiple feedbacks on the vegetation, herbivore and the other agents. The bilateral and multiple feedbacks should, therefore, be considered in future work.

Fifthly, the composition of vegetation on the grassland needs to be considered. The livestock has the selective behaviour of the grass species, and the favourite species on the land may be more frequently visited by the livestock. In addition, the vegetation composition is also determined by the natural conditions as well as the

grazing management practices. It is an evolution and co-evolution process among vegetation, herbivore, natural conditions and the human.

Seventhly, the multi-spatial and multi-temporal and multi-source remote sensing data can be used to derive the grazing information in more detail. For example, the vegetation structure and composition (Wachendorf et al., 2018) and the livestock moving behaviours (Steenweg et al., 2017). In addition, there are researchers using the Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (UAV) to map the heterogeneity of the grazing pasture (Kawamura et al., 2016), which provides a new source of the data at high spatial and temporal resolution.

Sixthly, the ABMGG can be improved by incorporating the learning behaviours of the agents. That is, the model can evolve by changing the grazing strategies and institutional arrangements and producing the best combinations of grassland management practice dynamically.

Eighthly, the ABMGG can be applied to different places if the information on local management practices is available, and more case studies should be carried out in different regions and/or under different grazing management strategies where the model parameters could be further validated. The scenarios are common practice in grassland management practices. More cross sites analysis should be carried out in the future to evaluate the flexibility of the model.

In addition, the error propagation and uncertainty analysis are essential to make sure the model is reliable. For agent-based modelling, the errors from individual agents or the parameters could propagate through multiple level interactions, and the final outputs of the models may have quite large uncertainties that even reach the unacceptable level. In addition, the effect of errors from individuals, parameters, input data or the model structure may suppress or diminish the effect of each other, the overall effect of the all the errors may be smaller than the individual ones. Current methods for the uncertainty analysis are mainly computational, e.g. sampling from the parameter space to see how the results change with the parameter values. The consideration of spatial and temporal heterogeneity of the entities and their relations in the ABMs should be considered in future work. However, as mentioned earlier in this chapter, the full uncertainty analysis of the model needs a collaborative scientific effort from numerous different research communities, especially when the parameter values are highly site-specific or scale-dependent.

8.5 Concluding Remarks

The contribution of this research to grassland grazing management can be summarised through three main components: a new growth function under grazing that considers both growth and senescence of grass with an estimation algorithm; a LUE-VMP model to estimate NPP for improved LAI validation; a novel agentbased model that has been integrated with near real-time remote sensing data for the assessment of various grazing management strategies. Although there are some drawbacks, agent-based modelling is an excellent methodology for grassland grazing systems that are characterized by individual interactions and contain hierarchical grazing strategies and institutional arrangements. It is suggested that the ABMGG can be further developed by improving the data quality and considering of vegetation composition and evolution/co-evolution with livestock, human and the environment. Also, it is important to address the error propagation and uncertainty of ABM. In addition, by involving multi-spatial and multitemporal and multi-source, adapting and learning in the grazing strategies and institutional arrangements, the ABMGG would be able to produce the optimal grazing management practices, which are important tools for the sustainable development of the grazing system for both herders and policymakers.

References

Abel, T. 1998. Complex adaptive systems, evolutionism, and ecology within anthropology: interdisciplinary research for understanding cultural and ecological dynamics. *Journal of Ecological Anthropology*. **2**(1), pp.6-29.

Ackerman, C., Purvis, H., Horn, G., Paisley, S., Reuter, R. and Bodine, T. 2001. Performance of light vs heavy steers grazing Plains Old World bluestem at three stocking rates. *Journal of animal science*. **79**(2), pp.493-499.

Adam, E., Mutanga, O. and Rugege, D. 2010. Multispectral and hyperspectral remote sensing for identification and mapping of wetland vegetation: a review. *Wetlands Ecology and Management.* **18**(3), pp.281-296.

Adler, P., Raff, D. and Lauenroth, W. 2001. The effect of grazing on the spatial heterogeneity of vegetation. *Oecologia*. **128**(4), pp.465-479.

Agassi, J. 1966. The Structure of Scientific Revolutions. *Journal of the History of Philosophy*. **4**(4), pp.351-354.

Ahoudji, M.C., Teka, O., Axelsen, J. and Houinato, M. 2014. Current floristic composition, life form and productivity of the grasslands in the Hunting Zone of Djona (Benin). *Journal of Applied Biosciences*. **78**(1), pp.6753-6762.

Aktipis, C.A., Cronk, L. and de Aguiar, R. 2011. Risk-Pooling and Herd Survival: An Agent-Based Model of a Maasai Gift-Giving System. *Human Ecology.* **39**(2), pp.131-140.

Alberti, M., Asbjornsen, H., Baker, L.A., Brozovic, N., Drinkwater, L.E., Drzyzga, S.A., Jantz, C.A., Fragoso, J., Holland, D.S., Kohler, T.A., Liu, J., McConnell,

W.J., Maschner, H.D.G., Millington, J.D.A., Monticino, M., Podestá, G., Pontius, R.G., Redman, C.L., Reo, N.J., Sailor, D. and Urquhart, G. 2011. Research on Coupled Human and Natural Systems (CHANS): Approach, Challenges, and Strategies. *The Bulletin of the Ecological Society of America*. **92**(2), pp.218-228. Aldebert, C., Nerini, D., Gauduchon, M. and Poggiale, J.C. 2016. Does structural sensitivity alter complexity–stability relationships? *Ecological Complexity*. **28**, pp.104-112.

Ali, I., Cawkwell, F., Dwyer, E., Barrett, B. and Green, S. 2016. Satellite remote sensing of grasslands: from observation to management. *Journal of Plant Ecology*. **9**(6), pp.649-671.

Altesor, A., Piñeiro, G., Lezama, F., Jackson, R., Sarasola, M. and Paruelo, J. 2006. Ecosystem changes associated with grazing in subhumid South American grasslands. *Journal of Vegetation Science*. **17**(3), pp.323-332.

Amiri, F., bin Mohamed Shariff, A.R., Tabatabaie, T. and Pradhan, B. 2014. A geospatial model for the optimization grazing management in semi-arid rangeland of Iran. *Arabian Journal of Geosciences*. **7**(3), pp.1101-1114.

An, L. 2012a. Modeling human decisions in coupled human and natural systems: Review of agent-based models. *Ecological Modelling*. **229**(Supplement C), pp.25-36.

An, L. 2012b. Modeling human decisions in coupled human and natural systems: Review of agent-based models. *Ecological Modelling*. **229**(0), pp.25-36.

An, L., Linderman, M., Qi, J., Shortridge, A. and Liu, J. 2005. Exploring Complexity in a Human–Environment System: An Agent-Based Spatial Model for Multidisciplinary and Multiscale Integration. *Annals of the association of American geographers*. **95**(1), pp.54-79.

Anderies, M.J., Janssen, A.M. and Walker, H.B. 2002. Grazing Management, Resilience, and the Dynamics of a Fire-driven Rangeland System. *Ecosystems*. **5**(1), pp.23-44.

Andersen, H., Barker, P. and Chen, X. 2006. *The cognitive structure of scientific revolutions*. Cambridge University Press.

Anderson and Kellam, K.L. 1992. Belief perseverance, biased assimilation, and covariation detection: The effects of hypothetical social theories and new data. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin.* **18**(5), pp.555-565.

Anderson, P.W. 1972. More is different. *Science*. **177**(4047), pp.393-396. Anyamba, A. and Tucker, C.J. 2005. Analysis of Sahelian vegetation dynamics using NOAA-AVHRR NDVI data from 1981–2003. *Journal of Arid Environments*. **63**(3), pp.596-614.

Archambault, C. 2014. Young perspectives on pastoral rangeland privatization: intimate exclusions at the intersection of youth identities. *The European journal of development research.* **26**(2), pp.204-218.

Arévalo, J.R., de Nascimento, L., Fernández-Lugo, S., Mata, J. and Bermejo, L. 2011. Grazing effects on species composition in different vegetation types (La Palma, Canary Islands). *Acta Oecologica*. **37**(3), pp.230-238.

Arifin, S.N., Davis, G.J. and Zhou, Y. 2011. A spatial agent-based model of malaria: model verification and effects of spatial heterogeneity. *International Journal of Agent Technologies and Systems (IJATS)*. **3**(3), pp.17-34.

Aronson, J., Floret, C., Floc'h, E., Ovalle, C. and Pontanier, R. 1993. Restoration and Rehabilitation of Degraded Ecosystems in Arid and Semi-Arid Lands. I. A View from the South. *Restoration ecology*. **1**(1), pp.8-17.

Aryal, A., Brunton, D., Pandit, R., Rai, R.K., Shrestha, U.B., Lama, N. and Raubenheimer, D. 2013. Rangelands, Conflicts, and Society in the Upper Mustang Region, Nepal Status, Rights, and Traditional Rangeland Management Strategies. *MOUNTAIN RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT.* **33**(1), pp.11-18.

Asner, G.P., Braswell, B.H., Schimel, D.S. and Wessman, C.A. 1998. Ecological Research Needs from Multiangle Remote Sensing Data. *Remote Sensing of Environment.* **63**(2), pp.155-165.

Asner, G.P., Scurlock, J.M. and A Hicke, J. 2003. Global synthesis of leaf area index observations: implications for ecological and remote sensing studies. *Global Ecology and Biogeography.* **12**(3), pp.191-205.

ASTER, J. 2005. Advanced Spaceborne Thermal Emission and Reflection Radiometer (ASTER).

Aubinet, M., Vesala, T. and Papale, D. 2012. *Eddy covariance: a practical guide to measurement and data analysis.* Springer Science & Business Media. Augustine, D.J. and Derner, J.D. 2013. Assessing Herbivore Foraging Behavior with GPS Collars in a Semiarid Grassland. *Sensors (Basel, Switzerland).* **13**(3), pp.3711-3723.

Augustine, D.J., McNaughton, S.J. and Frank, D.A. 2003. Feedbacks between Soil Nutrients and Large Herbivores in a Managed Savanna Ecosystem. *Ecological Applications*. **13**(5), pp.1325-1337.

Babin, B.J. and Boles, J.S. 1998. Employee behavior in a service environment: A model and test of potential differences between men and women. *The Journal of Marketing*. pp.77-91.

Baerlein, T., Kasymov, U. and Zikos, D. 2015. Self-Governance and Sustainable Common Pool Resource Management in Kyrgyzstan. *SUSTAINABILITY*. **7**(1), pp.496-521.

Bai, Y., Wu, J., Pan, Q., Huang, J., Wang, Q., Li, F., Buyantuyev, A. and Han, X. 2007. Positive linear relationship between productivity and diversity: evidence from the Eurasian Steppe. *Journal of Applied Ecology.* **44**(5), pp.1023-1034.

Bakker, C., Blair, J. and Knapp, A. 2003. Does resource availability, resource heterogeneity or species turnover mediate changes in plant species richness in grazed grasslands? *Oecologia*. **137**(3), pp.385-391.

Baldwin, I.T. 1990. Herbivory simulations in ecological research. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*. **5**(3), pp.91-93.

Balke, T. and Gilbert, N. 2014. How do agents make decisions? A survey. *Journal of Artificial Societies and Social Simulation*. **17**(4), p13.

Banegas, N., Albanesi, A.S., Pedraza, R.O. and Dos Santos, D.A. 2015. Non-linear dynamics of litter decomposition under different grazing management regimes. *Plant and soil.* **393**(1-2), p47.

Bankes, S.C. 2002. Tools and techniques for developing policies for complex and uncertain systems. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. **99**(suppl 3), pp.7263-7266.

Banks, T., Richard, C., Ping, L. and Zhaoli, Y. 2003. Community-based grassland management in western China rationale, pilot project experience, and policy implications. *Mountain Research and Development*. **23**(2), pp.132-140.

Baret, F., Hagolle, O., Geiger, B., Bicheron, P., Miras, B., Huc, M., Berthelot, B., Niño, F., Weiss, M. and Samain, O. 2007. LAI, fAPAR and fCover CYCLOPES global products derived from VEGETATION: Part 1: Principles of the algorithm. *Remote sensing of environment.* **110**(3), pp.275-286.

Barnes, M.K., Norton, B.E., Maeno, M. and Malechek, J.C. 2008. Paddock Size and Stocking Density Affect Spatial Heterogeneity of Grazing. *Rangeland Ecology & Management*. **61**(4), pp.380-388.

Bashari, H., Smith, C. and Bosch, O.J.H. 2008. Developing decision support tools for rangeland management by combining state and transition models and Bayesian belief networks. *Agricultural Systems*. **99**(1), pp.23-34.

Baudracco, J., Lopez-Villalobos, N., Holmes, C. and Macdonald, K. 2010. Effects of stocking rate, supplementation, genotype and their interactions on grazing dairy systems: a review. *New Zealand Journal of Agricultural Research*. **53**(2), pp.109-133.

Bauer, K. 2005. Development and the enclosure movement in pastoral Tibet since the 1980s. *Nomadic Peoples*. **9**(1-2), pp.53-81.

Bauer, K. and Nyima, Y. 2011. Laws and regulations impacting the enclosure movement on the Tibetan Plateau of China. *HIMALAYA, the Journal of the Association for Nepal and Himalayan Studies.* **30**(1), p10.

Beaumont, M.A., Zhang, W. and Balding, D.J. 2002. Approximate Bayesian Computation in Population Genetics. *Genetics*. **162**(4), pp.2025-2035.

Bedell, T. 1998. *Glossary of terms used in range management. Society for Range Management.* Direct Press, Denver, Colorado.

Begon, M., Harper, J.L. and Townsend, C.R. 1986. *Ecology. Individuals, populations and communities.* Blackwell scientific publications.

Behnke, R.H., Scoones, I. and Kerven, C. 1993. *Range ecology at disequilibrium: new models of natural variability and pastoral adaptation in African savannas.* London: Overseas Development Institute.

Bell, A.R. 2011. Environmental Licensing and Land Aggregation: An Agent-Based Approach to Understanding Ranching and Land Use in Rural Rondônia. *Ecology and Society.* **16**.

Bellamy, J.A. and Lowes, D. 1999. Modelling change in state of complex ecological systems in space and time: An application to sustainable grazing management. *Environment international.* **25**(6), pp.701-712.

Bellamy, J.A., Walker, D.H., McDonald, G.T. and Syme, G.J. 2001. A systems approach to the evaluation of natural resource management initiatives. *Journal of Environmental Management*. **63**(4), pp.407-423.

Belsky, A. 1987. The effects of grazing: confounding of ecosystem, community, and organism scales. *The American Naturalist.* **129**(5), pp.777-783.

Bernués, A., Ruiz, R., Olaizola, A., Villalba, D. and Casasús, I. 2011.

Sustainability of pasture-based livestock farming systems in the European Mediterranean context: Synergies and trade-offs. *Livestock Science*. **139**(1), pp.44-57.

Bertalanffy, L.v. 1980. General system theory : foundations, development, applications. *New York : Braziller*.

Bestelmeyer, B.T., Brown, J.R., Havstad, K.M., Alexander, R., Chavez, G. and Herrick, J.E. 2003. Development and use of state-and-transition models for rangelands. *Journal of range management*. pp.114-126.

Beukes, P.C., Cowling, R.M. and Higgins, S.I. 2002. An ecological economic simulation model of a non-selective grazing system in the Nama Karoo, South Africa. *Ecological Economics.* **42**(1), pp.221-242.

Blackburn, W.J. and Proctor, J.T. 1983. Estimating photosynthetically active radiation from measured solar irradiance. *Solar Energy*. **31**(2), pp.233-234.

Bobée, C., Ottlé, C., Maignan, F., de Noblet-Ducoudré, N., Maugis, P., Lézine, A.M. and Ndiaye, M. 2012a. Analysis of vegetation seasonality in Sahelian environments using MODIS LAI, in association with land cover and rainfall. *Journal of Arid Environments.* **84**(Supplement C), pp.38-50.

Bobée, C., Ottlé, C., Maignan, F., de Noblet-Ducoudré, N., Maugis, P., Lézine, A.M. and Ndiaye, M. 2012b. Analysis of vegetation seasonality in Sahelian environments using MODIS LAI, in association with land cover and rainfall. *Journal of Arid Environments.* **84**, pp.38-50.

Bonari, G., Fajmon, K., Malenovský, I., Zelený, D., Holuša, J., Jongepierová, I., Kočárek, P., Konvička, O., Uřičář, J. and Chytrý, M. 2017. Management of seminatural grasslands benefiting both plant and insect diversity: The importance of heterogeneity and tradition. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment.* **246**, pp.243-252.

Bonesmo, H. and Bélanger, G. 2002. Timothy Yield and Nutritive Value by the CATIMO Model Contrib. no. 714, Agric. and Agri-Food Can. *Agronomy Journal*. **94**(2), pp.337-345.

Borrás, L., Maddonni, G.A. and Otegui, M.E. 2003. Leaf senescence in maize hybrids: plant population, row spacing and kernel set effects. *Field Crops Research.* **82**(1), pp.13-26.

Bösing, B., Susenbeth, A., Hao, J., Ahnert, S., Ohm, M. and Dickhoefer, U. 2014. Effect of concentrate supplementation on herbage intake and live weight gain of sheep grazing a semi-arid grassland steppe of North-Eastern Asia in response to different grazing management systems and intensities. *Livestock Science*. **165**, pp.157-166.

Boumans, R., Roman, J., Altman, I. and Kaufman, L. 2015. The Multiscale Integrated Model of Ecosystem Services (MIMES): Simulating the interactions of coupled human and natural systems. *Ecosystem Services*. **12**(Supplement C), pp.30-41.

Bouwman, L., Goldewijk, K.K., Van Der Hoek, K.W., Beusen, A.H., Van Vuuren, D.P., Willems, J., Rufino, M.C. and Stehfest, E. 2013. Exploring global changes in nitrogen and phosphorus cycles in agriculture induced by livestock production over the 1900–2050 period. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences.* **110**(52), pp.20882-20887.

Bowles, S. and Gintis, H. 2011. A cooperative species: human reciprocity and its evolution. Oxford; Princeton, N.J: Princeton University Press.

Boyd, C.S. and Svejcar, T.J. 2009. Managing Complex Problems in Rangeland Ecosystems. *Rangeland Ecology & Management*. **62**(6), pp.491-499.

Bradbury, J.W. and Vehrencamp, S.L. 2014. Complexity and behavioral ecology. *Behavioral Ecology*. **25**(3), pp.435-442.

Bradley, B.A., Jacob, R.W., Hermance, J.F. and Mustard, J.F. 2007. A curve fitting procedure to derive inter-annual phenologies from time series of noisy satellite NDVI data. *Remote Sensing of Environment.* **106**(2), pp.137-145.

Brady, G.L. 1993. Governing the commons: The evolution of institutions for collective action. *Southern Economic Journal*. **60**(1), pp.249-251.

Briske, D.D., Fuhlendorf, S.D. and Smeins, F.E. 2003. Vegetation Dynamics on Rangelands: A Critique of the Current Paradigms. *Journal of Applied Ecology*. **40**(4), pp.601-614.

Briske, D.D., Fuhlendorf, S.D. and Smeins, F.E. 2005. State-and-Transition Models, Thresholds, and Rangeland Health: A Synthesis of Ecological Concepts and Perspectives. *Rangeland Ecology & Management.* **58**(1), pp.1-10.

Briske, D.D., Sayre, N.F., Huntsinger, L., Fernandez-Gimenez, M., Budd, B. and Derner, J. 2011. Origin, persistence, and resolution of the rotational grazing debate: integrating human dimensions into rangeland research. *Rangeland Ecology* & *Management.* **64**(4), pp.325-334.

Briske, D.D., Zhao, M., Han, G., Xiu, C., Kemp, D.R., Willms, W., Havstad, K., Kang, L., Wang, Z., Wu, J., Han, X. and Bai, Y. 2015. Strategies to alleviate poverty and grassland degradation in Inner Mongolia: Intensification vs production efficiency of livestock systems. *Journal of Environmental Management*. **152**, pp.177-182.

Britton, C. and Dodd, J. 1976. Relationships of photosynthetically active radiation and shortwave irradiance. *Agricultural Meteorology*. **17**(1), pp.1-7.

Brock, T.D. 1981. Calculating solar radiation for ecological studies. *Ecological Modelling*. **14**(1-2), pp.1-19.

Brown, J., Fitzhugh Jr, H. and Cartwright, T. 1976. A comparison of nonlinear models for describing weight-age relationships in cattle. *Journal of Animal Science*. **42**(4), pp.810-818.

Brown, J.H., Ernest, S.M., Parody, J.M. and Haskell, J.P. 2001. Regulation of diversity: maintenance of species richness in changing environments. *Oecologia*. **126**(3), pp.321-332.

Browning, D.M., Franklin, J., Archer, S.R., Gillan, J.K. and Guertin, D.P. 2014. Spatial patterns of grassland–shrubland state transitions: a 74-year record on grazed and protected areas. *Ecological Applications*. **24**(6), pp.1421-1433. Brummer, E.C. and Moore, K.J. 2000. Persistence of perennial cool-season grass and legume cultivars under continuous grazing by beef cattle. *Agronomy Journal*. **92**(3), pp.466-471.

Bryant, D., Bruce, M.J. and Sinclair, S.J. 2017. Observations of responses to reintroducing fire in a Basalt Plains grassland after the removal of grazing: Implications for restoration. *Ecological Management & Restoration*. **18**, pp.239-245.

Buck, O., Millán, V.E.G., Klink, A. and Pakzad, K. 2015. Using information layers for mapping grassland habitat distribution at local to regional scales. *International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation.* **37**, pp.83-89.

Buermann, W., Dong, J., Zeng, X., Myneni, R.B. and Dickinson, R.E. 2001. Evaluation of the utility of satellite-based vegetation leaf area index data for climate simulations. *Journal of Climate*. **14**(17), pp.3536-3550.

Bunting, E., Steele, J., Keys, E., Muyengwa, S., Child, B. and Southworth, J. 2013. Local Perception of Risk to Livelihoods in the Semi-Arid Landscape of Southern Africa. *Land.* **2**(2), pp.225-251.

Burt, O.R. 1971. A Dynamic Economic Model of Pasture and Range Investments. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*. **53**(2), pp.197-205.

Calanca, P., Vuichard, N., Campbell, C., Viovy, N., Cozic, A., Fuhrer, J. and Soussana, J.-F. 2007. Simulating the fluxes of CO2 and N2O in European grasslands with the Pasture Simulation Model (PaSim). *Agriculture, ecosystems & environment.* **121**(1-2), pp.164-174.

Campbell, B.M., Gordon, I.J., Luckert, M.K., Petheram, L. and Vetter, S. 2006. In search of optimal stocking regimes in semi-arid grazing lands: One size does not fit all. *Ecological Economics*. **60**(1), pp.75-85.

Campos, P., Ovando, P., Mesa, B. and Oviedo, J.L. 2016. Environmental Income of Livestock Grazing on Privately-owned Silvopastoral Farms in Andalusia, Spain. *Land Degradation & Development*. pp.n/a-n/a.

Cao, G., Tang, Y., Mo, W., Wang, Y., Li, Y. and Zhao, X. 2004. Grazing intensity alters soil respiration in an alpine meadow on the Tibetan plateau. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*. **36**(2), pp.237-243.

Cao, J.-J., Xiong, Y.-C., Sun, J., Xiong, W.-F. and Du, G.-Z. 2011. Differential benefits of multi-and single-household grassland management patterns in the Qinghai-Tibetan Plateau of China. *Human Ecology*. **39**(2), pp.217-227.

Cao, J.J., Yeh, E.T., Holden, N.M., Yang, Y.Y. and Du, G.Z. 2013. The effects of enclosures and land-use contracts on rangeland degradation on the Qinghai-Tibetan plateau. *Journal of Arid Environments.* **97**, pp.3-8.

Carmel, Y. and Kadmon, R. 1999. Effects of grazing and topography on long-term vegetation changes in a Mediterranean ecosystem in Israel. *Plant ecology*. **145**(2), pp.243-254.

Carroll, J.J. 1985. Global transmissivity and diffuse fraction of solar radiation for clear and cloudy skies as measured and as predicted by bulk transmissivity models. *Solar Energy*. **35**(2), pp.105-118.

Castilla-Rho, J.C., Mariethoz, G., Rojas, R., Andersen, M.S. and Kelly, B.F.J. 2015. An agent-based platform for simulating complex human–aquifer interactions in managed groundwater systems. *Environmental Modelling & Software*. **73**, pp.305-323.

Castle, C.J. and Crooks, A.T. 2006. Principles and concepts of agent-based modelling for developing geospatial simulations.

Chai, T. and Draxler, R.R. 2014. Root mean square error (RMSE) or mean absolute error (MAE)?–Arguments against avoiding RMSE in the literature. *Geoscientific Model Development.* **7**(3), pp.1247-1250.

Chang, J., Viovy, N., Vuichard, N., Ciais, P., Campioli, M., Klumpp, K., Martin, R., Leip, A. and Soussana, J.-F. 2015. Modeled changes in potential grassland productivity and in grass-fed ruminant livestock density in Europe over 1961–2010. *PloS one*. **10**(5), pe0127554.

Chen, J., Chen, J., Liao, A., Cao, X., Chen, L., Chen, X., He, C., Han, G., Peng, S., Lu, M., Zhang, W., Tong, X. and Mills, J. 2015. Global land cover mapping at 30 m resolution: A POK-based operational approach. *ISPRS Journal of*

Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing. 103, pp.7-27.

Chen, J.M. and Black, T. 1992. Defining leaf area index for non-flat leaves. *Plant, Cell & Environment.* **15**(4), pp.421-429.

Chen, P.P., Thalheim, B. and Wong, L.Y. 1999. Future directions of conceptual modeling. *Conceptual modeling*. Springer, pp.287-301.

Chen, Y., Yang, K., He, J., Qin, J., Shi, J., Du, J. and He, Q. 2011. Improving land surface temperature modeling for dry land of China. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres.* **116**(D20).

Chesson, P.L. and Case, T.J. 1986. Overview: nonequilibrium community theories: chance, variability, history. *Community ecology. Edited by J. Diamond and TJ Case. Harper and Row Publishers, Inc., New York.* pp.229-239.

Chilcott, C., Owens, J., Silburn, D. and McKeon, G. 2004. HOW LONG WILL SOIL RESOURCES LAST IN SEMI-ARID GRAZING SYSTEMS? *International Soil Conservation Organisation Conference*.

Christina Prell, K.H., Mark Reed. 2009. Stakeholder Analysis and Social Network Analysis in Natural Resource Management. *Society & Natural Resources: An International Journal*.

Ciampaglia, G.L. 2013. A framework for the calibration of social simulation models. *Advances in Complex Systems*. **16**(04n05), p1350030.

Cingolani, A.M., Noy-Meir, I. and Díaz, S. 2005a. Grazing Effects on Rangeland Diversity: A Synthesis of Contemporary Models. *Ecological Applications*. **15**(2), pp.757-773.

Cingolani, A.M., Posse, G. and Collantes, M.B. 2005b. Plant functional traits, herbivore selectivity and response to sheep grazing in Patagonian steppe grasslands. *Journal of Applied Ecology.* **42**(1), pp.50-59.

Clark, C., Farina, S., Garcia, S., Islam, M., Kerrisk, K. and Fulkerson, W. 2016. A comparison of conventional and automatic milking system pasture utilization and pre-and post-grazing pasture mass. *Grass and forage science*. **71**(1), pp.153-159. Clements, F.E. 1916. *Plant succession: an analysis of the development of*

vegetation. Carnegie Institution of Washington.

Cluzeau, D., Binet, F., Vertes, F., Simon, J., Riviere, J. and Trehen, P. 1992. Effects of intensive cattle trampling on soil-plant-earthworms system in two grassland types. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*. **24**(12), pp.1661-1665.

Cohen, W.B. and Goward, S.N. 2004. Landsat's role in ecological applications of remote sensing. *AIBS Bulletin.* **54**(6), pp.535-545.

Cohen, W.B. and Justice, C.O. 1999. Validating MODIS terrestrial ecology products: linking in situ and satellite measurements. *Remote Sensing of Environment.* **70**(1), pp.1-3.

Collins, S.L., Knapp, A.K., Briggs, J.M., Blair, J.M. and Steinauer, E.M. 1998. Modulation of Diversity by Grazing and Mowing in Native Tallgrass Prairie. *Science*. **280**(5364), pp.745-747.

Commission, N.D.a.R. 2014. Qinghai sanjiangyuan ecological protection and construction project : phase II.

http://njs.ndrc.gov.cn/gzdt/201404/t20140411_606746.html.

Conant, R.T., Paustian, K. and Elliott, E.T. 2001. Grassland management and conversion into grassland: effects on soil carbon. *Ecological applications*. **11**(2), pp.343-355.

Congalton, R.G. 1991. Remote sensing and geographic information system data integration: error sources and. *Photogrammetric Engineering & Remote Sensing*. **57**(5), pp.677-687.

Connolly, J., Bell, T., Bolger, T., Brophy, C., Carnus, T., Finn, J.A., Kirwan, L., Isbell, F., Levine, J. and Lüscher, A. 2013. An improved model to predict the effects of changing biodiversity levels on ecosystem function. *Journal of Ecology*. **101**(2), pp.344-355.

Conte, T.J. and Tilt, B. 2014. The effects of China's grassland contract policy on pastoralists' attitudes towards cooperation in an Inner Mongolian banner. *Human Ecology.* **42**(6), pp.837-846.

Coppedge, B., Engle, D., Toepfer, C. and Shaw, J. 1998. Effects of seasonal fire, bison grazing and climatic variation on tallgrass prairie vegetation. *Plant Ecology*. **139**(2), pp.235-246.

Cotta, C. and Schaefer, R. 2017. Bioinspired algorithms and complex systems. *Journal of Computational Science*. **23**, pp.192-194.

Coughenour, M. 1984. A mechanistic simulation analysis of water use, leaf angles, and grazing in East African graminoids. *Ecological Modelling*. **26**(3-4), pp.203-230.

Cougnon, M., De Swaef, T., Lootens, P., Baert, J., De Frenne, P., Shahidi, R., Roldán-Ruiz, I. and Reheul, D. 2016. In situ quantification of forage grass root biomass, distribution and diameter classes under two N fertilisation rates. *Plant Soil.* **411**(1-2).

Coupland, R.T. 1979. *Grassland ecosystems of the world: analysis of grasslands and their uses.* Cambridge University Press.

Couvreur, S., Hurtaud, C., Lopez, C., Delaby, L. and Peyraud, J.L. 2006. The Linear Relationship Between the Proportion of Fresh Grass in the Cow Diet, Milk Fatty Acid Composition, and Butter Properties. *Journal of Dairy Science*. **89**(6), pp.1956-1969.

Cramer, W., Kicklighter, D.W., Bondeau, A., Iii, B.M., Churkina, G., Nemry, B., Ruimy, A., Schloss, A.L. and Intercomparison, T.P.O.F.T.P.N.M. 1999.

Comparing global models of terrestrial net primary productivity (NPP): overview and key results. *Global Change Biology*. **5**(S1), pp.1-15.

Crawley, M.J. 1983. *Herbivory: the dynamics of animal-plant interactions*. Oxford: Blackwell Scientific.

Crecente, R., Alvarez, C. and Fra, U. 2002. Economic, social and environmental impact of land consolidation in Galicia. *Land use policy*. **19**(2), pp.135-147.

Crépin, A.-S., Lindahl, T., Stockholms, u. and Stockholm Resilience, C. 2009. Grazing games: sharing common property resources with complex dynamics. *Environmental & Resource Economics*. **44**(1), pp.29-46. Croft, H., Chen, J.M. and Zhang, Y. 2014. The applicability of empirical vegetation indices for determining leaf chlorophyll content over different leaf and canopy structures. *Ecological Complexity.* **17**, pp.119-130.

Cronin, J.T., Bhattarai, G.P., Allen, W.J. and Meyerson, L.A. 2015. Biogeography of a plant invasion: plant-herbivore interactions. *Ecology*. **96**(4), pp.1115-1127. Crooks, A., Castle, C. and Batty, M. 2008. Key challenges in agent-based modelling for geo-spatial simulation. *Computers, Environment and Urban Systems*. **32**(6), pp.417-430.

Csilléry, K., Blum, M.G.B., Gaggiotti, O.E. and François, O. 2010. Approximate Bayesian Computation (ABC) in practice. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*. **25**(7), pp.410-418.

Csilléry, K., François, O. and Blum, M.G.B. 2012a. abc: an R package for approximate Bayesian computation (ABC). *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*. **3**(3), pp.475-479.

Csilléry, K., Lemaire, L., François, O. and Blum, M. 2012b. *Approximate Bayesian Computation (ABC) in R: A Vignette.*

Cuddington, K., Fortin, M.-J., Gerber, L., Hastings, A., Liebhold, A., O'connor, M. and Ray, C. 2013. Process-based models are required to manage ecological systems in a changing world. *Ecosphere*. **4**(2), pp.1-12.

Darvishzadeh, R., Skidmore, A., Schlerf, M., Atzberger, C., Corsi, F. and Cho, M. 2008. LAI and chlorophyll estimation for a heterogeneous grassland using hyperspectral measurements. *ISPRS Journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing*. **63**(4), pp.409-426.

Dasselaar, P.-v., den, A.v. and Egbert, L. 1995. *Modelling the carbon cycle of grassland in the Netherlands under various management strategies and environmental conditions.*

Davis, R.M. 1979. *Rangelands in the 1977 Soil and Water Resources Conservation Act.* Society for Range Management. 1. pp.27-28. Available from:

http://leeds.summon.serialssolutions.com/2.0.0/link/0/eLvHCXMwdV1fS8MwED-GA1GEOZ31z4R8gcambbr2zTkcghvIVnTsZaQulUFXdav49b0k63BSH_Jwebgcl 5A77u53B-

C51LH__AksSpIQ34_sSKagmWrCueAq6TRPeSAVOHk88OM7f_TMRzUo59pIktdJahz-

uguJZm88VTwTWPVVVbIwBXKz9cLmA7paYS0w9WM9d9lhtpo9BvAt0GsnR Pot1jSDK3GegPk2j3xGBpl12fSNffahJrMT-Cw-

7batMqQp3A7UrgADdUli5ygI0cYullk_L7ICO6SF3QjV6SMz6-

Jms1ZhmBJ97VoQbt_H_cebC3Z7MP0nZhtxPDO4Eio8ve80DC5uQX1FN-

<u>qtPDvx8Us2J9EnYk_6MeGbJYkXWsoF_0sLFSYful2QJ1KBo_hcOoOtwwMWc</u> WAU7-

<u>SwbTnDntPWwaGrJYgOAfiiMAVUciFz1I_dVwhPbSqTEaJcqLC4AJaleq4_Gf_Cg5Q65GpsG7DXrH6ktdQ19f7A1CPtCc</u>

www.summon.com

De Kauwe, M.G., Disney, M.I., Quaife, T., Lewis, P. and Williams, M. 2011. An assessment of the MODIS collection 5 leaf area index product for a region of mixed coniferous forest. *Remote Sensing of Environment.* **115**(2), pp.767-780. De Wolf, T. and Holvoet, T. 2005. Emergence Versus Self-Organisation: Different Concepts but Promising When Combined. In: *Engineering Self-Organising Systems, 2005//, Berlin, Heidelberg.* Springer Berlin Heidelberg, pp.1-15.

Deadman, P.J. 1999. Modelling individual behaviour and group performance in an intelligent agent-based simulation of the tragedy of the commons. *Journal of environmental management*. **56**(3), pp.159-172.

Dean, W.R.J., Hoffinan, M.T., Meadows, M.E. and Milton, S.J. 1995. Desertification in the semi-arid Karoo, South Africa: review and reassessment. *Journal of Arid Environments.* **30**(3), pp.247-264.

Del Grosso, S., Parton, W., Stohlgren, T., Zheng, D., Bachelet, D., Prince, S., Hibbard, K. and Olson, R. 2008. Global potential net primary production predicted from vegetation class, precipitation, and temperature. *Ecology.* **89**(8), pp.2117-2126.

Deng, F., Chen, J., Plummer, S., Chen, M. and Pisek, J. 2006. Global LAI algorithm integrating the bidirectional information. *IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing*. **44**(8), pp.2219-2229.

Derry, J.F. and Boone, R.B. 2010. Grazing systems are a result of equilibrium and non-equilibrium dynamics. *Journal of Arid Environments*. **74**(2), pp.307-309. Desta, S. and Coppock, D.L. 2002. Cattle population dynamics in the southern Ethiopian rangelands, 1980-97. *Journal of Range Management*. pp.439-451.

Diana, S. 2012. Modeling complex systems. *Learning Development Institute*. Access in March 04, 2012 at <u>http://www.learndev.org/dl/BtSM2005-Stirling-</u> Complexity.pdf).

Dixon, A., Faber-Langendoen, D., Josse, C., Morrison, J. and Loucks, C. 2014a. Distribution mapping of world grassland types. *Journal of biogeography*. **41**(11), pp.2003-2019.

Dixon, A.P., Faber-Langendoen, D., Josse, C., Morrison, J. and Loucks, C.J. 2014b. Distribution mapping of world grassland types. *Journal of Biogeography*. **41**(11), pp.2003-2019.

Dobó, E., Fekete-Farkas, M., Kumar Singh, M. and Szûcs, I. 2006. Ecologicaleconomic analysis of climate change on food system and agricultural vulnerability: a brief overview. *Cereal Research Communications*. **34**(1), pp.777-780.

Dong, S., Lassoie, J. and Shrestha, K.K. 2009. Institutional development for sustainable rangeland resource and ecosystem management in mountainous areas of northern Nepal. *Journal of Environmental Management [H.W.Wilson - SSA]*. **90**(2), p994.

Dong, S., Zhou, C. and Wang, H. 2002. Ecological crisis and countermeasures of the Three Rivers Headstream Regions. *Journal of Natural Resources.* **17**(6), pp.713-720.

Donnelly, J., Freer, M., Salmon, L., Moore, A., Simpson, R., Dove, H. and Bolger, T. 2002a. Evolution of the GRAZPLAN decision support tools and adoption by the grazing industry in temperate Australia. *Agricultural Systems*. **74**(1), pp.115-139. Donnelly, J., Moore, A. and Freer, M. 1997. GRAZPLAN: Decision support systems for Australian grazing enterprises—I. Overview of the GRAZPLAN project, and a description of the MetAccess and LambAlive DSS. *Agricultural Systems*. **54**(1), pp.57-76.

Donnelly, J.R., Freer, M., Salmon, L., Moore, A.D., Simpson, R.J., Dove, H. and Bolger, T.P. 2002b. Evolution of the GRAZPLAN decision support tools and adoption by the grazing industry in temperate Australia. *Agricultural Systems*. **74**(1), pp.115-139.

Douglas, F., Samuel, M. and Benjamin, T. 1998. The Ecology of the Earth's Grazing Ecosystems. *Bioscience*. **48**(7), pp.513-521.

Dressler, G., Groeneveld, J., Buchmann, C.M., Guo, C., Hase, N., Thober, J., Frank, K. and Müller, B. 2018. Implications of behavioral change for the resilience of pastoral systems—Lessons from an agent-based model. *Ecological Complexity*. Du, J., Shu, J., Zhang, L., 杜加强, 舒俭民 and 张林波. 2010. NPP response to climate change in Huannan. *生态学杂志*. **29**(06), pp.1094-1102.

Duckworth, R.A., Potticary, A.L. and Badyaev, A.V. 2018. Chapter One - On the Origins of Adaptive Behavioral Complexity: Developmental Channeling of Structural Trade-offs. In: Naguib, M., et al. eds. *Advances in the Study of Behavior*. Academic Press, pp.1-36.

Dumont, B. and Hill, D.R. 2004a. Spatially explicit models of group foraging by herbivores: what can Agent-Based Models offer? *Animal Research*. **53**(5), pp.419-428.

Dumont, B. and Hill, D.R.C. 2004b. Spatially explicit models of group foraging by herbivores: what can Agent-Based Models offer? *Anim. Res.* **53**(5), pp.419-428. Dyer, A.R. 2003. Burning and grazing management in a California grassland: growth, mortality, and recruitment of Nassella pulchra. *Restoration Ecology.* **11**(3), pp.291-296.

Dyksterhuis, E. 1949. Condition and management of range land based on quantitative ecology. *Journal of range management*. **2**(3), pp.104-115.

Eby, S., Burkepile, D.E., Richard, W., Fynn, S., Burns, C.E., Govender, N., Hagenah, N., Koerner, S.E., Matchett, K.J. and Thompson, D.I. 2014. Loss of a large grazer impacts savanna grassland plant communities similarly in North America and South Africa. *Oecologia*. **175**(1), p293.

Eddy, I.M.S., Gergel, S.E., Coops, N.C., Henebry, G.M., Levine, J., Zerriffi, H. and Shibkov, E. 2017. Integrating remote sensing and local ecological knowledge to monitor rangeland dynamics. *Ecological Indicators*. **82**(Supplement C), pp.106-116.

Edwards, V.M. and Steins, N.A. 1998. Developing an Analytical Framework for Multiple-Use Commons. *Journal of Theoretical Politics*. **10**(3), pp.347-383.

Ehrhardt, F., Soussana, J.F., Bellocchi, G., Grace, P., McAuliffe, R., Recous, S., Sándor, R., Smith, P., Snow, V. and de Antoni Migliorati, M. 2018. Assessing uncertainties in crop and pasture ensemble model simulations of productivity and N2O emissions. *Global change biology*. **24**(2), pp.e603-e616.

Ellenberg, H. 1988. *Vegetation ecology of central Europe*. Cambridge University Press.

Ellis, J., Galvin, K., McCabe, J. and Swift, D. 1987. Pastoralism and Drought in Turkana District, Kenya. A Report to NORAD. Development Systems Consultants. *Inc., Bellevue, Colorado. Google Scholar*.

Ellis, J.E. and Swift, D.M. 1988. Stability of African pastoral ecosystems: alternate paradigms and implications for development. *Rangeland Ecology* &

Management/Journal of Range Management Archives. **41**(6), pp.450-459.

Ernest, S.M. and Brown, J.H. 2001. Homeostasis and compensation: the role of species and resources in ecosystem stability. *Ecology.* **82**(8), pp.2118-2132. Esser, G. 1994. *High resolution biosphere model: documentation; Model version 3.00. 00.*

Evans, D.M., Redpath, S.M., Evans, S.A., Elston, D.A., Gardner, C.J., Dennis, P. and Pakeman, R.J. 2006. Low intensity, mixed livestock grazing improves the breeding abundance of a common insectivorous passerine. *Biology Letters*. **2**(4), pp.636-638.

Fan, J.-W., Shao, Q.-Q., Liu, J.-Y., Wang, J.-B., Harris, W., Chen, Z.-Q., Zhong, H.-P., Xu, X.-L. and Liu, R.-G. 2010a. Assessment of effects of climate change and grazing activity on grassland yield in the Three Rivers Headwaters Region of Qinghai-Tibet Plateau, China. *Environmental monitoring and assessment*. **170**(1-4), pp.571-584.

Fan, J.-W., Shao, Q.-Q., Liu, J.-Y., Wang, J.-B., Harris, W., Chen, Z.-Q., Zhong, H.-P., Xu, X.-L. and Liu, R.-G. 2010b. Assessment of effects of climate change and grazing activity on grassland yield in the Three Rivers Headwaters Region of Qinghai–Tibet Plateau, China. *Environmental monitoring and assessment*. **170**(1), pp.571-584.

Fang, H., Liang, S., Townshend, J.R. and Dickinson, R.E. 2008. Spatially and temporally continuous LAI data sets based on an integrated filtering method: Examples from North America. *Remote Sensing of Environment.* **112**(1), pp.75-93. Fang, H., Wei, S., Jiang, C. and Scipal, K. 2012. Theoretical uncertainty analysis of global MODIS, CYCLOPES, and GLOBCARBON LAI products using a triple collocation method. *Remote Sensing of Environment.* **124**, pp.610-621.

Fang, S., Yu, W. and Qi, Y. 2015. Spectra and vegetation index variations in moss soil crust in different seasons, and in wet and dry conditions. *International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation.* **38**, pp.261-266.

Farnsworth, K., Focardi, S. and Beecham, J. 2002. Grassland-herbivore interactions: how do grazers coexist? *The American Naturalist.* **159**(1), pp.24-39. Feenstra, J.F. 1998. Handbook on methods for climate change impact assessment and adaptation strategies.

Feng, X.M. and Zhao, Y.S. 2011. Grazing intensity monitoring in Northern China steppe: Integrating CENTURY model and MODIS data. *Ecological Indicators*. **11**(1), pp.175-182.

Fensham, R., Holman, J. and Cox, M. 1999. Plant species responses along a grazing disturbance gradient in Australian grassland. *Journal of Vegetation Science*. **10**(1), pp.77-86.

Fensholt, R., Sandholt, I. and Rasmussen, M.S. 2004. Evaluation of MODIS LAI, fAPAR and the relation between fAPAR and NDVI in a semi-arid environment using in situ measurements. *Remote sensing of Environment.* 91(3), pp.490-507.
Fernandez-Gimenez, M.E., Batkhishig, B., Batbuyan, B. and Ulambayar, T. 2015. Lessons from the Dzud: Community-Based Rangeland Management Increases the Adaptive Capacity of Mongolian Herders to Winter Disasters. *World Development.* 68, pp.48-65.

Fernandez-Gimenez, M.E. and Allen-Diaz, B. 1999. Testing a non-equilibrium model of rangeland vegetation dynamics in Mongolia. *Journal of Applied Ecology*. **36**(6), pp.871-885.

Field, C.B., Randerson, J.T. and Malmström, C.M. 1995. Global net primary production: Combining ecology and remote sensing. *Remote Sensing of Environment.* **51**(1), pp.74-88.

Filatova, T., Verburg, P.H., Parker, D.C. and Stannard, C.A. 2013. Spatial agentbased models for socio-ecological systems: Challenges and prospects. *Environmental Modelling & Software*. **45**(0), pp.1-7.

Fisher, J.B., Tu, K.P. and Baldocchi, D.D. 2008. Global estimates of the land– atmosphere water flux based on monthly AVHRR and ISLSCP-II data, validated at 16 FLUXNET sites. *Remote Sensing of Environment*. **112**(3), pp.901-919. Flake, G. 2001. *The Computational Beauty of Nature*. Foggin, J.M. 2008. Depopulating the Tibetan Grasslands: National Policies and Perspectives for the Future of Tibetan Herders in Qinghai Province, China. *Mountain Research and Development.* **28**(1), pp.26-31.

Folke, C., Hahn, T., Olsson, P. and Norberg, J. 2005. ADAPTIVE

GOVERNANCE OF SOCIAL-ECOLOGICAL SYSTEMS. Annual Review of Environment and Resources. **30**(1), pp.441-473.

Foody, G.M. 1999. The continuum of classification fuzziness in thematic mapping. *Photogrammetric Engineering and Remote Sensing*. **65**, pp.443-452.

Ford, H., Roberts, A. and Jones, L. 2016. Nitrogen and phosphorus co-limitation and grazing moderate nitrogen impacts on plant growth and nutrient cycling in sand dune grassland. *Science of the Total Environment.* **542**, pp.203-209.

Fox, J. 2002. Nonlinear regression and nonlinear least squares. January.

Frank, A. and Hofmann, L. 1989. Relationship among grazing management, growing degree-days, and morphological development for native grasses on the Northern Great Plains. *Journal of Range Management*. pp.199-202.

Frank, D.A., Wallen, R.L. and White, P. 2016. Ungulate control of grassland production: grazing intensity and ungulate species composition in Yellowstone Park. *Ecosphere*. **7**(11).

Freer, M., Moore, A. and Donnelly, J. 1997. GRAZPLAN: Decision support systems for Australian grazing enterprises—II. The animal biology model for feed intake, production and reproduction and the GrazFeed DSS. *Agricultural Systems*. **54**(1), pp.77-126.

Friedel, M. 1991. Range condition assessment and the concept of thresholds: a viewpoint. *Journal of range management*. pp.422-426.

Friend, A., Stevens, A., Knox, R. and Cannell, M. 1997. A process-based, terrestrial biosphere model of ecosystem dynamics (Hybrid v3. 0). *Ecological Modelling*. **95**(2-3), pp.249-287.

Friend, A.D. and Cox, P.M. 1995. Modelling the effects of atmospheric C0 2 on vegetation-atmosphere interactions. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*. **73**(3), pp.285-295.

Frouin, R. and Pinker, R.T. 1995. Estimating photosynthetically active radiation (PAR) at the earth's surface from satellite observations. *Remote Sensing of Environment.* **51**(1), pp.98-107.

Fu, C., Dan, L., Chen, Y. and Tang, J. 2015. Trends of the sunshine duration and diffuse radiation percentage on sunny days in urban agglomerations of China during 1960–2005. *Journal of Environmental Sciences.* **34**, pp.206-211.

Fu, P. and Rich, P.M. 2002. A geometric solar radiation model with applications in agriculture and forestry. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*. **37**(1), pp.25-35.

Fuhlendorf, S.D. and Engle, D.M. 2001a. Restoring Heterogeneity on Rangelands: Ecosystem Management Based on Evolutionary Grazing Patterns. *BioScience*. **51**(8), pp.625-632.

Fuhlendorf, S.D. and Engle, D.M. 2001b. Restoring Heterogeneity on Rangelands: Ecosystem Management Based on Evolutionary Grazing Patterns: We propose a paradigm that enhances heterogeneity instead of homogeneity to promote biological diversity and wildlife habitat on rangelands grazed by livestock. *BioScience.* **51**(8), pp.625-632.

Fuhlendorf, S.D., Harrell, W.C., Engle, D.M., Hamilton, R.G., Davis, C.A. and Leslie, D.M. 2006. Should heterogeneity be the basis for conservation? Grassland bird response to fire and grazing. *Ecological Applications*. **16**(5), pp.1706-1716.

Fuhlendorf, S.D. and Smeins, F.E. 1996. Spatial scale influence on longterm temporal patterns of a semi-arid grassland. *Landscape Ecology*. **11**(2), pp.107-113. Fynn, R.W., Augustine, D.J., Peel, M.J. and Garine-Wichatitsky, M. 2016. Strategic management of livestock to improve biodiversity conservation in African savannahs: A conceptual basis for wildlife–livestock coexistence. *Journal of Applied Ecology*. **53**(2), pp.388-397.

Gallagher, J. and Biscoe, P. 1978. Radiation absorption, growth and yield of cereals. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*. **91**(1), pp.47-60.

Galvão, L.S., Breunig, F.M., Santos, J.R.d. and Moura, Y.M.d. 2013. Viewillumination effects on hyperspectral vegetation indices in the Amazonian tropical forest. *International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation*. **21**, pp.291-300.

Ganche, E., Delaby, L., O'Donovan, M., Boland, T.M., Galvin, N. and Kennedy, E. 2013. Post-grazing sward height imposed during the first 10 weeks of lactation: Influence on early and total lactation dairy cow production, and spring and annual sward characteristics. *Livestock Science*. **157**(1), pp.299-311.

Gao, Q., Qin, X., Wang, B., Guo, Y., Li, Y., Wan, Y., Jiangcun, W. and Ganjurjav. 2013. Effects of topography and human activity on the net primary productivity (NPP) of alpine grassland in northern Tibet from 1981 to 2004. *International Journal of Remote Sensing.* **34**(6), pp.2057-2069.

Garrigues, S., Lacaze, R., Baret, F., Morisette, J.T., Weiss, M., Nickeson, J.E., Fernandes, R., Plummer, S., Shabanov, N.V., Myneni, R.B., Knyazikhin, Y. and Yang, W. 2008. Validation and intercomparison of global Leaf Area Index products derived from remote sensing data. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences.* **113**(G2), pp.n/a-n/a.

Gaube, V., Kaiser, C., Wildenberg, M., Adensam, H., Fleissner, P., Kobler, J., Lutz, J., Schaumberger, A., Schaumberger, J., Smetschka, B., Wolf, A., Richter, A. and Haberl, H. 2009. Combining agent-based and stock-flow modelling approaches in a participative analysis of the integrated land system in Reichraming, Austria. *Landscape Ecology.* **24**(9), pp.1149-1165.

Geerken, R., Batikha, N., Celis, D. and Depauw, E. 2005. Differentiation of rangeland vegetation and assessment of its status: field investigations and MODIS and SPOT VEGETATION data analyses. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*. **26**(20), pp.4499-4526.

Gignoux, J., Fritz, H., Abbadie, L. and Loreau, M. 2001. Which Functional Processes Control the Short-Term Effect of Grazing on Net Primary Production in Grasslands? *Oecologia*. **129**(1), pp.114-124.

Gilmanov, T.G., Aires, L., Barcza, Z., Baron, V.S., Belelli, L., Beringer, J., Billesbach, D., Bonal, D., Bradford, J., Ceschia, E., Cook, D., Corradi, C., Frank, A., Gianelle, D., Gimeno, C., Gruenwald, T., Guo, H., Hanan, N., Haszpra, L., Heilman, J., Jacobs, A., Jones, M.B., Johnson, D.A., Kiely, G., Li, S., Magliulo, V., Moors, E., Nagy, Z., Nasyrov, M., Owensby, C., Pinter, K., Pio, C., Reichstein, M., Sanz, M.J., Scott, R., Soussana, J.F., Stoy, P.C., Svejcar, T., Tuba, Z. and Zhou, G. 2010. Productivity, Respiration, and Light-Response Parameters of World Grassland and Agroecosystems Derived From Flux-Tower Measurements. *Rangeland Ecology & Management.* **63**(1), pp.16-39.

Gimblett, H.R. 2002. Integrating geographic information systems and agent-based modeling techniques for simulating social and ecological processes. Oxford University Press.

Gitelson, A.A., Wardlow, B.D., Keydan, G.P. and Leavitt, B. 2007. An evaluation of MODIS 250-m data for green LAI estimation in crops. *Geophysical Research Letters*. **34**(20).

Goetz, S. 1997. Multi-sensor analysis of NDVI, surface temperature and biophysical variables at a mixed grassland site. *International Journal of remote sensing*. **18**(1), pp.71-94.

Goetz, S. and Prince, S.D. 1999. Modelling terrestrial carbon exchange and storage: evidence and implications of functional convergence in light-use efficiency. *Advances in ecological research.* **28**, pp.57-92.

Goetz, S.J., Prince, S.D., Goward, S.N., Thawley, M.M. and Small, J. 1999. Satellite remote sensing of primary production: an improved production efficiency modeling approach. *Ecological Modelling*. **122**(3), pp.239-255.

Goldberg, B. and Klein, W. 1977. Variations in the spectral distribution of daylight at various geographical locations on the earth's surface. *Solar Energy*. **19**(1), pp.3-13.

Goldstein, M.C., Jiao, B., Beall, C.M. and Tsering, P. 2003. Development and Change in Rural Tibet. *Asian Survey*. **43**(5), pp.758-779.

Gómez, M., de Jong, R., Della Peruta, R., Keller, A. and Schaepman, M.E. 2017a. Determination of grassland use intensity based on multi-temporal remote sensing data and ecological indicators. *Remote Sensing of Environment.* **198**, pp.126-139. Gómez, M., Jong, R., Della Peruta, R., Keller, A. and Schaepman, M.E. 2017b. Determination of grassland use intensity based on multi-temporal remote sensing data and ecological indicators. *Remote Sensing of Environment.* **198**(Supplement C), pp.126-139.

Gong, X.Y., Fanselow, N., Dittert, K., Taube, F. and Lin, S. 2015. Response of primary production and biomass allocation to nitrogen and water supplementation along a grazing intensity gradient in semiarid grassland. *European Journal of Agronomy*. **63**, pp.27-35.

Gongbuzeren, Zhuang, M. and Li, W. 2016. Market-based grazing land transfers and customary institutions in the management of rangelands: Two case studies on the Qinghai-Tibetan Plateau. *Land Use Policy*. **57**, pp.287-295.

Gonzalez, J.M., Sherr, E.B. and Sherr, B.F. 1990. Size-selective grazing on bacteria by natural assemblages of estuarine flagellates and ciliates. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*. **56**(3), pp.583-589.

Gordon, I.J., Hester, A.J. and Festa-Bianchet, M. 2004. The management of wild large herbivores to meet economic, conservation and environmental objectives. *Journal of Applied Ecology.* **41**(6), pp.1021-1031.

Grace, J.B. and Jutila, H. 1999. The relationship between species density and community biomass in grazed and ungrazed coastal meadows. *Oikos*. pp.398-408. Grant, S., Barthram, G., Torvell, L., King, J. and Smith, H. 1983. Sward

management, lamina turnover and tiller population density in continuously stocked Lolium perenne-dominated swards. *Grass and Forage Science*. **38**(4), pp.333-344. Graux, A.I., Gaurut, M., Agabriel, J., Baumont, R., Delagarde, R., Delaby, L. and Soussana, J.F. 2011. Development of the Pasture Simulation Model for assessing livestock production under climate change. *AGRICULTURE ECOSYSTEMS & ENVIRONMENT*. **144**(1), pp.69-91.

Green, S., Cawkwell, F. and Dwyer, E. 2016. Cattle stocking rates estimated in temperate intensive grasslands with a spring growth model derived from MODIS NDVI time-series. *International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation*. **52**, pp.166-174.

Grimm, V. 1999. Ten years of individual-based modelling in ecology: what have we learned and what could we learn in the future? *Ecological modelling*. **115**(2-3), pp.129-148.

Grimm, V., Berger, U., Bastiansen, F., Eliassen, S., Ginot, V., Giske, J., Goss-Custard, J., Grand, T., Heinz, S.K. and Huse, G. 2006. A standard protocol for describing individual-based and agent-based models. *Ecological modelling*. **198**(1), pp.115-126.

Groeneveld, J., Müller, B., Buchmann, C.M., Dressler, G., Guo, C., Hase, N., Hoffmann, F., John, F., Klassert, C. and Lauf, T. 2017a. Theoretical foundations of human decision-making in agent-based land use models–A review. *Environmental modelling & software.* **87**, pp.39-48.

Groeneveld, J., Müller, B., Buchmann, C.M., Dressler, G., Guo, C., Hase, N., Hoffmann, F., John, F., Klassert, C., Lauf, T., Liebelt, V., Nolzen, H., Pannicke, N., Schulze, J., Weise, H. and Schwarz, N. 2017b. Theoretical foundations of human decision-making in agent-based land use models – A review. *Environmental Modelling & Software.* **87**, pp.39-48.

Gross, McAllister, R.R.J., Abel, N., Smith, D.M.S. and Maru, Y. 2006a. Australian rangelands as complex adaptive systems: A conceptual model and preliminary results. *Environmental Modelling & Software*. **21**(9), pp.1264-1272.

Gross, J.E., McAllister, R.R.J., Abel, N., Smith, D.M.S. and Maru, Y. 2006b. Australian rangelands as complex adaptive systems: A conceptual model and preliminary results. *Environmental Modelling & Software*. **21**(9), pp.1264-1272. Hadjigeorgiou, I., Osoro, K., Fragoso de Almeida, J.P. and Molle, G. 2005.

Southern European grazing lands: Production, environmental and landscape management aspects. *Livestock Production Science*. **96**(1), pp.51-59.

Hahn, M.W. and Höfle, M.G. 2001. Grazing of protozoa and its effect on populations of aquatic bacteria. *FEMS microbiology ecology*. **35**(2), pp.113-121. Haijing Gong, Deli Wang, 宫海静 and 王德利. 2006. 草地放牧系统优化模型的研究进展(advance in optimized grassland grazing modelling). *草业学报(Journal of Prataculture)*. **15**(6), p8.

Hailegiorgis, A.B., Kennedy, W.G., Rouleau, M., Bassett, J.K., Coletti, M., Balan, G.C. and Gulden, T. 2010. An agent based model of climate change and conflict among pastoralists in East Africa.

Han-qing, Z. 2011. Prospect Analysis on Developing Organic Animal Husbandry in Qinghai Province. *Acta Ecologiae Animalis Domastici.* **5**, p021.

Hanley, M., Fenner, M. and Edwards, P. 1995. An experimental field study of the effects of mollusc grazing on seedling recruitment and survival in grassland. *Journal of Ecology*. pp.621-627.

Hannigan, B. 2013. Connections and consequences in complex systems: Insights from a case study of the emergence and local impact of crisis resolution and home treatment services. *Social Science & Medicine*. **93**, pp.212-219.

Hansen, M.C., DeFries, R.S., Townshend, J.R., Carroll, M., Dimiceli, C. and Sohlberg, R.A. 2003. The MODIS 500 meter global vegetation continuous field products. In: *Second international workshop on the analysis of multitemporal remote sensing images, Ispra, Italy.*

Hanson, G.D., Cunningham, L.C., Morehart, M.J. and Parsons, R.L. 1998. Profitability of Moderate Intensive Grazing of Dairy Cows in the Northeast. *Journal of Dairy Science*. **81**(3), pp.821-829.

Hanson, J.D., Skiles, J.W. and Parton, W.J. 1988. A multi-species model for rangeland plant communities. *Ecological Modelling*. **44**(1), pp.89-123.

Happe, K., Kellermann, K. and Balmann, A. 2006. Agent-based analysis of agricultural policies: an illustration of the agricultural policy simulator AgriPoliS, its adaptation and behavior. *Ecology and Society*. **11**(1).

Hardin, G. 1968. The Tragedy of the Commons. *Science*. **162**(3859), pp.1243-1248.

Hardin, G. 2011. The Tragedy of the Commons. *PROCEEDINGS OF THE INSTITUTION OF CIVIL ENGINEERS-ENGINEERING SUSTAINABILITY*. **164**(2).

Harrington, R.A. and Fownes, J.H. 1995. Radiation interception and growth of planted and coppice stands of four fast-growing tropical trees. *Journal of Applied Ecology*. pp.1-8.

Harris, R.B. 2010. Rangeland degradation on the Qinghai-Tibetan plateau: A review of the evidence of its magnitude and causes. *Journal of Arid Environments*. **74**(1), pp.1-12.

Harrison, M.T., Evans, J.R. and Moore, A.D. 2012. Using a mathematical framework to examine physiological changes in winter wheat after livestock grazing: 1. Model derivation and coefficient calibration. *Field Crops Research.* **136**, pp.116-126.

Hart, R.H., Clapp, S. and Test, P.S. 1993. Grazing Strategies, Stocking Rates, and Frequency and Intensity of Grazing on Western Wheatgrass and Blue Grama. *Journal of Range Management.* **46**(2), pp.122-126.

Haxeltine, A. and Prentice, I. 1996a. A general model for the light-use efficiency of primary production. *Functional Ecology*. pp.551-561.

Haxeltine, A. and Prentice, I.C. 1996b. BIOME3: An equilibrium terrestrial biosphere model based on ecophysiological constraints, resource availability, and competition among plant functional types. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles.* **10**(4), pp.693-709.

Haxeltine, A., Prentice, I.C. and Creswell, I.D. 1996. A coupled carbon and water flux model to predict vegetation structure. *Journal of Vegetation Science*. **7**(5), pp.651-666.

Hayles, N.K. 1991. *Chaos and order: Complex dynamics in literature and science*. University of Chicago Press.

Heady, H.F. 1975. Rangeland Management.

Heath, B., Hill, R. and Ciarallo, F. 2009. A survey of agent-based modeling practices (January 1998 to July 2008). *Journal of Artificial Societies and Social Simulation.* **12**(4), p9.

Heitschmidt, R.K. and Stuth, J.W. 1991. *Grazing management: an ecological perspective*. Timber Press.

Herrero, M., Fawcett, R.H. and Dent, J.B. 2000a. Modelling the growth and utilisation of kikuyu grass (Pennisetum clandestinum) under grazing. 2. Model validation and analysis of management practices. *Agricultural Systems*. **65**(2), pp.99-111.

Herrero, M., Fawcett, R.H., Silveira, V., Busque, J., Bernues, A. and Dent, J.B. 2000b. Modelling the growth and utilisation of kikuyu grass (Pennisetum clandestinum) under grazing. 1. Model definition and parameterisation.

AGRICULTURAL SYSTEMS. 65(2), pp.73-97.

Hickman, K.R. and Hartnett, D.C. 2002. Effects of grazing intensity on growth, reproduction, and abundance of three palatable forbs in Kansas tallgrass prairie. *Plant Ecology.* **159**(1), pp.23-33.

Hiernaux, P., Bielders, C.L., Valentin, C., Bationo, A. and Fernández-Rivera, S. 1999. Effects of livestock grazing on physical and chemical properties of sandy soils in Sahelian rangelands. *Journal of Arid Environments*. **41**(3), pp.231-245. Hill, M.J., Senarath, U., Lee, A., Zeppel, M., Nightingale, J.M., Williams, R.J. and

McVicar, T.R. 2006. Assessment of the MODIS LAI product for Australian ecosystems. *Remote Sensing of Environment*. **101**(4), pp.495-518.

Ho, P. 2005. Institutions in Transition : Land Ownership, Property Rights, and Social Conflict in China. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Hodgson, J.G. and Illius, A.W. 1996. *The ecology and management of grazing systems*. Wallingford: CAB International.

Hoffmann, C., Giese, M., Dickhoefer, U., Wan, H., Bai, Y., Steffens, M., Liu, C., Butterbach-Bahl, K. and Han, X. 2016. Effects of grazing and climate variability on grassland ecosystem functions in Inner Mongolia: Synthesis of a 6-year grazing experiment. *Journal of Arid Environments.* **135**, pp.50-63.

Hoffmann, W.A., da Silva, E.R., Machado, G.C., Bucci, S.J., Scholz, F.G., Goldstein, G. and Meinzer, F.C. 2005. Seasonal leaf dynamics across a tree density gradient in a Brazilian savanna. *Oecologia*. **145**(2), pp.306-315.

Hofierka, J. and Suri, M. 2002. The solar radiation model for Open source GIS: implementation and applications. In: *Proceedings of the Open source GIS-GRASS users conference*, pp.51-70.

Höglind, M., Hanslin, H.M. and Van Oijen, M. 2005. Timothy regrowth, tillering and leaf area dynamics following spring harvest at two growth stages. *Field Crops Research*. **93**(1), pp.51-63.

Holling, C.S. 2001. Understanding the complexity of economic, ecological, and social systems. *Ecosystems*. **4**(5), pp.390-405.

Holling, C.S. and Meffe, G.K. 1996. Command and Control and the Pathology of Natural Resource Management. *Conservation Biology*. **10**(2), pp.328-337.

Holzworth, D.P., Huth, N.I., deVoil, P.G., Zurcher, E.J., Herrmann, N.I., McLean, G., Chenu, K., van Oosterom, E.J., Snow, V., Murphy, C., Moore, A.D., Brown,

H., Whish, J.P.M., Verrall, S., Fainges, J., Bell, L.W., Peake, A.S., Poulton, P.L.,

Hochman, Z., Thorburn, P.J., Gaydon, D.S., Dalgliesh, N.P., Rodriguez, D., Cox,

H., Chapman, S., Doherty, A., Teixeira, E., Sharp, J., Cichota, R., Vogeler, I., Li, F.Y., Wang, E., Hammer, G.L., Robertson, M.J., Dimes, J.P., Whitbread, A.M.,

Hunt, J., van Rees, H., McClelland, T., Carberry, P.S., Hargreaves, J.N.G.,

MacLeod, N., McDonald, C., Harsdorf, J., Wedgwood, S. and Keating, B.A. 2014. APSIM – Evolution towards a new generation of agricultural systems simulation. *Environmental Modelling & Software.* **62**, pp.327-350.

Hongbo, G.Z.M. 2005. Institutional Choice of the Sustainable Development in the Sanjiangyuan District of Qinghai Province. *Reform.* **10**, p011.

Horváth, L. 1993. The maximum likelihood method for testing changes in the parameters of normal observations. *The Annals of statistics*. pp.671-680.

Hu, Z., Li, S., Yu, G., Sun, X., Zhang, L., Han, S. and Li, Y. 2013. Modeling evapotranspiration by combing a two-source model, a leaf stomatal model, and a light-use efficiency model. *Journal of Hydrology*. **501**, pp.186-192.

Huakun, Z.X.Z. 2005. Eco-Environmental Degradation Vegetation Regeneration and Sustainable Development in the Headwaters of Three Rivers on Tibetan Plateau [J]. *Bulletin of the Chinese Academy of Sciences.* **6**, p007.

Huang, L. and Smith, M.D. 2014. The Dynamic Efficiency Costs of Common-Pool Resource Exploitation. *AMERICAN ECONOMIC REVIEW*. **104**(12), pp.4071-4103.

Huang, W., Bruemmer, B. and Huntsinger, L. 2016. Incorporating measures of grassland productivity into efficiency estimates for livestock grazing on the Qinghai-Tibetan Plateau in China. *Ecological Economics.* **122**, pp.1-11.

Huang, W., Bruemmer, B. and Huntsinger, L. 2017. Technical efficiency and the impact of grassland use right leasing on livestock grazing on the Qinghai-Tibetan Plateau. *Land Use Policy*. **64**, pp.342-352.

Huang, Y. and Li, Y. 2017. an effect way of developing eco-husbandary on grassland grazing system. 农村工作通讯. (2), pp.40-43.

Hudson, R. and Watkins, W. 1986. Foraging rates of wapiti on green and cured pastures. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*. **64**(8), pp.1705-1708.

Huenneke, L. and Ward, D. 2003. Rangelands as dynamic systems - vegetation change in rangelands. *African Journal of Range & Forage Science*. **20**(2), pp.89-100.

Huete, A., Didan, K., Miura, T., Rodriguez, E.P., Gao, X. and Ferreira, L.G. 2002. Overview of the radiometric and biophysical performance of the MODIS

vegetation indices. *Remote sensing of environment.* **83**(1), pp.195-213.

Humphrey, C. and Sneath, D. 1999. *The end of nomadism? Society, state and the environment in Inner Asia.* Durham: Duke University Press.

Hunt Jr, E. and Running, S.W. 1992. Effects of climate and lifeform on dry matter yield (epsilon) from simulations using BIOME BGC.[ecosystem process model for vegetation biomass production using daily absorbed photosynthetically active radiation].

Hunt Jr, E.R., Everitt, J.H., Ritchie, J.C., Moran, M.S., Booth, D.T., Anderson, G.L., Clark, P.E. and Seyfried, M.S. 2003. Applications and research using remote sensing for rangeland management. *Photogrammetric Engineering & Remote Sensing*. **69**(6), pp.675-693.

Hutchings, N.J. and Gordon, I.J. 2001. A dynamic model of herbivore–plant interactions on grasslands. *Ecological Modelling*. **136**(2-3), pp.209-222.

Iannelli, M. and Martcheva, M. 2003. Homogeneous Dynamical Systems and the Age-Structured SIR Model with Proportionate Mixing Incidence in: Iannelli M., Lumer G. (eds) Evolution Equations: Applications to Physics, Industry, Life Sciences and Economics. *Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations and Their Applications*. **55**.

Illius, A. and O'connor, T. 1999. On the relevance of nonequilibrium concepts to arid and semiarid grazing systems. *Ecological applications*. **9**(3), pp.798-813. Illyés, E., Chytrý, M., Botta-Dukát, Z., Jandt, U., Škodová, I., Janišová, M., Willner, W. and Hájek, O. 2007. Semi-dry grasslands along a climatic gradient across Central Europe: Vegetation classification with validation. *Journal of Vegetation Science*. **18**(6), pp.835-846.

Jackson, B., Scargle, J.D., Barnes, D., Arabhi, S., Alt, A., Gioumousis, P., Gwin, E., Sangtrakulcharoen, P., Tan, L. and Tsai, T.T. 2005. An algorithm for optimal partitioning of data on an interval. *IEEE Signal Processing Letters*. **12**(2), pp.105-108.

Jakoby, O., Quaas, M.F., Müller, B., Baumgärtner, S. and Frank, K. 2014. How do individual farmers' objectives influence the evaluation of rangeland management strategies under a variable climate? *Journal of Applied Ecology*. **51**(2), pp.483-493. James, W. 1976. *Essays in radical empiricism*. Harvard University Press. Jamil, T., Ozinga, W.A., Kleyer, M. and ter Braak, C.J. 2013. Selecting traits that explain species–environment relationships: a generalized linear mixed model approach. *Journal of Vegetation Science*. **24**(6), pp.988-1000.

Janssen, M.A., Anderies, J.M. and Ostrom, E. 2004. A Framework to Analyze the Robustness of Social-ecological Systems from an Institutional Perspective. *Ecology and Society.* **9**, p18.

Janssen, M.A., Walker, B.H., Langridge, J. and Abel, N. 2000. An adaptive agent model for analysing co-evolution of management and policies in a complex rangeland system. *Ecological Modelling*. **131**(2-3), pp.249-268.

Jarvis, P. and Leverenz, J. 1983. Productivity of temperate, deciduous and evergreen forests. *Physiological plant ecology IV*. Springer, pp.233-280. Jensen, J.L.R., Humes, K.S., Hudak, A.T., Vierling, L.A. and Delmelle, E. 2011. Evaluation of the MODIS LAI product using independent lidar-derived LAI: A case study in mixed conifer forest. *Remote Sensing of Environment*. **115**(12), pp.3625-3639.

Jerrentrup, J.S., Seither, M., Petersen, U. and Isselstein, J. 2015. Little grazer species effect on the vegetation in a rotational grazing system. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment.* **202**, pp.243-250.

Jha, S.K. and Sivakumar, B. 2017. Complex networks for rainfall modeling: Spatial connections, temporal scale, and network size. *Journal of Hydrology*. **554**, pp.482-489.

Jin, H.-j., Yu, Q.-h., Wang, S.-l. and Lü, L.-z. 2008. Changes in permafrost environments along the Qinghai–Tibet engineering corridor induced by anthropogenic activities and climate warming. *Cold Regions Science and Technology*. **53**(3), pp.317-333.

Jin, H., Li, A., Bian, J., Nan, X., Zhao, W., Zhang, Z. and Yin, G. 2017. Intercomparison and validation of MODIS and GLASS leaf area index (LAI) products over mountain areas: A case study in southwestern China. *International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation*. **55**, pp.52-67. Jing, Q., Bélanger, G., Baron, V., Bonesmo, H., Virkajärvi, P. and Young, D. 2012. Regrowth simulation of the perennial grass timothy. *Ecological Modelling*. **232**, pp.64-77.

Johansen, B., Riseth, J.Å. and Vatn, A. 2004. Aspects of a two-pasture — herbivore model. *Rangifer.* **24**, pp.65-81.

Johnson, I. 2013a. DairyMod and the SGS Pasture Model: a mathematical description of the biophysical model structure. *IMJ Consultants: Dorrigo, NSW*. Johnson, I. 2013b. DairyMod and the SGS Pasture Model: a mathematical description of the the biophysical model structure. *IMJ Consultants, Dorrigo, NSW, Australia*.

Johnson, I. and Thornley, J. 1983. Vegetative crop growth model incorporating leaf area expansion and senescence, and applied to grass. *Plant, Cell & Environment.* **6**(9), pp.721-729.

Johnson, I.R., Ameziane, T.E. and Thornley, J.H.M. 1983. A Model of Grass Growth. *Annals of Botany*. **51**(5), pp.599-609.

Johnson, I.R., Thornley, J.H., Frantz, J.M. and Bugbee, B. 2010. A model of canopy photosynthesis incorporating protein distribution through the canopy and its acclimation to light, temperature and CO2. *Annals of botany*. **106**(5), pp.735-749.

Jonckheere, I., Fleck, S., Nackaerts, K., Muys, B., Coppin, P., Weiss, M. and Baret, F. 2004. Review of methods for in situ leaf area index determination: Part I. Theories, sensors and hemispherical photography. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology.* **121**(1), pp.19-35. Jones, R.J. and Sandland, R. 1974. The relation between animal gain and stocking rate: derivation of the relation from the results of grazing trials. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*. **83**(2), pp.335-342.

Jönsson, P. and Eklundh, L. 2004. TIMESAT—a program for analyzing timeseries of satellite sensor data. *Computers & Geosciences.* **30**(8), pp.833-845. Jouven, M., Carrere, P. and Baumont, R. 2006. Model predicting dynamics of biomass, structure and digestibility of herbage in managed permanent pastures. 1. Model description. *Grass and forage science.* **61**(2), pp.112-124.

Jouven, M., Lapeyronie, P., Moulin, C.H. and Bocquier, F. 2010. Rangeland utilization in Mediterranean farming systems. *animal.* **4**(10), pp.1746-1757.

Juliette, R., Francis, o.B., MeH lanie, R.-D. and Martine, A. 2011. A multi-agent model for describing transhumance in North Cameroon: Comparison of dilerent rationality to develop a routine. *Journal of Economic Dynamics & Control.* **25**(2011), p32.

Jun, C., Ban, Y. and Li, S. 2014. China: Open access to Earth land-cover map. *Nature*. **514**(7523), pp.434-434.

Jun, W., Daniel, G.B., Rick, L.R., Scott, E.P. and Arun, A. 2013. Exploratory analyses of local institutions for climate change adaptation in the Mongolian grasslands: An agent-based modeling approach. *Global Environmental Change*. **23**, pp.1266–1276.

Kaduk, J. and Heimann, M. 1996. A prognostic phenology scheme for global terrestrial carbon cycle models. *Climate Research*. pp.1-19.

Kaiser, K., Miehe, G., Barthelmes, A., Ehrmann, O., Scharf, A., Schult, M., Schlütz, F., Adamczyk, S. and Frenzel, B. 2008. Turf-bearing topsoils on the central Tibetan Plateau, China: Pedology, botany, geochronology. *CATENA*. **73**(3), pp.300-311.

Kang, S., Running, S.W., Lim, J.-H., Zhao, M., Park, C.-R. and Loehman, R. 2003. A regional phenology model for detecting onset of greenness in temperate mixed forests, Korea: an application of MODIS leaf area index. *Remote Sensing of Environment.* **86**(2), pp.232-242.

Kantrud, H. 1981. Grazing intensity effects on the breeding avifauna of North Dakota native grasslands. *Canadian Field-Naturalist.* **95**(4), pp.404-417.

Kato, T., Tang, Y., Gu, S., Hirota, M., Cui, X., Du, M., Li, Y., Zhao, X. and Oikawa, T. 2004. Seasonal patterns of gross primary production and ecosystem respiration in an alpine meadow ecosystem on the Qinghai-Tibetan Plateau. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres.* **109**(D12).

Kawamura, K., Akiyama, T., Yokota, H.-o., Tsutsumi, M., Yasuda, T., Watanabe, O. and Wang, S. 2005. Quantifying grazing intensities using geographic

information systems and satellite remote sensing in the Xilingol steppe region, Inner Mongolia, China. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment.* **107**(1), pp.83-93. Kawamura, K., Lim, J., Yayota, M., Ogura, S.-i., Jang, S.-Y. and Moon, S.-H.

2016. Spatial heterogeneity in grazing pasture from small unmanned aerial vehicle (sUAV) with structure from motion (SfM) photogrammetry. In: *Abstract of the 14th International Symposium of Integrated Field Science, Tohoku University*, pp.26-28.

Kayhko, J. and Pellikka, P. 1994. Remote sensing of the impact of reindeer grazing on vegetation in northern Fennoscandia using SPOT XS data. *Polar Research*. **13**(1), pp.115-124.

Kemp, D. and Michalk, D. 2007. Towards sustainable grassland and livestock management. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*. **145**(6), pp.543-564.

Kennedy, W.G., Hailegiorgis, A.B., Rouleau, M., Bassett, J.K., Coletti, M., Balan, G.C. and Gulden, T. 2010. An agent-based model of conflict in East Africa and the effect of watering holes. In: Conference on Behavior Representation in Modeling and Simulation.

Kergoat, L. 1998. A model for hydrological equilibrium of leaf area index on a global scale. *Journal of hydrology*. **212**, pp.268-286.

Kesić, S. 2016. Systems biology, emergence and antireductionism. *Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences*. **23**(5), pp.584-591.

Kidnie, S., Cruz, M.G., Gould, J., Nichols, D., Anderson, W. and Bessell, R. 2015. Effects of curing on grassfires: I. Fuel dynamics in a senescing grassland. *International Journal of Wildland Fire.* **24**(6), pp.828-837.

Killick, R. and Eckley, I. 2014. changepoint: An R package for changepoint analysis. *Journal of Statistical Software*. **58**(3), pp.1-19.

Killick, R., Fearnhead, P. and Eckley, I.A. 2012. Optimal detection of changepoints with a linear computational cost. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*. **107**(500), pp.1590-1598.

Kim, E.-S., Park, D.K., Zhao, X., Hong, S.K., Koh, K.S., Suh, M.H. and Kim, Y.S. 2006. Sustainable management of grassland ecosystems for controlling Asian dusts and desertification in Asian continent and a suggestion of Eco-Village study in China. *Ecological Research.* **21**(6), pp.907-911.

Kindermann, J., Lüdeke, M., Badeck, F.-W., Otto, R., Klaudius, A., Häger, C., Würth, G., Lang, T., Dönges, S. and Habermehl, S. 1993. Structure of a global and seasonal carbon exchange model for the terrestrial biosphere the frankfurt biosphere model (FBM). *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution.* **70**(1-4), pp.675-684. Kirschbaum, M.U., Rutledge, S., Kuijper, I.A., Mudge, P.L., Puche, N., Wall, A.M., Roach, C.G., Schipper, L.A. and Campbell, D.I. 2015. Modelling carbon

and water exchange of a grazed pasture in New Zealand constrained by eddy covariance measurements. *Science of the Total Environment.* **512**, pp.273-286. Knapp, A.K., Hoover, D.L., Blair, J.M., Buis, G., Burkepile, D.E., Chamberlain, A., Collins, S.L., Fynn, R.W.S., Kirkman, K.P., Smith, M.D., Blake, D., Govender, N., O'Neal, P., Schreck, T. and Zinn, A. 2012. A test of two mechanisms proposed

to optimize grassland aboveground primary productivity in response to grazing. *JOURNAL OF PLANT ECOLOGY*. **5**(4), pp.357-365.

Knapp, C.N., Fernandez-Gimenez, M.E., Briske, D.D., Bestelmeyer, B.T. and Wu, X.B. 2011. An assessment of state-and-transition models: perceptions following two decades of development and implementation. *Rangeland Ecology & Management.* **64**(6), pp.598-606.

Knorr, W. and Heimann, M. 1995. Impact of drought stress and other factors on seasonal land biosphere CO2 exchange studied through an atmospheric tracer transport model. *Tellus B: Chemical and Physical Meteorology*. **47**(4), pp.471-489. Knyazikhin, Y., Glassy, J., Privette, J., Tian, Y., Lotsch, A., Zhang, Y., Wang, Y., Morisette, J., Votava, P. and Myneni, R. 1999. MODIS leaf area index (LAI) and fraction of photosynthetically active radiation absorbed by vegetation (FPAR) product (MOD15) algorithm theoretical basis document. *Theoretical Basis Document, NASA Goddard Space Flight Center, Greenbelt, MD.* **20771**. Knyazikhin, Y., Martonchik, J., Myneni, R.B., Diner, D. and Running, S.W. 1998a. Synergistic algorithm for estimating vegetation canopy leaf area index and fraction of absorbed photosynthetically active radiation from MODIS and MISR data. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres.* **103**(D24), pp.32257-32275.

Knyazikhin, Y., Martonchik, J.V., Myneni, R.B., Diner, D.J. and Running, S.W. 1998b. Synergistic algorithm for estimating vegetation canopy leaf area index and fraction of absorbed photosynthetically active radiation from MODIS and MISR data. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres.* **103**(D24), pp.32257-32275. Koerner, S.E. and Collins, S.L. 2014. Interactive effects of grazing, drought, and fire on grassland plant communities in North America and South Africa. *Ecology*.

95(1), pp.98-109.

Kohavi, R. 1995. A study of cross-validation and bootstrap for accuracy estimation and model selection. In: *Ijcai*: Stanford, CA, pp.1137-1145.

Kravari, K. and Bassiliades, N. 2015. A Survey of Agent Platforms. *Journal of Artificial Societies and Social Simulation*. **18**(1), p11.

Kuhn, T.S. and Hawkins, D. 1963. The structure of scientific revolutions. *American Journal of Physics.* **31**(7), pp.554-555.

Kumar, M. and Monteith, J. *Remote sensing of crop growth, Plants and the Daylight Spectrum H.* Smith.

Kustas, W. and Norman, J. 1996. Use of remote sensing for evapotranspiration monitoring over land surfaces. *Hydrological Sciences Journal.* **41**(4), pp.495-516. Kuznar, L.A. and Sedlmeyer, R. 2005. Collective violence in Darfur: An agent-based model of pastoral nomad/sedentary peasant interaction.

Kwon, H.-Y., Nkonya, E., Johnson, T., Graw, V., Kato, E. and Kihiu, E. 2016a.

Global Estimates of the Impacts of Grassland Degradation on Livestock

Productivity from 2001 to 2011. In: Nkonya, E., et al. eds. *Economics of Land Degradation and Improvement – A Global Assessment for Sustainable*

Development. Cham: Springer International Publishing, pp.197-214.

Kwon, H.-Y., Nkonya, E., Johnson, T., Graw, V., Kato, E. and Kihiu, E. 2016b.

Global Estimates of the Impacts of Grassland Degradation on Livestock

Productivity from 2001 to 2011. *Economics of Land Degradation and*

Improvement–A Global Assessment for Sustainable Development. Springer, pp.197-214.

Ladyman, J., Lambert, J. and Wiesner, K. 2013. What is a Complex System. *European journal for philosophy of science*. **3**(1), pp.33-67.

Lai, Q., Li, Q.-f., Morigen, A., Shi, G.-h. and Wu, X.-b. 2008. A Study on Factors Affecting Moisture Content Measurement and Ratio of Forage Fresh Weight to Dry Weight [J]. *Chinese Journal of Grassland*. **4**, p016.

Lamarque, P., Tappeiner, U., Turner, C., Steinbacher, M., Bardgett, R.D., Szukics, U., Schermer, M. and Lavorel, S. 2011. Stakeholder perceptions of grassland ecosystem services in relation to knowledge on soil fertility and biodiversity. *Regional environmental change.* **11**(4), pp.791-804.

Landau, S., Mitchell, R., Barnett, V., Colls, J., Craigon, J. and Payne, R. 2000. A parsimonious, multiple-regression model of wheat yield response to environment. *Agricultural and forest meteorology*. **101**(2), pp.151-166.

Landsberg, J., Prince, S., Jarvis, P., McMurtrie, R., Luxmoore, R. and Medlyn, B. 1997. Energy conversion and use in forests: An analysis of forest production in terms of radiation utilisation efficiency (ϵ). *The use of remote sensing in the modeling of forest productivity*. Springer, pp.273-298.

Landsberg, J. and Waring, R. 1997. A generalised model of forest productivity using simplified concepts of radiation-use efficiency, carbon balance and partitioning. *Forest ecology and management.* **95**(3), pp.209-228.

Langley, S.K., Cheshire, H.M. and Humes, K.S. 2001. A comparison of single date and multitemporal satellite image classifications in a semi-arid grassland. *Journal of Arid Environments*. **49**(2), pp.401-411.

Langton, C.G. 1990. Computation at the edge of chaos: Phase transitions and emergent computation. *Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena*. **42**(1), pp.12-37. Le Houerou, H. 2014. Eco-climatic and bio-geographic comparison between the rangelands of the iso-climatic Mediterranean arid zone of northern Africa and the Near East. *Range management in arid zones*. p25.

Le, Q.B., Park, S.J. and Vlek, P.L.G. 2010. Land Use Dynamic Simulator (LUDAS): A multi-agent system model for simulating spatio-temporal dynamics of coupled human–landscape system: 2. Scenario-based application for impact assessment of land-use policies. *Ecological Informatics*. **5**(3), pp.203-221.

Lebert, T., Benjaminsen, T., Sjaastad, E., Rohde, R. and Wisborg, P. 2006. Land Reform, Range Ecology, and Carrying Capacities in Namaqualand, South Africa. *Annals of the Association of American Geographers.* **96**(3), pp.524-540.

Lehmann, B. and Hediger, W. 2004. The contribution of grassland to social benefits of agriculture-an economic analysis. In: *Land use systems in grassland dominated regions. Proceedings of the 20th General Meeting of the European Grassland Federation, Luzern, Switzerland, 21-24 June 2004*: vdf Hochschulverlag AG an der ETH Zurich, pp.105-116.

Lemaire, G., Franzluebbers, A., de Faccio Carvalho, P.C. and Dedieu, B. 2014. Integrated crop–livestock systems: Strategies to achieve synergy between

agricultural production and environmental quality. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment.* **190**, pp.4-8.

Leopold, A., Niedergang-Kamien, E. and Janick, J. 1959. Experimental Modification of Plant Senescence. *Plant Physiology*. **34**(5), p570.

Levin, S., Xepapadeas, T., Crépin, A.-S., Norberg, J., De Zeeuw, A., Folke, C., Hughes, T., Arrow, K., Barrett, S. and Daily, G. 2013. Social-ecological systems as complex adaptive systems: modeling and policy implications. *Environment and Development Economics.* **18**(2), pp.111-132.

Levin, S.A., Grenfell, B., Hastings, A. and Perelson, A.S. 1997. Mathematical and computational challenges in population biology and ecosystems science. *Science*. **275**(5298), pp.334-343.

Lezama, F., Baeza, S., Altesor, A., Cesa, A., Chaneton, E.J. and Paruelo, J.M. 2014. Variation of grazing-induced vegetation changes across a large-scale productivity gradient. *Journal of Vegetation Science*. **25**(1), pp.8-21.

Li, A., Bian, J., Lei, G. and Huang, C. 2012. Estimating the Maximal Light Use Efficiency for Different Vegetation through the CASA Model Combined with Time-Series Remote Sensing Data and Ground Measurements. *Remote Sensing*. Li, F., Bai, Y., Wan, H., Zheng, J., Luo, J., Zhao, D. and Liu, P. 2017. Quantifying Grazing Intensity in China Using High Temporal Resolution MODIS Data. *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Applied Earth Observations and Remote Sensing*. **10**(2), pp.515-523.

Li, H., Chen, J. and Tong, C. Comparison of NPP estimation by remote sensingbased parametric model and ecological processed model over forest at regional scale. In: *2014*: IEEE, pp.318-322.

Li, J. and Heap, A.D. 2011. A review of comparative studies of spatial interpolation methods in environmental sciences: Performance and impact factors. *Ecological Informatics*. **6**(3), pp.228-241.

Li, J., Okin, G.S., Alvarez, L. and Epstein, H. 2008. Effects of wind erosion on the spatial heterogeneity of soil nutrients in two desert grassland communities. *Biogeochemistry.* **88**(1), pp.73-88.

Li, L., Xin, X., Zhang, H., Yu, J., Liu, Q., Yu, S. and Wen, J. 2015a. A method for estimating hourly photosynthetically active radiation (PAR) in China by combining geostationary and polar-orbiting satellite data. *Remote Sensing of Environment.* **165**, pp.14-26.

Li, R., Zhao, L., Ding, Y., Wang, S., Ji, G., Xiao, Y., Liu, G. and Sun, L. 2010. Monthly ratios of PAR to global solar radiation measured at northern Tibetan Plateau, China. *Solar Energy*. **84**(6), pp.964-973.

Li, W. and Huntsinger, L. 2011. China's grassland contract policy and its impacts on herder ability to benefit in Inner Mongolia: tragic feedbacks. *Ecology and Society*. **16**(2).

Li, X.L., Gao, J., Brierley, G., Qiao, Y.M., Zhang, J. and Yang, Y.W. 2013. RANGELAND DEGRADATION ON THE QINGHAI-TIBET PLATEAU: IMPLICATIONS FOR REHABILITATION. *Land Degradation & Development*. **24**(1), pp.72-80.

Li, Y. 2011. cooperative grazing strategy of Qinghai. *青海畜牧兽医杂志*. **41**(5), pp.58-59.

Li, Z., Han, G., Zhao, M., Wang, J., Wang, Z., Kemp, D.R., Michalk, D.L.,

Wilkes, A., Behrendt, K., Wang, H. and Langford, C. 2015b. Identifying management strategies to improve sustainability and household income for herders on the desert steppe in Inner Mongolia, China. *Agricultural Systems*. **132**, pp.62-72.

Li, Z., Tang, H., Xin, X., Zhang, B. and Wang, D. 2014. Assessment of the MODIS LAI Product Using Ground Measurement Data and HJ-1A/1B Imagery in the Meadow Steppe of Hulunber, China. *Remote Sensing.* **6**(7), p6242.

Li, Z., Yu, G., Xiao, X., Li, Y., Zhao, X., Ren, C., Zhang, L. and Fu, Y. 2007. Modeling gross primary production of alpine ecosystems in the Tibetan Plateau using MODIS images and climate data. *Remote Sensing of Environment*. **107**(3), pp.510-519.

Liaghat, S. and Balasundram, S.K. 2010. A review: The role of remote sensing in precision agriculture. *American journal of agricultural and biological sciences*. 5(1), pp.50-55.

Lieth, H. 1975. Modeling the primary productivity of the world. *Primary productivity of the biosphere*. Springer, pp.237-263.

Lieth, H. and Whittaker, R.H. 1975. *Primary productivity of the biosphere*. Berlin; London: Springer.

Lilibeth, Mark D. A. Rounsevell, Martha Bakker, Ann Van Doorn, Montserrat Gómez-Delgado and Delgado, M. 2014. An Agent-Based Assessment of Land Use and Ecosystem Changes in Traditional Agricultural Landscape of Portugal. *Intelligent Information Management.* **2014**, **6**, **55-80**.

Lillesand, T., Kiefer, R.W. and Chipman, J. 2014. *Remote sensing and image interpretation*. John Wiley & Sons.

Lin, H.-L. 2009. A new model of grassland net primary productivity (NPP) based on the integrated orderly classification system of grassland. In: *Fuzzy Systems and Knowledge Discovery*, 2009. *FSKD'09*. *Sixth International Conference on*: IEEE, pp.52-56.
Ling, B., Goodin, D.G., Mohler, R.L., Laws, A.N. and Joern, A. 2014. Estimating canopy nitrogen content in a heterogeneous grassland with varying fire and grazing treatments: Konza Prairie, Kansas, USA. *Remote Sensing.* **6**(5), pp.4430-4453. Liu, B.Y.H. and Jordan, R.C. 1960. The interrelationship and characteristic distribution of direct, diffuse and total solar radiation. *Solar Energy.* **4**(3), pp.1-19. Liu, J., Chen, J.M., Cihlar, J. and Chen, W. 2002. Net primary productivity mapped for Canada at 1-km resolution. *Global Ecology and Biogeography.* **11**(2), pp.115-129.

Liu, J. and Diamond, J. 2005. China's environment in a globalizing world. *Nature*. **435**(7046), pp.1179-1186.

Liu, J., Dietz, T., Carpenter, S.R., Alberti, M., Folke, C., Moran, E., Pell, A.N., Deadman, P., Kratz, T. and Lubchenco, J. 2007. Complexity of coupled human and natural systems. *science*. **317**(5844), pp.1513-1516.

Liu, J., Dietz, T., Carpenter, S.R., Alberti, M., Folke, C., Moran, E., Pell, A.N., Deadman, P., Kratz, T., Lubchenco, J., Ostrom, E., Ouyang, Z., Provencher, W., Redman, C.L., Schneider, S.H. and Taylor, W.W. 2007. Complexity of Coupled Human and Natural Systems. *Science*. **317**(5844), pp.1513-1516.

Liu, J., Dietz, T., Carpenter, S.R., Alberti, M., Folke, C., Moran, E., Pell, A.N., Deadman, P., Kratz, T., Lubchenco, J., Ostrom, E., Ouyang, Z., Provencher, W., Redman, C.L., Schneider, S.H. and Taylor, W.W. 2007a. Complexity of Coupled Human and Natural Systems. *Science*. **317**(5844), pp.1513-1516.

Liu, J., Xu, X. and Shao, Q. 2008a. Grassland degradation in the "Three-River Headwaters" region, Qinghai Province. *Journal of Geographical Sciences*. **18**(3), pp.259-273.

Liu, J., Xu, X. and Shao, Q. 2008b. The spatial and temporal characteristics of grassland degradation in the three-river headwaters region in Qinghai Province. *Acta Geographica Sinica*. **4**(009).

Liu, R., Shang, R., Liu, Y. and Lu, X. 2017. Global evaluation of gap-filling approaches for seasonal NDVI with considering vegetation growth trajectory, protection of key point, noise resistance and curve stability. *Remote Sensing of Environment.* **189**, pp.164-179.

Liu, T., Rodríguez, L.F., Lehman, B.E., Green, A.R., Villamil, M.B. and Shike, D.W. 2016. A spatially explicit, agent-based model for simulating movements of cattle grazing corn residues. In: *2016 ASABE Annual International Meeting*: American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers, p.1.

Lockwood, J.A. and Lockwood, D.R. 1993. Catastrophe theory: a unified paradigm for rangeland ecosystem dynamics. *Journal of Range Management*. pp.282-288.

Long, S.P., Garcia Moya, E., Imbamba, S.K., Kamnalrut, A., Piedade, M.T.F., Scurlock, J.M.O., Shen, Y.K. and Hall, D.O. 1989. Primary productivity of natural grass ecosystems of the tropics: A reappraisal. *Plant and Soil.* **115**(2), pp.155-166. López-Mársico, L., Altesor, A., Oyarzabal, M., Baldassini, P. and Paruelo, J.M. 2015. Grazing increases below-ground biomass and net primary production in a temperate grassland. *Plant and Soil*.

Loris, V. and Damiano, G. 2006. Mapping the green herbage ratio of grasslands using both aerial and satellite-derived spectral reflectance. *Agriculture, ecosystems & environment.* **115**(1), pp.141-149.

Los, S.O., North, P.R.J., Grey, W.M.F. and Barnsley, M.J. 2005. A method to convert AVHRR Normalized Difference Vegetation Index time series to a standard

viewing and illumination geometry. *Remote Sensing of Environment.* **99**(4), pp.400-411.

Lovett, J.C. and Ockwell, D.G. 2010. *A handbook of environmental management*. Lu, X., Yan, Y., Sun, J., Zhang, X., Chen, Y., Wang, X. and Cheng, G. 2015. Short-term grazing exclusion has no impact on soil properties and nutrients of degraded alpine grassland in Tibet, China. *Solid Earth.* **6**(4), pp.1195-1205.

Lunt, I.D., Eldridge, D.J., Morgan, J.W. and Witt, G.B. 2007. A framework to predict the effects of livestock grazing and grazing exclusion on conservation values in natural ecosystems in Australia. *Australian Journal of Botany.* **55**(4), pp.401-415.

Luo, G., Han, Q., Zhou, D., Li, L., Chen, X., Li, Y., Hu, Y. and Li, B.L. 2012. Moderate grazing can promote aboveground primary production of grassland under water stress. *Ecological Complexity.* **11**, pp.126-136.

Ma, H., Ma, C., Li, Z., 马海云, 马成海 and 李志明. 2003. grasslands of Zeku have been contracted to individual households. *青海草业*. (2), pp.47-49.

Ma, Q. 2003. grassland use right transfer system of Qinghai. *青海畜牧兽医杂志*. **33**(4), pp.37-38.

Ma, X., Heerink, N., Feng, S. and Shi, X. 2015. Land tenure in China: Legal, actual and perceived security. *Land Use Policy*. **42**.

Macal, C. 2010. Tutorial on agent-based modelling and simulation. *Journal of Simulation*. **4**(3), p11.

Malleson, N. 2010. *Agent-based modelling of burglary*. thesis, University of Leeds.

Manache, G. and Melching, C.S. 2008. Identification of reliable regression- and correlation-based sensitivity measures for importance ranking of water-quality model parameters. *Environmental Modelling & Software*. **23**(5), pp.549-562. Manderscheid, A. 2001. Decline and re-emergence of nomadism: Tibetan

pastoralists revive a nomadic way of life and production. *GeoJournal*. **53**(2), pp.173-182.

Mani, A. 1980. *Handbook of solar radiation data for India*. Allied Publishers, New Delhi (1080).

Manson, S. 2003. *Validation and verification of multi-agent models for ecosystem management*. Edward Elgar Publishers, Northampton, MA. pp.63-74.

Marino, S., Hogue, I.B., Ray, C.J. and Kirschner, D.E. 2008. A methodology for performing global uncertainty and sensitivity analysis in systems biology. *Journal of theoretical biology*. **254**(1), pp.178-196.

Marsett, R.C., Qi, J., Heilman, P., Biedenbender, S.H., Watson, M.C., Amer, S., Weltz, M., Goodrich, D. and Marsett, R. 2006. Remote Sensing for Grassland Management in the Arid Southwest. *Rangeland Ecology & Management*. **59**(5), pp.530-540.

Martinez, N.D., Williams, R.J. and Dunne, J.A. 2006. Diversity, complexity, and persistence in large model ecosystems. *Ecological networks: linking structure to dynamics in food webs.* pp.163-185.

Maselli, F., Argenti, G., Chiesi, M., Angeli, L. and Papale, D. 2013. Simulation of grassland productivity by the combination of ground and satellite data. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment.* **165**, pp.163-172.

Masuda, K. 2004. Surface radiation budget: comparison between global satellitederived products and land-based observations in Asia and Oceania. In: *International Radiation Symposium*. Matches, A.G. 1992. Plant response to grazing: a review. *Journal of production agriculture*. **5**(1), pp.1-7.

Maurer, K., Weyand, A., Fischer, M. and Stöcklin, J. 2006. Old cultural traditions, in addition to land use and topography, are shaping plant diversity of grasslands in the Alps. *Biological Conservation*. **130**(3), pp.438-446.

Mayr, M.J. and Samimi, C. 2015. Comparing the dry season in-situ Leaf Area Index (LAI) derived from high-resolution rapideye imagery with MODIS LAI in a namibian Savanna. *Remote Sensing*. **7**(4), pp.4834-4857.

Mazzocchi, F. 2008. Complexity in biology. Exceeding the limits of reductionism and determinism using complexity theory.

McCarthy, B., Delaby, L., Pierce, K., McCarthy, J., Fleming, C., Brennan, A. and Horan, B. 2016a. The multi-year cumulative effects of alternative stocking rate and grazing management practices on pasture productivity and utilization efficiency. *Journal of dairy science*. **99**(5), pp.3784-3797.

McCarthy, B., Delaby, L., Pierce, K.M., McCarthy, J., Fleming, C., Brennan, A. and Horan, B. 2016b. The multi-year cumulative effects of alternative stocking rate and grazing management practices on pasture productivity and utilization efficiency. *Journal of Dairy Science*. **99**(5), pp.3784-3797.

McCollum III, F.T., Gillen, R.L., Karges, B.R. and Hodges, M.E. 1999. Stocker cattle response to grazing management in tallgrass prairie. *Journal of Range Management*. pp.120-126.

McCree, K.J. 1966. A solarimeter for measuring photosynthetically active radiation. *Agricultural Meteorology*. **3**(5), pp.353-366.

McCree, K.J. 1972. Test of current definitions of photosynthetically active radiation against leaf photosynthesis data. *Agricultural Meteorology*. **10**, pp.443-453.

McGregor, B., Presidente, P. and Campbell, N. 2014. The influence of stocking rate and mixed grazing of Angora goats and Merino sheep on animal and pasture production in southern Australia. 4. Gastrointestinal parasitism. *Animal production science*. **54**(5), pp.587-597.

McGuire, A.D., Melillo, J.M., Kicklighter, D.W. and Joyce, L.A. 1995. Equilibrium responses of soil carbon to climate change: empirical and processbased estimates. *Journal of Biogeography*. pp.785-796.

McGuire, A.D., Melillo, J.M., Kicklighter, D.W., Pan, Y., Xiao, X., Helfrich, J., Moore, B., Vorosmarty, C.J. and Schloss, A.L. 1997. Equilibrium responses of global net primary production and carbon storage to doubled atmospheric carbon dioxide: Sensitivity to changes in vegetation nitrogen concentration. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles.* **11**(2), p173.

McKeon, G., Rickert, K., Ash, A., Cooksley, D. and Scattini, W. 1982. Pasture production model. In: *Proceedings of the Australian Society of Animal Production*, p.04.

McLane, A.J., Semeniuk, C., McDermid, G.J. and Marceau, D.J. 2011. The role of agent-based models in wildlife ecology and management. *Ecological Modelling*. **222**(8), pp.1544-1556.

McNaughton, S. 1979a. Grazing as an optimization process: grass-ungulate relationships in the Serengeti. *The American Naturalist.* **113**(5), pp.691-703. McNaughton, S. 1983. Compensatory plant growth as a response to herbivory. *Oikos.* pp.329-336.

McNaughton, S. 1993. 17 Biodiversity and Function of Grazing Ecosystems. *Biodiversity and ecosystem function*. **99**, p361.

McNaughton, S., Wallace, L.L. and Coughenour, M.B. 1983. Plant adaptation in an ecosystem context: effects of defoliation, nitrogen, and water on growth of an African C4 sedge. *Ecology*. **64**(2), pp.307-318.

McNaughton, S.J. 1979b. Grazing as an Optimization Process: Grass-Ungulate Relationships in the Serengeti. *The American Naturalist.* **113**(5), pp.691-703. Medlyn, B.E. 1998. Physiological basis of the light use efficiency model. *Tree physiology.* **18**(3), pp.167-176.

Menke, J. 1985. *Annual Grassland Forage Productivity*. Society for Range Management. 7. pp.17-19. Available from:

http://leeds.summon.serialssolutions.com/2.0.0/link/0/eLvHCXMwY2AwNtIz0EU rE4wsUgxS04C11ZmxuWlKYrJlorFRUrKJQaphWoq5BXirVbCPSYiTSVCYaRB SAe8mxMCUmifKIOPmGuLsoQteMRhfADmHIR7YXQeNMhiLMfAmgpaD55 WAt421SDAopADL3BSDFFNgBQssClKBZbCFeTKw5Z5qmGqSkmRkLMkgitU sAIpJMW4

www.summon.com

Michael, R.W., Pieper, R.D., Gary, B.D. and Linda White, T. 1991. Vegetational Response to Short-Duration and Continuous Grazing in Southcentral New Mexico. *Journal of Range Management.* **44**(4), pp.399-403.

Michalk, D., Dowling, P., Kemp, D., King, W.M., Packer, I., Holst, P., Jones, R., Priest, S., Millar, G. and Brisbane, S. 2003. Sustainable grazing systems for the central tablelands, new south wales. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*. **43**(8), pp.861-874.

Miehe, G., Miehe, S., Kaiser, K., Reudenbach, C., Behrendes, L., La, D. and Schlütz, F. 2009. How old is pastoralism in Tibet? An ecological approach to the making of a Tibetan landscape. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology.* **276**(1), pp.130-147.

Miguel, M., Valdez, R., Laura, M.L. and Ramiro, L. 2003. Stocking Rate Effects on Goats: A Research Observation. *Journal of Range Management*. **56**(2), pp.167-173.

Milchunas, D., Lauenroth, W. and Burke, I. 1998. Livestock grazing: animal and plant biodiversity of shortgrass steppe and the relationship to ecosystem function. *Oikos.* pp.65-74.

Milchunas, D., Sala, O. and Lauenroth, W.K. 1988. A generalized model of the effects of grazing by large herbivores on grassland community structure. *The American Naturalist.* **132**(1), pp.87-106.

Miller-Goodman, M., Moser, L.E., Waller, S.S., Brummer, J. and Reece, P. 1999. Canopy analysis as a technique to characterize defoliation intensity on Sandhills range. *Journal of range management*. pp.357-362.

Miller, J.H. and Page, S.E. 2007. *Complex Adaptive Systems: An Introduction to Computational Models of Social Life*. STU - Student edition ed. Princeton University Press.

Milner-Gulland, C. Kerven, R. Behnke, I.A. Wright b and Smailov, A. 2006. A multi-agent system model of pastoralist behaviour in Kazakhstan. *ecological complexity*. **3**(2006), p14.

Milton, S.J. 1999. Veld management in South Africa—N.M. Tainton (ed.) 1999. *African Journal of Range & Forage Science*. **16**(2-3), pp.126-127.

Mitchell, M. 2011. Complexity : a guided tour. Oxford University Press.

Mitchell, R.B., Moser, L.E., Moore, K.J. and Redfearn, D.D. 1998. Tiller demographics and leaf area index of four perennial pasture grasses. *Agronomy Journal*. **90**(1), pp.47-53.

Monteith, J. 1972. Solar radiation and productivity in tropical ecosystems. *Journal of applied ecology*. **9**(3), pp.747-766.

Monteith, J. and Reifsnyder, W.E. 1974. Principles of Environmental Physics. *Physics Today.* **27**, p51.

Monteith, J.L. and Moss, C. 1977. Climate and the efficiency of crop production in Britain. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B*, *Biological Sciences*. pp.277-294.

Moon, P. 1940. Proposed standard solar-radiation curves for engineering use. *Journal of the Franklin Institute*. **230**(5), pp.583-617.

Moore, A., Donnelly, J. and Freer, M. 1997a. GRAZPLAN: decision support systems for Australian grazing enterprises. III. Pasture growth and soil moisture submodels, and the GrassGro DSS. *Agricultural Systems*. **55**(4), pp.535-582. Moore, A.D., Donnelly, J.R. and Freer, M. 1997b. GRAZPLAN: Decision support systems for Australian grazing enterprises. III. Pasture growth and soil moisture submodels, and the GrassGro DSS. *Agricultural Systems*. **55**(4), pp.535-582. Moreno García, C.A., Schellberg, J., Ewert, F., Brüser, K., Canales-Prati, P., Linstädter, A., Oomen, R.J., Ruppert, J.C. and Perelman, S.B. 2014. Response of community-aggregated plant functional traits along grazing gradients: insights from African semi-arid grasslands. *Applied vegetation science*. **17**(3), pp.470-481. Moritz, M., Handa, S., Chen, Y.J. and Xiao, N.C. 2015. Herding Contracts and Pastoral Mobility in the Far North Region of Cameroon. *Human Ecology*. **43**(1), pp.141-151.

Motohka, T., Nasahara, K.N., Oguma, H. and Tsuchida, S. 2010. Applicability of green-red vegetation index for remote sensing of vegetation phenology. *Remote Sensing*. **2**(10), pp.2369-2387.

Mott, G. 1960. Grazing pressure and the measurement of pasture production. *Grazing pressure and the measurement of pasture production*.

Mulindwa, H., Galukande, E, Wurzinger, M, Mwai, A.O. and Sölkner, J. 2009. Modelling of long term pasture production and estimation of carrying capacity of Ankole pastoral production system in South Western Uganda. *Livestock Research for Rural Development*. Volume 21 (9): Article #151.

Müller, B., Bohn, F., Dreßler, G., Groeneveld, J., Klassert, C., Martin, R., Schlüter, M., Schulze, J., Weise, H. and Schwarz, N. 2013. Describing human decisions in agent-based models–ODD+ D, an extension of the ODD protocol. *Environmental Modelling & Software*. **48**, pp.37-48.

Myneni, R., Knyazikhin, Y. and Park, T. 2015. MOD15A2H MODIS/Terra Leaf Area Index/FPAR 8-Day L4 Global 500 m SIN Grid V006. *NASA EOSDIS Land Processes DAAC. Available online: <u>https://lpdaac</u>. usgs.*

gov/dataset_discovery/modis/modis_products_table/mod15a2h_v006 (accessed on 16 October 2016).

Myneni, R. and Williams, D. 1994. On the relationship between FAPAR and NDVI. *Remote Sensing of Environment*. **49**(3), pp.200-211.

Myneni, R.B., Hoffman, S., Knyazikhin, Y., Privette, J., Glassy, J., Tian, Y., Wang, Y., Song, X., Zhang, Y. and Smith, G. 2002. Global products of vegetation leaf area and fraction absorbed PAR from year one of MODIS data. *Remote sensing of environment.* **83**(1), pp.214-231.

Myneni, R.B., Keeling, C., Tucker, C.J., Asrar, G. and Nemani, R.R. 1997a. Increased plant growth in the northern high latitudes from 1981 to 1991. *Nature*. **386**(6626), p698.

Myneni, R.B., Ramakrishna, R., Nemani, R. and Running, S.W. 1997b. Estimation of global leaf area index and absorbed PAR using radiative transfer models. *IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and remote sensing*. **35**(6), pp.1380-1393.

Nagendra, H., Lucas, R., Honrado, J.P., Jongman, R.H., Tarantino, C., Adamo, M. and Mairota, P. 2013. Remote sensing for conservation monitoring: Assessing protected areas, habitat extent, habitat condition, species diversity, and threats. *Ecological Indicators.* **33**, pp.45-59.

Nakagami, K. 2016. Effects of sites and years on the coefficients of rising plate meter calibration under varying coefficient models. *Grassland science*. **62**(2), pp.128-132.

Norton, B. and Bartle, R. 2014. An assessment of rotational grazing systems in rangelands.

Noy-Meir, I., Gutman, M. and Kaplan, Y. 1989. Responses of Mediterranean grassland plants to grazing and protection. *The journal of Ecology*. pp.290-310. Numata, I., Roberts, D.A., Chadwick, O.A., Schimel, J., Sampaio, F.R., Leonidas, F.C. and Soares, J.V. 2007. Characterization of pasture biophysical properties and the impact of grazing intensity using remotely sensed data. *Remote Sensing of Environment*. **109**(3), pp.314-327.

Nwaogu, C., Olawoyin, M.A., Kavianu, V.A. and Pavlů, V. 2016. Soil dynamics, conservation and food supply in the grassland ecological zone of Sub-Sahara Africa: The need for sustainable agroecosystem management for maize (Zea mays). *Development, Environment and Foresight.* **2**(2), pp.61-79.

NY/T635, C.N.C. 2002. Calculation of carrying capability of the natural grassland [S]. thesis.

Nyima, Y. 2015. What factors determine carrying capacity? A case study from pastoral Tibet. *Area.* **47**(1), pp.73-80.

O'connor, T. and Pickett, G. 1992. The influence of grazing on seed production and seed banks of some African savanna grasslands. *Journal of Applied Ecology*. pp.247-260.

O'Neill, R.V. 2001. Is it time to bury the ecosystem concept?(with full military honors, of course!). *Ecology*. **82**(12), pp.3275-3284.

Oba, G., Stenseth, N.C. and Lusigi, W.J. 2000. New perspectives on sustainable grazing management in arid zones of sub-Saharan Africa. *BioScience*. **50**(1), pp.35-51.

Oba, G., Weladji, R.B., Lusigi, W.J. and Stenseth, N.C. 2003. Scale-dependent effects of grazing on rangeland degradation in northern Kenya: a test of equilibrium and non-equilibrium hypotheses. *Land Degradation & Development*. **14**(1), pp.83-94.

Odum, E.P. 1971. Fundamentals of ecology. Philadelphia: Saunders.

Odum, E.P. 2013. *Methods in ecosystem science*. Springer Science & Business Media.

Ojanen, M., Miller, D.C., Zhou, W., Mshale, B., Mwangi, E. and Petrokofsky, G. 2014. What are the environmental impacts of property rights regimes in forests, fisheries and rangelands? a systematic review protocol. *Environmental Evidence*. 3(1), p19.

Ojima, D.S., Parton, W.J., Schimel, D.S., Scurlock, J.M. and Kittel, T.G. 1993. Modeling the effects of climatic and CO 2 changes on grassland storage of soil C. *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution.* **70**(1), pp.643-657.

Okayasu, T., Okuro, T., Jamsran, U. and Takeuchi, K. 2010. An intrinsic mechanism for the co-existence of different survival strategies within mobile pastoralist communities. *Agricultural Systems.* **103**(4), pp.180-186.

Oñatibia, G.R. and Aguiar, M.R. 2016. Continuous moderate grazing management promotes biomass production in Patagonian arid rangelands. *Journal of Arid Environments.* **125**, pp.73-79.

Onggo, B.S. and Karpat, O. 2011. Agent-based conceptual model representation using BPMN. In: *Proceedings of the Winter simulation conference*: Winter Simulation Conference, pp.671-682.

Ormerod, P. and Rosewell, B. 2009. Validation and verification of agent-based models in the social sciences. *Epistemological Aspects of Computer Simulation in the Social Sciences*. Springer, pp.130-140.

Ostrom, E. 2002. Common-pool resources and institutions: toward a revised theory. *Handbook of agricultural economics*. **2**, pp.1315-1339.

Ostrom, E. 2008. Tragedy of the Commons. *The new palgrave dictionary of economics*. **2**.

Ostrom, E. 2009. A General Framework for Analyzing Sustainability of Social-Ecological Systems. *Science*. **325**(5939), p419.

Ostrom, E., Gardner, R. and Walker, J. 1994. *Rules, games, and common-pool resources*. Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press.

Oviedo, J., Huntsinger, L., Campos, P. and Caparrós, A. 2012. Income value of private amenities assessed in California oak woodlands. *California Agriculture*. **66**(3), pp.91-96.

Palmer, A.R. and Bennett, J.E. 2013. Degradation of communal rangelands in South Africa: towards an improved understanding to inform policy. *African journal of range & forage science*. **30**(1-2), pp.57-63.

Pan, T., Wu, S., Dai, E. and Liu, Y. 2013. Estimating the daily global solar radiation spatial distribution from diurnal temperature ranges over the Tibetan Plateau in China. *Applied Energy.* **107**, pp.384-393.

Papaioannou, G., Papanikolaou, N. and Retalis, D. 1993. Relationships of photosynthetically active radiation and shortwave irradiance. *Theoretical and Applied Climatology*. **48**(1), pp.23-27.

PARK, J.-G., TATEISHI, R. and MATSUOKA, M. 1999. A proposal of the Temporal Window Operation (TWO) method to remove high-frequency noises in AVHRR NDVI time series data. *Journal of the Japan Society of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing*. **38**(5), pp.36-47.

Parker, D.C. and Filatova, T. 2008. A conceptual design for a bilateral agent-based land market with heterogeneous economic agents. *Computers, Environment and Urban Systems*. **32**(6), pp.454-463.

Parker, D.C., Manson, S.M., Janssen, M.A., Hoffmann, M.J. and Deadman, P. 2003. Multi-agent systems for the simulation of land-use and land-cover change: a review. *Annals of the association of American Geographers*. **93**(2), pp.314-337. Parsons, D.J., Armstrong, A., Turnpenny, J., Matthews, A., Cooper, K. and Clark,

J. 2001. Integrated models of livestock systems for climate change studies. 1. Grazing systems. *Global change biology*. **7**(1), pp.93-112.

Parton, W. 1996. The CENTURY model. *Evaluation of soil organic matter models*. Springer, pp.283-291.

Parton, W., Scurlock, J., Ojima, D., Gilmanov, T., Scholes, R., Schimel, D.S., Kirchner, T., Menaut, J.C., Seastedt, T. and Garcia Moya, E. 1993a. Observations and modeling of biomass and soil organic matter dynamics for the grassland biome worldwide. *Global biogeochemical cycles.* **7**(4), pp.785-809.

Parton, W., Scurlock, J., Ojima, D., Schimel, D. and Hall, D. 1995. Impact of climate change on grassland production and soil carbon worldwide. *Global Change Biology*. **1**(1), pp.13-22.

Parton, W.J., Hartman, M., Ojima, D. and Schimel, D. 1998. DAYCENT and its land surface submodel: description and testing. *Global and planetary Change*. **19**(1-4), pp.35-48.

Parton, W.J., Scurlock, J.M.O., Ojima, D.S., Gilmanov, T.G., Scholes, R.J., Schimel, D.S., Kirchner, T., Menaut, J.C., Seastedt, T., Garcia Moya, E.,

Kamnalrut, A. and Kinyamario, J.I. 1993b. Observations and modeling of biomass and soil organic matter dynamics for the grassland biome worldwide. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles.* **7**(4), pp.785-809.

Pastor, O. and Molina, J.C. 2007. *Model-driven architecture in practice: a software production environment based on conceptual modeling*. Springer Science & Business Media.

Pavlik, B.M. 1995. Species diversity in ecological communities: historical and geographical perspectives. JSTOR.

Pavlů, V., Hejcman, M., Pavlů, L. and Gaisler, J. 2003. Effect of rotational and continuous grazing on vegetation of an upland grassland in the Jizerské hory Mts., Czech Republic. *Folia Geobotanica*. **38**(1), pp.21-34.

Pavlů, V., Hejcman, M., Pavlů, L., Gaisler, J. and Nežerková, P. 2006. Effect of continuous grazing on forage quality, quantity and animal performance.

Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment. 113(1), pp.349-355.

Peet, N.B., Watkinson, A.R., Bell, D.J. and Sharma, U.R. 1999. The conservation management of Imperata cylindrica grassland in Nepal with fire and cutting: an experimental approach. *Journal of Applied Ecology.* **36**(3), pp.374-387.

Perevolotsky, A. and Seligman, N.a.G. 1998. Role of Grazing in Mediterranean Rangeland Ecosystems. *Bioscience*. **48**(12), pp.1007-1017.

Person, B.T., Herzog, M.P., Ruess, R.W., Sedinger, J.S., Anthony, R.M. and Babcock, C.A. 2003. Feedback Dynamics of Grazing Lawns: Coupling Vegetation Change with Animal Growth. *Oecologia*. **135**(4), pp.583-592.

Phan, D. 2007. *Agent-based modelling and simulation in the social and human sciences*. Bardwell Press.

Phelan, P., Keogh, B., Casey, I.A., Necpalova, M. and Humphreys, J. 2013. The effects of treading by dairy cows on soil properties and herbage production for three white clover-based grazing systems on a clay loam soil. *Grass and Forage Science*. **68**(4), pp.548-563.

Phelps, D. and Bosch, O. 2002. A quantitative state and transition model for the Mitchell grasslands of central western Queensland. *The Rangeland Journal.* **24**(2), pp.242-267.

Pickett, S.T., Parker, V.T. and Fiedler, P.L. 1992. The new paradigm in ecology: implications for conservation biology above the species level. *Conservation biology*. Springer, pp.65-88.

Pickup, G., Bastin, G. and Chewings, V. 1994. Remote-sensing-based condition assessment for nonequilibrium rangelands under large-scale commercial grazing. *Ecological Applications*. **4**(3), pp.497-517.

Piñeiro, G., Oesterheld, M. and Paruelo, J.M. 2006. Seasonal Variation in Aboveground Production and Radiation-Use Efficiency of Temperate Rangelands Estimated through Remote Sensing. *Ecosystems*. **9**(3), pp.357-373.

Plöchl, M. and Cramer, W. 1995. Coupling global models of vegetation structure and ecosystem processes. *Tellus B.* **47**(1-2), pp.240-250.

Polhill, J.G., Parker, D., Brown, D. and Grimm, V. 2008. Using the ODD protocol for describing three agent-based social simulation models of land-use change. *Journal of Artificial Societies and Social Simulation*. **11**(2), p3.

Polhill, J.G., Parker, D.C., Gotts, N.M. and Edmonds, B. 2007. Effects of land markets on competition between innovators and imitators in land use: results from FEARLUS-ELMM. *Social simulation: Technologies, advances and new discoveries*. pp.81-97.

Poli, R. 2013. A note on the difference between complicated and complex social systems. *Cadmus.* **2**(1), pp.142-147.

Pompilica, I. and Romulus, I. 2014. Sustainable management permanent grasslands. *energy (human labor and its animals)*. **14**(1).

Pontes, L., Carrere, P., Andueza, D., Louault, F. and Soussana, J. 2007. Seasonal productivity and nutritive value of temperate grasses found in semi-natural pastures in Europe: responses to cutting frequency and N supply. *Grass and Forage science*. **62**(4), pp.485-496.

Popescu, S.C., Wynne, R.H. and Nelson, R.F. 2003. Measuring individual tree crown diameter with lidar and assessing its influence on estimating forest volume and biomass. *Canadian journal of remote sensing*. **29**(5), pp.564-577.

Porensky, L.M., Mueller, K.E., Augustine, D.J. and Derner, J.D. 2016. Thresholds and gradients in a semi-arid grassland: long-term grazing treatments induce slow, continuous and reversible vegetation change. *Journal of Applied Ecology*. **53**(4), pp.1013-1022.

Potter, C.S., Randerson, J.T., Field, C.B., Matson, P.A., Vitousek, P.M., Mooney, H.A. and Klooster, S.A. 1993. Terrestrial ecosystem production: A process model based on global satellite and surface data. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*. **7**(4), pp.811-841.

Power, M.E., Matthews, W.J. and Stewart, A.J. 1985. Grazing minnows, piscivorous bass, and stream algae: dynamics of a strong interaction. *Ecology*. **66**(5), pp.1448-1456.

Preston, D., Fairbairn, J., Paniagua, N., Maas, G., Yevara, M. and Beck, S. 2003. Grazing and environmental change on the Tarija Altiplano, Bolivia. *Mountain Research and Development.* **23**(2), pp.141-148.

Prieto-Blanco, A., North, P.R.J., Barnsley, M.J. and Fox, N. 2009. Satellite-driven modelling of Net Primary Productivity (NPP): Theoretical analysis. *Remote Sensing of Environment.* **113**(1), pp.137-147.

Prince, S. 1991a. A model of regional primary production for use with coarse resolution satellite data. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*. **12**(6), pp.1313-1330.

Prince, S. 1991b. Satellite remote sensing of primary production: comparison of results for Sahelian grasslands 1981-1988. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*. **12**(6), pp.1301-1311.

Pucheta, E., Cabido, M., Díaz, S. and Funes, G. 1998. Floristic composition, biomass, and aboveground net plant production in grazed and protected sites in a mountain grassland of central Argentina. *Acta Oecologica*. **19**(2), pp.97-105.

Pulido, M., Schnabel, S., Lavado Contador, J.F., Lozano-Parra, J. and González, F. 2016. The impact of heavy grazing on soil quality and pasture production in rangelands of SW Spain. *Land Degradation & Development*. Qing-shan, M. 2009. Integrated management of "black soil beach" degraded

grassland in Zeku County [J]. Pratacultural Science. 12, p045.

Qu, T.-b., Du, W.-c., Yuan, X., Yang, Z.-m., Liu, D.-b., Wang, D.-l. and Yu, L.-j. 2016. Impacts of grazing intensity and plant community composition on soil bacterial community diversity in a steppe grassland. *PloS one*. **11**(7), pe0159680.

Quanqin, S., Jiyuan, L., Lin, H., Jiangwen, F., Xinliang, X. and Junbang, W. 2013.

Integrated assessment on the effectiveness of ecological conservation in

Sanjiangyuan National Nature Reserve. 地理研究. 32(9), pp.1645-1656.

Quinn, C. and Ockwell, D. 2010. The link between ecological and social paradigms and the sustainability of environmental management: a case study of semi-arid Tanzania. In: Lovett, J.C. and Ockwell, D.G. eds. *A handbook of environmental management*. Edward Elgar Publishing, pp.282-308.

Quinn, C.H., Huby, M., Kiwasila, H. and Lovett, J.C. 2003. Local perceptions of risk to livelihood in semi-arid Tanzania. *Journal of environmental management*. **68**(2), pp.111-119.

Quinn, C.H. and Ockwell, D. 2007. The link between ecological and social paradigms and the sustainability of environmental management: a case study of semi-arid Tanzania. *Handbook for Environmental Management, Edward Elgar Publishing Ltd.*

Railsback, S.F. and Grimm, V. 2011. *Agent-based and individual-based modeling: a practical introduction*. Princeton university press.

Rand, W., Brown, D.G., Page, S.E., Riolo, R., Fernandez, L.E. and Zellner, M. 2003. Statistical validation of spatial patterns in agent-based models. In: *Proceedings of agent based simulation*.

Randall, D., Dazlich, D., Zhang, C., Denning, A., Sellers, P., Tucker, C., Bounoua, L., Berry, J., Collatz, G. and Field, C. 1996. A revised land surface

parameterization (SiB2) for GCMs. Part III: the greening of the Colorado State University general circulation model. *Journal of Climate*. **9**(4), pp.738-763.

Rango, A., Laliberte, A., Steele, C., Herrick, J.E., Bestelmeyer, B., Schmugge, T., Roanhorse, A. and Jenkins, V. 2006. Using unmanned aerial vehicles for rangelands: current applications and future potentials. *Environmental Practice*. 8(3), pp.159-168.

Rawnsley, R., Langworthy, A., Pembleton, K., Turner, L., Corkrey, R. and Donaghy, D. 2014. Quantifying the interactions between grazing interval, grazing intensity, and nitrogen on the yield and growth rate of dryland and irrigated perennial ryegrass. *Crop and Pasture Science.* **65**(8), pp.735-746.

Reichstein, M. and Beer, C. 2008. Soil respiration across scales: The importance of a model–data integration framework for data interpretation. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science*. **171**(3), pp.344-354.

Richardson, F.D., Hahn, B.D. and Hoffman, M.T. 2005. On the dynamics of grazing systems in the semi-arid succulent Karoo: The relevance of equilibrium and non-equilibrium concepts to the sustainability of semi-arid pastoral systems. *Ecological Modelling.* **187**(4), pp.491-512.

Ritten, J.P., Bastian, C.T. and Frasier, W.M. 2010. Economically Optimal Stocking Rates: A Bioeconomic Grazing Model. *Rangeland Ecology & Management*. **63**(4), pp.407-414.

Rittenhouse, L. and Roath, L. 2002. Monitoring grazing practices and stocking rates for sustainability. *Acta Prataculturae Sinica*. **11**(1), pp.91-99.

Robinson, B.E., Li, P. and Hou, X. 2017. Institutional change in social-ecological systems: The evolution of grassland management in Inner Mongolia. *Global Environmental Change*. **47**, pp.64-75.

Rochon, J., Doyle, C., Greef, J., Hopkins, A., Molle, G., Sitzia, M., Scholefield, D. and Smith, C. 2004. Grazing legumes in Europe: a review of their status, management, benefits, research needs and future prospects. *Grass and Forage Science*. **59**(3), pp.197-214.

Röder, A., Kuemmerle, T., Hill, J., Papanastasis, V.P. and Tsiourlis, G.M. 2007. Adaptation of a grazing gradient concept to heterogeneous Mediterranean rangelands using cost surface modelling. *Ecological Modelling*. **204**(3), pp.387-398.

Rodskjer, N. 1983. Spectral daily insolation at Uppsala, Sweden. *Meteorology and Atmospheric Physics.* **33**(1), pp.89-98.

Rogers, J.D. 2013. Pastoralist mobility and social controls in Inner Asia: experiments using agent-based modeling. *Structure and Dynamics*. **6**(2). Rohde, R.F., Moleele, N., Mphale, M., Allsopp, N., Chanda, R., Hoffman, M., Magole, L. and Young, E. 2006. Dynamics of grazing policy and practice: environmental and social impacts in three communal areas of southern Africa. *Environmental Science & Policy*. **9**(3), pp.302-316.

Römermann, C., Bernhardt-Römermann, M., Kleyer, M. and Poschlod, P. 2009. Substitutes for grazing in semi-natural grasslands–do mowing or mulching represent valuable alternatives to maintain vegetation structure? *Journal of Vegetation Science*. **20**(6), pp.1086-1098.

Rose, R.A., Byler, D., Eastman, J.R., Fleishman, E., Geller, G., Goetz, S., Guild,
L., Hamilton, H., Hansen, M., Headley, R., Hewson, J., Horning, N., Kaplin, B.A.,
Laporte, N., Leidner, A., Leimgruber, P., Morisette, J., Musinsky, J., Pintea, L.,
Prados, A., Radeloff, V.C., Rowen, M., Saatchi, S., Schill, S., Tabor, K., Turner,
W., Vodacek, A., Vogelmann, J., Wegmann, M., Wilkie, D. and Wilson, C. 2015.
Ten ways remote sensing can contribute to conservation. *Conservation Biology*.
29(2), pp.350-359.

Roujean, J.-L. and Breon, F.-M. 1995. Estimating PAR absorbed by vegetation from bidirectional reflectance measurements. *Remote sensing of Environment*. **51**(3), pp.375-384.

Rouse Jr, J.W. 1972. Monitoring the vernal advancement and retrogradation (green wave effect) of natural vegetation.

Roy, P. and Tomar, S. 2000. Biodiversity characterization at landscape level using geospatial modelling technique. *Biological conservation*. **95**(1), pp.95-109. Ruimy, A., Dedieu, G. and Saugier, B. 1996. TURC: A diagnostic model of continental gross primary productivity and net primary productivity. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*. **10**(2), pp.269-285.

Ruimy, A., Kergoat, L. and Bondeau, A. 1999a. Comparing global models of terrestrial net primary productivity (NPP): analysis of differences in light absorption and light-use efficiency. *Global Change Biology*. **5**(S1), pp.56-64. Ruimy, A., Kergoat, L. and Bondeau, A. 1999b. Comparing global models of terrestrial net primary productivity (NPP): Analysis of differences in light absorption and light-use efficiency. *Global Change Biology*. **5**(S1), pp.56-64.

Ruimy, A., Saugier, B. and Dedieu, G. 1994. Methodology for the estimation of terrestrial net primary production from remotely sensed data. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres.* **99**(D3), pp.5263-5283.

Running, S. 2015. User's Guide GPP and NPP (MOD17A2/A3) Products. Running, S.W. and Hunt Jr, E.R. 1993. Generalization of a forest ecosystem process model for other biomes, BIOME-BCG, and an application for global-scale models.

Running, S.W., Thornton, P.E., Nemani, R. and Glassy, J.M. 2000a. Global terrestrial gross and net primary productivity from the Earth Observing System. *Methods in ecosystem science*. **3**, pp.44-45.

Running, S.W., Thornton, P.E., Nemani, R. and Glassy, J.M. 2000b. Global Terrestrial Gross and Net Primary Productivity from the Earth Observing System. In: Sala, O.E., et al. eds. *Methods in Ecosystem Science*. New York, NY: Springer New York, pp.44-57.

Running, S.W. and Zhao, M. 2015. Daily GPP and Annual NPP (MOD17A2/A3) Products NASA Earth Observing System MODIS Land Algorithm.

Sabatier, R., Oates, L.G., Brink, G., Bleier, J. and Jackson, R.D. 2015. Grazing in an uncertain environment: modeling the trade-off between production and robustness. *Agronomy Journal*. **107**(1), pp.257-264.

Sakamoto, T. 2016. Computational Research on Mobile Pastoralism Using Agent-Based Modeling and Satellite Imagery. *PloS one.* **11**(3), pe0151157.

Sakamoto, T., Yokozawa, M., Toritani, H., Shibayama, M., Ishitsuka, N. and Ohno, H. 2005. A crop phenology detection method using time-series MODIS data. *Remote Sensing of Environment.* **96**(3), pp.366-374.

Sallis, J., Bauman, A. and Pratt, M. 1998. Environmental and policy interventions to promote physical activity. *American journal of preventive medicine*. **15**(4), pp.379-397.

Saltelli, A., Andres, T.H. and Homma, T. 1993. Sensitivity analysis of model output. *Computational Statistics & Data Analysis*. **15**(2), pp.211-238.

Salvati, L. and Carlucci, M. 2015. Towards sustainability in agro-forest systems? Grazing intensity, soil degradation and the socioeconomic profile of rural communities in Italy. *Ecological Economics.* **112**, pp.1-13.

Sandford, S. and Overseas Development, I. 1983. *Management of pastoral development in the Third World*. Chichester: John Wiley and Sons.

Sanjari, G., Ghadiri, H., Ciesiolka, C.A.A. and Yu, B. 2008. Comparing the effects of continuous and time-controlled grazing systems on soil characteristics in Southeast Queensland. *Soil Research.* **46**(4), pp.348-358.

Sannigrahi, S., Sen, S. and Paul, S. 2016. Estimation of Mangrove Net Primary Production and Carbon Sequestration Service using Light Use Efficiency Models in the Sunderban Biosphere Region, India. In: *EGU General Assembly Conference Abstracts*, p.1884.

Santos, E.M., Pereira, O.G., Garcia, R., Ferreira, C.L.L.F., Oliveira, J.S. and Silva, T.C. 2014. Effect of regrowth interval and a microbial inoculant on the fermentation profile and dry matter recovery of guinea grass silages. *Journal of*

Dairy Science. **97**(7), pp.4423-4432.

Sanzhi, C. 2001. grassland in Zeku. *青海畜牧兽医杂志*. **31**(4), pp.53-54. Saqalli, M., Gérard, B., Bielders, C. and Defourny, P. 2010. Testing the impact of social forces on the evolution of Sahelian farming systems: A combined agentbased modeling and anthropological approach. *Ecological Modelling*. **221**(22), pp.2714-2727. Sarewitz, D., Pielke Jr, R.A. and Byerly Jr, R. 2000. Prediction in science and policy. *Prediction: Science, decision making, and the future of nature.* pp.11-22. Šarloši, J., Bocko, J. and Surovec, R. 2014. Deterministic Chaos. *Procedia Engineering.* **96**, pp.458-466.

Sasaki, T., Koyama, A. and Okuro, T. 2018. Coupling structural and functional thresholds for vegetation changes on a Mongolian shrubland. *Ecological Indicators.* **93**, pp.1264-1275.

Savory, A. and Parsons, S.D. 1980. The Savory grazing method. *Rangelands*. pp.234-237.

Schlüter, M., Baeza, A., Dressler, G., Frank, K., Groeneveld, J., Jager, W., Janssen, M.A., McAllister, R.R.J., Müller, B., Orach, K., Schwarz, N. and Wijermans, N. 2017. A framework for mapping and comparing behavioural theories in models of social-ecological systems. *Ecological Economics.* **131**, pp.21-35.

Schoolfield, R., Sharpe, P. and Magnuson, C. 1981. Non-linear regression of biological temperature-dependent rate models based on absolute reaction-rate theory. *Journal of theoretical biology*. **88**(4), pp.719-731.

Schuman, G.E., Janzen, H.H. and Herrick, J.E. 2002. Soil carbon dynamics and potential carbon sequestration by rangelands. *Environmental Pollution*. **116**(3), pp.391-396.

Schwinning, S. and Parsons, A. 1999. The stability of grazing systems revisited: spatial models and the role of heterogeneity. *Functional Ecology*. **13**(6), pp.737-747.

Scoones, I.C. 1990. Livestock populations and the household economy: a case study from southern Zimbabwe.

Seabloom, E.W. 2007. Compensation and the stability of restored grassland communities. *Ecological Applications*. **17**(7), pp.1876-1885.

Seabloom, E.W. and Reichman, O.J. 2001. Simulation Models of the Interactions between Herbivore Foraging Strategies, Social Behavior, and Plant Community Dynamics. *The American Naturalist.* **157**(1), pp.76-96.

Seagle, S.W. and McNaughton, S. 1992. Spatial variation in forage nutrient concentrations and the distribution of Serengeti grazing ungulates. *Landscape ecology*. **7**(4), pp.229-241.

Sellers, P., Randall, D., Collatz, G., Berry, J., Field, C., Dazlich, D., Zhang, C., Collelo, G. and Bounoua, L. 1996a. A revised land surface parameterization (SiB2) for atmospheric GCMs. Part I: Model formulation. *Journal of climate*. **9**(4), pp.676-705.

Sellers, P.J., Tucker, C.J., Collatz, G.J., Los, S.O., Justice, C.O., Dazlich, D.A. and Randall, D.A. 1996b. A revised land surface parameterization (SiB2) for atmospheric GCMs. Part II: The generation of global fields of terrestrial biophysical parameters from satellite data. *Journal of climate*. **9**(4), pp.706-737. Seré, C., Steinfeld, H. and Groenewold, J. 1995. World livestock production systems: current status, issues and trends. In: *Consultation on Global Agenda for Livestock Research, Nairobi (Kenya), 18-20 Jan 1995*: ILRI.

Shalaby, A. and Tateishi, R. 2007. Remote sensing and GIS for mapping and monitoring land cover and land-use changes in the Northwestern coastal zone of Egypt. *Applied Geography*. **27**(1), pp.28-41.

Shao, Q. and Fan, J. 2012. *monitoring and assessing the ecosystem of Sanjiangyuan*. 三江源区生态系统综合监测与评估. 北京: 科学出版社.

Shao, Q., Fan, J., Liu, J., Huang, L., Cao, W., Xu, X., Ge, J., Wu, D., Zhiqiang, L. and Gong, G. 2016. Assessment on the effects of the first-stage ecological conservation and restoration project in Sanjiangyuan region. *Acta Geographica Sinica*. **71**(1), pp.3-20.

Sharrow, S.H. 1983. Forage Standing Crop and Animal Diets under Rotational vs. Continuous Grazing. *Journal of Range Management*. **36**(4), pp.447-450.

Sheldrick, W., Keith Syers, J. and Lingard, J. 2003. Contribution of livestock excreta to nutrient balances. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*. **66**(2), pp.119-131.

Shen, M., Tang, Y., Chen, J., Zhu, X. and Zheng, Y. 2011. Influences of temperature and precipitation before the growing season on spring phenology in grasslands of the central and eastern Qinghai-Tibetan Plateau. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*. **151**(12), pp.1711-1722.

Sheng, G. 2012. Sustainable Development of Qinghai Pastoral Ecological Animal Husbandry and Social Stability——A case study of Haibei Tibetan Autonomous Prefecture. *Journal of Dalian Nationalities University*.

Shengde, S. and Haining, L.S.L. 1993. DYNAMICS OF HERBAGE QUALITY IN ALPINE MEADOW, ZEKU COUNTY. *Pratacultural Science*. **2**, p016.

Shuan, Q., Liu-xi, M., Ying-yu, H., Yang, F., Hai-zhen, Z. and Jun, D. 2007. Livestock carrying capacity and balance between carrying capacity of grassland with added forage and actual livestock in the Qinghai-Tibet Plateau [J]. *Journal of Natural Resources.* **3**, p007.

Simic, A., Chen, J.M., Liu, J. and Csillag, F. 2004. Spatial scaling of net primary productivity using subpixel information. *Remote Sensing of Environment.* **93**(1), pp.246-258.

Simon, H.A. 2012. *Qualitative simulation modeling and analysis*. Springer Science & Business Media.

Sims, D.A., Luo, H., Hastings, S., Oechel, W.C., Rahman, A.F. and Gamon, J.A. 2006. Parallel adjustments in vegetation greenness and ecosystem CO 2 exchange in response to drought in a Southern California chaparral ecosystem. *Remote Sensing of Environment.* **103**(3), pp.289-303.

Smit, H., Metzger, M. and Ewert, F. 2008. Spatial distribution of grassland productivity and land use in Europe. *Agricultural Systems*. **98**(3), pp.208-219. Smith, D.S. and Foran, B. 1990. RANGEPACK: the philosophy underlying the development of a microcomputer-based decision support system for pastoral land management. *Journal of Biogeography*. pp.541-546.

Soder, K.J., Rook, A.J., Sanderson, M.A. and Goslee, S.C. 2007. Interaction of plant species diversity on grazing behavior and performance of livestock grazing temperate region pastures. *Crop Science*. **47**(1), pp.416-425.

Srivastava, D.S. and Jefferies, R. 1996. A positive feedback: herbivory, plant growth, salinity, and the desertification of an Arctic salt-marsh. *Journal of Ecology*. pp.31-42.

Standiford, R.B. and Howitt, R.E. 1992. Solving empirical bioeconomic models: a rangeland management application. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*. **74**(2), pp.421-433.

Stebbins, G.L. 1981a. Coevolution of Grasses and Herbivores. *Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden*. **68**(1), pp.75-86.

Stebbins, G.L. 1981b. Coevolution of grasses and herbivores. *Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden*. pp.75-86.

Steenweg, R., Hebblewhite, M., Kays, R., Ahumada, J., Fisher, J.T., Burton, C., Townsend, S.E., Carbone, C., Rowcliffe, J.M. and Whittington, J. 2017. Scaling-up camera traps: monitoring the planet's biodiversity with networks of remote sensors. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*. **15**(1), pp.26-34.

Stein, M. 1987. Large sample properties of simulations using Latin hypercube sampling. *Technometrics*. **29**(2), pp.143-151.

Steins, N.A. and Edwards, V.M. 1999. Platforms for collective action in multipleuse common-pool resources. *Agriculture and human values*. **16**(3), pp.241-255. Steven, S. 2012. Sync: How order emerges from chaos in the universe, nature, and daily life. Hachette UK, 2012. *Hachette UK*.

Stewart, G.B. and Pullin, A.S. 2008. The relative importance of grazing stock type and grazing intensity for conservation of mesotrophic 'old meadow' pasture. *Journal for Nature Conservation*. **16**(3), pp.175-185.

Stobbs, T. 1975. Factors limiting the nutritional value of grazed tropical pastures for beef and milk production. *Tropical Grasslands*. **9**(2), pp.141-150.

Stoddard, J.L., Larsen, D.P., Hawkins, C.P., Johnson, R.K. and Norris, R.H. 2006. Setting expectations for the ecological condition of streams: the concept of reference condition. *Ecological Applications*. **16**(4), pp.1267-1276.

Stokes, C.J., Ash, A. and Howden, S.M. 2008. *Climate Change Impacts on Australian Rangelands*. Littleton: Society for Range Management. 30. pp.40-45. Available from:

http://leeds.summon.serialssolutions.com/2.0.0/link/0/eLvHCXMwhV1tS9xAEB5 KrxRFuNp68dRC_kDiJrt5-

yByFxWlinDYIv2y7G42Ipx36p34953ZJCe2lX4IZAk7bDKbnWfeAXgcsuCPMy G1PLJVXee5SGpVo_ajdFWlohCxqGrr7G_n4mosJr-Syaslg4IsXZSg8-

kjXNJTu48SWSQo1g_vHwLqHkVe1raVBh7F5ClqUhi6A5mnkTPzuaxpllDf9U_ 6dj6f2TeyqAlH_OtIdnLmpL8qesSCN4sKn9VdOEVBs2hzv_6_yC_Q74pH-

6Nme2zCBzv7Cuujm8e24ob9Bvv19BZRq_WbPAP_zKVNLvz5zH-

<u>1g_gTeubSgrfg58nxVXkatF0UAh1zHgUqNwo_f6EinSrNUb-</u>

whmlqU2UN3po0srk2Rca1YgjmMop7Q7bk1mijuC74ADYURdvPli4rr_KgV-OvYT0UNXhFHny-Ln7kF7_ji2a42Q3DhcscCx-

<u>WHvLCvXyQhGIbfASKuVZVbGplRa4ovBGRUaV0xuvMZGwI5w2L5H1TdEO</u> <u>SN0KixhKTxkI4TyYsupaoMVIfTQQtTCZjwSQfleXZ5Wgik6NYMlleSj6Oh3DQ</u> <u>MXpF8B-0iBLSQSotjZYCzh84jq8md-</u>

wdgtdtF1nRAgnvpohxo533puzCWhNzQpacPfi4fHyy36Hn9tALYPnsLg

www.summon.com

Stringham, T.K., Krueger, W.C. and Shaver, P.L. 2003. State and transition modeling: an ecological process approach. *Journal of Range Management*. pp.106-113.

Sturmberg, J.P., Martin, C.M. and Katerndahl, D.A. 2017. It is complicated! – misunderstanding the complexities of 'complex'. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice*. **23**(2), pp.426-429.

Stuth, J.W. and Lyons, B.G. 1993. *Decision support systems for the management of grazing lands: Emerging issues.* Taylor & Francis.

Su, D., Zhang, Z., Chen, Z. and Hu, X. 2003. *GB 19377-2003 Parameters for degradation, sandification and saltfication of rangelands (In Chinese)*. General Administration of Quality Supervision, Inspection and Quanrantine of the People's Republic of China.

Sullivan, S. and Rohde, R. 2002. On non-equilibrium in arid and semi-arid grazing systems. Journal of Biogeography. 29(12), pp.1595-1618.

Sun, Z., Lorscheid, I., Millington, J.D., Lauf, S., Magliocca, N.R., Groeneveld, J., Balbi, S., Nolzen, H., Müller, B., Schulze, J. and Buchmann, C.M. 2016. Simple or complicated agent-based models? A complicated issue. Environmental Modelling & Software. 86, pp.56-67.

Sundrival, R. and Joshi, A. 1990. Effect of grazing on standing crop, productivity and efficiency of energy capture in an alpine grassland ecosystem at Tungnath (Garhwal Himalaya), India. Tropical Ecology. 31(2), pp.84-97.

Suonancairang. 2006. grassaland of Zeku. 四川草原. (9), pp.36-38.

Suttie, J.M., Reynolds, S.G. and Batello, C. 2005. Grasslands of the World. Food & Agriculture Org.

Suttle, K., Thomsen, M.A. and Power, M.E. 2007. Species interactions reverse grassland responses to changing climate. science. 315(5812), pp.640-642.

Svenning, J.-C. 2002. A review of natural vegetation openness in north-western Europe. *Biological Conservation*. **104**(2), pp.133-148.

Svoray, T., Perevolotsky, A. and Atkinson, P.M. 2013. Ecological sustainability in rangelands: the contribution of remote sensing. International Journal of Remote Sensing. 34(17), pp.6216-6242.

Swain, C.K., Bhattacharyya, P., Singh, N.R., Neogi, S., Sahoo, R.K., Nayak, A.K., Zhang, G. and Leclerc, M.Y. 2016. Net ecosystem methane and carbon dioxide exchange in relation to heat and carbon balance in lowland tropical rice. Ecological Engineering. 95, pp.364-374.

Swift, J. 2012. Restoring Community Connections to the Land: Building Resilience through Community-based Rangeland Management in China and Mongolia. JSTOR.

Tainton, N., Morris, C. and Hardy, M. 1996. Complexity and stability in grazing systems. The ecology and management of grazing systems. 275.

Taylor, C.A. 1989. Short-duration grazing: experiences from the Edwards Plateau region in Texas. Journal of Soil and Water Conservation. 44(4), pp.297-302.

Teague, W.R. and Dowhower, S.L. 2003. Patch dynamics under rotational and continuous grazing management in large, heterogeneous paddocks. Journal of Arid Environments. 53(2), pp.211-229.

Teague, W.R., Dowhower, S.L., Baker, S.A., Haile, N., DeLaune, P.B. and Conover, D.M. 2011. Grazing management impacts on vegetation, soil biota and soil chemical, physical and hydrological properties in tall grass prairie.

Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment. 141(3), pp.310-322.

Ten Broeke, G., Van Voorn, G. and Ligtenberg, A. 2016. Which Sensitivity Analysis Method Should I Use for My Agent-Based Model? Journal of Artificial Societies and Social Simulation. 19(1), p5.

Thiele, J.C., Kurth, W. and Grimm, V. 2014. Facilitating Parameter Estimation and Sensitivity Analysis of Agent-Based Models: A Cookbook Using NetLogo and 'R'. *Journal of Artificial Societies and Social Simulation.* **17**(3), p11.

Thornley, J. 2001. Modelling grassland ecosystems. In: Proceedings of the XIX International Grassland Congress, in: Mattos WRS, da Silva SC (Eds.), Sao Paulo, Brazil, pp.1029-1035.

Thornley, J. and Cannell, M. 1997. Temperate grassland responses to climate change: an analysis using the Hurley pasture model. Annals of Botany. 80(2), pp.205-221.

Thornley, J.H.M. and Johnson, I.R. 1990. *Plant and crop modelling: a mathematical approach to plant and crop physiology*. Oxford: Clarendon. Thornton, P.K. and Herrero, M. 2001. Integrated crop–livestock simulation models for scenario analysis and impact assessment. *Agricultural Systems*. **70**(2), pp.581-602.

Thornton, P.K., van de Steeg, J., Notenbaert, A. and Herrero, M. 2009. The impacts of climate change on livestock and livestock systems in developing countries: A review of what we know and what we need to know. *Agricultural Systems*. **101**(3), pp.113-127.

Thwaites, R., de Lacy, T., Hong, L.Y. and Hua, L.X. 1998. Property rights, social change, and grassland degradation in Xilingol Biosphere Reserve, Inner Mongolia, China. *Society & Natural Resources.* **11**(4), pp.319-338.

Tian, Y.-l., Qiao, G.-h. and Wu, Y. 2009. Improving the Household Contract Management System of Grassland——Thoughts on Herdsmen Cooperative Management of Grassland [J]. *Rural Economy.* **4**, p017.

Tian, Y., Dickinson, R., Zhou, L., Zeng, X., Dai, Y., Myneni, R., Knyazikhin, Y., Zhang, X., Friedl, M. and Yu, H. 2004. Comparison of seasonal and spatial variations of leaf area index and fraction of absorbed photosynthetically active radiation from Moderate Resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer (MODIS) and Common Land Model. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres.* **109**(D1). Tian, Y., Woodcock, C.E., Wang, Y., Privette, J.L., Shabanov, N.V., Zhou, L., Zhang, Y., Buermann, W., Dong, J., Veikkanen, B., Häme, T., Andersson, K.,

Ozdogan, M., Knyazikhin, Y. and Myneni, R.B. 2002. Multiscale analysis and validation of the MODIS LAI product. *Remote Sensing of Environment.* **83**(3), pp.414-430.

Tilman, D. and Downing, J.A. 1994. Biodiversity and stability in grasslands. *Nature*. **367**(6461), p363.

Tjoelker, M.G., Oleksyn, J. and Reich, P.B. 2001a. Modelling respiration of vegetation: evidence for a general temperature-dependent Q10. *Global Change Biology*. **7**(2), pp.223-230.

Tjoelker, M.G., Oleksyn, J. and Reich, P.B. 2001b. Modelling respiration of vegetation: evidence for a general temperature-dependent Q10. *Global Change Biology*. **7**(2), pp.223-230.

Todd, S.W., Hoffer, R.M. and Milchunas, D.G. 1998. Biomass estimation on grazed and ungrazed rangelands using spectral indices. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*. **19**(3), pp.427-438.

Topp, C.F. and Doyle, C.J. 1996. Simulating the impact of global warming on milk and forage production in Scotland: 2. The effects on milk yields and grazing management of dairy herds. *Agricultural Systems.* **52**(2-3), pp.243-270.

Topping, C.J., Hansen, T.S., Jensen, T.S., Jepsen, J.U., Nikolajsen, F. and Odderskær, P. 2003. ALMaSS, an agent-based model for animals in temperate European landscapes. *Ecological Modelling*. **167**(1), pp.65-82.

Troost, C. and Berger, T. 2014. Dealing with Uncertainty in Agent-Based Simulation: Farm-Level Modeling of Adaptation to Climate Change in Southwest Germany. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*. **97**(3), pp.833-854.

Tsalyuk, M., Kelly, M., Koy, K., Getz, W.M. and Butterfield, H.S. 2015. Monitoring the Impact of Grazing on Rangeland Conservation Easements Using MODIS Vegetation Indices. *Rangeland Ecology & Management.* **68**(2), pp.173-185. Tsutsumida, N., Harris, P. and Comber, A. 2017. The Application of a Geographically Weighted Principal Component Analysis for Exploring Twentythree Years of Goat Population Change across Mongolia. *Annals of the American Association of Geographers.* **107**(5), pp.1060-1074.

Tucker, C., Fung, I., Keeling, C. and Gammon, R. 1986. Relationship between atmospheric CO2 variations and a satellite-derived vegetation index. *Nature*. **319**(6050), pp.195-199.

Tucker, C.J. 1979. Red and photographic infrared linear combinations for monitoring vegetation. *Remote Sensing of Environment*. **8**(2), pp.127-150. Tucker, C.J., Townshend, J.R. and Goff, T.E. 1985a. African land-cover classification using satellite data. *Science*. **227**(4685), pp.369-375.

Tucker, C.J., Vanpraet, C.L., Sharman, M. and Van Ittersum, G. 1985b. Satellite remote sensing of total herbaceous biomass production in the Senegalese Sahel: 1980–1984. *Remote sensing of environment.* **17**(3), pp.233-249.

Tueller, P.T. 1989. Remote sensing technology for rangeland management applications. *Rangeland Ecology & Management/Journal of Range Management Archives.* **42**(6), pp.442-453.

Tukey, J.W. 1949. Comparing individual means in the analysis of variance. *Biometrics*. pp.99-114.

Tuller, S.E. 1976. The relationship between diffuse, total and extra terrestrial solar radiation. *Solar Energy*. **18**(3), pp.259-263.

Tuñon, G.E. 2013. Improving the use of perennial ryegrass swards for dairying in Ireland: a thesis presented in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Agricultural Science at Massey University, Palmerston North, New Zealand. thesis, Massey University.

Turner, D.P., Gower, S.T., Cohen, W.B., Gregory, M. and Maiersperger, T.K. 2002. Effects of spatial variability in light use efficiency on satellite-based NPP monitoring. *Remote Sensing of Environment.* **80**(3), pp.397-405.

Turner, M.D. and Williams, T.O. 2002. Livestock market dynamics and local vulnerabilities in the Sahel. *World Development*. **30**(4), pp.683-705.

Turner, M.G. 1987. Effects of grazing by feral horses, clipping, trampling, and burning on a Georgia salt marsh. *Estuaries and Coasts.* **10**(1), pp.54-60.

Twine, W. 2005a. Socio-economic transitions influence vegetation change in the communal rangelands of the South African lowveld. *African Journal of Range and Forage Science*. **22**(2), pp.93-99.

Twine, W.C. 2005b. Socio-economic transitions influence vegetation change in the communal rangelands of the South African lowveld. *African Journal of Range & Forage Science*. **22**(2), pp.93-99.

UCHIJIMA, Z. and SEINO, H. 1985. Agroclimatic evaluation of net primary productivity of natural vegetations. *Journal of Agricultural Meteorology*. **40**(4), pp.343-352.

Undersander, D., Albert, B., Cosgrove, D., Johnson, D. and Peterson, P. 2002. *Pastures for profit: A guide to rotational grazing.* Cooperative Extensiton Publications, University of Wisconsin-Extension.

Unruh, J.D. 1993. AN ACACIA-BASED DESIGN FOR SUSTAINABLE LIVESTOCK CARRYING-CAPACITY ON IRRIGATED FARMLANDS IN SEMIARID AFRICA. *Ecological Engineering*. **2**(2), pp.131-148.

Vallentine, J.F. 2000. Grazing management. Elsevier.

van der Vaart, E., Beaumont, M.A., Johnston, A.S. and Sibly, R.M. 2015. Calibration and evaluation of individual-based models using Approximate Bayesian Computation. *Ecological Modelling*. **312**, pp.182-190.

van Dijk, A., Callis, S.L., Sakamoto, C.M. and Decker, W.L. 1987. Smoothing vegetation index profiles: An alternative method for reducing radiometric disturbance in NOAA/AVHRR data. *Photogrammetric Engineering and Remote Sensing*. **53**(8), pp.1059-1067.

van Klink, R., van der Plas, F., Van Noordwijk, C., WallisDeVries, M.F. and Olff, H. 2015. Effects of large herbivores on grassland arthropod diversity. *Biological Reviews.* **90**(2), pp.347-366.

Van Oijen, M., Bellocchi, G. and Höglind, M. 2018. Effects of climate change on grassland biodiversity and productivity: the need for a diversity of models. *Agronomy*. **8**(2), p14.

Vandvik, V. and Birks, H.J.B. 2002. Pattern and process in Norwegian upland grasslands: a functional analysis. *Journal of Vegetation Science*. **13**(1), pp.123-134.

Varlet-Grancher, C., Bonhomme, R., Jacob, C., Artis, P. and Chartier, M. 1980. Caracterisation et Evolution de la Structure d'un Couvert Vegetal de Canne a Sucre. In: *Annales agronomiques*.

Verbyla, A.P. and Venables, W. 1988. An extension of the growth curve model. *Biometrika*. **75**(1), pp.129-138.

Verger, A., Baret, F., Weiss, M., Filella, I. and Peñuelas, J. 2015. GEOCLIM: A global climatology of LAI, FAPAR, and FCOVER from VEGETATION

observations for 1999–2010. *Remote Sensing of Environment.* **166**, pp.126-137. Vermote, E. 2015. MOD09A1MODIS/Terra Surface Reflectance 8-Day L3 Global 500m SIN Grid V006. *NASA EOSDIS Land Processes DAAC*.

Verrelst, J., van der Tol, C., Magnani, F., Sabater, N., Rivera, J.P., Mohammed, G. and Moreno, J. 2016. Evaluating the predictive power of sun-induced chlorophyll fluorescence to estimate net photosynthesis of vegetation canopies: A SCOPE modeling study. *Remote Sensing of Environment.* **176**, pp.139-151.

Vetter, S. 2005. Rangelands at equilibrium and non-equilibrium: recent

developments in the debate. Journal of Arid Environments. 62(2), pp.321-341.

Vickery, P.J. 1972. Grazing and Net Primary Production of a Temperate Grassland. *Journal of Applied Ecology*. **9**(1), pp.307-314.

Vinnikov, K.Y., Robock, A., Qiu, S., Entin, J.K., Owe, M., Choudhury, B.J., Hollinger, S.E. and Njoku, E.G. 1999. Satellite remote sensing of soil moisture in Illinois, United States. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres.* **104**(D4), pp.4145-4168.

Viovy, N., Arino, O. and Belward, A. 1992. The Best Index Slope Extraction (BISE): A method for reducing noise in NDVI time-series. *International Journal of Remote Sensing.* **13**(8), pp.1585-1590.

Vitousek, P.M., Mooney, H.A., Lubchenco, J. and Melillo, J.M. 1997. Human domination of Earth's ecosystems. *Science*. **277**(5325), pp.494-499.

von Müller, A., Renison, D. and Cingolani, A. 2017. Cattle landscape selectivity is influenced by ecological and management factors in a heterogeneous mountain rangeland. *The Rangeland Journal.* **39**(1), pp.1-14.

Vries, M.F.W. and Daleboudt, C. 1994. Foraging strategy of cattle in patchy grassland. *Oecologia*. **100**(1), pp.98-106.

Wachendorf, M., Fricke, T. and Möckel, T. 2018. Remote sensing as a tool to assess botanical composition, structure, quantity and quality of temperate grasslands. *Grass and Forage Science*. **73**(1), pp.1-14.

Wackernagel, M. and Rees, W. 1998. *Our ecological footprint: reducing human impact on the earth.* New Society Publishers.

Wade, R. 1987. The management of common property resources: collective action as an alternative to privatisation or state regulation. *Cambridge journal of economics.* **11**(2), pp.95-106.

Wager, H.G. 1941. On the respiration and carbon assimilation rates of some arctic plants as related to temperature. *New Phytologist.* **40**(1), pp.1-19.

Waldrop, M.M. 1993. *Complexity: The emerging science at the edge of order and chaos.* Simon and Schuster.

Walker, B.H. 1993. Rangeland ecology: understanding and managing change. *Ambio (Sweden)*.

Walker, B.H. 2012. *Management of Semi-Arid Ecosystems*. Burlington: Elsevier Science. Available from:

http://leeds.summon.serialssolutions.com/2.0.0/link/0/eLvHCXMwdVzPS8MwFH 40g00e3HT1N8V7S5MmbXrw4I8Owe6yDpVdRtokMNgm2oG3_e0maUtF2PER SB7hJe-9j_d9ACH2A-_fn8BESeJARLJQSBnpScQkiXAgFWKlsAyAPCOTRzJo-

<u>MOycjS9DnvxqW36tbe605L93mGa24Eq3RYbzbTDmpBOGbU9mSEEKpLopi22</u> juNbRQ6FzpdVH-Sy_AEjt514bY4eg925KoPBy1juOrDIO3YaHzhNs9RL-

<u>xm_OcU7roRFvdTublczr2H77lw9Ra1UHN1BrfDdPL04tnTZw1mMytCkujiIArx</u> <u>AI65mXVfrS0nTjiwp3RgSsckC0d76sD-</u>

<u>R_LKRlM8qs1ea_qVJW75X2tH5yYb1x71yTm45vaxIKyIypAowbmSnDNEVBix</u> <u>RFJ0Ac4Wfy63rlzBoS4mcA1PXDde3jTX-gvdjY8s</u>

www.summon.com

Walker, B.H. and Janssen, M.A. 2002. Rangelands, pastoralists and governments: interlinked systems of people and nature. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences.* **357**(1421), pp.719-725.

Walker, S. and Wilson, J.B. 2002. Tests for nonequilibrium, instability, and stabilizing processes in semiarid plant communities. *Ecology*. **83**(3), pp.809-822. Wallace, M.G., Cortner, H.J. and Burke, S. 1995. Review of policy evaluation in natural resources. *Society & Natural Resources*. **8**(1), pp.35-47.

Wand, Y. and Weber, R. 2002. Research commentary: information systems and conceptual modeling—a research agenda. *Information systems research*. **13**(4), pp.363-376.

Wang, C., Cao, G., Wang, Q., Jing, Z., Ding, L. and Long, R. 2008. Changes in plant biomass and species composition of alpine Kobresia meadows along altitudinal gradient on the Qinghai-Tibetan Plateau. *Science in China Series C: Life Sciences.* **51**(1), pp.86-94.

Wang, J., Brown, D.G., Riolo, R.L., Page, S.E. and Agrawal, A. 2013. Exploratory analyses of local institutions for climate change adaptation in the Mongolian grasslands: An agent-based modeling approach. *Global environmental change*. **23**(5), pp.1266-1276.

Wang, T., Teague, W.R. and Park, S.C. 2016. Evaluation of Continuous and Multipaddock Grazing on Vegetation and Livestock Performance—a Modeling Approach. *Rangeland Ecology & Management.* **69**(6), pp.457-464. Wang, Z., Song, K. and Hu, L. 2010a. China's Largest Scale Ecological Migration in the Three-River Headwater Region. *Ambio.* **39**(5-6), pp.443-446.

Wang, Z., Song, K. and Hu, L. 2010b. China's largest scale ecological migration in the three-river headwater region. *AMBIO: A Journal of the Human Environment*. **39**(6), pp.443-446.

Wardle, D.A., Bonner, K.I., Barker, G.M., Yeates, G.W., Nicholson, K.S., Bardgett, R.D., Watson, R.N. and Ghani, A. 1999. Plant removals in perennial

grassland: vegetation dynamics, decomposers, soil biodiversity, and ecosystem properties. *Ecological monographs*. **69**(4), pp.535-568.

Warford, J.J. 1987. Natural resources and economic policy in developing countries. *The Annals of Regional Science*. **21**(3), pp.3-17.

Warnant, P., François, L., Strivay, D. and Gérard, J.C. 1994. CARAIB: a global model of terrestrial biological productivity. *Global biogeochemical cycles*. **8**(3), pp.255-270.

Watkinson, A.R. and Ormerod, S.J. 2001. Grasslands, grazing and biodiversity: editors' introduction. *Journal of Applied Ecology.* **38**(2), pp.233-237. Watson, D. and Scheidt, D. 2005. *Autonomous systems*.

Wei, S., Wang, X., Shi, D., Li, Y., Zhang, J., Liu, P., Zhao, B. and Dong, S. 2016. The mechanisms of low nitrogen induced weakened photosynthesis in summer maize (Zea mays L.) under field conditions. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*. **105**, pp.118-128.

Weinstein, M.S. 1999. Pieces of the puzzle: solutions for community-based fisheries management from native Canadians, Japanese cooperatives, and common property researchers. *Geo. Int'l Envtl. L. Rev.* **12**, p375.

Wen, X., Yang, G., Wang, D., Ren, G., 温秀卿, 杨改河, 王得祥 and 任广鑫. 2004. vegetation classification in Three River Head Source region. *西北农林科技大学学报(自然科学版)*. **32**(2).

West, N.E. 1993. Biodiversity of Rangelands. *Journal of Range Management*. **46**(1), pp.2-13.

Westoby, M., Walker, B. and Noy-Meir, I. 1989. Opportunistic Management for Rangelands Not at Equilibrium. *Journal of Range Management*. **42**(4), pp.266-274. Whitehead, D.C. 2000. *Nutrient elements in grassland: soil-plant-animal relationships*. Cabi.

Whitesides, G.M. and Ismagilov, R.F. 1999. Complexity in Chemistry. *Science*. **284**(5411), pp.89-92.

Whitson, R., Heitschmidt, R., Kothmann, M. and Lundgren, G. 1982. The impact of grazing systems on the magnitude and stability of ranch income in the Rolling Plains of Texas. *Journal of Range Management*. pp.526-532.

Wilensky, U. 1997. NetLogo wolf sheep predation model. *Center for Connected Learning and Computer-Based Modeling, Northwestern University, Evanston, IL.* Wilensky, U. and Rand, W. 2015. *An introduction to agent-based modeling: modeling natural, social, and engineered complex systems with NetLogo.* MIT Press.

Wilkinson, R.D. 2013. Approximate Bayesian computation (ABC) gives exact results under the assumption of model error. *Statistical applications in genetics and molecular biology*. **12**(2), pp.129-141.

Willmott, C.J. and Matsuura, K. 2005. Advantages of the mean absolute error (MAE) over the root mean square error (RMSE) in assessing average model performance. *Climate research.* **30**(1), pp.79-82.

Willmott, C.J., Matsuura, K. and Robeson, S.M. 2009. Ambiguities inherent in sums-of-squares-based error statistics. *Atmospheric Environment*. **43**(3), pp.749-752.

Windrum, P., Fagiolo, G. and Moneta, A. 2007. Empirical validation of agentbased models: Alternatives and prospects. *Journal of Artificial Societies and Social Simulation.* **10**(2), p8.

Wintle, B.A., Bekessy, S.A., Keith, D.A., Van Wilgen, B.W., Cabeza, M., Schröder, B., Carvalho, S.B., Falcucci, A., Maiorano, L. and Regan, T.J. 2011. Ecological–economic optimization of biodiversity conservation under climate change. *Nature Climate Change*. **1**(7), p355.

Wisner, B. 2012. Socio-economic change and land use in Africa: the transformation of property rights in Maasailand. *The Journal of Peasant Studies*. **39**(5), pp.1198-1201.

Woodcock, B.A., Pywell, R.F., Roy, D.B., Rose, R.J. and Bell, D. 2005. Grazing management of calcareous grasslands and its implications for the conservation of beetle communities. *Biological Conservation*. **125**(2), pp.193-202.

Woodward, F.I. and Cramer, W. 1996. Plant functional types and climatic change: introduction. *Journal of Vegetation Science*. **7**(3), pp.306-308.

Woodward, F.I., Smith, T.M. and Emanuel, W.R. 1995a. A global land primary productivity and phytogeography model. *Global biogeochemical cycles*. **9**(4), pp.471-490.

Woodward, S.J.R., Wake, G.C. and McCall, D.G. 1995b. Optimal grazing of a multi-paddock system using a discrete time model. *Agricultural Systems*. **48**(2), pp.119-139.

Wright, G.C., Bell, M.J. and Hammer, G.L. 1993. Leaf nitrogen content and minimum temperature interactions affect radiation-use efficiency in peanut. *Crop science*. **33**(3), pp.476-481.

Wu, J. 2011. Rangeland Degradation and Recovery in China's Pastoral Lands. *Restoration Ecology*. **19**(5), pp.681-682.

Wu, J. and Loucks, O.L. 1995. From balance of nature to hierarchical patch dynamics: a paradigm shift in ecology. *The Quarterly review of biology*. **70**(4), pp.439-466.

Wu, L., McGechan, M., McRoberts, N., Baddeley, J. and Watson, C. 2007. SPACSYS: integration of a 3D root architecture component to carbon, nitrogen and water cycling—model description. *Ecological Modelling*. **200**(3-4), pp.343-359.

Wulder, M.A. and Coops, N.C. 2014. Make Earth observations open access. *Nature*. **513**(7516), p30.

Xiao, X., Zhang, Q., Braswell, B., Urbanski, S., Boles, S., Wofsy, S., Moore Iii, B. and Ojima, D. 2004. Modeling gross primary production of temperate deciduous broadleaf forest using satellite images and climate data. *Remote Sensing of Environment.* **91**(2), pp.256-270.

Xiao, Z., Liang, S., Wang, J., Jiang, B. and Li, X. 2011. Real-time retrieval of Leaf Area Index from MODIS time series data. *Remote Sensing of Environment.* **115**(1), pp.97-106.

Xiaoyi, W. 2007. Undermining grassland management through centralized environmental policies in Inner Mongolia. *Washington, DC: World Resources Institute. The Contributors.*

Xie, Y., Sha, Z. and Yu, M. 2008. Remote sensing imagery in vegetation mapping: a review. *Journal of plant ecology*. **1**(1), pp.9-23.

Xue, B., Zhao, X. and Zhang, Y. 2005. Seasonal changes in weight and body composition of yak grazing on alpine-meadow grassland in the Qinghai-Tibetan plateau of China. *Journal of animal science*. **83**(8), pp.1908-1913.

Yan, Z., Wu, N., Yeshi, D. and Ru, J. 2005. A review of rangeland privatization and its implications in the Tibetan Plateau, China. *Nomadic peoples*. **9**(1), pp.31-51.

Yang, W., Huang, D., Tan, B., Stroeve, J.C., Shabanov, N.V., Knyazikhin, Y., Nemani, R.R. and Myneni, R.B. 2006. Analysis of leaf area index and fraction of PAR absorbed by vegetation products from the terra MODIS sensor: 2000-2005. *IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing*. **44**(7), pp.1829-1842. Yang, Y., chen, Q., Yang, L. and Zhang, F. 2007. An expert system for the ecodevelopment of the grassland in China based on WebGIS technology (in Chinese).

Partacultural Science. (10), pp.31-35.

Ye, J.-S., Reynolds, J.F., Sun, G.-J. and Li, F.-M. 2013. Impacts of increased variability in precipitation and air temperature on net primary productivity of the Tibetan Plateau: a modeling analysis. *Climatic Change*. **119**(2), pp.321-332. Yeh, E.T. 2009. Greening western China: A critical view. *Geoforum*. **40**(5), pp.884-894.

Yeh, E.T. 2011. Tibetan pastoralism in neoliberalising China: continuity and change in Gouli. *Area.* **43**(2), pp.165-172.

Yilmaz, L. 2006. Validation and verification of social processes within agentbased computational organization models. *Computational & Mathematical Organization Theory*. **12**(4), pp.283-312.

Yin, R. and Yin, G. 2010. China's primary programs of terrestrial ecosystem restoration: initiation, implementation, and challenges. *Environmental management.* **45**(3), pp.429-441.

Yong-Zhong, S., Yu-Lin, L., Jian-Yuan, C. and Wen-Zhi, Z. 2005. Influences of continuous grazing and livestock exclusion on soil properties in a degraded sandy grassland, Inner Mongolia, northern China. *CATENA*. **59**(3), pp.267-278. Yonghong, L. and Shiping, W. 1999. the effect of grazing on grass. 中国草地学报. (3), pp.11-19.

Yu, L., Wang, J., Li, X., Li, C., Zhao, Y. and Gong, P. 2014. A multi-resolution global land cover dataset through multisource data aggregation. *Science China Earth Sciences.* **57**(10), pp.2317-2329.

Yuan, H., Dai, Y., Xiao, Z., Ji, D. and Shangguan, W. 2011. Reprocessing the MODIS Leaf Area Index products for land surface and climate modelling. *Remote Sensing of Environment.* **115**(5), pp.1171-1187.

Yundannima. 2012. From "retire livestock, restore rangeland" to the Compensation for Ecological Services: State interventions into rangeland ecosystems and pastoralism in Tibet. 3508056 thesis, University of Colorado at Boulder.

Zarovali, M.P., Yiakoulaki, M.D. and Papanastasis, V.P. 2007. Effects of shrub encroachment on herbage production and nutritive value in semi-arid

Mediterranean grasslands. Grass and Forage Science. 62(3), pp.355-363.

Zeng, A., Shen, Z., Zhou, J., Wu, J., Fan, Y., Wang, Y. and Stanley, H.E. 2017. The science of science: From the perspective of complex systems. *Physics Reports*. **714-715**, pp.1-73.

Zhan-hong, C., Shu-jie, L. and Sha-tuo, C. 2007. The Determination of Feed Intake for Yak Grazing on Alpine Meadow in the Region of the Source of Yangtze, Yellow and Lantsang Rivers [J]. *China Herbivores.* **6**, p012.

Zhang, B. and Carter, J. 2018. FORAGE – An online system for generating and delivering property-scale decision support information for grazing land and environmental management. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*. **150**, pp.302-311.

Zhang, J., Zhang, L., Liu, W., Qi, Y. and Wo, X. 2014a. Livestock-carrying capacity and overgrazing status of alpine grassland in the Three-River Headwaters region, China. *Journal of Geographical Sciences*. **24**(2), pp.303-312.

Zhang, L., Hu, Z., Fan, J., Zhou, D. and Tang, F. 2014b. A meta-analysis of the canopy light extinction coefficient in terrestrial ecosystems. *Frontiers of earth science*. **8**(4), pp.599-609.

Zhang, N.R. and Siegmund, D.O. 2007. A modified Bayes information criterion with applications to the analysis of comparative genomic hybridization data. *Biometrics.* **63**(1), pp.22-32.

Zhang, R. and Du, G. 1998. grass species competition on grazing land 草业学报. (cy), pp.13-19.

Zhang, T., Zhang, Y., Xu, M., Zhu, J., Wimberly, M.C., Yu, G., Niu, S., Xi, Y., Zhang, X. and Wang, J. 2015. Light-intensity grazing improves alpine meadow productivity and adaption to climate change on the Tibetan Plateau. *Scientific reports.* **5**, p15949.

Zhang, X. 2010. *Study on snowstorm monitoring in qinghai province and snow disaster warning system of Qinghai grassland*. thesis, 兰州大学.

Zhang, X., Friedl, M.A. and Schaaf, C.B. 2006. Global vegetation phenology from Moderate Resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer (MODIS): Evaluation of global patterns and comparison with in situ measurements. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences.* **111**(G4), pp.n/a-n/a.

Zhang, X., Friedl, M.A., Schaaf, C.B., Strahler, A.H., Hodges, J.C., Gao, F., Reed, B.C. and Huete, A. 2003a. Monitoring vegetation phenology using MODIS. *Remote sensing of environment.* **84**(3), pp.471-475.

Zhang, X., Friedl, M.A., Schaaf, C.B., Strahler, A.H., Hodges, J.C.F., Gao, F., Reed, B.C. and Huete, A. 2003b. Monitoring vegetation phenology using MODIS. *Remote Sensing of Environment.* **84**(3), pp.471-475.

Zhang, Y., Qu, Y., Wang, J., Liang, S. and Liu, Y. 2012. Estimating leaf area index from MODIS and surface meteorological data using a dynamic Bayesian network. *Remote Sensing of Environment*. **127**, pp.30-43.

Zhang, Y., Song, C., Band, L.E., Sun, G. and Li, J. 2017. Reanalysis of global terrestrial vegetation trends from MODIS products: Browning or greening? *Remote Sensing of Environment.* **191**, pp.145-155.

Zhang, Y., Zhao, W., He, J. and Zhang, K. 2016. Energy exchange and evapotranspiration over irrigated seed maize agroecosystems in a desert-oasis region, northwest China. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*. **223**, pp.48-59. Zhang, Z., Zhang, X., Yan, J. and Zhang, L. 2007. Carry on the pasture permit trading to achieve limiting herd amount by grass (Tuijin Muquan Jiaoyi: Yong Shichang Jizhi Shixian yi Cao Ding Xu). *Science and Society (Keji yu Shehui)*. **11**, pp.83-89.

Zhao, M., Running, S.W. and Nemani, R.R. 2006. Sensitivity of Moderate Resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer (MODIS) terrestrial primary production to the accuracy of meteorological reanalyses. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences.* **111**(G1). Zhao, X., Ma, Y., Wang, Q., Liu, W., 赵新全, 马玉寿, 王启基, 刘伟, 周立, 周华 坤, 赵亮, 施建军, 徐世晓 and 董全民. 2011b. *restoration and sustainable management of grassland system in Sanjiangyuan*. 三江源区退化草地生态系统 恢复与可持续管理. 北京: 科学出版社.

Zheng, D., Zhang, Q. and Wu, S. 2000. *Mountain geoecology and sustainable development of the Tibetan Plateau*. Springer Science & Business Media. Zheng, Y. 2012. developing cooperative groups among herders to promote the sustainable development in grazing area. 中国畜牧业. **18**, p009.

Zhou, D., Gong, H., Wang, Y., Khan, S. and Zhao, K. 2009. Driving forces for the marsh wetland degradation in the Honghe National Nature Reserve in Sanjiang Plain, Northeast China. *Environmental Modeling & Assessment.* **14**(1), pp.101-111.

Zhou, H., Wang, Q., Zhao, L., Han, F. and Zhang, Y. 2007a. The present situation of grassland and the strategies of sustainable development of animal husbandry in Zeku County, Qinghai Province [J]. *Pratacultural Science*. **3**, p018.

Zhou, H., Wwang, Q., Zhao, L., Han, F. and Zhang, Y. 2007b. The present situation of grassland and the strategies of sustainable development of animal husbandry in Zeku County, Qinghai Province [J]. *Pratacultural Science.* **3**, p018. Zhou, H., Zhou, L., Zhao, X., Liu, W., Li, Y., Gu, S. and Zhou, X. 2006. Stability of alpine meadow ecosystem on the Qinghai-Tibetan Plateau. *Chinese science bulletin.* **51**(3), pp.320-327.

Zhou, J.-z., Otsuki, K. and Kamichika, M. 1995. Climatological Evaluation of Agricultural Productivity using Chikugo Model. *Nogyo Kisho*. **51**(1), p21. Zhou, M. 2015. Grassland degradation of Zeku *青海农牧业*. (3), pp.13-16.

Zhou, X. 2013. Chinese Kobresia Meadow. *Science, Beijing*. pp.154-160. Zubrow, E.B. 1971. Carrying capacity and dynamic equilibrium in the prehistoric Southwest. *American Antiquity*. **36**(2), pp.127-138.